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Weight Eval 1 Eval 2 Eval 3 Eval 4 Eval 5  Average
RR JG NH SB weighted 


AIR 1.  Demonstrated Competence 35.0 8.0 7.0 9.0 7.0   271.3
  
2.  Experience in performance of comparable engagements 15.0 9.0 8.0 9.0 8.0  127.5


   
3.  Conformance with the terms of this RFP 10.0 9.0 7.0 5.0 6.0 67.5
 
4. Expertise and availability of key personnel 15.0 9.0 8.0 9.0 7.0  123.8
 
5.  Cost 25.0 7.8 7.8 7.8 7.8  195.0
  


 
 Pass/Fail


Financial Stability (pass/fail)      
Technical Ave 590.0


   
    Average Score 785.0
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RR JG NH SB weighted 
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September 29, 2017 


Gail Burchett 
Purchasing Officer II 
State of Nevada, Purchasing Division 
515 E. Musser Street, Suite 300 
Carson City, NV 89701 


RE:  RFP No. 3489 Nevada School Funding Consultant 


Dear Ms. Burchett: 


American Institutes for Research (AIR) is pleased to submit its proposal, Nevada School 
Funding Consultant, to the State of Nevada. 
AIR has considerable expertise and a long-standing track record for conducting school finance 
studies such as the one proposed for Nevada. The proposed research team is comprised of the 
same nationally recognized school finance experts who authored the 2012 Study of a New 
Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada: Jesse Levin (AIR), Bruce Baker (Rutgers 
University), Deborah Verstegen (University of Nevada, Reno), Teresa Jordan (University of 
Nevada, Las Vegas, retired), and Jay Chambers (AIR). Collectively, these scholars have decades 
of experience conducting high-profile evaluations of state education funding systems.  
Together, the AIR team has crafted a technical approach for the proposed work that is efficient 
in its design and responds to the nuances of the Nevada state context. In addition to providing a 
thorough update of the 2012 AIR study, we also propose to explore functional definitions of 
various types of student populations (e.g., at-risk, gifted and talented) through both a careful 
review of those definitions used in other states and the mainstream education finance literature, 
as well as engaging local practitioners across Nevada school districts. Finally, the proposed 
study will, through in-depth district-level simulations, explore the use of various weighted 
funding structures that might be applied in the state and provide practical considerations for 
implementation, as well as scenarios that show how such as system could be phased in over time. 


We have enclosed one USB drive that contains all proposal volumes as requested. Please direct 
contractual questions about this proposal to Nilva da Silva, contracts officer, at 202-403-5086 or 
airproposals@air.org. For technical questions, please contact Jesse Levin at 650-376-6270 or 
jlevin@air.org. 


Thank you for your consideration. 


Sincerely, 
 
 
Lawrence B. Friedman, PhD. 
Vice President 
Research and Evaluation 
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mailto:jlevin@air.org
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Section V – Scope of Work 
2.1 The scope of work shall include the following tasks: 


2.1.1  Conduct a review of the report entitled “Study of a New Method of Funding for Public 
Schools in Nevada,” published by the American Institutes for Research on September 
22, 2012, Attachment I and LCB Bulletin No. 15-5, “Interim Study Report of the Task 
Force on K-12 Public Education Funding”, Attachment H. 


The initial objective of the research team will be to conduct thorough reviews of both the 2012 
AIR report “Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada” (henceforth, 
referred to as AIR report) as well as the Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) Bulletin No. 15-5 
(henceforth, referred to as the Bulletin). The culmination of this objective will serve as a 
foundation for the remainder of the study, providing a starting point from which to continue 
the work put forth by the research team and the Nevada Task Force on K–12 Public 
Education Funding in the original AIR report and Bulletin, respectively.1 


As part of these reviews, we will highlight the methods, key findings, and recommendations of 
the AIR report, as well as the key takeaways from the testimonies described in the Bulletin. In 
particular, we will focus on summarizing the existence of explicit and implicit mechanisms 
included in Nevada’s school finance system that provide funding for the additional costs 
associated with educating at-risk students (e.g., students from low-income families), English 
learners (ELs), and students with disabilities (SWDs) at the times the AIR report and the 
Bulletin were published. The research team also will provide a recap of the various 
approaches used at that time by other states to provide additional funding for particular 
student needs populations. 


We will next summarize the recommendations provided within the AIR report and Bulletin 
and document the policy discussion that emerged from these works. Finally, we will document 
those changes to the state’s school finance system that were intended to address the 
recommendations found within the AIR report and the Bulletin. 
2.1.2  Update the report and bulletin identified in paragraph (1) with more current information, 


focusing on the determination and implementation of the appropriate funding adjustments 
for the additional costs associated with serving low-income pupils and English learners, as 
defined in 20 U.S.C. § 7801(20). 


Building upon the review of the AIR study and Bulletin, we will perform a thorough update of 
both publications that includes three components. First, as she did for the original 2012 AIR 
report, Professor Teresa Jordan will lead the effort for the present project to update the 
documented evolution of the Nevada funding system included in Chapter 1 of the AIR report 
(Overview and Analysis of Nevada Plan). As part of this section, we will describe in detail the 
current system of funding K–12 education in Nevada that includes any changes that have 


                                                 
1 Note that given the proposed research team authored the original 2012 report and two of its members (Dr. 
Chambers and Dr. Levin) served on the Technical Advisory Committee of the Nevada Task Force on K–12 Public 
Education Funding (authors of the Bulletin), the materials at the center of this task will be quite familiar. 







 


Nevada School Funding Consultant– Part IA Technical Proposal—8 
 


occurred since the publication of the 2012 AIR report―in particular the “New Nevada 
Education Funding Plan.” These updates will include additional funding for EL students as 
described in the Bulletin, as well as additional funding as part of the “New Nevada Education 
Funding Plan” as described in Senate Bill 178 (SB178).2 We will pay particular attention to 
how Nevada’s current public school funding system provides additional allocations to districts 
for students identified as low-income, EL, or disabled. As part of this section, we will evaluate 
any strengths and weaknesses in Nevada’s current system. 


The second component led by Professor Deborah Verstegen will update Chapter 2 of the AIR 
report (Inventory of State Finance Systems) using the most up-to-date information available.3 
As part of this inventory, we will highlight any major shifts in how states are funding K–12 
education since the release of the AIR report. We also will use the inventory to place Nevada’s 
funding system in the broader context of various funding systems used across the United States. 
The inventory will identify the states that use various types of funding formulas (e.g., foundation, 
district power equalizing) and the states that provide foundation per-pupil funding bases in 
conjunction with explicit weight allocations to support the additional costs associated with 
students labelled as at-risk, EL, SWD, and gifted and talented (G&T). Furthermore, we will 
describe the ranges of the base per-pupil funding and allocation weights reported by states to 
better help policymakers in Nevada understand the landscape of funding approaches 
undertaken across the country. 


Professor Bruce Baker (Rutgers University) will lead the third component of this objective, 
which involves updating AIR report Chapter 3 (Identifying Adjustments Used to Address Cost 
Factors). Through empirical analysis of district-level data, this chapter derives (1) the effective 
(implicit) base per-pupil funding levels and (2) the funding weight adjustments that describe 
for every state how funding varies according to various cost factors including student needs 
and scale of operation. We will first recreate the adjustments described in the AIR report for 
students from low-income families and for scale of operations (district size and student 
density) using the most recent data available. In addition, we will identify the most up-to-date 
explicit adjustments available for EL students and SWDs. Furthermore, we will examine any 
new developments in geographic cost adjustments and use the most up-to-date information for 
the Comparable Wage Index (CWI) developed by Professor Lori Taylor (Texas A&M 
University), with whom the study team has worked closely in the past.4 


Using this information, the research team will develop an updated version of the Funding 
Adjustment Simulator (FAS) to examine the impact of various funding choices on the 
distribution of funding across Nevada’s school districts. Within this component, we also will 
examine the impact of Nevada’s funding adjustments for low-income and EL students 
described in the “New Nevada Education Funding Plan” and compare these adjustments to 
those in other states that are shown to be relatively large. In addition, the “New Nevada 


                                                 
2 The text for (SB178), introduced by State Senator Moises Denis and signed into law on June 8, 2017, can be 
found at https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5029/Text. 
3 We plan to draw upon the ongoing work of Professor Verstegen to administer the 50-State Survey of School 
Finance Policies (see https://schoolfinancesdav.wordpress.com/). 
4 Professor Taylor maintains updates of the CWI here: http://bush.tamu.edu/research/faculty/Taylor_CWI/. 



https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5029/Text

https://schoolfinancesdav.wordpress.com/

http://bush.tamu.edu/research/faculty/Taylor_CWI/
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Education Funding Plan” provides contingencies by which only certain schools will receive 
additional funding for low-income and EL students in the case that there are not enough dollars 
to fully fund all schools.5 In turn, our plan is to examine how funding for districts will change 
depending on the level of funding available for the “New Nevada Education Funding Plan.” 


Based on these updates to the original AIR report and Bulletin, we will examine the extent to 
which Nevada has made progress to fulfill the recommendations found within the AIR report 
and Bulletin. In addition, we will evaluate Nevada’s current education funding system using 
the optimal funding criteria found in the original AIR report (see AIR report, pages 19–24). 
The dimensions upon which the funding system will be evaluated are as follows: 
 Is funding sufficient and equitable? 
 Is the system transparent, understandable, and accessible? 
 Is the system of allocating dollars based on the costs of providing education services? 
 Does the system minimize possible incentives for over-identifying or misreporting 


students in categories that might receive more funding? 
 Is the system reasonable in terms of the cost of administration? 
 Is the funding provided through the system predictable, stable, and timely? 
 Are there mechanisms in place to hold districts accountable for using resources 


effectively and ways to make progress toward their educational goals? 
 Is the implementation of the system politically acceptable? 


As an extension of the AIR report, we will put forth a weighted student funding (WSF) model 
that the state could use to determine the appropriate distribution of funding across districts. As 
the proposed work does not constitute an adequacy study, the model will focus primarily on 
the distributive effects of various weight adjustments used for various types of students rather 
than on the overall level of funding necessary to produce a given level of educational 
opportunity to the state’s students. Nevertheless, the updated FAS, in line with the original 
version delivered in 2012, will allow the user to simulate funding scenarios under various 
assumptions concerning the base per-pupil funding level.6,7 


In addition, we will examine the potential impact of funding formula changes to how districts 
operate, highlighting the challenges that districts may experience in the face of changes to the 
funding formula as well as examining the potential benefits to districts. To do so, we will draw 
upon experiences seen by districts in other states such as California that have recently 


                                                 
5 Details on determining which schools will be fully funded in the event that funding is not sufficient to cover all 
schools can be found in SB178, Sec 8.3. 
6 Moreover, multiple members of the research team (Drs. Baker, Chambers, Levin, and Verstegen) have extensive 
experience with educational adequacy studies and are more than willing to discuss with the client the possibility 
of developing simulations that make use of adequate base per-pupil funding levels calculated in these studies. 
7 Note, the base per-pupil funding level entered into the FAS is analogous to the per-pupil basic support 
guarantee (e.g., see the “InputOutput” worksheet of the 2011 Distributive School Account (DSA) Module 2 used 
in the original AIR report analysis). 
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overhauled their system of funding education (Education Trust-West, 2014, 2016; Hill & Ugo, 
2015; Warren & Carrillo, 2015; Lee & Fuller, 2017). Finally, we will make recommendations 
for how Nevada might implement a WSF formula, including how Nevada can transition from 
the current funding model to the WSF model. These recommendations will include a tentative 
phase-in plan defining the period over which a weighted formula might be implemented, as 
well as the development of hold-harmless provisions that would smooth out potential 
reductions in resource levels in certain districts.8 
2.1.3 Review the meaning of the term “pupils who are at-risk,” as defined in NRS 387.121, to 


establish an appropriate definition of the term and recommend appropriate funding 
adjustments for the additional costs associated with serving such pupils. 


NRS 387.121 states the Legislature’s intentions to move to a school finance system by which 
additional funding is provided on a weighted basis to districts for students with additional needs: 


It is the intent of the Legislature, commencing with Fiscal Year 2016–2017, to provide 
additional resources to the Nevada Plan expressed as a multiplier of the basic support 
guarantee to meet the unique needs of certain categories of pupils, including, without 
limitation, pupils with disabilities, pupils who are limited English proficient, pupils who are at 
risk and gifted and talented pupils. As used in this subsection, “pupils who are at risk” means 
pupils who are eligible for free or reduced-price lunch pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1751 et seq., or 
an alternative measure prescribed by the State Board of Education. (Sec. 4, NRS 387.121) 


To this end, along with performing the three components to update the AIR report and 
Bulletin, Jason Willis (WestEd) will lead the research team in conducting a dedicated 
investigation of the meaning of the term “pupils who are at-risk”.9 The investigation will take 
a two-pronged approach. 


First, we will examine how the definition included in NRS 387.121 compares to other states. 
This process will include an examination of the various definitions states use for identifying 
at-risk students and how these comport with the at-risk definition currently used by Nevada. 
Particular emphasis will be placed on comparing the treatment of funding for at-risk students 
in those states that share the current Nevada definition (based on eligibility for free or 
reduced-price lunch) to that of states making use of alternative measures. We will draw upon 
both primary and secondary information sources to perform this comparative analysis. We will 
first make use of the information gathered in developing the updated inventory of state 
funding systems (see Objective 2.1.2) and provide examples of how different states fund at-risk 
students. We will then perform a scan of mainstream education finance literature and of 
school funding legislation from various states. 


Second, we plan to perform on-the-ground qualitative research to investigate the perceived 
definitions of at-risk students among district-level practitioners throughout the state. 
                                                 
8 For an example of a phase-in plan developed by the proposed research team, see the AIR study An Independent 
Comprehensive Study of the New Mexico Public School Funding Formula (pages 62–66): 
http://www.nmschoolfunding.org/pdf/AIR_Vol_I_FINAL_Report_-_NM_Public_School_Funding_Formula.pdf. 
9 Given the approach we are taking in this task also lends itself to investigating alternative definitions of EL, we 
would be happy to discuss with the client conducting similar analyses for this student need category. 



http://www.nmschoolfunding.org/pdf/AIR_Vol_I_FINAL_Report_-_NM_Public_School_Funding_Formula.pdf
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Specifically, the research team will engage cabinet-level staff such as Chief Academic Officers 
and/or Chief Finance Officers at each of the state’s 17 districts with whom interviews will be 
conducted.10 The interviews will follow a semi-structured protocol and contain questions 
designed to gather responses that speak to perceptions related to the current definition of at-
risk students, the degree to which this is an appropriate measure of the true need associated 
with at-risk student populations, and whether there may be better metrics that might be 
considered for use in place of or in addition to the current definition. 


Using both the analysis of at-risk definitions in other states and the perceptions and 
recommendations of district administrators within Nevada, we will identify the various 
strengths and weaknesses of Nevada’s current definition of at-risk students. Furthermore, we 
will examine how changes to the definition of at-risk might alter the number of identified 
students―or number of students potentially eligible for additional funding―in each district. 
Based upon the analyses conducted under this and the previous objective (2.1.3 and 2.1.2), we 
will develop recommendations pertaining to developing (1) a functional definition for identifying 
at-risk students and (2) appropriate funding adjustments to properly support at-risk students. 
The recommendations put forth for improving funding for at-risk students will be developed 
with the criteria for evaluating education funding policies found in Section 2.1.2 in mind. 
2.1.4 Review the multiplier to the basic support guarantee per pupil for pupils with disabilities 


pursuant to NRS 387.122. 


In several parts of the proposed study update, we will examine the current mechanisms used 
by Nevada for funding SWDs and review potential alternative approaches. This work will be 
co-led by Dr. Drew Atchison (AIR) and Professor Bruce Baker (Rutgers University) and draw 
upon the expertise of special education finance expert Jay Chambers (AIR). In updating the 
evolution of Nevada’s funding, we will describe any changes made to the funding of SWDs in 
years since the AIR report was published and more recently since the Bulletin was released. 
Furthermore, when describing Nevada’s current funding formula, we will thoroughly explain 
the mechanism(s) by which Nevada currently provides school districts with resources to 
account for the increased costs of educating SWDs. 


Within the study component involving the inventory of state education funding systems, we 
will examine whether and how other states provide additional funding to support the provision 
of special education services. Using this inventory, we also will be able to describe the range of 
adjustments used by other states to provide additional dollars for SWDs. This approach will 
enable us to situate Nevada’s policy within the range of policies for providing additional 
dollars for special education across states. 


We also will update the results of the Analysis of Alternative Special Education Cost 
Adjustments provided in Chapter 4 of the AIR report. In addition, we will explore further 
alternative methods for providing additional dollars for special education in Nevada and 
perform calculations to simulate the amount of dollars for SWDs that would be provided to 
Nevada’s school districts under each alternative method. 


                                                 
10 The research team will work with districts to determine how many and which types of staff will be interviewed. 
We expect the number of interviews to vary based on district size, but to rarely exceed one to two interviewees. 
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Using these analyses, we will describe the strengths and weaknesses of the current and 
alternative methods for funding the cost of SWDs and will develop recommendations for 
improving the allocation of dollars for SWDs. The strengths and weaknesses as well as the 
development of recommendations for improving the basic support guarantee for SWDs will be 
made with the criteria for evaluating education funding policies from Section 2.1.2 in mind. 
2.1.5 Review the meaning of the term “gifted and talented pupils,” as defined in NRS 388.5231, 


to establish an appropriate definition for the term and recommend a consistent statewide 
standard to identify such pupils. 


 
With Jason Willis (WestEd) taking the lead, we will examine and establish the term “gifted 
and talented pupils” in a similar manner as that described previously for “at-risk pupils” 
(Objective 2.1.3). At the time of the original AIR report, Nevada treated gifted and talented 
students as special education students. We will describe any changes to how Nevada defines 
and funds this student category since the prior report. In addition, we will use both the 
inventory of school finance systems (Objective 2.1.2) and a scan of the relevant education 
finance literature to describe the extent to which other states fund gifted and talented students. 
Furthermore, in the qualitative investigation described (Objective 2.1.3), we will include 
district interview protocol items designed to gather information on (1) how Nevada district 
administrators currently perceive and identify gifted and talented students and (2) suggestions 
they have to improve how gifted and talented students are defined and identified. Finally, we 
will use simulation models to examine any impacts to the funding of Nevada’s districts that 
would result from changing the definition or funding of gifted and talented students. 
 
Based on the results of these analyses, we will develop recommendations for defining and 
identifying gifted and talented students and will describe the implications of such changes on 
education funding. Again, in developing these recommendations, the study team will keep in 
mind the criteria for evaluating education funding policies mentioned in Objective 2.1.2. 
 
2.1.6 Make recommendations for the implementation of the findings of the independent 


consultant pursuant to Objectives (2.1.1) to (2.1.5), inclusive. 


Upon completion of the analyses and objectives described in 2.1.1 to 2.1.5, we will be in a good 
position to evaluate the system of funding schools in Nevada holistically. In developing 
recommendations pertaining to implementation of funding formula changes, we will take into 
account the outcomes of the various analyses, Nevada’s progress in implementing the prior 
recommendations made in both the AIR report and Bulletin, and the current strengths and 
weaknesses of Nevada’s education funding system. In addition, we will explain why we believe 
each of our recommendations will improve Nevada’s school finance system, linking our 
recommendations back to the criteria for evaluating education funding policies. 


As part of our recommendations, we will put forth a model WSF system to show how funding 
across the state’s 17 districts would look if Nevada adopted such a model. It is important that 
recommendations not be made in a vacuum, blind to the potential unintended consequences or 
impacts of enacted changes. Therefore, we propose to examine the potential impact of funding 
formula changes to how districts operate, paying attention to the challenges that districts may 
experience in the face of changes to the funding formula as well as examining the potential 
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benefits to districts. To do so, we will draw upon experiences seen by districts in other states that 
have recently overhauled their system of funding education. Specifically, this objective component 
will draw upon the expertise of Jason Willis (WestEd), who has been involved in supporting state 
and local education agencies in California to implement policies and practices under that state’s 
Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF), to provide recommendations as to how a statewide 
weighted student funding formula could practicably be carried out.11 


The recommendations will build upon lessons learned in California and other states about the 
key considerations that must be addressed when developing the various governance structures 
that must accompany the transition over to a weighted student formula and rollout of the new 
system. At the top of the list is how to create the structures that strike the right balance 
between providing local control (autonomy) to districts while holding them accountable for 
inputs (i.e., how funding is spent) and student outcomes. The recommendations also will touch 
on best practices at the local (district and school) levels concerning needs assessment, goal 
setting, planning and budgeting, and the linking of available revenue sources to budgets. 
Further, we will touch on the need for effective capacity building at the state, district, and 
school levels to ensure that all staff understand and successfully navigate the new system. 
Finally, the recommendation also will touch on how the implementation of a comprehensive 
communication plan can facilitate smooth and effective initial roll out and implementation of 
the new system. 


By performing this extra step, we will ensure that our recommendations are not only focused 
on improving the education funding system but are also practical and feasible. Furthermore, 
by examining the challenges faced by other states, it is our intention to provide Nevada with 
information that will help state policymakers and practitioners mitigate unforeseen challenges 
and reduce any unnecessary burden to state and district officials who must administer the 
system of funding education in Nevada. We will share our recommendations with the 
Department of Education prior to the preliminary report with the intent of getting feedback. 
We also will explore the possibility of gathering feedback on our recommendations from a 
broader set of state and district stakeholders. 


2.2 Deliverables 
2.2.1 Deliverable 1: Preliminary Report on or before August 1, 2018  
 
 The contractor selected by the Department of Education shall complete the work identified 


in the Scope of Work and, on or before August 1, 2018, submit a preliminary report 
containing the information described in the Scope of Work to the Department of Education. 
Upon receipt of the preliminary report, the Department of Education shall immediately 
forward the preliminary report to the Legislative Committee on Education. 


The AIR study team will complete all analyses described in Section 2.1 and will submit a 
preliminary report to the Department of Education on or before August 1, 2018. With previous 
projects we have found it helpful to have periodic check-ins with the client to gain insight on 
                                                 
11 Note that Mr. Willis also has provided extensive consultative support to states and school districts to analyze, 
model, and propose improvement to their funding formulas, including the construction and execution of 
weighted student funding systems. 







 


Nevada School Funding Consultant– Part IA Technical Proposal—14 
 


the project topic and any contextual factors that we should consider. We also have regularly 
shared proposed research designs as well as preliminary findings to allow the client to provide 
ongoing feedback. In turn, we will work with client to develop regularly occurring check-ins 
throughout the course of the project as is convenient for the client. 
  
2.2.2 Deliverable 2: Final Report on or before October 15, 2018 
  
 Upon receipt of the preliminary report, the Legislative Committee on Education shall 


review the preliminary report and provide recommendations to the contractor. After 
receiving such recommendations from the Legislative Committee on Education and any 
recommendations which may be provided by the State Board of Education and Department 
of Education, the contractor shall prepare a final report which includes such 
recommendations and, on or before October 15, 2018, submit the final report to the 
Governor and the Director of the Legislative Counsel Bureau for transmission to the next 
regular session of the Legislature. 


Using any feedback and recommendations provided by the Legislative Committee on 
Education, State Board of Education, and Department of Education, we will update the report 
and prepare a final version that addresses such feedback. The final report shall be submitted 
on or before October 15, 2018. For many projects, along with the delivery of a final report, we 
also engage in the presentation of findings. For example, for a recent report provided to the 
Maryland State Department of Education, Dr. Levin and Dr. Atchison presented key findings 
in person to the Maryland State Board of Education as well as Maryland’s State General 
Assembly in early 2017. Moreover, Dr. Levin and Professor Baker presented the results of a 
study they authored to the Pennsylvania Legislature Basic Education Funding Commission in 
late 2014. Finally, Dr. Chambers, Professor Jordan, and Professor Verstegen presented the 
findings of the original AIR report to stakeholders in 2012. 


The research team will engage the clients to determine whether there are any steps they would 
like us to take in helping with the dissemination of the report such as presenting the findings. 
Further, we will strive to meet all requests for helping with the dissemination of the report as 
the budget for the project allows. 


Section VI – Company Background and References 
3.1  Vendor Information 


3.1.1 Vendors shall provide a company profile in the table format below. 


Question Response 
Company name: American Institutes for Research 
Ownership (sole proprietor, 
partnership, etc.): 


Nonprofit corporation 


State of incorporation: Pennsylvania 
Date of incorporation: December 31, 1946 
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Question Response 
# of years in business: 71 years 
List of top officers: David Myers, President and CEO 


Marijo Ahlgrimm, Executive Vice President and CFO 
Dona Kilpatrick, General Counsel, Legal 


Location of company headquarters, 
to include City and State: 


1000 Thomas Jefferson St. NW 
Washington, DC 20007-3835 


Location(s) of the office that will 
provide the services described in 
this RFP: 


AIR’s San Mateo office will be the main point of operation. 
In addition, staff form AIR’s Washington, D.C., office will be 
providing services. 


Number of employees locally with 
the expertise to support the 
requirements identified in this RFP: 


Although we do not have any AIR staff within the State of 
Nevada, staff in California are a short trip away from Nevada 
and will be available for in-person meetings if requested by 
the Nevada Department of Education. In addition, we will be 
partnering with two consultants, Professor Teresa Jordan and 
Professor Deborah Verstegen who are long-time residents of 
Nevada and who worked at the University of Nevada-Las 
Vegas and the University of Nevada-Reno, respectively. 


Number of employees nationally 
with the expertise to support the 
requirements in this RFP: 


The primary AIR employees who will be working on this 
project are Dr. Jesse Levin (Principal Investigator), Dr. Jay 
Chambers (Expert Internal Consultant), and Dr. Drew 
Atchison (Lead Analyst). Dr. Levin and Dr. Chambers both 
participated on the 2012 AIR report. All three have extensive 
experience in research on education finance. In addition, 
AIR has a vast network of employees that can be called upon 
to support this work as needed. 


Location(s) from which employees 
will be assigned for this project: 


Dr. Levin and Dr. Chambers are based out of AIR’s San 
Mateo, California office, and Dr. Atchison is based in AIR’s 
Washington, DC, office. We also have the ability to call upon 
staff throughout the country to support this project as needed. 


3.1.2 A Nevada-based business may apply for a five percent (5%) preference on its 
proposal. This preference may apply if a business has its principal place of 
business within Nevada. This preference cannot be combined with any other 
preference, granted for the award of a contract using federal funds, or granted for 
the award of a contract procured on a multi-state basis. To claim this preference a 
business must submit a letter with its proposal showing that it qualifies for the 
preference. 


3.1.3 Please be advised, pursuant to NRS 80.010, a corporation organized pursuant to 
the laws of another state shall register with the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s 
Office as a foreign corporation before a contract can be executed between the State of 
Nevada and the awarded vendor, unless specifically exempted by NRS 80.015. 


3.1.4 The selected vendor, prior to doing business in the State of Nevada, shall be 
appropriately licensed by the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office 
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pursuant to NRS76. Information regarding the Nevada Business License can be 
located at http://sos.state.nv.us.  


Question Response 
Nevada Business License Number: 20120154106-92 
Legal Entity Name: American Institutes for Research in the 


Behavioral Sciences 


Is “Legal Entity Name” the same name as vendor is doing business as? 


Yes  No X 


If “No”, provide explanation. 


Doing business as (DBA) American Institutes for Research. 


3.1.5 Has the vendor ever been engaged under contract by any State of Nevada agency?  


Yes X No  


If “Yes”, complete the following table for each State agency for whom the work 
was performed. Table can be duplicated for each contract being identified. 


Question Response 
Name of State agency: Nevada State Purchasing Division 
State agency contact name: Nancy Feser 
Dates when services were performed: 04/13/2016 – 04/12/2019 
Type of duties performed: Grant Project Evaluator Services 
Total dollar value of the contract: $200,000 


 
Question Response 
Name of State agency: Nevada Department of Education 
State agency contact name: Victoria Blakeny 
Dates when services were performed: 10/13/2015 – 9/30/2019 
Type of duties performed: School Climate and SEL Survey 
Total dollar value of the contract: $992,000 


 
Question Response 
Name of State agency: Nevada Department of Education 
State agency contact name: TeQuia Barrett 
Dates when services were performed: 12/01/2016 – 09/12/2019 



http://sos.state.nv.us/
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Question Response 
Type of duties performed: 21st Century Community Learning 


Center 
Total dollar value of the contract: $295,297 


3.1.6 Are you now or have you been within the last two (2) years an employee of the 
State of Nevada, or any of its agencies, departments, or divisions? 


Yes  No X 


If “Yes”, please explain when the employee is planning to render services, while 
on annual leave, compensatory time, or on their own time? 


If you employ (a) any person who is a current employee of an agency of the State 
of Nevada, or (b) any person who has been an employee of an agency of the State 
of Nevada within the past two (2) years, and if such person will be performing or 
producing the services which you will be contracted to provide under this 
contract, you must disclose the identity of each such person in your response to 
this RFP, and specify the services that each person will be expected to perform. 


3.1.7 Disclosure of any significant prior or ongoing contract failures, contract breaches, 
civil or criminal litigation in which the vendor has been alleged to be liable or 
held liable in a matter involving a contract with the State of Nevada or any other 
governmental entity. Any pending claim or litigation occurring within the past six 
(6) years which may adversely affect the vendor’s ability to perform or fulfill its 
obligations if a contract is awarded as a result of this RFP must also be disclosed. 


Does any of the above apply to your company? 


Yes  No X 


If “Yes”, please provide the following information. Table can be duplicated for 
each issue being identified. 


Question Response 
Date of alleged contract failure or breach:  
Parties involved:  
Description of the contract failure, contract 
breach, or litigation, including the products 
or services involved: 


 


Amount in controversy:  
Resolution or current status of the dispute:  
If the matter has resulted in a court case: Court Case Number 


  







 


Nevada School Funding Consultant– Part IA Technical Proposal—18 
 


Question Response 
Status of the litigation:  


3.1.8 Vendors shall review and provide if awarded a contract the insurance 
requirements as specified in Attachment D, Insurance Schedule for RFP 3489. 


3.1.9 Company background/history and why vendor is qualified to provide the services 
described in this RFP. Limit response to no more than five (5) pages. 


Founded in 1946, AIR is an independent, nonpartisan, not-for-profit organization that 
conducts behavioral and social science research and delivers technical assistance both 
domestically and internationally. As one of the largest behavioral and social science research 
organizations in the world, AIR is committed to empowering communities and institutions 
with innovative solutions to the most critical challenges in education, health, workforce, and 
international development. 


Our organization has considerable expertise and a long-standing track record for conducting 
school finance studies such as the one proposed for Nevada. Since 2004, AIR has conducted 
studies that have investigated issues of educational finance in Alaska, Arizona, California, 
Florida, Kentucky, Hawaii, Maryland, Nevada, New Mexico, New York, Massachusetts, 
Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Texas, and Utah. For this effort, we have assembled a team of 
seasoned researchers to provide consulting on Nevada’s public school finance system. 


Dr. Jesse Levin (proposed Principal Investigator) has previously worked with all key members 
of the proposed research team on high-profile investigations of issues in school finance for 
federal, state, and philanthropic organizations. Most recently, he and Dr. Drew Atchison 
(proposed Project Director), along with Professor Baker (proposed Task Lead) and Dr. 
Chambers (proposed Expert Consultant) have collaborated on three national studies for the 
U.S. Department of Education investigating the quality of educational finance systems that 
track spending to individual schools, Title I resource allocation, and weighted student 
formulas. Prior to this work, Dr. Levin and Professor Baker performed an evaluation of 
Pennsylvania’s school finance system (Baker & Levin, 2014). In addition, Dr. Levin has 
previously directed several evaluations of state school finance systems including the Nevada 
report of 2012 (Levin et al., 2016; Levin et al., 2013; Chambers et al., 2012) and educational 
adequacy studies for California, New Mexico, and New York (Chambers et al., 2004; 
Chambers et al., 2006; Chambers et al., 2008). 


The proposed AIR research team exhibits considerable professional experience related to 
adequacy and equity in school funding, costs of special need populations, regional cost 
differences related to teacher markets, cost differences related to economies of scale, labor 
market economics, and legal aspects of education finance reform. 
 Adequacy and equity – Dr. Chambers, Professor Baker, Dr. Levin, and Professor 


Verstegen have written and published extensively on issues of adequacy and equity in 
school funding. Dr. Chambers is well-known for developing the original cost-based 
funding model directed toward addressing issues of adequacy and equity in school 
finance. 
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 Costs of special need populations – Dr. Chambers and Dr. Levin have conducted 
numerous studies directed at understanding the patterns of expenditure and resource 
allocation for students with disabilities and students in poverty. For example, Dr. 
Chambers led the joint Special Education Expenditure Project and Center for Special 
Education Finance, while both Dr. Chambers and Dr. Levin have independently led 
federal studies of Title I resource allocation. 


 Expert Knowledge of Nevada School Finance – Professor Jordan and Professor 
Verstegen both have special expertise and knowledge of Nevada school finance and 
have previously authored research reports on Nevada school finance reform (see, for 
example, Jordan and Verstegen [2008] and Verstegen et al. [2010]). In addition, they 
were both co-authors of the 2012 Nevada report (Chambers et al., 2012). 


 50-State Finance Systems – Professor Verstegen published an early survey of the states 
for the Education Commission of the States (1990) and recently published the results 
of a comprehensive 50-state survey of school finance policies and programs, with a 
focus on finance components for children with special educational needs. 


 Scale economies in schools and districts – Dr. Chambers performed early seminal 
research in educational resource cost modelling in Illinois (Chambers & Parrish, 
1982); Alaska (Chambers & Parrish, 1984); and later in California, New Mexico, and 
New York (Chambers et al., 2004; Chambers et al., 2006; Chambers et al., 2008). 
These cost models were specifically designed to address the adequacy needs in the 
context of schools and districts over a considerable range in size. 
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Education Finance Project Descriptions 


Project Name Client Period of 
Performance Leadership Description 


Study of Funding 
Provided to Public 
Schools and Public 
Charter Schools in 


Maryland 


Maryland State 
Department of 
Education and 
Department of 


Legislative 
Services 


2016–2017 


Co-project 
directors:  


Dr. Jesse Levin 
and  


Dr. Bruce Baker 


This study examined school-level funding levels and patterns in Maryland, 
distinguishing between traditional and charter public schools. The study 
included analysis of extant data, documentation, and interviews with school 
district and charter school officials. Based on this analysis, the research team 
compared average spending levels and patterns, unconditionally and adjusting 
for student needs, between traditional and charter public schools and described 
charter school funding formulas and service arrangements in each Maryland 
school district with active charter schools. 
http://marylandeducators.org/sites/default/files/marylandstudypublcschoolfundi
ng122016.pdf  


Educational 
Equity, Adequacy, 


and Equal 
Opportunity in the 
Commonwealth: 
An Evaluation of 
Pennsylvania’s 
School Finance 


System 


William Penn 
Foundation 2014 


Co-principal 
investigators:  


Dr. Bruce Baker 
and  


Dr. Jesse Levin 


This report provided an overview of the state of school funding in Pennsylvania, 
including analyses of extant data from both Pennsylvania and national sources; 
a review of current conceptions of educational equity, adequacy and equal 
opportunity; empirical methods for measuring education costs; current policies 
across states; and recent reforms. 
http://www.air.org/resource/educational-equity-adequacy-and-equal-
opportunity-commonwealth-evaluation-pennsylvanias 


Evaluation of 
Hawaii’s Weighted 
Student Formula 


Hawaii 
Department of 


Education 
2013 


Principal 
investigator:  


Dr. Jay Chambers 
Project director: 
Dr. Jesse Levin 


This broad report included a quantitative analysis of the implementation of a 
statewide school-based funding mechanism to understand the distributive 
equity of funding across schools as it relates to student needs; administration 
of large-scale surveys to school leaders; conducting interviews of state, 
district, and school leader stakeholders on their perspectives about the WSF 
model; and school-based budgeting. 
http://www.air.org/reports-
products/index.cfm?fa=viewContent&content_id=2672 


  



http://marylandeducators.org/sites/default/files/marylandstudypublcschoolfunding122016.pdf

http://marylandeducators.org/sites/default/files/marylandstudypublcschoolfunding122016.pdf

http://www.air.org/resource/educational-equity-adequacy-and-equal-opportunity-commonwealth-evaluation-pennsylvanias

http://www.air.org/resource/educational-equity-adequacy-and-equal-opportunity-commonwealth-evaluation-pennsylvanias

http://www.air.org/reports-products/index.cfm?fa=viewContent&content_id=2672

http://www.air.org/reports-products/index.cfm?fa=viewContent&content_id=2672
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Study of a New 
Method of 


Funding for Public 
Schools in Nevada 


Nevada 
Legislative 


Counsel Bureau 
2012 


Principal 
investigator:  


Dr. Jay Chambers 
Project director:  
Dr. Jesse Levin 


This study of Nevada’s funding system included an investigation of state 
funding formulas, demographic characteristics, and fiscal data from all 50 
U.S. states. Based on empirical analyses of these data, the researchers 
attempted to identify the best practices that lead to an equitable distribution of 
funding with respect to the incidence of students in poverty, English language 
learners, students enrolled in special education programs, and students 
attending schools in districts that have a small scale of operations. 
http://www.air.org/files/AIR_NV_Funding_Study_Sept2012.pdf 


Do Schools in 
Rural and 


Nonrural Districts 
Allocate Resources 


Differently? An 
Analysis of 


Spending and 
Staffing Patterns 


in the West Region 
States 


Regional 
Educational 


Laboratory West 
2009–2011 


Principal 
investigator:  


Dr. Jay Chambers 
Project director:  
Dr. Jesse Levin 


This report presented the first detailed comparison of resource allocation 
between rural and nonrural districts in the West Region. Three regional 
characteristics often associated with rural districts were chosen for the 
analysis: district enrollment, student population density within a district 
(students per square mile), and drive time from the center of a district to the 
nearest urban area or cluster. Two other types of factors thought to be 
associated with resource allocation were also investigated: student need 
(incidence of poverty, English language learner students, and students 
receiving special education services) and geographic differences in labor costs. 
http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/west/pdf/REL_2011099.pdf 


Determining the 
Cost of Providing 


an Adequate 
Education for All 


Students 


National 
Education 


Association 
2009 


Principal 
investigator:  


Dr. Jay Chambers 
Project director:  
Dr. Jesse Levin 


This study was a methodological overview of the techniques used to answer 
the two fundamental adequacy questions: “What does it cost to enable a public 
school system to provide students with an adequate education?” and “How 
can school systems allocate their resources equitably, such that all students 
are afforded an adequate education regardless of their need or 
circumstance?” To investigate the approaches used to answer these questions, 
this study evaluated the strengths and weaknesses of four traditional costing-
out methodologies: cost-function, professional judgment, successful schools or 
districts, and the evidence-based approach. The study then drew upon the 
strengths of each of these approaches to propose a new hybrid model for 
costing out adequate funding. 


Independent 
Comprehensive 


Study of the New 
Mexico School 


Funding Formula 


New Mexico 
Legislature 2006–2009 


Principal 
investigator:  


Dr. Jay Chambers 
Project director:  
Dr. Jesse Levin 


The focus of this study was to estimate the cost of providing a sufficient 
education to all students in New Mexico based on thoughtful comprehensive 
program designs developed from the ground-up by expert practitioners. AIR 
collaborated with educational policymakers and practitioners at the state and 
local levels to understand their perspectives on school programming and 
resource allocation. 
http://www.nmschoolfunding.org/ 


  



http://www.air.org/files/AIR_NV_Funding_Study_Sept2012.pdf

http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/west/pdf/REL_2011099.pdf

http://www.nmschoolfunding.org/
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Efficiency and 
Adequacy in 


California School 
Finance: A 
Professional 


Judgment 
Approach 


Bill & Melinda 
Gates Foundation 2006 


Principal 
investigator:  


Dr. Jay Chambers 
Project director: 
Dr. Jesse Levin 


This report presented the results of a professional judgment panel study 
focused on answering a central question: What is the cost of providing all 
California public school students with access to the California content 
standards and the opportunity to achieve proficiency levels established by the 
California State Board of Education? 
http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/AIR_PJP_Report_0.pdf 


The New York 
Adequacy Study: 
Determining the 
Cost of Providing 


All Children in 
New York an 


Adequate 
Education 


Bill & Melinda 
Gates Foundation 


and the Ford 
Foundation 


2002–2004 


Principal 
investigator:  


Dr. Jay Chambers 
Project director:  
Dr. Jesse Levin 


This report presented the results of a high-profile project undertaken to 
answer the question: “What is the cost of providing all New York public 
school students a full opportunity to meet the Regents Learning Standards?”  
The methodological centerpiece for this study was a professional judgment 
approach. The AIR/Management Analysis and Planning (MAP) research 
team selected highly qualified New York State educators to serve on a series of 
professional judgment panels to design instructional programs necessary to 
meet the outcome goal specified (i.e., a “full opportunity to meet the Regents 
Learning Standards”).


 
These panels were then asked to specify the resources 


needed to deliver those programs. AIR/MAP supplemented the information 
provided from these panels with commentary from an external cadre of 
researchers in the field and feedback from stakeholders outside of education; 
with analysis of staffing patterns in schools identified as “highly successful” 
in serving their student populations and with econometric explorations of New 
York education labor markets.  
AIR/MAP imputed costs to the instructional models resulting from this 
process. Various analytic techniques were used to estimate the costs of an 
adequate education. These included econometric modeling, analyses of 
“successful schools,” and current research on school effectiveness. 
Volume I: 
http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/NYAdequacyReportVO
LUMEI_0.pdf 
Technical Appendices: 
http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/NYAdequacyAppendice
sVOLUMEII_0.pdf 



http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/AIR_PJP_Report_0.pdf

http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/NYAdequacyReportVOLUMEI_0.pdf

http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/NYAdequacyReportVOLUMEI_0.pdf

http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/NYAdequacyAppendicesVOLUMEII_0.pdf

http://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/NYAdequacyAppendicesVOLUMEII_0.pdf
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3.1.10 Provide a brief description of the length of time vendor has been providing 
services described in this RFP to the public and/or private sector. 


As an organization, AIR has been working in the field of education research since 1947. 
Collectively, the researchers participating on this project have many decades of combined 
education finance research experience. 


3.1.11 Financial information and documentation to be included in accordance with 
Section 8.5, Part III – Confidential Financial Information.  


3.1.11.1 Dun and Bradstreet Number  


04-173-3197 


3.1.11.2 Federal Tax Identification Number 


25-0965219 


3.1.11.3 The last two (2) years and current year interim: 


A. Profit and Loss Statement 


B. Balance Statement  


See proposal volume Part III Confidential Financial Information for the 
financial information and documentation. 


3.2 Subcontractor Information 
Subcontractors are defined as a third party, not directly employed by the contractor, who 
shall provide services identified in this RFP. This does not include third parties who 
provide support or incidental services to the contractor. 


3.2.1 Does this proposal include the use of subcontractors? 


Yes X No  


If “Yes”, vendor shall: 


3.2.1.1 Identify specific subcontractors and the specific requirements of this RFP for 
which each proposed subcontractor will perform services. 


WestEd will subcontract to AIR for this project to work on study Objectives 2.1.3, 2.1.5, and 
2.1.6. The WestEd Principal Investigator, Jason Willis, has worked extensively on the 
implementation of California’s Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF) at both the state and 
district levels. In addition, he has worked to support states and school districts to analyze, 
model, and propose improvement to their funding formulas, including the construction and 
execution of weighted student funding systems. Moreover, WestEd already has experience 
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interacting effectively within Nevada public school districts, as evidenced by its work with 
Clark County to develop the English learner master plan. To this end, the subcontractor is 
more than qualified to fulfill the RFP objective requirements that will be assigned to WestEd 
as follows. As part of this project, he will use that expertise within two pieces of this project. 
First, he will lead a qualitative analysis of Nevada school district administrators regarding 
their perceived definitions of at-risk and gifted and talented student populations. Specifically, 
he will lead the design and administration of interviews that probe at how Nevada district 
administrators define and identify such students, and whether district officials have any 
recommendations regarding the development and functional use of formal state definitions for 
such pupils. Second, he will describe the key considerations and potential challenges and 
benefits for Nevada districts if the states were to implement a weighted student funding system. 
The project team will then develop recommendations for how Nevada could transition from its 
current system to implementing a weighted student funding system while minimizing district 
challenges and maximizing potential benefits. 


3.2.1.2 If any tasks are to be completed by subcontractor(s), vendors shall: 


A. Describe how the work of any subcontractor(s) shall be supervised, 
channels of communication shall be maintained and compliance with 
contract terms assured; and 


Regular project team check-ins will ensure that all subcontractors and study consultants are 
in regular communication with the AIR study team. In addition, Jason Willis is located in the 
San Francisco area, in close proximity to AIR’s San Mateo office. Therefore, we will be able 
to have in-person check-ins as needed. 


AIR will work with WestEd to develop a set of deliverables with deadlines for meeting those 
deliverables. Payment from AIR to WestEd will be based on meeting the requirements and 
expectations for each deliverable.  


B. Describe your previous experience with subcontractor(s). 


AIR has experience working with Jason Willis on previous projects, including a federal 
national study of weighted student funding systems directed by Dr. Jesse Levin and studies of 
the weighted student funding systems in Oakland and San Francisco led by Dr. Jay Chambers 
and Dr. Jesse Levin. The members of this study team and Jason Willis have supported each 
other’s work and seek to maintain a good working relationship moving forward. 


In addition, AIR has vast experience working with many subcontractors on previous projects. 
In the vast majority of these instances, AIR and the subcontractors have worked in tandem to 
deliver the highest quality work products. 


In the rare instance in which a subcontractor has not been able to fulfill its obligation to 
deliver a satisfactory work product, the AIR study team was able to take on the work originally 
tasked to the subcontractor and met the requirements of the RFP, delivering a high-quality 
report. Although we in no way foresee this occurring with WestEd, given our long history of 
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working with Jason Willis, AIR is large enough to be able to absorb work with little problem 
should a subcontractor in question not produce a high-quality work product. 


3.2.1.3 Provide the same information for any proposed subcontractors as 
requested in Section 3.1, Vendor Information. 


1. Company Background and References 


1.1 Vendor Information 


1.1.1 Vendors shall provide a company profile in the table format below. 


Question Response 
Company name: WestEd 
Ownership (sole proprietor, partnership, 
etc.): 


Joint Powers Authority 


State of incorporation* *note: not a 
corporation 


California 


Date of incorporation: 1995 
# of years in business: 22 
List of top officers: Glen Harvey, CEO 


Catherine Walcott, CDO 
Max McConkey, Chief Policy Officer 
Nancy Riddle, CFO 
Richard Whitmore, CAO 
Sabrina Laine, Chief Program Officer 


Location of company headquarters, to 
include City and State: 


San Francisco, CA 


Location(s) of the office that shall provide 
the services described in this RFP: 


Sacramento, CA 


Number of employees locally with the 
expertise to support the requirements 
identified in this RFP: 


3  


Number of employees nationally with the 
expertise to support the requirements in 
this RFP: 


WestEd has a vast network of staff 
across the agency with significant 
expertise relevant to the requirements of 
this RFP. Should the need arise to 
involve someone within the agency that 
is not specifically listed in the proposal, 
we will, with the permission of the State 
of Nevada, ask the staff member with the 
requisite expertise to fulfill that need. 


Location(s) from which employees shall 
be assigned for this project: 


Sacramento, CA 
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1.1.2 A Nevada-based business may apply for a five percent (5%) preference on its 
proposal. This preference may apply if a business has its principal place of business 
within Nevada. This preference cannot be combined with any other preference, 
granted for the award of a contract using federal funds, or granted for the award of 
a contract procured on a multi-state basis. To claim this preference a business must 
submit a letter with its proposal showing that it qualifies for the preference.  


1.1.3 Please be advised, pursuant to NRS 80.010, a corporation organized pursuant to 
the laws of another state shall register with the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s 
Office as a foreign corporation before a contract can be executed between the State 
of Nevada and the awarded vendor, unless specifically exempted by NRS 80.015. 


1.1.4 The selected vendor, prior to doing business in the State of Nevada, shall be 
appropriately licensed by the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office pursuant 
to NRS76. Information regarding the Nevada Business License can be located at 
http://nvsos.gov. 


Question Response 
Nevada Business License Number: NV20111743662 
Legal Entity Name: WestEd  


Is “Legal Entity Name” the same name as vendor is doing business as? 


Yes X No  


If “No”, provide explanation. 


1.1.5 Has the vendor ever been engaged under contract by any State of Nevada agency?  


Yes X No  


If “Yes”, complete the following table for each State agency for whom the work 
was performed. Table can be duplicated for each contract being identified. 


 
Question Response 


Name of State agency: State of Nevada, Purchasing Division 
State agency contact name: Ronda Miller 
Dates when services were performed: 8/2013–6/2015 
Type of duties performed: Validation Study of the Nevada Educator 


Performance Framework 
Total dollar value of the contract: $320,000 


 



http://nvsos.gov/
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Question Response 
Name of State agency: Nevada Department of Education12 
State agency contact name: Janie Lowe 
Dates when services were performed: 1/2015–3/2017 
Type of duties performed: Nevada eNote Support Services and 


Continuation of Services 
Total dollar value of the contract: $43,750 


 
Question Response 


Name of State agency: Nevada Department of Education 
State agency contact name: Colin Usher and Evelyn Barragan 
Dates when services were performed: 6/2012–9/2013 
Type of duties performed: Nevada Striving Readers Evaluation 
Total dollar value of the contract: $457,880 


 
Question Response 


Name of State agency: Nevada Department of Education 
State agency contact name: Kim Boles 
Dates when services were performed: 3/2012–6/2013 
Type of duties performed: Nevada Teachers and Leaders Council 
Total dollar value of the contract: $99,335 


 
Question Response 


Name of State agency: Nevada Department of Education 
State agency contact name: Kim Boles 
Dates when services were performed: 3/2012–6/2013 
Type of duties performed: Supporting Diverse Learners through 


Educator Effectiveness 
Total dollar value of the contract: $190,690 


 
Question Response 


Name of State agency: Nevada Department of Education 
State agency contact name: Diane Mugford 
Dates when services were performed: 1/2011–4/2012 
Type of duties performed: Nevada ESEA Waiver Proposal 
Total dollar value of the contract: $39,923 


                                                 
12 WestEd has worked extensively with the Nevada Department of Education. We have listed contracts spanning 
the past five years to show recent engagement with the agency and will provide further contract information if 
requested. 
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1.1.6 Are you now or have you been within the last two (2) years an employee of the 
State of Nevada, or any of its agencies, departments, or divisions? 


Yes  No X 


If “Yes”, please explain when the employee is planning to render services, while 
on annual leave, compensatory time, or on their own time? 


If you employ (a) any person who is a current employee of an agency of the State 
of Nevada, or (b) any person who has been an employee of an agency of the State 
of Nevada within the past two (2) years, and if such person shall be performing or 
producing the services which you shall be contracted to provide under this contract, 
you shall disclose the identity of each such person in your response to this RFP, 
and specify the services that each person shall be expected to perform. 


1.1.7 Disclosure of any significant prior or ongoing contract failures, contract breaches, 
civil or criminal litigation in which the vendor has been alleged to be liable or held 
liable in a matter involving a contract with the State of Nevada or any other 
governmental entity. Any pending claim or litigation occurring within the past six 
(6) years which may adversely affect the vendor’s ability to perform or fulfill its 
obligations if a contract is awarded as a result of this RFP shall also be disclosed. 


Does any of the above apply to your company? 


Yes X No  


If “Yes”, please provide the following information. Table can be duplicated for 
each issue being identified. 


Question Response 
Date of alleged contract failure or 
breach: 


Contract end date 4/6/15 
 


Parties involved: Arizona State Board for Charter Schools 
Description of the contract failure, 
contract breach, or litigation, including 
the products or services involved: 


Funder terminated contract for lack of 
performance by the staff who were 
assigned to do the work. Staff assigned to 
that agreement are not a part of this 
proposal.  


Amount in controversy: N/A 
Resolution or current status of the 
dispute: 


Funder exercised termination clause 


If the matter has resulted in a court case: Court Case Number 
N/A N/A 


Status of the litigation: N/A 
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Question Response 
Question Response 
Date of alleged contract failure or 
breach: 


Contract end date 10/19/15 


Parties involved: California State University, Bakersfield  
Description of the contract failure, 
contract breach, or litigation, including 
the products or services involved: 


Funder terminated contract for lack of 
performance. Staff assigned to that 
agreement are not a part of this proposal. 


Amount in controversy: N/A 
Resolution or current status of the 
dispute: 


Funder exercised termination clause. 
Project moved to another staff member, 
and a new contract is being drafted. 


If the matter has resulted in a court case: Court Case Number 
N/A N/A 


Status of the litigation: N/A 
Date of alleged contract failure or 
breach: Contract end date 7/15/16 


Parties involved: Kamehameha Schools 
Description of the contract failure, 
contract breach, or litigation, including 
the products or services involved: 


Funder terminated contract for lack of 
performance by the staff who were 
assigned to do the work. Staff assigned to 
that agreement are not a part of this 
proposal. 


Amount in controversy: N/A 
Resolution or current status of the 
dispute: 


Parties mutually agreed to amendment to 
the contract to end early, reducing 
services and cost. 


If the matter has resulted in a court case: Court Case Number 
N/A N/A 


Status of the litigation: N/A 


1.1.8 Vendors shall review and provide if awarded a contract the insurance requirements 
as specified in Attachment D, Insurance Schedule for RFP 3489. 


 
Should AIR be considered for award, WestEd will provide this information 
upon request. 


1.1.9 Company background/history and why vendor is qualified to provide the services 
described in this RFP. Limit response to no more than five (5) pages. 
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WestEd History and Status 
WestEd is a preeminent educational research, development, and service organization with 
more than 600 employees and 17 offices nationwide. WestEd has been a leader in moving 
research into practice by conducting research and development (R&D) programs, projects, 
and evaluations; by providing training and technical assistance; and by working with 
policymakers and practitioners at state and local levels to carry out large-scale school 
improvement and innovative change efforts. The agency’s mission is to promote excellence, 
achieve equity, and improve learning for children, youth, and adults. In developing and 
applying the best available resources toward these goals, WestEd has built solid working 
relationships with education and community organizations at all levels, playing key roles in 
facilitating the efforts of others and in initiating important new improvement ventures. In 
2016, WestEd celebrated a half-century milestone, marking 50 years of improving learning 
and healthy development for children, youth, and adults from cradle to career. 


WestEd is a Joint Powers Agency (JPA), authorized in 1995 by a California Joint Powers 
Agreement and governed by public entities in Arizona, California, Nevada, and Utah, with 
Board members representing agencies from these states and nationally. Its two predecessors, 
Far West Laboratory for Educational Research and Development (FWL) and Southwest 
Regional Laboratory (SWRL), were JPAs created in 1966. WestEd is a nonpartisan, not-for-
profit organization that is tax exempt under Section 115(1) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
Because of this status, our work meets the giving guidelines of most philanthropic 
organizations. From Fiscal Years 2010 through 2015, WestEd has carried out more than 
2,750 new contracts representing major contributions to the nation’s R&D resources, for an 
average of 527 new contracts per year. Current work extends beyond the western region to 
include most states in the nation and an increasing number of other countries. 


In FY 2017, the agency is expecting to operate on program funding of approximately $165 
million. Funding comes from sources including U.S. federal agencies; state departments of 
education; international entities; and universities, school districts, foundations, and other state 
and local agencies. WestEd is vetted and approved as a qualified service provider in the U.S. 
Department of Health and Human Services Program Support Center (PSC) Task Order 
Contracts, and the General Service Administration’s Professional Services Schedule (PSS) federal 
contracting programs. This large variety of funding sources provides WestEd with a stable 
funding base and a stable organizational structure for carrying out the work of this opportunity. 


Track Record and History of Successfully Completed Projects 
From Fiscal Years 2010 through 2015, WestEd has carried out more than 2,750 new contracts 
representing major contributions to the nation’s R&D and TA resources, for an average of 
556 new contracts per year. In FY 2017, the agency is expecting to operate on program 
funding of approximately $165 million with contracts from federal, state, and local agencies; 
social service agencies; schools; philanthropies; and private industry companies. This variety 
of funding sources provides a stable funding base and hence a stable organizational structure 
for carrying out the work of this proposal.  


Through all of our work, we establish clear management structures and communication 
processes that ensure all staff know what is expected so that they can do their work 
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productively and effectively. WestEd has several tools for planning, scheduling, budgeting, 
and reporting accomplishments to its funders. An example of client satisfaction is that WestEd 
has consecutively been awarded the Regional Educational Laboratory (REL) by the U.S. 
Department of Education since its inception in 1966. Numerous other national and regional 
centers also have been consecutively awarded—a testament to our ability to not only support 
the relevant agency but to develop strong on-the-ground relationships with state education 
agencies and school districts and the early childhood and K–12 communities they serve. 


1.1.10 Provide a brief description of the length of time vendor has been providing services 
described in this RFP to the public and/or private sector. 


WestEd is a Joint Powers Agency (JPA), authorized in 1995 by a California Joint Powers 
Agreement and governed by public entities in Arizona, California, Nevada, and Utah, with 
Board members representing agencies from these states and nationally. Its two predecessors, 
Far West Laboratory for Educational Research and Development (FWL) and Southwest 
Regional Laboratory (SWRL), were JPAs created in 1966. WestEd is a nonpartisan, not-for-
profit organization that is tax exempt under Section 115(1) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
Because of this status, our work meets the giving guidelines of most philanthropic 
organizations. From Fiscal Years 2010 through 2015, WestEd has carried out more than 
2,750 new contracts representing major contributions to the nation’s R&D resources, for an 
average of 527 new contracts per year. Current work extends beyond the western region to 
include most states in the nation and an increasing number of other countries. 


1.1.11 Financial information and documentation to be included in accordance with Section 
8.5, Part III – Confidential Financial Information.  


1.1.11.1 Dun and Bradstreet Number: DUNS: 074653882 
1.1.11.2 Federal Tax Identification Number: 94-3233542 
1.1.11.3 The last two (2) years and current year interim: 


A. Profit and Loss Statement  


B. Balance Statement 


 WestEd is unable to share this proprietary information with AIR. 


3.2.1.4 Vendor shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work until all 
insurance required of the subcontractor is provided to the vendor. 


AIR will work with the subcontractor to obtain all necessary insurance. Until such insurance 
is provided, the subcontractor will not be allowed to commence work. 


3.2.1.5 Vendor must notify the using agency of the intended use of any 
subcontractors not identified within their original proposal and provide the 
information originally requested in the RFP in Section 3.2, Subcontractor 
Information. The vendor must receive agency approval prior to 
subcontractor commencing work. 
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The AIR study team will notify the Nevada Department of Education if we intend to use any 
subcontractor not identified within this proposal. In the case that this may occur, we will 
provide all information requested in Section 3.2 of this RFP. 


3.3 Business References 


3.3.1 Vendors shall provide a maximum of three (3) business references from similar 
projects performed for private, and/or public sector clients within the last three 
(3) years. 


BUSINESS REFERENCE #1 
CLIENT INFORMATION 
Client Name: William Penn Foundation 
Contact Name: Elliot Weinbaum 
Street Address: Two Logan Square, 11th Floor 


100 North 18th St. 
City, State, Zip: Philadelphia, PA 19103 
Phone, including area code: (215) 988-1830 
Facsimile, including area code: N/A 
Email address: eweinbaum@williampennfoundation.org  
PROJECT INFORMATION 
Project Title: Educational Equity, Adequacy, and Equal 


Opportunity in the Commonwealth: An Evaluation 
of Pennsylvania’s School Finance System 


Brief description of the 
project/contract and description of 
services performed: 


This report provided an overview of the state of 
school funding in Pennsylvania, including analyses 
of extant data from both Pennsylvania and national 
sources; a review of current conceptions of 
educational equity, adequacy and equal opportunity; 
empirical methods for measuring education costs; 
current policies across states; and recent reforms. 


Project/Contract Start Date: June 2014 
Project/Contract End Date: October 2014 
Project/Contract Value: $68,051 


BUSINESS REFERENCE #2 
CLIENT INFORMATION 
Client Name: Maryland State Department of Education 
Contact Name: Carol Beck 
Street Address: 200 West Baltimore St 
City, State, Zip: Baltimore, MD 21201 
Phone, including area code: 410-767-0100 
Facsimile, including area code: N/A 
Email address: Carol.beck@maryland.gov  



mailto:eweinbaum@williampenn

mailto:Carol.beck@maryland.gov
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PROJECT INFORMATION 
Project Title: Study of Funding Provided to Public Schools and 


Public Charter Schools in Maryland 
Brief description of the 
project/contract and description of 
services performed: 


This study examined school-level funding levels and 
patterns in Maryland, distinguishing between 
traditional and charter public schools. This work 
included analysis of extant data, documentation, and 
interviews with school district and charter school 
officials. Based on this analysis, the research team 
compared average spending levels and patterns, 
unconditionally and adjusting for student needs, 
between traditional and charter public schools and 
described charter school funding formulas and 
service arrangements in each Maryland school 
district with active charter schools. 


Project/Contract Start Date: February 2016 
Project/Contract End Date: December 2016 
Project/Contract Value: $430,346 


BUSINESS REFERENCE #3 
CLIENT INFORMATION 
Client Name: U.S. Department of Education: Policy and Program 


Studies Service 
Contact Name: Stephanie Stullich 
Street Address: 400 Maryland Ave SW 
City, State, Zip: Washington, DC 
Phone, including area code: (202) 401-2342 
Facsimile, including area code: N/A 
Email address: Stephanie.stullich@ed.gov 
PROJECT INFORMATION 
Project Title: Exploring the Quality of School-Level Expenditure 


Data: Practices and Lessons Learned in Nine Sites 
Brief description of the 
project/contract and description of 
services performed: 


This study examined the feasibility of improving and 
expanding the implementation of fiscal data systems 
that attribute dollars to school sites. We explored 
several facets of school-level expenditure data 
including comprehensiveness (how much of the total 
district spending was attributed to school sites and 
whether spending was tracked or allocated to schools), 
consistency with other school-level spending sources, 
and the accuracy of allocated dollars. 


Project/Contract Start Date: February 2014 
Project/Contract End Date: February 2017 
Project/Contract Value: $529,013 



mailto:Stephanie.stullich@ed.gov
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BUSINESS REFERENCE #4 
CLIENT INFORMATION 
Client Name: U.S. Department of Education: Policy and Program 


Studies Service 
Contact Name: Oliver Schak 
Street Address: 400 Maryland Ave SW 
City, State, Zip: Washington, DC 
Phone, including area code: (202) 401-2342 
Facsimile, including area code: N/A 
Email address: oliver.schak@ed.gov  
PROJECT INFORMATION 
Project Title: Study of School Based Budgeting and Weighted 


Student Funding Systems 
Brief description of the 
project/contract and description of 
services performed: 


This is an ongoing national study of how districts 
allocate resources to schools. In particular, we are 
focusing on systems that allocate dollars to schools 
using weighted student funding (WSF) systems. This 
study consists of a nationally representative survey of 
districts and case studies of nine districts that 
currently use WSF systems. 


Project/Contract Start Date: February 2017 
Project/Contract End Date: Ongoing 
Project/Contract Value: $1,440,000 


3.3.2 Vendors shall submit Attachment E, Reference Questionnaire to their business 
references. 


We have provided the reference questionnaire to the four references identified previously.  


3.3.3 It is the vendor’s responsibility to ensure that completed forms are received by the 
Purchasing Division on or before the deadline as specified in Section 7, RFP 
Timeline for inclusion in the evaluation process. Reference Questionnaires not 
received, or not complete, may adversely affect the vendor’s score in the 
evaluation process.  


We have asked each of the four references identified to submit their completed questionnaires 
to the Purchasing Division according to the deadlines provided. 


3.3.4 The State reserves the right to contact and verify any and all references listed 
regarding the quality and degree of satisfaction for such performance. 


3.4 Vendor Staff Resumes  


A resume shall be completed for each proposed key personnel responsible for performance under 
any contract resulting from this RFP per Attachment F, Proposed Staff Resume. 


See Attachment F, Proposed Staff Resume for the resumes of the proposed key personnel.



mailto:oliver.schak@ed.gov
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Section VII - Attachment F – Proposed Staff Resumes 
A. Vendors shall include all proposed staff resumes per Section 3.4, Vendor Staff Resumes 
in this section.  


See the following pages for AIR staff resumes (Dr. Jesse Levin, Dr. Drew Atchison, and Dr. 
Jay Chambers). 


B. This section shall also include any subcontractor proposed staff resumes, if applicable. 


See following pages for resumes for Professor Teresa Jordan, Professor Deborah Verstegen, 
Professor Bruce Baker, and Jason Willis. 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: American Institutes for Research 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor:  
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Jesse Levin, Ph.D. Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Principal Research Economist 
# of Years in Classification: 3 # of Years with Firm: 15 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Jesse Levin Ph.D., is a principal research economist at AIR, where he has been involved in a number 
of projects investigating educational production, school finance and adequacy, and resource 
allocation. He currently serves as the project director of a national study of weighted student funding 
systems, a feasibility study to improve the quality of school-level expenditure data, and deputy director 
for a study of Title I resource allocation, all for the U.S. Department of Education. In addition, Levin 
recently directed a study of public school funding for the Maryland State Department of Education and 
Maryland Department of Legislative Services. He has directed high-profile educational adequacy 
studies in California, New Mexico and New York, investigations of educator supply and demand in 
Oklahoma and Massachusetts, evaluations of state school finance systems in Hawaii, Nevada and 
Pennsylvania, and researched educational resource allocation and effectiveness both within and across 
school districts. His work at AIR over the past 15 years has drawn upon his expertise in applied 
econometrics and quantitative methods. 


Levin is co-recipient of the Association of Educational Service Agencies 2007 E. Robert Stephens 
Award for the research study Similar Students, Different Results: Why Do Some Schools Do Better? A 
Large-Scale Survey of California Elementary Schools Serving Low-Income Students. His articles have 
appeared in Economics of Education Review, Empirical Economics, Labour Economics, Oxford 
Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, and Peabody Journal of Education. He also regularly serves as a 
referee for several peer reviewed journals (Economics of Education Review, Education Finance and 
Policy, Educational Policy, and Empirical Economics). 


Prior to his work at AIR, he served as an economics researcher for the Institute for Research of 
Schooling, Labor Market and Economic Development (SCHOLAR) in the Netherlands, where he 
conducted research in the economics of education and labor economics and performed major 
countrywide studies of the efficacy of class size reduction, the differences in the effectiveness of private 
versus public schooling, and measuring the rate of return to educational investment. Dr. Levin earned 
his Ph.D. from the University of Amsterdam and Tinbergen Institute in the Netherlands in 2002. 
 
Included below are descriptions of a select number of projects in which Dr. Levin has taken a 
significant role. 
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 


Information required should include: timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 
the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


 
Study Director, Study of Weighted Student Funding and School-Based Budgeting Systems, U.S. 
Department of Education Policy and Program Study Service (PPSS), Washington, DC (2016–Present) 


Currently directing study to investigate implementation of School-Based Budgeting (SBB) and 
Weighted Student Funding (WSF) systems, intradistrict resource allocation mechanisms that provide 
increased school-level discretion over educational resources (funding, staff and non-personnel) and 
distribute resources to schools according to the needs of the students being served. Duties include 
providing conceptual leadership over the following key study tasks: collecting and analyzing extant 
data documenting WSF systems and their effect on funding equity; development and administration of 
nationally representative district and school leader surveys on district/school discretionary split over 
resources, and performing case study site visits including interviews with staff from a purposive sample 
of WSF district and school sites. 
 
Study Director, Maryland Study of Public School and Charter School Funding, Maryland State 
Department of Education, Baltimore, MD (2016) 


Served as the director for a study of resource allocation and spending on charter and non-charter 
public schools in Maryland. Responsibilities include directing the research team in collecting 
quantitative fiscal (expenditure and revenue) data and qualitative interview and survey data from local 
education agencies and charter organizations; analysis of spending at the school-level and central-
level (central district office/charter administrative office); examination of policies governing the 
allocation of resources from central offices to individual schools; and, drafting of results and study 
recommendations in report format. 
 
Study Deputy Director, Study of Title I Schoolwide and Targeted Assistance Programs, U.S. 
Department of Education Policy and Program Study Service (PPSS), Washington, DC (2015–Present) 


Currently directing study to investigate resource allocation and expenditures in schools receiving Title 
I funding that operate schoolwide versus targeted assistance programs. Duties include providing 
conceptual leadership over the following key study tasks: collecting and analyzing extant data 
documenting current resource allocation and spending practices in a purposive sample of districts; 
development and administration of fiscal office and school leader surveys on planning, budgeting and 
spending practices to a nationally representative sample of district and school sites; and, performing 
case study site visits including interviews with staff from a purposive sample of district and school sites. 
 
Study Director, Network to Transform Teaching (NT3) Cost Study: A Comprehensive Review of Site-
Level Costs for National Board of Professional Teaching Standards (NBPTS), Washington, DC  
(2015–2017) 


Directed a study of the costs of the efforts on the part of five NT3 sites across the county to recruit and 
support teacher candidates in pursuit of their national board certification. Duties included providing 
conceptual leadership and guidance in implementation of research plan involving use of the 
ingredients approach to cost analysis and development of site-specific resource cost models. Oversaw 
study team in the analysis of candidate recruitment and support costs within and across sites, 
developing a comprehensive report, and disseminating findings. 
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Study Director, Exploring the Quality of School-Level Expenditure Data: Practices and Lessons 
Learned in Nine Sites, U.S. Department of Education Policy and Program Study Service (PPSS) 
Washington, DC (2013–2017) 


Directed study investigating the extent to which district and state fiscal data systems track educational 
expenditures to individual school sites and the methods used to do so in an effort improve the quality 
school-level expenditure data in new and existing systems. Duties include directing the following three 
key study tasks: 1) Conducting a panel meeting of expert practitioners and researchers; 2) Recruiting 
study sample of district and state sites capable of tracking expenditures to school sites; 3) Conducting 
interviews with fiscal staff from each site; and, 4) Collecting and analyzing school-level expenditure 
data from each district/school site to check for its comprehensiveness and consistency with data sets 
collected independently by federal agencies. 
 
Study Director, Massachusetts Study of Teacher Supply and Demand: Trends and Projections, 
Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, Malden, MA (2015) 


Served as the director for a study of educator supply and demand in Massachusetts. Responsibilities 
include directing the research team in collecting administrative data on certificated educator personnel 
and staffing assignments, analyzing trends in educator supply and demand trends across public school 
districts in the state, and drafting of results and recommendations in report format. 
 
Study Director, Oklahoma Educator Supply and Demand Study for Oklahoma State Regents of Higher 
Education, Oklahoma City, OK (2014) 


Served as the director for a study of educator supply and demand in Oklahoma. Responsibilities 
include directing the research team in collecting individual-level administrative data on certificated 
educator personnel and staffing assignments, analyzing five-year supply and demand trends across 
public school districts in the state, drafting of results and recommendations in report format, and 
making presentations to the client. 
 
Principal Investigator, Evaluation Educational Equity, Adequacy, and Equal Opportunity in 
Pennsylvania, William Penn Foundation, Philadelphia, PA (2014) 


Led an evaluation of Pennsylvania’s public school finance system to help support the next wave of 
reform in that state. Responsibilities included managing the collection and analysis of extant data on 
district-level revenues, spending, and cost factors (student needs, price levels, scale of operations and 
other regional factors); drafting results in a final report and recommendations; and providing 
testimony to the Pennsylvania legislative Basic Education Funding Commission. 
 
Study Director, Evaluation of Hawaii’s Weighted Student Formula, Hawaii Department of Education, 
Honolulu, HI (2013) 


Served as project director for study that investigated Hawaii’s 2006 implementation of a Weighted 
Student Formula (WSF). The purpose of the study was three-fold: 1) to study to what extent the WSF 
empowered principals and school communities with greater decision-making authority over the use of 
funds allocated to the school; 2) to evaluate whether Hawaii has achieved its WSF goal of streamlining 
the allocation of resources to schools; and, 3) to examine if the WSF increased transparency and 
understanding of how resources are allocated to school sites and the equity with which resources are 
allocated. In addition to providing the conceptual leadership and managing the day-to-day work of the 
study, my duties involved overseeing the data collection, the methodological development of statistical 
models used, and drafting report and final recommendations. 
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Study Director, Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada, Nevada Legislative 
Counsel Bureau, Carson City, NV (2012) 


Directed study that investigates Nevada’s existing system of public school funding and makes 
recommendations of “best practices” that might be incorporated in order to improve the equity with 
which resources are allocated according to student and regional needs. In addition to managing the 
work of three contracting professors and AIR staff, my duties involved overseeing the data collection, 
the methodological development of statistical models and corresponding tool used to simulate district 
funding allocations, and drafting report and final recommendations. 
 
Principal Analyst, National Evaluation of Magnet Schools, U.S. Department of Education Institute for 
Education Sciences, Washington, DC (2008–2015) 


Serve as primary analyst for an investigation of the relative effectiveness of schools that have received 
a federal Magnet School Assistance Program (MSAP) grant. Main duties include developing analysis 
plan, data preparation, and analysis using quasi-experimental techniques (comparative interrupted 
time series framework). 
 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
University of Amsterdam and Tinbergen Institute, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Ph.D., Economics 
with specialization in Economics and Education, Labor Economics and Applied Econometrics, 2002 
 
San Francisco State University, San Francisco, CA, M.A., Economics with specialization in Public 
Finance, 1995 
 
University of Oregon, Eugene, OR, B.S., Economics major with minor in Music, 1991 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax 


number and email address.  
 
Julie Waller, Senior Program Analyst 
Fiscal Analysis Division 
Nevada State Legislative Counsel Bureau 
Phone: (775) 684-6821 
Fax: (775) 684-6475 
E-Mail: jwaller@lcb.state.nv.us 
 
Stephanie Stullich, Education Research Specialist 
Policy and Program Studies Service 
Office of Planning, Evaluation and Policy Development 
U.S. Department of Education 



mailto:jwaller@lcb.state.nv.us
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Phone: (202) 401-2342 
Fax: (202) 401-3036 
E-Mail: stephanie.stullich@ed.gov 
 
Brian Hallett, Budget Director and Acting Superintendent for Fiscal Services 
Hawaii State Department of Education 
Phone: (808) 784-6022 
Fax: (808) 586-3445 
E-Mail: Brian_Hallett/BUDGET/HIDOE@notes.k12.hi.us 
  



mailto:stephanie.stullich@ed.gov

mailto:Brian_Hallett/BUDGET/HIDOE@notes.k12.hi.us





 


Nevada School Funding Consultant– Part IA Technical Proposal—41 
 


PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: American Institutes for Research 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor:  
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Drew Atchison Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Researcher 
# of Years in Classification: 1 # of Years with Firm: 2 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Drew Atchison is a researcher at American Institutes for Research (AIR). His primary responsibilities 
include quantitative analysis on a wide range of projects examining topics such as education finance, 
teacher supply and demand, and educational equity. Atchison also has contributed substantially to the 
research and writing of several reports for state education agency and Department of Education 
projects including Exploring the Quality of School-Level Expenditure Data: Practices and Lessons 
Learned in Nine Sites and Study of Funding Provided to Public Schools and Public Charter Schools in 
Maryland. He has extensive experience in quantitative methodology, education finance, education 
technology, and issues of inequality and educational opportunity. In his personal research, Atchison 
has focused on the equity of education funding, examining how state and federal policy changes have 
impacted the distribution of funding with respect to students’ educational needs. Previously, Atchison 
was a research assistant at George Washington University and a consultant working for Digital 
Promise. Atchison recently completed his doctorate degree in Education Policy from The George 
Washington University and is currently an adjunct professor there, teaching a graduate level course on 
education policy. 
 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include: timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 
 
• Analyst, Study of Title I Schoolwide and Targeted Assistance Programs, AIR (2016-2017)  


Led the analysis of a nationally representative survey of districts and Title I school principals 
comparing use of Title I funds in schoolwide and targeted assistance Title I programs and how 
decisions regarding use of funds are made in such schools. Conducted case study visits to three 
Title I schools in two districts and assisted with conducting interviews with school and district 
officials. Cleaned and coded qualitative notes for those sites.  


 
• Quantitative Analyst, Study of Funding Provided to Public Schools and Public Charter Schools in 


Maryland, AIR (2016) 
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Participated in all phases of this project, from study design to report writing. Contributed 
substantially to the collection, cleaning, and analysis of quantitative fiscal data examining levels of 
spending on traditional and charter public schools in the state of Maryland.  
 


• Quantitative Analyst, Feasibility Study on Improving the Quality of School-Level Expenditure 
Data, AIR (2015–2016) 
Conducted quantitative analysis examining school-level fiscal data in order to understand the 
comprehensiveness of the data that is attributed to schools, the consistency of school-level fiscal 
data provided by study sites to other sources of fiscal data, and the accuracy of expenditures that 
are linked to schools through allocation formulas rather than tracked directly. Also contributed 
substantially to the writing of the final report, along with other deliverables.  
 


• Quantitative Analyst, Massachusetts Educator Supply and Demand, AIR (2015) 
Contributed to refining analytical methods and analyzed quantitative data using various regression 
models in order to develop predictions of teacher supply and demand for the next 10 years in the 
state of Massachusetts. Also contributed significantly to the presentation of results and report 
writing. 


 
EDUCATION 


Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  
degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 


 
The George Washington University, Washington, D.C., Ed.D., Education Policy, 2017 
The College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, VA, M.A.Ed., Secondary Education, 2009 
The College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, VA, B.S., Biology, 2007 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax 


number and email address.  


 
Stephanie Stullich, Education Research Specialist, U.S. Department of Education, Phone: (202) 401-
2342, Fax: (202) 401-3036, Stephanie.stullich@ed.gov 
 
Donna Gunning, Program Manager, Office of Finance and Administration, Maryland State 
Department of Education, Phone: 410-767-0757, Fax: 410-333-2232, donna.gunning@maryland.gov 
 
Oliver Schak, Education Research Analyst, U.S. Department of Education, Phone: (202) 401-2342, 
Fax: (202) 401-3036, oliver.schak@ed.gov 
  



mailto:Stephanie.stullich@ed.gov

mailto:donna.gunning@maryland.gov

mailto:oliver.schak@ed.gov
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: American Institutes for Research 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor:  
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Jay Chambers Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) X 


Individual’s Title Senior Research Fellow and Managing Director 
# of Years in Classification: 28 # of Years with Firm: 28 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Dr. Jay G. Chambers, a Senior Research Fellow at AIR, is a nationally recognized expert in school 
finance and education cost analysis. Dr. Chambers has conducted numerous resource allocation and 
cost studies for the U.S. Department of Education, analyses of school finance adequacy and equity for 
state education agencies and legislatures, and worked closely with on studies of resource allocation for 
and with local school districts. Dr. Chambers has also served in 2002 on the President’s Commission 
on Excellence in Special Education (under President Bush), has testified before Congress and state 
legislatures on issues related to school funding, and has served as the President of the American 
Education Finance Association (now known as the Association of Education Finance and Policy). His 
latest work is directed toward developing tools and processes for improving school finance and 
governance within local education agencies. He is also currently working with a team to estimate the 
resource allocation implications of implementing the Effective Teacher initiative funded by the Bill 
and Melinda Gates Foundation. 
 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include: timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


 


Expert Consultant, Exploring the Quality of School-Level Expenditure Data: Practices and Lessons 
Learned in Nine Sites, U.S. Department of Education Policy and Program Study Service (PPSS) 
Washington, DC (2013–2017) 


Served as expert consultant on study to investigate the extent to which district and state fiscal data 
systems track educational expenditures to individual school sites and the methods used to do so in an 
effort improve the quality school-level expenditure data in new and existing systems. Duties include 
directing the following three key study tasks: 1) Conducting a panel meeting of expert practitioners and 
researchers; 2) Recruiting study sample of district and state sites capable of tracking expenditures to 
school sites; 3) Conducting interviews with fiscal staff from each site; and, 4) Collecting and analyzing 
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school-level expenditure data from each district/school site to check for its comprehensiveness and 
consistency with data sets collected independently by federal agencies. 


Principal Investigator, Evaluation of Hawaii’s Weighted Student Formula, Hawaii Department of 
Education, Honolulu, HI (2013) 


Served as principal investigator that investigated Hawaii’s 2006 implementation of a Weighted Student 
Formula (WSF). The purpose of the study was three-fold: 1) to study to what extent the WSF 
empowered principals and school communities with greater decision-making authority over the use of 
funds allocated to the school; 2) to evaluate whether Hawaii has achieved its WSF goal of streamlining 
the allocation of resources to schools; and, 3) to examine if the WSF increased transparency and 
understanding of how resources are allocated to school sites and the equity with which resources are 
allocated. In addition to providing the conceptual leadership and managing the day-to-day work of the 
study, my duties involved overseeing the data collection, the methodological development of statistical 
models used, and drafting report and final recommendations. 


Principal Investigator, Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada, Nevada 
Legislative Counsel Bureau, Carson City, NV (2012) 


Served as principal investigator for study that investigated Nevada’s existing system of public school 
funding and makes recommendations of “best practices” that might be incorporated in order to 
improve the equity with which resources are allocated according to student and regional needs. In 
addition to managing the work of three contracting professors and AIR staff, my duties involved 
overseeing the data collection, the methodological development of statistical models and corresponding 
tool used to simulate district funding allocations, and drafting report and final recommendations.  


Principal Investigator, Evaluation of Hawaii’s Weighted Student Formula. American Institutes for 
Research 


An evaluation of HI WSF on patterns of resource allocation across all schools within the state. 


Task Leader, Resource Allocation Component of the Evaluation of the Empowering Effective Teachers 
(EET) Initiative, Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA (2010–Present) 


Serve as task leader for resource allocation component of large-scale project that examines the 
implementation, outcomes, and replication of the EET initiative. The focus of the evaluation includes 
alternative compensation for teachers along with s lead on resource allocation task. 


Principal Investigator, Strategic School Funding for Results (SSFR), William and Flora Hewlett 
Foundation (Palo Alto, CA), Ford Foundation (New York, NY) and the Institutes of Education 
Sciences (Washington, DC) (2009–2013) 


Served as principal investigator on project supporting the development, implementation, and 
evaluation of a pupil- and need-based strategy for distributing resources among schools in two 
California school districts (Los Angeles and Twin Rivers Unified School Districts). Duties included 
overseeing all project activities including data analysis, technical assistance, coaching, and 
district/school training. Total combined grant amounted to over $3 million. 
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EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


Degree, and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
Stanford University, Stanford, CA, Ph.D., Economics, 1975 
San Jose State College, San Jose, CA, B.A., Economics, 1969 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax 


number and email address.  
 
Julie Waller, Senior Program Analyst 
Fiscal Analysis Division 
Nevada State Legislative Counsel Bureau 
Phone: (775) 684-6821 
Fax: (775) 684-6475 
E-Mail: jwaller@lcb.state.nv.us 
 
Stephanie Stullich, Education Research Specialist 
Policy and Program Studies Service 
Office of Planning, Evaluation and Policy Development 
U.S. Department of Education 
Phone: (202) 401-2342 
Fax: (202) 401-3036 
E-Mail: stephanie.stullich@ed.gov 
 
Brian Hallett, Budget Director and Acting Superintendent for Fiscal Services 
Hawaii State Department of Education 
Phone: (808) 784-6022 
Fax: (808) 586-3445 
E-Mail: Brian_Hallett/BUDGET/HIDOE@notes.k12.hi.us 
 
  



mailto:jwaller@lcb.state.nv.us

mailto:stephanie.stullich@ed.gov

mailto:Brian_Hallett/BUDGET/HIDOE@notes.k12.hi.us
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: American Institutes for Research 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor:  Subcontractor: X (Consultant) 
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Teresa Jordan Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Consultant and Professor of Educational Leadership 
# of Years in Classification: 37 # of Years with Firm: NA 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Teresa S. Jordan is a Professor Emerita of Urban Leadership at the University of Nevada, Las Vegas, 
and will serve as a principal consultant to the study. Her expertise is in the field of school finance. Her 
specialties include equity of state school finance programs, funding for special needs youth, and state 
level accountability systems. Specific research and public policy activities of Dr. Jordan related to this 
project include the following: an in-depth analysis of New Mexico’s public school funding system and 
the development of a comprehensive state accountability program with rewards and incentives for New 
Mexico schools; a cost study for the funding of at-risk youth for the Texas Center for Educational 
Research; studies designed to improve the funding, staff development, and management of schools 
operated on Federal Indian Reservations by the Bureau of Indian Affairs; and fiscal studies for the 
Clark County School District. These include the development and simulation of a site-based intra-
district allocation system, an historical study of state funding for Nevada public schools, an analysis of 
the equity of the Nevada public school funding formula, and a projection of the resources required to 
provide students with access to the human and material resources required to meet state standards and 
pass the high school proficiency exam. 
 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include: timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


 
Relevant Policy Studies/Research Reports: 
 
American Institutes for Research (2012). Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in 


Nevada. This study of Nevada’s funding system included an investigation of state funding 
formulas, demographic characteristics, and fiscal data from all 50 U.S. states. Based on 
empirical analyses of these data, the researchers attempted to identify the best practices that 
lead to an equitable distribution of funding with respect to the incidence of students in poverty, 
English language learners, students enrolled in special education programs, and students 
attending schools in districts that have a small scale of operations. 
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Jordan, T., (2007) Funding Nevada’s Charter Schools: A Proposal for Refinement, Commissioned 


report to the Nevada Charter Schools Association. 
 
Meyers, J. and Jordan T., (2007) Two Year Baseline Report: School Site Finances for Empowerment 


and Non-Empowerment Control Schools in Clark County School District, report submitted to 
Empowerment Schools Study Committee, Clark County School District, Las Vegas, NV 


 
Relevant Journal Articles: 
 
Verstegen, D. and Jordan, T., (Winter, 2009). A fifty state survey of school finance policies and programs: 


An overview, Journal of Education Finance, University of Illinois Press, Urbana, ILL.  
 
Jordan, T., Jordan, K., & Crawford, J. (2005) The interaction among tax and expenditure limitations, 


supermajority requirements and school finance litigation. Journal of Education Finance, Fall, 
125-145. 


 
Jordan, T., & Jordan, K. (2004). Rural schools under scrutiny. The Rural Educator, 26(1), 1-3. 
 
Jordan, T., Garcia, P., Kops, G. & Jordan, K. (1998). School finance reform in New Mexico. Journal 


of Education Finance. 23(3) (Winter), 323-350. 
 
Relevant Book Chapters: 
 
Jordan, T. & Verstegen, D. (2008). The Nevada Plan: Then and Now. In Iatorola, P. (ed.), 


[Monograph]. School Finance SIG, American Education Research Association. 
 
Jordan, T., (2001) The interaction of shifting special education policies with state funding practices. In 


Barnes, MaryAnn. (Ed.), Taking Sides: Special Education, Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill/Duskin 
Publishing. 


 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
Ph.D.  Educational Leadership and Policy Studies  


Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ 
Dissertation: Alternative State Funding Allocation Methods for Local School 
Programs to Serve At-Risk Students (1990 AEFA Outstanding Dissertation Award) 


 
M.S.  Communication Disorders  


Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ 
 
B.S.  Speech Pathology and Audiology  


Miami University, Oxford, OH 
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REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax 


number and email address.  
 
Julie Waller, Senior Program Analyst, Nevada State Legislative Counsel Bureau, Phone: 775-684-
6821, Fax: 775-684-6475, E-Mail: jwaller@lcb.state.nv.us 
 
Jay Chambers, Managing Director, American Institutes for Research, Phone: 408-997-1080, Fax: 
(650) 376-6400, jchambers@air.org 
 
Deborah Verstegen, Professor of Finance, Policy and Educational Leadership, University of Nevada, 
Reno, Phone: (775) 682-9095, Fax: (775) 784-6298, dav3e@unr.edu 
  



mailto:jwaller@lcb.state.nv.us

mailto:jchambers@air.org

mailto:dav3e@unr.edu
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: American Institutes for Research 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor:  Subcontractor: X (Consultant) 
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Deborah Verstegen Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) X 


Individual’s Title Professor-Finance, Policy and Leadership; University of Nevada, Reno 
# of Years in Classification: 17 # of Years with Firm:  14 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Deborah Verstegen is a Professor of Finance, Policy and Educational Leadership, College of Education, 
University of Nevada, Reno. She served as Edwin J. O’Leary Endowed Chair of Financial Management, 
University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, in 2006-07 and was a professor in finance and policy in the 
Curry School of Education at the University of Virginia for nearly two decades. Prior to joining the 
university community in 1984, she was a teacher, administrator and legislative aide in state government. 
She has had teaching experience at all levels, from pre-school, elementary, secondary, and community 
college, to university. Her administrative experience in education is also broad. She has been a central office 
administrator for a K-12 school system in Alaska's Iditarod Area School District, Director of the Mid-
Management Program at the University of Texas at Austin, and Department Chair in Educational 
Leadership at UNR.  
 
She has worked in government as a legislative aide in Wisconsin's House of Representatives and as a 
lobbyist for the nonpartisan League of Women Voters of Virginia in the Virginia General Assembly. She 
was named Distinguished National Fellow in Finance in 2011 by the National Education Finance Academy 
and developed an equity statistic, later named after her by scholars--the “Verstegen Index”. 
 
Professor Verstegen received the Ph.D. from the University of Wisconsin-Madison in 1983, when she was 
elected to membership in the national honorary societies, Phi Kappa Phi and Phi Delta Kappa. In 1984, she 
was selected as recipient of the Outstanding Dissertation Research Award in the area of education finance 
sponsored by the American Education Finance Association, the American Association of School 
Administrators, and the National Education Association. Her dissertation "The Great Society Meets a New 
Federalism," was added to the Lyndon Baines Johnson Presidential Archives in 1986.    
 
Her scholarly involvement since joining the university community is represented by presentations at national 
and state conferences and her publication record, which shows that she is author or co-author of over 300 
books, articles, monographs and chapters. The focus of her scholarship is on equal opportunity and justice 
in the area of education finance, and the fiscal aspects of education policy at the state and national levels. 
Her writing has appeared in such journals as West's Education Law Reporter, Phi Delta Kappan, The 
Journal of Education Finance, Education Administration Quarterly, The Economics of Education Review, 
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Education Evaluation and Policy Analysis, and Educational Policy. Her book, The Impacts of Legislation 
and Litigation on Public Education Finance (with Julie Underwood) was released by Harper and Row in 
1990. Spheres of Justice in Education (with James Ward) was published by HarperCollins in 1991. Her 
textbook, the leader in the field, Financing Education in a Climate of Change (with Brimley and Garfield), 
was released by Pearson, Inc. in 2016. A new edition is expected in 2019. 
 
Dr. Verstegen is actively involved in several professional associations, including: National Education 
Finance Conference, the American Education Research Association (AERA), the Association for 
Education Finance and Policy; previously the Association for Public Policy and Management (APPAM) 
and the University Council for Education Administration (UCEA). She has served two terms on the Board 
of Directors of the American Education Finance Association and has provided counsel to the United States 
Department of Education's National Center for Education Statistics Technical Panel. She served on the 
Advisory Board for the University Council in Educational Administration's Education Finance Center, 
served on the Board of Trustees for the National Education Finance Academy, and UCEA’s Education Law 
Center. She is past president of the American Association of University Professors, Virginia conference, and 
the American Education Research Association’s SIG, Fiscal Issues, Policy and Education Finance. She 
has served/serves on numerous editorial boards and has reviewed manuscripts for journals such as The 
Education Administration Quarterly, Economics of Education Review, Educational Considerations, 
Education Evaluation and Policy Analysis, The Journal of Education Finance, and The Journal of Law 
and Politics. She is past editor of the Journal of Education Finance, the premier scholarly journal in the 
field of education finance. Currently she serves as an Education Policy Editor for the JEF. 
 
Professor Verstegen has been invited to provide counsel/assistance to such groups as the: United States 
Department of Education, Nevada Legislature, Wisconsin State Legislature, Colorado Commission on 
Higher Education, Utah's Department of Education, the Research and Development Center for Teacher 
Education, the Education Commission of the States, the National Governors' Association, National 
Conference of State Legislatures, the American Federation of Teachers, U.S. General Accounting Office, 
the Appalachia Education Lab, the Virginia Education Association, Texas State Education Agency, the 
Ohio Coalition of Rural and Appalachian School Districts, the Virginia Association of School Boards, The 
Council for Better Education, The League of Women Voters of Virginia. Pennsylvania’s Interim Special 
Education Finance Committee and the Virginia Association of School Superintendents. She has served as 
expert witness in school finance litigation and developed the equity analysis entered into the record in over 
a dozen states. She was PI on two state adequacy studies—in Kentucky and Massachusetts. 
 
Ms. Verstegen received a Distinguished Service Award from the American Education Finance Association 
in 2011 and a Lifetime Achievement Award in 2016. She was nominated to Outstanding Young Women of 
America in 1989. In 1991 she received a Distinguished Service Award from the University Council for 
Education Administration. Also in 1991, she was a research associate at Oxford University's Department of 
Education Studies, the Norham Centre for Leadership Studies, United Kingdom, in addition to providing 
counsel to the National Governors' Association while in residence. She is listed in Who's Who in the World, 
Who's Who in America, Who's Who in the South and Southwest, International Who's Who of Intellectuals 
and Who's Who of American Women. She was Associate Faculty in the South Asian Studies Center at the 
University of Virginia and attached to the National Center for Educational Planning and Administration in 
New Delhi, India, in 1995, while on research leave from the University of Virginia. In 1997 the University 
of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Education, awarded her the alumni achievement award. In 2004 she 
received a distinguished service award from the Virginia conference of the American Association of 
University Professors and a service award from AERA-SIG, Fiscal Issues, Policy and Education Finance. 
She organized the first leadership conference of, by and for women educators in Virginia and served as 
chair and president of the newly formed organization that emerged as a result, Women Education Leaders 
in Virginia. In 2006-07. Currently, she is a tenured professor at the University of Nevada. 
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RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include: timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


 
Professor Verstegen has conducted many studies related to state education policy and finance, in the 
capacity of Principal Investigator and key staff, including three 50-state surveys of finance policies and 
programs (www.schoolfinances.info); two state adequacy studies in both Kentucky and Massachusetts, 
multiple policy studies including studies of Education Savings Accounts, equity (in over a dozen 
states), weighted student funding, and yearly updates on Nevada’s education policy including 
legislative changes. She has published research in major education journals and wrote several books. 
Her new edition to the popular textbook, Financing Education in a Climate of Change (2016 with 
Brimley and Garfield) is due out in 2019. 
 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, Ph.D., Educational Administration, 1983 
University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, M.S., Educational Administration, 1981 
University of Rochester, Rochester, NY, Ed.M., Curriculum & Instruction, 1972 
Loretta Heights College, Denver, CO, B.A., English & Philosophy, 1969 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax 


number and email address.  


 
S. Kern Alexander, Distinguished Faculty & Excellence Professor, University of Illinois Urbana-
Champaign, 270-753-8140 (phone), 217-344-6245 (fax), alexander@illinois.edu  
 
Robert Knoeppel, Professor and Chair, Clemson University, 864-656-1882, rck@clemson.edu  
 
Teresa Jordan, Professor Emerita, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, 703-433-4111, Tlyons16@cox.net  
 
  



http://www.schoolfinances.info/

mailto:alexander@illinois.edu

mailto:rck@clemson.edu

mailto:Tlyons16@cox.net
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: American Institutes for Research 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor:  Subcontractor: X (Consultant) 
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Bruce D. Baker Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) X 


Individual’s Title Professor, Educational Theory, Policy & Administration, Rutgers University 
# of Years in Classification: 20 # of Years with Firm: 8 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Bruce Baker has worked in the field of state school finance policy for 20 years. He has consulted for 
state legislatures on state school finance formula design in Texas, Missouri, Kansas and Nevada 
among many other states. His expertise includes formula simulation, cost analysis and modeling and 
specifically estimating marginal costs associated with achieving common outcomes across varied 
student populations and settings.  
 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include: timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 
 
2011 – Present: Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey 
Professor I 
Educational Theory, Policy and Administration  
 
2008 – Present: Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey 
Associate Professor 
Educational Theory, Policy and Administration  
 
2002 – 2008: University of Kansas, Lawrence 
Associate Professor, Teaching and Leadership 
Program in Educational Administration 
 
1997 – 2002: University of Kansas, Lawrence 
Assistant Professor, Teaching and Leadership 
Program in Educational Administration 
Research Associate: Policy Research Institute 
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EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
Teachers College, Columbia University, New York, NY, 1997, Ed.D., Department of Organization and 
Leadership, 1997 
 
University of Connecticut, Mansfield, CT, M.A., Educational Psychology, 1989 
 
Lafayette College, Easton, PA, B.A., Biology, 1987 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax 


number and email address.  
 
Elliot Weinbaum, Program Director, William Penn Foundation, Phone: 215-988-1830, Fax: None, 
weinbaum@williampennfoundation.org 
 
Adam Gamoran, President, William T. Grant Foundation, Phone: 212-752-0071, Fax: 212-752-1398, 
agamoran@wtgrantfdn.org 
 
Richard D. Kahlenberg, Senior Fellow, The Century Foundation, Phone: 202-745-5476, Fax: 212-
535-7534, kahlenberg@tcf.org 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: American Institutes for Research 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor:  Subcontractor: X 
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Jason Willis Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Director of Strategy & Performance 
# of Years in Classification: 14 # of Years with Firm: 2 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Jason Willis is the Director of Strategy & Performance for the Comprehensive School Assistance 
Program (CSAP) at WestEd. In this role, he oversees and guides the expansion of CSAP’s existing 
performance and accountability services, which include support to California’s state and local 
education agencies to implement policies and practices to support the Local Control Funding Formula 
(LCFF) and realization of genuine continuous improvement efforts in school systems. Performance 
and accountability services provides this support through capacity building, facilitation of professional 
learning networks, and analysis of financial data including the effective use of resources. He has also 
worked with weighted student funding systems and identified the weights for additional resources that 
are allocated to schools for EL students. 
 
Willis also provides visionary and strategic leadership to expand CSAP’s project portfolio by working 
in collaboration with CSAP’s Management Team.  


Prior to joining WestEd, Willis served as Assistant Superintendent, Engagement and Accountability, 
for the San Jose Unified School District. He also served as the Chief Financial Officer/Chief Business 
Official for the Stockton Unified School District and Budget Director and Program Manager for the 
Oakland Unified School District. 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include: timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


 
2016– 
Present 


Strategy and Performance Director, Comprehensive School Assistance Program 
WestEd, Washington, DC 


 Oversee and guide the expansion of CSAP’s existing performance and accountability 
services, which include support to California’s state and local education agencies to 
implement policies and practices to support the Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF) 
and realization of genuine continuous improvement efforts in school systems. 
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Performance and accountability services provides this support through capacity building, 
facilitation of professional learning networks, and analysis of financial data including 
the effective use of resources. Willis also provides visionary and strategic leadership to 
expand CSAP’s project portfolio by working in collaboration with CSAP’s Management 
Team. 


2011– 
2016 


Assistant Superintendent, Engagement & Accountability, San Jose Unified School 
District, San Jose, California 


 Guided the design, development, and implementation of the school district’s strategic 
plan for 2012-2017, including significant reforms such as teacher evaluation and 
compensation, transformational school redesign, and school performance management 
systems. In addition, oversaw departments within the school district, including 
technology and information services; data, research, and accountability; strategic 
planning/implementation; student services; charter schools; public/media relations; 
and alternative programs. 


2009– 
2011 


Chief Financial Officer/Chief Business Official, Stockton Unified School District, 
Stockton, California 


Led and oversaw all non-instructional operations for the school district including 
finance, facilities, information technology, transportation, food services, and 
procurement. Balanced the SUSD district budget totaling approximately $475 million. 
Managed approximately 600 staff, providing daily support for the instruction and 
education of students. 


2007– 
2009 


Budget Director and Program Manager, Oakland Unified School District 
Oakland, California 


Supervised and managed the overall OUSD budget functions. Develop annual budget 
that aligned strategy with resource allocations. Managed the school district’s annual 
$710 million budget, which included operating, facilities, food service, early childhood, 
and adult education funds. Supervised nine staff members in the budget department who 
were responsible for assisting and communicating with school sites and central office 
departments. Provided support and training on budget management and strategic 
planning to school district principals. 


2003– 
2006 


Assistant Product Manager, Senior Research Assistant, and Research Assistant, School 
Evaluation Services, Standard & Poor’s 
New York, New York 


Helped to lead efforts to implement the Resource Management Service (RMS) for 
education leaders. Provided tools, analysis, and training to improve the management of 
school districts through a data-driven decision-making framework. Led efforts to design 
and implement the Municipal Analytical Platform, a web-based platform aimed to allow 
data comparisons of public entities for use in the S&P Public Finance department. 
Provided analytical and research support for the ‘Resource Adequacy Study’ for the New 
York State Commission on Education Reform. 
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EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
Columbia University, Teachers College New York, NY, M.A.Ed., Policy, 2005 
 
The Catholic University of America, Washington, D.C., B.A., Educational Studies, Psychology 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax 


number and email address.  


 
Lisa Blyler 
Department of Education 
Deputy Associate Superintendent  
Phone: (602) 542-3144 
Email: lisa.blyler@azed.gov  
 
Joshua Daniels 
Director, Outreach and Communications 
California Collaborative for Educational Excellence 
Phone: (510) 670-4115 
Email: jdaniels@ccee-ca.org  
 
David Silver 
Director of Education to the Mayor 
City of Oakland 
Phone: (510) 238-3141 
Email: dsilver@oaklandnet.com 
 



mailto:lisa.blyler@azed.gov

mailto:jdaniels@ccee-ca.org
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Section VIII – Other Informational Material 
Vendors shall include any other applicable reference material in this section clearly cross 
referenced with the proposal. 


N/A 
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Appendix A. 
Letters of Support  
 











September 19, 2017 
 
Lawrence B. Friedman, Ph.D. 
Vice President 
American Institutes for Research 
10 S. Riverside Plaza, Suite 600 
Chicago, IL 60606 


Dear Dr. Friedman: 


I am pleased to confirm my intent to support the work of the American Institutes for Research (AIR) as 
you pursue a proposal to the State of Nevada for Nevada School Funding Consultant. This letter confirms 
my commitment to this effort. 


 
Assuming your success in securing the award, I am committed to providing project advisement, oversight, 
analysis and recommendations pertaining to state school finance policy options for the State of Nevada. 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Bruce D. Baker 
Consultant 







 


 
730 Harrison Street • San Francisco, California • 94107  t: 415.565.3000  f: 415.565.3012 • WestEd.org 


September 20, 2017 
 
 
Lawrence B. Friedman, Ph.D. 
Vice President 
American Institutes for Research 
10 S. Riverside Plaza, Suite 600 
Chicago, IL 60606 
 
Dear Dr. Friedman: 
 
On behalf of WestEd, I am pleased to confirm our intent to support the work of the 
American Institutes for Research (AIR) as you pursue a proposal to the State of Nevada for 
the Nevada School Funding Consultant. This letter confirms our commitment to this effort.  
 
WestEd is a preeminent educational research, development, and service organization with 
over 600 employees and 16 offices nationwide. WestEd has been a leader in moving 
research into practice by conducting research and development (R&D) programs, projects, 
and evaluations; by providing training and technical assistance; and by working with 
policymakers and practitioners at state and local levels to carry out large-scale school 
improvement and innovative change efforts. In developing and applying the best available 
resources toward these goals, WestEd has built solid working relationships with education 
and community organizations, playing key roles in facilitating the efforts of others and in 
initiating important new improvement ventures. We have a long-standing commitment to 
the field of education at all levels and a combined experience base of 50 years of 
educational leadership. Additionally, we have substantial qualifications in the technical 
areas called for in a project of this scope, and we bring to this effort our understanding, 
sensitivity, and commitment. 
 
Assuming your success in securing the award, we are available to begin work as stated in 
the proposal. 
 
We look forward to the work and the outcome of your efforts.  
 
Sincerely, 


 
Jason Willis 
Director, Strategy & Performance 
Comprehensive School Assistance Program, WestEd 
jwillis@wested.org 



mailto:jwillis@wested.org
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Appendix B. 
Staff Biographies 
Jesse Levin, proposed principal investigator, is a principal research economist at AIR, where he 
has been involved in projects investigating educational production, school finance and 
adequacy, and resource allocation. He currently serves as the project director of a national study 
of weighted student funding systems, a feasibility study to improve the quality of school-level 
expenditure data, and deputy director for a study of Title I resource allocation, all for the U.S. 
Department of Education. In addition, Levin is currently directing a study of public school 
funding for the Maryland State Department of Education and Maryland Department of 
Legislative Services. He has directed high-profile educational adequacy studies in California, 
New Mexico, and New York; investigations of educator supply and demand in Oklahoma and 
Massachusetts; evaluations of state school finance systems in Hawaii, Nevada, and 
Pennsylvania; and researched educational resource allocation and effectiveness both within and 
across school districts. His work at AIR over the past 15 years has drawn upon his expertise in 
applied econometrics and quantitative methods. Levin is co-recipient of the Association of 
Educational Service Agencies 2007 E. Robert Stephens Award for the research study, Similar 
Students, Different Results: Why Do Some Schools Do Better? A Large-Scale Survey of 
California Elementary Schools Serving Low-Income Students. His articles have appeared in 
Economics of Education Review, Empirical Economics, Labour Economics, Oxford Bulletin of 
Economics and Statistics, and Peabody Journal of Education. He also regularly serves as a 
referee for several peer-reviewed journals (Economics of Education Review, Education Finance 
and Policy, Educational Policy, and Empirical Economics). Prior to his work at AIR, he served 
as an economics researcher for the Institute for Research of Schooling, Labor Market and 
Economic Development (SCHOLAR) in the Netherlands, where he conducted research in the 
economics of education and labor economics and performed major countrywide studies of the 
efficacy of class size reduction, the differences in the effectiveness of private versus public 
schooling, and measuring the rate of return to education. Dr. Levin earned his PhD in 2002 
from the University of Amsterdam and the Tinbergen Institute. 


Drew Atchison, proposed project director, is a researcher at AIR. His primary responsibilities 
include quantitative analysis on a wide range of projects examining topics such as teacher 
supply and demand, education finance, and educational equity. Atchison has contributed 
substantially to the writing of several reports for state education agency and U.S. Department of 
Education projects. He has extensive experience in quantitative methodology, education 
finance, education technology, and issues of inequality and educational opportunity. In his 
personal research, Atchison has focused on the equity of education funding, examining how 
state and federal policy changes have impacted the distribution of funding with respect to 
students’ educational needs. Previously, Atchison was a research assistant at George 
Washington University and a consultant working for Digital Promise. Atchison recently 
completed his doctorate degree in education policy from The George Washington University and 
is currently an adjunct professor there, teaching a graduate-level course on education policy. 
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Jay G. Chambers, proposed internal expert consultant, is a senior research fellow at AIR and 
a nationally recognized expert in school finance and education cost analysis. Dr. Chambers 
has more than 40 years of experience with educational cost studies. He has conducted 
numerous resource allocation and cost studies for the U.S. Department of Education, analyzed 
school finance adequacy and equity for state education agencies and legislatures, and worked 
closely with Dr. Levin on studies of adequacy and resource allocation in states as well as local 
school districts. In 2002 he served on the President’s Commission on Excellence in Special 
Education (under President George W. Bush), has testified before Congress and state 
legislatures on issues related to school funding, and has served as the president of the 
American Education Finance Association (now known as the Association of Education 
Finance and Policy). His latest work is directed toward developing tools and processes for 
improving school finance and governance within local education agencies. He is also 
currently working with a team to estimate the resource allocation implications of 
implementing the Effective Teacher Initiative funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates 
Foundation. He earned his PhD in economics from Stanford University. 


Teresa S. Jordan is a Professor Emerita of Urban Leadership at the University of Nevada, Las 
Vegas, and will serve as a principal consultant to the study. Her expertise is in the field of 
school finance. Her specialties include equity of state school finance programs, funding for 
special needs youth, and state level accountability systems. Specific research and public policy 
activities of Dr. Jordan related to this project include the following: an in-depth analysis of 
New Mexico’s public school funding system and the development of a comprehensive state 
accountability program with rewards and incentives for New Mexico schools; a cost study for 
the funding of at-risk youth for the Texas Center for Educational Research; studies designed 
to improve the funding, staff development, and management of schools operated on Federal 
Indian Reservations by the Bureau of Indian Affairs; and fiscal studies for the Clark County 
School District. These include the development and simulation of a site-based intra-district 
allocation system, an historical study of state funding for Nevada public schools, an analysis 
of the equity of the Nevada public school funding formula, and a projection of the resources 
required to provide students with access to the human and material resources required to meet 
state standards and pass the high school proficiency exam. 


Deborah Verstegen, proposed lead of the inventory of state school finance systems task, is a 
professor of finance, policy and leadership in the College of Education, University of Nevada, 
Reno. She was previously a faculty member in the Curry School of Education at the University 
of Virginia for 19 years; and served as an endowed chair in finance management at the 
University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign. She is a co-author of a leading text on school 
finance used in graduate programs in higher education, Financing Education in a Climate of 
Change (with Brimley and Garfield, Pearson, 2012) and has developed an equity statistic, later 
given her name by researchers (the Verstegen Index). In 2011, she was selected as a 
Distinguished National Fellow in Finance by the National Education Finance Conference. 
She has served two terms on the Board of Directors of the American Education Finance 
Association and has provided counsel to the United States Department of Education's 
National Center for Education Statistics Technical Panel. She has served on the Advisory 
Board for the University Council in Educational Administration's Education Finance Center, 
serves as past president of the American Association of University Professors, Virginia 
conference and the American Education Research Association's SIG, Fiscal Issues, Policy 
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and Education Finance. She serves on numerous editorial boards and has reviewed 
manuscripts for journals such as The Education Administration Quarterly, Economics of 
Education Review, Educational Considerations, Education Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 
The Journal of Education Finance, and The Journal of Law and Politics. She is past editor of 
the Journal of Education Finance, the premier scholarly journal in the field of education 
finance. Currently she serves as an Education Policy Editor for the JEF. Currently she serves 
as a member of the Board of Advisors for the National Education Finance Conference. 


Bruce D. Baker, proposed lead of the Identification and Simulation of Funding Adjustments 
task, is a professor of educational theory, policy and administration in the Graduate School of 
Education at Rutgers, where he teaches courses in data analysis, school finance, and 
education law. He received his doctorate from Teachers College, Columbia University in 1997. 
His recent research and scholarly writing has focused on education cost analysis, measures of 
student need and their influence on education costs, and the organization and governance of 
charter schooling in relation to charter school revenues and expenditures, including recent 
law review articles (UMASS Law Review, 2015; Emory Law Journal, 2014) on the governance 
of charter schools and analyses of charter school and management organization expenditures 
(Education Finance and Policy, summer 2015). Professor Baker has written extensively on 
state aid allocation policies and practices, with particular attention to the equity and adequacy 
of aid for special student populations. He is lead author with Preston Green (Penn State 
University) and Craig Richards (Teachers College, Columbia University) of Financing 
Education Systems, a graduate level textbook on school finance policy published by 
Merrill/Prentice-Hall. Baker co-authored the chapter on Conceptions of Equity in the 
Handbook of Research Education Finance and Policy, the chapter on the Politics of 
Education Finance in the Handbook of Education Politics and Policy, and the chapter on 
School Finance in the Handbook of Education Policy of the American Educational Research 
Association. He has also testified as an expert witness on issues surrounding school funding 
equity in state and federal courts in Arizona, Colorado, Kansas, Nebraska, Texas, Missouri, 
New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Connecticut, and New York. Professor Baker was recently ranked 
among the most influential scholars of education policy in the nation by Education Next. 


Jason Willis, proposed lead of the Defining At-Risk and Gifted and Talented Students task, is 
the Director of Strategy & Performance for the Comprehensive School Assistance Program 
(CSAP) at WestEd. In this role, he oversees and guides the expansion of CSAP’s existing 
performance and accountability services, which include support to California’s state and local 
education agencies to implement policies and practices to support the state’s Local Control 
Funding Formula (LCFF) and realization of genuine continuous improvement efforts in 
school systems. Performance and accountability services provides this support through 
capacity building, facilitation of professional learning networks, and analysis of financial data 
including the effective use of resources. He has also worked to support states and school 
districts to analyze, model and propose improvement to their funding formulas. This includes 
the construction and execution of weighted student funding systems. Willis also provides 
visionary and strategic leadership to expand CSAP’s project portfolio by working in 
collaboration with CSAP’s Management Team. Prior to joining WestEd, Willis served as 
Assistant Superintendent, Engagement and Accountability, for the San Jose Unified School 
District. He also served as the Chief Financial Officer/Chief Business Official for the Stockton 
Unified School District and Budget Director and Program Manager for the Oakland Unified 
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School District. He received his master’s degree in education policy and finance from 
Teachers College at Columbia University in 2006. 
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Appendix C. 
Project Management 
Organization Chart 
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Project Management Organizational Chart for Nevada School Funding Consulting 
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ABOUT AMERICAN INSTITUTES FOR RESEARCH 
Established in 1946, with headquarters in Washington, D.C., American Institutes for 


Research (AIR) is an independent, nonpartisan, not-for-profit organization that conducts 


behavioral and social science research and delivers technical assistance 


both domestically and internationally. As one of the largest behavioral and social science 


research organizations in the world, AIR is committed to empowering communities and 


institutions with innovative solutions to the most critical challenges in education, health, 


workforce, and international development. 


 


1000 Thomas Jefferson Street NW 
Washington, DC 20007-3835 
202.403.5000 


www.air.org 


 


LOCATIONS 


Domestic 
Washington, D.C. 


Atlanta, GA 


Austin, TX 


Cayce, SC 


Chapel Hill, NC 


Chicago, IL 


Columbus, OH 


Frederick, MD 


Honolulu, HI 


Indianapolis, IN 


Metairie, LA 


Monterey, CA 


Naperville, IL 


New York, NY 


Reston, VA 


Rockville, MD 


Sacramento, CA 


San Mateo, CA 


Waltham, MA 


International 
El Salvador 


Ethiopia 


Haiti 


Honduras 


Kyrgyzstan 


Tajikistan 


Zambia 
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		B. Attachment A – Confidentiality and Certification of Indemnification signed by an individual authorized to bind the organization.

		C. Attachment B – Vendor Certifications signed by an individual authorized to bind the organization.

		D. Copies of any vendor licensing agreements and/or hardware and software maintenance agreements.

		E. Copies of applicable certifications and/or licenses.



		Section V – Scope of Work

		2.1 The scope of work shall include the following tasks:

		2.1.1  Conduct a review of the report entitled “Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada,” published by the American Institutes for Research on September 22, 2012, Attachment I and LCB Bulletin No. 15-5, “Interim Study Report of t...

		2.1.2  Update the report and bulletin identified in paragraph (1) with more current information, focusing on the determination and implementation of the appropriate funding adjustments for the additional costs associated with serving low-income pupils...

		2.1.3 Review the meaning of the term “pupils who are at-risk,” as defined in NRS 387.121, to establish an appropriate definition of the term and recommend appropriate funding adjustments for the additional costs associated with serving such pupils.

		2.1.4 Review the multiplier to the basic support guarantee per pupil for pupils with disabilities pursuant to NRS 387.122.

		2.1.5 Review the meaning of the term “gifted and talented pupils,” as defined in NRS 388.5231, to establish an appropriate definition for the term and recommend a consistent statewide standard to identify such pupils.

		2.1.6 Make recommendations for the implementation of the findings of the independent consultant pursuant to Objectives (2.1.1) to (2.1.5), inclusive.



		2.2 Deliverables

		2.2.1 Deliverable 1: Preliminary Report on or before August 1, 2018

		The contractor selected by the Department of Education shall complete the work identified in the Scope of Work and, on or before August 1, 2018, submit a preliminary report containing the information described in the Scope of Work to the Department o...

		2.2.2 Deliverable 2: Final Report on or before October 15, 2018

		Upon receipt of the preliminary report, the Legislative Committee on Education shall review the preliminary report and provide recommendations to the contractor. After receiving such recommendations from the Legislative Committee on Education and any...





		Section VI – Company Background and References

		3.1  Vendor Information

		3.2 Subcontractor Information

		1.1 Vendor Information

		1.1.1 Vendors shall provide a company profile in the table format below.

		1.1.2 A Nevada-based business may apply for a five percent (5%) preference on its proposal. This preference may apply if a business has its principal place of business within Nevada. This preference cannot be combined with any other preference, grante...

		1.1.3 Please be advised, pursuant to NRS 80.010, a corporation organized pursuant to the laws of another state shall register with the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office as a foreign corporation before a contract can be executed between the ...

		1.1.4 The selected vendor, prior to doing business in the State of Nevada, shall be appropriately licensed by the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office pursuant to NRS76. Information regarding the Nevada Business License can be located at http:...

		1.1.5 Has the vendor ever been engaged under contract by any State of Nevada agency?
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September 29, 2017 


Gail Burchett 
Purchasing Officer II 
State of Nevada, Purchasing Division 
515 E. Musser Street, Suite 300 
Carson City, NV 89701 


RE:  RFP No. 3489 Nevada School Funding Consultant 


Dear Ms. Burchett: 


American Institutes for Research (AIR) is pleased to submit its proposal, Nevada School 
Funding Consultant, to the State of Nevada. 
AIR has considerable expertise and a long-standing track record for conducting school finance 
studies such as the one proposed for Nevada. The proposed research team is comprised of the 
same nationally recognized school finance experts who authored the 2012 Study of a New 
Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada: Jesse Levin (AIR), Bruce Baker (Rutgers 
University), Deborah Verstegen (University of Nevada, Reno), Teresa Jordan (University of 
Nevada, Las Vegas, retired), and Jay Chambers (AIR). Collectively, these scholars have decades 
of experience conducting high-profile evaluations of state education funding systems.  
Together, the AIR team has crafted a technical approach for the proposed work that is efficient 
in its design and responds to the nuances of the Nevada state context. In addition to providing a 
thorough update of the 2012 AIR study, we also propose to explore functional definitions of 
various types of student populations (e.g., at-risk, gifted and talented) through both a careful 
review of those definitions used in other states and the mainstream education finance literature, 
as well as engaging local practitioners across Nevada school districts. Finally, the proposed 
study will, through in-depth district-level simulations, explore the use of various weighted 
funding structures that might be applied in the state and provide practical considerations for 
implementation, as well as scenarios that show how such as system could be phased in over time. 


We have enclosed one USB drive that contains all proposal volumes as requested. Please direct 
contractual questions about this proposal to Nilva da Silva, contracts officer, at 202-403-5086 or 
airproposals@air.org. For technical questions, please contact Jesse Levin at 650-376-6270 or 
jlevin@air.org. 


Thank you for your consideration. 


Sincerely, 
 
 
Lawrence B. Friedman, PhD. 
Vice President 
Research and Evaluation 



mailto:airproposals@air.org

mailto:jlevin@air.org
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Section II – Cost Proposal 
The total price for this solicitation shall be submitted per Attachment G, Price Sheet. 


RFQ 3489 PRICE SHEET 
Vendor Name: American Institutes for Research 
Provide a cost per hour for each service listed below. Do not include the cost of supplies. 


   SERVICE    COST   


Deliverable 1: Preliminary Report on or before  


August 1, 2018 


The contractor selected by the Department of Education shall 
complete the work identified in the Scope of Work and, on or 
before August 1, 2018, submit a preliminary report containing 
the information described in the Scope of Work to the 
Department of Education. Upon receipt of the preliminary 
report, the Department of Education shall immediately forward 
the preliminary report to the Legislative Committee on 
Education. 


     


 
 
 
 
 
 
$231,806 
 
Cost per hour: $154.74 


Deliverable 2: Final Report on or before  


October 15, 2018 


Upon receipt of the preliminary report, the Legislative 
Committee on Education shall review the preliminary report 
and provide recommendations to the contractor. After receiving 
such recommendations from the Legislative Committee on 
Education and any recommendations which may be provided by 
the State Board of Education and Department of Education, the 
contractor shall prepare a final report which includes such 
recommendations and, on or before October 15, 2018, submit 
the final report to the Governor and the Director of the 
Legislative Counsel Bureau for transmission to the next regular 
session of the Legislature. 


 


 
 
 
 
 
$18,192 
 
Cost per hour: $149.11 
 


Total Cost (Total of Deliverables) 
 


$249,998 


Fee (Profit Margin Percentage) 
 


12% 


 
TOTAL PRICE OF PROJECT 
 


$249,998 


 
We will also discuss the possibility of travel with the client. For projects with other clients, we 
have found it productive to conduct an in person kick-off meeting. We have also presented the 
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findings of the report to various stakeholders in person to assist with report dissemination. Per 
the RFP those potential travel costs are not included in the project cost, but will be discussed 
with the client if awarded the project.
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September 29, 2017 


Gail Burchett 
Purchasing Officer II 
State of Nevada, Purchasing Division 
515 E. Musser Street, Suite 300 
Carson City, NV 89701 


RE:  RFP No. 3489 Nevada School Funding Consultant 


Dear Ms. Burchett: 


American Institutes for Research (AIR) is pleased to submit its proposal, Nevada School 
Funding Consultant, to the State of Nevada. 
AIR has considerable expertise and a long-standing track record for conducting school finance 
studies such as the one proposed for Nevada. The proposed research team is comprised of the 
same nationally recognized school finance experts who authored the 2012 Study of a New 
Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada: Jesse Levin (AIR), Bruce Baker (Rutgers 
University), Deborah Verstegen (University of Nevada, Reno), Teresa Jordan (University of 
Nevada, Las Vegas, retired), and Jay Chambers (AIR). Collectively, these scholars have decades 
of experience conducting high-profile evaluations of state education funding systems.  
Together, the AIR team has crafted a technical approach for the proposed work that is efficient 
in its design and responds to the nuances of the Nevada state context. In addition to providing a 
thorough update of the 2012 AIR study, we also propose to explore functional definitions of 
various types of student populations (e.g., at-risk, gifted and talented) through both a careful 
review of those definitions used in other states and the mainstream education finance literature, 
as well as engaging local practitioners across Nevada school districts. Finally, the proposed 
study will, through in-depth district-level simulations, explore the use of various weighted 
funding structures that might be applied in the state and provide practical considerations for 
implementation, as well as scenarios that show how such as system could be phased in over time. 


We have enclosed one USB drive that contains all proposal volumes as requested. Please direct 
contractual questions about this proposal to Nilva da Silva, contracts officer, at 202-403-5086 or 
airproposals@air.org. For technical questions, please contact Jesse Levin at 650-376-6270 or 
jlevin@air.org. 


Thank you for your consideration. 


Sincerely, 
 
 
Lawrence B. Friedman, PhD. 
Vice President 
Research and Evaluation 



mailto:airproposals@air.org

mailto:jlevin@air.org
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Section III – Financial Information and Documentation 
Vendors shall place the information required per Section 3.1.10 in this section. 


3.1.11 Financial information and documentation to be included in accordance with 
Section 8.5, Part III – Confidential Financial Information.  


3.1.11.2 The last two (2) years and current interim: 


A. Profit and Loss Statement


B. Balance Statement


Please see enclosed AIR’s audited financials and current interim financials. 







PHONE 301.564.3636    FAX 301.564.2994


6903 Rockledge Drive, Suite 1200  Bethesda, Maryland 20817-1818


r u b in o . c o m


Member, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants


INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 


To the Board of Directors 
American Institutes for Research in the Behavioral Sciences 


We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of American Institutes for 
Research in the Behavioral Sciences, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of activities and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.  


Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 


Auditors’ Responsibility 


Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 


In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of American Institutes for Research in the 
Behavioral Sciences as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the changes in its net assets and its 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. 


Bethesda, Maryland 
May 31, 2017 
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AMERICAN INSTITUTES FOR RESEARCH IN THE BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS


________________


   December 31,
2016 2015


ASSETS
Current assets


Cash and cash equivalents 31,675,297$    22,426,346$    
Accounts receivable, net 93,937,394 124,297,339
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,640,432 6,102,392
Short-term investments 21,000,000       10,000,000       


Total current assets 151,253,123     162,826,077     


Long-term investments 211,428,115 166,221,582     
Property and equipment, net 25,599,080 26,247,579
Goodwill 1,715,191 1,715,191
Other assets 632,123            726,842            


Total assets 390,627,632$   357,737,271$   


LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities


Accounts payable and accrued expenses 31,407,435$     41,914,407$     
Accrued payroll and related expenses 31,211,352 30,338,127
Deferred revenue 25,730,835       28,437,855 


Total current liabilities 88,349,622       100,690,389     


Deferred rent, net of current portion 10,071,269 10,222,069
Deferred compensation, net of current portion 5,896,952 4,766,493
Note payable, long-term 6,026,312 6,218,060
Other liabilities 853,803 - 


Total liabilities 111,197,958 121,897,011 


Net assets, unrestricted


Undesignated 54,350,112       44,108,685       
Board Designated - Quasi-Endowment 206,005,631     171,885,596     
Board Designated - Property and Equipment 19,073,931       19,845,979       


279,429,674 235,840,260 


Total liabilities and net assets 390,627,632$   357,737,271$   


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN INSTITUTES FOR RESEARCH IN THE BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES


_____________


Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015


Changes in unrestricted net assets
Contract and grant revenue 474,076,934$   488,338,134$   


Program expenses
Direct contract and grant costs 310,612,757 324,439,999
Overhead and administrative expenses 129,538,852 129,856,311 


Total program expenses 440,151,609 454,296,310 


Excess of revenue over program expenses 33,925,325 34,041,824       


Other income
Investment income, net 9,664,089 1,018,138
Excess of assets acquired over liabilities assumed


 in affiliation - 10,002,627


Increase in net assets 43,589,414     45,062,589       


Net assets, beginning of year 235,840,260 190,777,671 


Net assets, end of year 279,429,674$   235,840,260$   


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERICAN INSTITUTES FOR RESEARCH IN THE BEHAVIORAL SCIENCES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS


_____________


Years Ended December 31,
2016 2015


Cash flows from operating activities
Increase in net assets 43,589,414$     45,062,589$     
Reconciling adjustments:
Excess of assets acquired over liabilities assumed in affiliation - (10,002,627)


Depreciation and amortization 3,165,866         6,934,198
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on investments (6,607,364)        1,333,941         
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:


Accounts receivable, net 30,359,945       (14,376,575)      
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,556,679         (2,080,205)        
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (10,726,563)      4,109,871         
Accrued payroll and related expenses 1,419,938         2,880,061         
Deferred revenue (2,707,020)        (6,497,124)        
Deferred compensation 1,130,459         370,106 


Net cash provided by operating activities 61,181,354 27,734,235 


Cash flows from investing activities
Cash acquired in affiliation with SEDL - 2,947,967
Purchases of marketable securities (181,133,644)    (139,711,760)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 131,505,036     117,415,769
Purchase of property and equipment (2,110,805)        (6,594,938)        


Net cash used by investing activities (51,739,413)      (25,942,962)      


Cash flows from financing activities
Payments under note payable and capital lease (192,990)           (177,039)           


Net cash used by financing activities (192,990)           (177,039)           


Net change in cash and cash equivalents 9,248,951         1,614,234         


Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 22,426,346 20,812,112 


Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 31,675,297$     22,426,346$     


Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Interest Paid 261,169$          258,045$          


The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue 279,418,817$            


Labor & Fringe 77,276,725
Subcontracts & ODC 104,397,735
Total Indirect 87,888,540


Total Costs 269,563,000


Operating Income 9,855,817


Net Investment Income 17,658,927


Change to Net Assets 27,514,744$              


AMERICAN INSTITUTES FOR RESEARCH
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES


January through July 2017
(UNAUDITED)


UNAUDITED







AMERICAN INSTITUTES FOR RESEARCH
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS


July 2017


(Unaudited)
Jul 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016


ASSETS:


  CURRENT ASSETS-
     Cash and cash equivalents 47,732,004$        31,675,297$        


     Contract receivables, Billed 65,686,878          51,938,083          
     Contract receivables, Unbilled 30,042,255          43,014,243          
     Less: Provision for Realizability (1,014,933)           (1,014,933)           
        Net contract Receivables 94,714,200          93,937,393          


     Prepaid expenses & other current assets 6,608,442            4,640,430            
     Investments - short term 21,000,000          21,000,000          


TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 170,054,646        151,253,120        


  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, at cost-
     Furniture, fixtures, equip. and leasehold improvements 54,653,038          54,231,755          
     Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (30,973,718)         (28,632,674)         


TOTAL PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 23,679,320          25,599,081          


  OTHER ASSETS-
     Long term investments 223,545,118        206,005,633        
     Deferred comp investments 5,875,135            5,422,484            
     Goodwill 1,715,193            1,715,193            
     Deposits and other assets 629,523               632,123               


TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 231,764,969        213,775,433        


TOTAL ASSETS 425,498,935$      390,627,634$      


LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS:


  CURRENT LIABILITIES-
     Accounts payable 19,494,649$        20,106,813$        
     Accrued expenses & other liabilities 10,085,346          11,108,878          
     Accrued payroll and related expenses 32,672,604          31,211,354          
     Deferred revenue 34,041,350          25,730,835          
     Current portion of notes payable 196,253               191,748               


TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 96,490,202          88,349,628          


  OTHER LIABILITIES-
    Notes payable 5,910,270            6,026,312            
    Deferred rent, less current portion 10,101,645          10,071,268          
    Other Liabilities (Unclaimed property and Capital Lease) -                       307,090               
    Deferred compensation 6,052,403            6,443,665            


TOTAL LIABILITIES 118,554,520        111,197,963        


  NET ASSETS, UNRESTRICTED
   Undesignated 65,826,500          54,350,107          
   Board Designated - Quasi-Endowment 223,545,118        206,005,633        
   Board Designated - Property and Equipment 17,572,797          19,073,931          
  TOTAL NET ASSETS 306,944,415        279,429,671        


  TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 425,498,935$      390,627,634$      


UNAUDITED
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Section II: Cost Proposal


Vendor’s cost proposal response should be included in this section.


The study team understands that the state does not believe there is adequate funding in the
RFP to undertake costing-out work. This proposal focuses the costing-out work on the key
variables needed to update the AIR study and to ensure that recommendations are Nevada
specific. With this in mind, the following pages show a timeline and budget for the proposed
work.


APA is proposing a fixed price for the work of $195,000 which includes travel costs for all
study work, but would not include time for presentations.


The proposed budget is divided among tasks as follows:


Personnel Costs Travel Costs
Task/Subtask
2.1.1 Review AIR Report $10,000


2.1.2 Update AIR Report $120,000 $15,000


2.1.3 At-Risk Count and Adjustment $15,000


2.1.4 Special Education Pupils $5,000


2.1.5 Gifted Count $5,000


2.1.6 Recommendations $25,000


Total $180,000 $15,000
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Section V: Scope of Work


Introduction


Augenblick, Palaich and Associates (APA) is pleased to offer this response to Nevada’s RFP
3489, “Nevada School Funding Consultant.” APA will be partnering with Picus, Odden &
Associates (POA) and the Education Commission of the States (ECS) on this project.
Information on all three organizations can be found in Section VI of the response. The three
organizations bring decades of school finance expertise to the project. The project team includes
Justin Silverstein, Dr. Mark Fermanich, and Amanda Brown from APA; Dr. Allan Odden and
Dr. Lawrence Picus from POA; and Mike Griffith from ECS. All six team members are
nationally recognized in the education finance field and together bring well over 100 years of
combined experience evaluating and creating school finance formulas for states.


The study team’s approach will follow the requirements of the RFP with a focus on a) updating
information from the previous 2012 American Institutes for Research (AIR) study, b) examining
the use of student weights in the context of the needs of Nevada students, and c) conducting
Nevada stakeholder engagement. The work will begin with a rigorous review of the previous
study, identifying the information in the AIR study that requires updating and the information
has likely not changed.  It will also identify the areas in the AIR analysis that should be
expanded or improved. The information on the 50 states’ school finance formulas will be
updated using a broader approach than what was used in the previous study.


The study team’s analysis will examine the various approaches used across the country to fund
at-risk, English language learner (ELL), gifted and talented, and special education students. This
includes looking at the practices used in all 50 states and at the research on these students. A
special emphasis will be paid to how at-risk students are identified across the country, as new
approaches are being developed to identify the number of at-risk students in response to changes
in federal policy. A similar analysis will done for the identification of gifted and talented
students.


In addition to examining the various ways states count and fund special needs populations, the
study team will study the actual level of funding needed in Nevada for these students. Many
states use weighted approaches for funding special needs populations, as is mentioned in the
RFP. Though weights may be similar in different states, the base funding per pupil that these
weights are applied against determines the amount of resources available for a student in each of
the special needs categories. A state with lower weights and a high base funding level may
actually provide more resources for special needs than a state with higher weights but a lower
base amount. The study team will use well established research approaches to determine the
weights needed in Nevada in relationship to its base cost.


The study team understands that the state does not feel there are adequate resources to do costing
out work as part of this proposal. This response incorporates targeted costing out to ensure that
the results of this study are Nevada specific. All costing out work is focused on the main
objectives of the RFP including special education, at-risk, ELL, and gifted students.
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The study team will present both the research related to updating the previous study and the
Nevada specific research to stakeholders across the state. These stakeholders will include
educators, education membership organizations, parents, community members, business leaders,
and state policy makers. These stakeholders will have an opportunity to reflect on the
information generated from all parts of the study prior to the study team making its
recommendations to the state.


The study team looks forward to working with the Department of Education (Department) to
further refine the scope of work to best fit its needs. The study team will work closely with the
Department to ensure all tasks are completed in a timely manner and that the necessary
information is provided to the Legislative Committee on Education.


Study Approach


2.1.1 Conduct a review of the report entitled “Study of a New Method of Funding for Public
Schools in Nevada,” published by the American Institutes for Research on September 22,
2012, Attachment I and LCB Bulletin No. 15-5, “Interim Study Report of the Task Force
on K-12 Public Education Funding,” Attachment H.


The study team will undertake an in-depth review of the 2012 report.
 For Chapter 1, the study team will review Nevada’s current funding system to identify


any changes to the funding system made since AIR’s analysis.
 For Chapter 2, the study team will review the method used for the previous study’s


examination of other states’ finance formulas, including the data sources used in that
study. The study team will look to see if there have been changes across the states in
the school finance formula components included in AIR’s inventory and assess
whether there are formula components not addressed in the AIR study that should be
included in this study.


 For Chapter 3, the study team will ensure it understands the approaches used to
identify adjustments for cost factors in the AIR report. This includes understanding the
various statistical analyses utilized by AIR in the 2012 report.


 For Chapter 4, the study team will ensure it understands the approaches used to
simulate alternatives by AIR. This includes understanding the simulations for all the
adjustments undertaken in the study.


 For Chapter 5, the study team will review and assess the recommendations in the 2012
study based on the findings in the proceeding chapters.


2.1.2 Update the report and bulletin identified in paragraph (1) with more current information,
focusing on the determination and implementation of the appropriate funding adjustments for the
additional costs associated with serving low-income pupils and English learners, as defined in 20
U.S.C. § 7801(20).


The study team will update each of the chapters in the AIR report based on our review and on
conversations with the Department regarding how the updating may best meet their needs.
The work may include simply updating the previous work or it may include more in-depth
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analysis, including new approaches to examining similar issues. The sections below describe
the study team’s current understanding of the needed work, and tasks could be added after the
final review of the AIR report.


Chapter 1


The AIR report examines the history of Nevada’s school funding system. The study team will
update this chapter to include any recent changes to Nevada’s funding system.


Chapter 2


In chapter 2, the AIR provides an inventory of all fifty states’ education finance systems. This
inventory includes a brief summary of the types of formulas that each state uses to distribute
education funding to districts/schools. In addition, the AIR report provides information about
how state funding formulas address individual student needs and characteristics, including:


1. Students with disabilities;
2. English language learners;
3. At-risk students;
4. Funding for remote and small schools/districts;
5. Other unique student needs and characteristics; and
6. Gifted and Talented students.


The information from the AIR report was derived from a fifty‐state survey of state chief
finance officers or their designees and contains information from the 2010-11 fiscal year.1


The study team will update all of the information in Chapter 2 with current data from each
state. This work will be led by Michael Griffith and ECS. Over the past fifty years, ECS has
become known for the quantity and quality of their 50 state summaries of education policies.
ECS will collect this school funding information for all 50 states and the District of Columbia
for the 2017-18 school year by reviewing current state legislation, budgets and department of
education rules. ECS will cross-check this information by providing it to knowledgeable
individuals in each state for their review and input. ECS will then publish this information
and provide an analysis of each state’s school funding program along with information about
trends and new innovations for each of the specific funding topics.


This current state level data will provide one data point included during the study team’s
analysis of funding adjustments and meanings for special needs populations in sections 2.1.3,
2.1.4, and 2.1.5 of the scope of work.


Chapter 3


Chapter 3 of the AIR report undertakes a number of statistical analyses to identify possible
adjustments for various student and district characteristics. There are several reasons why


1 Verstegen, D. A. (2011). A 50‐state survey of school finance policies and programs. www.schoolfinances.info.
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focusing exclusively on replicating these studies may have limited utility for the state’s
policymakers. First, these analyses were carried out fairly recently – within the past five years
– so there may not be significant differences in the cost adjustments found in the states today.
Second, the adjustments, such as student weights, may not be appropriate for Nevada because
its per student base funding amount is different from those used in other states. Applying a set
of weights developed for use with a base amount different from Nevada’s may lead to either
over- or underfunding the needed adjustment. Third, as noted in the AIR report, there is a
substantial body of literature on the costs of providing programs that represent best practices
for serving students with special needs and for accounting for district characteristics that
impact costs and efficiencies such as size, geographical isolation, and regional cost variations.
Applying some of the approaches suggested in this literature to this component of the study
would help to ensure that the cost adjustments adopted by the state will truly represent the
characteristics and level of need found in Nevada.


The study team proposes to conduct an initial review of the studies described in Chapter 3 of
the AIR report to make an initial determination of the extent to which the cost adjustment
landscape has changed across the states since the AIR study was published. We will then work
with Department staff to determine whether all of the analyses should be updated or only those
studies where either significant changes in state cost adjustments have occurred or where
Department staff have determined the study to be essential to the state’s ongoing work.


The study team will focus on identifying Nevada-based adjustments to be considered when
making final recommendations. The additional analysis will utilize both the evidence-based
(EB) and professional judgment (PJ) approaches to costing out to identify recommended state-
specific student level adjustments.


Evidence-based Approach


The study team’s first supplemental approach for identifying Nevada-based adjustments for
students with special needs and school district cost differences due to scale, isolation, and
geographical cost variations is to apply methods taken from the evidence-based (EB) approach
to estimating adequacy. The following describes how we will use these methods for estimating
the cost adjustments addressed in the AIR report.


Adjustments for Students At-risk students, ELL Students, and Students with Disabilities


The study team will utilize the evidence-based approach to provide a “programmatic”
description of the strategies research identifies as effective in boosting the performance of at-
risk students, ELL students, and students with disabilities. While more money is needed to
provide extra help to these students, knowing how to use this additional funding is also
crucial. Money can be spent on effective as well as ineffective strategies. Drawing from the
literature, a programmatic analysis can show how to translate into effective programs that
schools implement. This programmatic analysis will include both a summary of research on
individual programs that are provided beyond the base program, and an analysis of the base
program itself, because the proportional amount of additional help needed will depend on the
size of the base program’s costs.
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The EB analysis will identify the core ingredients of the base program, including how schools
can most effectively organize teachers and curriculum to maximize the instructional and
learning impact of the core program. Given this base, we will then draw from research on
what additional programs should be added to serve students with special needs. By pricing
both the base and additional programs, we can then determine a “programmatic extra pupil
weight” for at-risk, ELL and special education students. Under Nevada’s current funding
system gifted and talented students are included under special education. The study team will
consult with the Department to determine if gifted and talented students should remain under
the special education umbrella for this analysis or addressed separately as in the AIR report.


To supplement this analysis, we propose to conduct case studies of up to 10 schools in Nevada
that have significantly moved the student achievement needle for at-risk and ELL students
(five schools each that have improved outcomes for at-risk students and ELL students). The
cases would identify not only the key elements of the core program, but also the number and
types of additional strategies used to get at-risk and ELL students to achieve to higher levels.
We will augment these Nevada-specific case studies with school cases we have conducted of
schools in other states that have improved the performance of at-risk students, including
Maryland, Vermont and Maine.


Cost of Operations Due to Scale Economies/Diseconomies


The study team also proposes to conduct supplemental studies for determining cost
adjustments based on variations in school district scale and density and geographic cost
differences.


The EB model includes an approach to adjusting for small district size. We will summarize
this approach and show how a continuous curve for scale economies can be created. Nevada
has a unique set of scale economies issues, from its very large district in Clark County to
districts that are large geographically, but sparsely populated. As a result, Nevada has a range
of small, medium and large districts but also a range of small, medium and large schools.
Given this situation, the study team will explore whether the state should consider a school-
based funding formula, in place of its district-based funding formula. Such an approach
would ensure that scale adjustments could not only be made for every district in the state, but
also for every school as well. This is similar to the approach used to fund schools in Wyoming
today.


This component of the study will draw from our experience in Wyoming. We will show how
such a system of school and district scale economy adjustments would work and focuses
primarily on the base, or core school program. We would estimate, for example, how staffing
structures would look for very small (less than 50 students), 50-100 students, 100-200, and
200-400 students, for elementary (K-5), middle (6-8), high (9-12) schools, K-8 schools, and K-
12 schools, as well as for districts of various sizes, from less than 100 to over 12,000.
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This approach offers a strategy that could not be implemented in the short term, but a strategy
the state could consider if it wanted to recognize the wide range of school and district sizes,
and the scale economies or dis-economies associated with each.


Professional Judgment Approach


In 2014, APA utilized the professional judgment (PJ) approach to examine the resources
needed for the base cost in Nevada and for the adjustments needed for ELL and at-risk
students2. The PJ approach also begins with the evidence base, but relies on the expertise of
educators in the state to identify the resources needed for all students to meet state standards
and expectations. Because the base cost information has been updated recently, APA
recommends assembling thee PJ panels to get the most up-to-date practitioner perspectives on
the resources needed for these students. One panel will focus on the costs for special education
students, one panel will focus on the needs of at-risk students, and one panel will focus on the
needs of ELL students. The panels will include teachers, principals, and central office staff
that work specifically with each of the three special needs groups. The study team will work
with the Department to recruit highly regarded practitioners in these positions from around
the state. Panelists will be asked to review the base cost resource data and then identify the
additional resources needed for special education, at-risk and ELL students to meet state
standards.


Each of the panels will focus on either different concentrations or different levels of need for
students. The special education panel will identify the resources needed for mild, moderate,
and severe special education students. This information will allow the state to determine if
different levels of student need require differentiated funding. On the second panel, at-risk
panelists will focus on whether different resource levels are needed to serve different
concentrations of at-risk pupil, as research has shown that higher concentration schools need
higher levels of resources. Panelists will build resources for schools at low, moderate, and
high concentrations to help the study team determine if the costs per pupil differ at different
concentrations of at-risk students. Like the special education panel, the ELL panelists on the
second panel will focus on different levels of student need. Utilizing the WIDA standards, the
study team will ask panelists to identify the resources needed for level 1/2, 3/4, and 5 students.
Again, this will permit the study team to identify the differences in the costs per pupil at the
various WIDA levels.


Chapter 4


Chapter 4 of the AIR report models the adjustments identified earlier in the report. The study
team will provide a similar set of models for those adjustments, including:


1. Students with disabilities
2. English language learners


2 APA Consulting, “Professional Judgment Study Report,” prepared for Lincy Institute at University of Nevada, Las
Vegas, January 2015..
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3. At-risk students
4. Funding for remote and small schools/districts
5. Other unique student needs and characteristics, and
6. Gifted and Talented students


For each of the adjustments, the study team will model three alternatives, if at least three are
available. For example, modeling for at-risk may include modeling varying levels of
adjustments for students, such as a 0.2 versus 0.3 weight; and modeling the impact of varying
adjustments based on a district’s concentration of at-risk students. The various examples for
each of the different adjustments will allow the study team, and policymakers, to understand
the district by district impacts of each of the possible policy decisions.


In addition to examining each individual weight, the study team will also model various
scenarios where students might be included in more than one special needs category. For
example, some students may qualify for both the at-risk and ELL weight. It may also be that
some services overlap between the two categories of students. This overlap in resources will be
evaluated in our Chapter 3 update work and combined weights will also be modeled in
Chapter 4.


Chapter 5


Chapter 5 of the AIR study provides a list of recommendations. The study team’s approach to
vetting and making final recommendations is provided under our description of work for 2.1.6
in the scope of work.


2.1.3 Review the meaning of the term “pupils who are at-risk,” as defined in NRS 387.121, to
establish an appropriate definition of the term and recommend appropriate funding adjustments
for the additional costs associated with serving such pupils.


Nevada statute currently defines a student as “at-risk” if he or she is eligible for the federal
free- or reduced-price lunch program or an alternative measure prescribed by the State Board
of Education.3 Beginning in the 2014-15 school year, the United States Department of
Agriculture created the “Community Eligibility Provision” (CEP) which allows districts
“…located in low-income areas to provide free breakfast and lunch to all students.”4 Districts
that opt to participate in the federal CEP program are no longer required to count their
free/reduced priced lunch students. This change in federal law has forced many states to find
alternative ways to define which students qualify as “at-risk” in their funding formula.


The study team has extensive experience in examining the alternative approaches to
identifying at-risk students. At-risk students are those students who are most likely to fail
academically or drop out of school altogether. It is important for states to identify those


3 Nevada Revise Statutes 387.121(2)


4 United States Department of Agriculture, “The Community Eligibility Provision: What Does it Mean for Your
School or Local Education Agency”. April, 2015.


1616







students who are at-risk before they run into academic trouble. Once these students are
identified, they must be provided with the necessary supports and interventions so that they
can successfully complete their education. Study team members recently published an
extensive report on the alternative approaches to identifying at-risk students in light of the
CEP program for the State of Maryland5. The report examines in detail the alternatives
available to states. The study team will use the information from this report along with any
new information from current research in the field and best practices in other states to identify
a new definition for “at-risk” students in Nevada.


The study team will model the impact of the alternative identification procedures using current
Nevada data. Modeling will allow the study team and policymakers to understand the variation
of the proposed counts against one another, and more importantly, against the current counts.
Though the different approaches often are correlated, the study teams’ experience shows that
there may be large swings between districts in the percentage of total at-risk student depending
on the count chosen. It is critical to understand these potential swings in counts when
designing implementation recommendations.


The study teams’ approach to examining the appropriate funding adjustments for at-risk
students are described above in section 2.1.2 as part of the updating of chapters 2 and 3 of the
AIR report. Alternatives will be modeled in the update of chapter 4 and recommendations will
be made as described later in the response to 2.1.6.


2.1.4 Review the multiplier to the basic support guarantee per pupil for pupils with disabilities
pursuant to NRS 387.122.


The state of Nevada’s school funding system provides districts with additional funding so they
can deliver appropriate educational services to their special needs students. Nevada provides
additional state special education funding through a multiplier of the state’s basic support
guarantee. The special education multiplier varies for each district and is based the following:


“(a) Factors relating to wealth in the school district;
(b) Salary costs;
(c) Transportation (costs); and
(d) Any other factor determined by the Superintendent of Public Instruction after


consultation with the school districts and the State Public Charter School Authority”6


For funding purposes, special education student counts are capped at 13 percent of the
district’s total student population. This means that special education funding in Nevada is


5 Croninger, R. G., Rice, J. K. & Checovich, L. (2015). Evaluation of the Use of Free and Reduced-Price Meal
Eligibility as a Proxy for Identifying Economically Disadvantaged Students. Alternative Measures and
Recommendations. Denver, CO: Augenblick, Palaich & Associates.
http://marylandpublicschools.org/Documents/adequacystudy/EvaluationFRPMEligibilityProxyEconomicDisadvanta
ge.pdf


6 Nevada Revise Statutes 387.122 (2)
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equal to a district’s special education student count (capped at 13 percent) times the district’s
basic support guarantee per pupil adjusted by the district’s special education multiplier.


The study team will review the multipliers used across the country in its update of chapter 2 of
the AIR report and it will estimate Nevada-specific weights in its update of chapter 3. These
approaches are described in the study team’s response to section 2.1.2 of the RFP. Alternatives
will be modeled in the update of chapter 4 and recommendations will be made as described
later in the response to 2.1.6.


2.1.5 Review the meaning of the term “gifted and talented pupils,” as defined in NRS 388.5231,
to establish an appropriate definition for the term and recommend a consistent statewide standard
to identify such pupils.


Students who are Gifted and Talented (G/T) often display a special set of needs that require
additional resources to allow them to reach their full educational potential. Nevada law
currently defines G/T pupils as students who are “… under the age of 18 years who
demonstrates such outstanding academic skills or aptitudes that the person cannot progress
effectively in a regular school program and therefore needs special instruction or special
services.”7 Students who score in the top two percent of a qualified exam are designated as
G/T under the state’s administrative code.8 In addition, alternative assessment procedures can
be used for “… a pupil from another culture, a pupil who is environmentally or economically
deprived or a pupil who has a disability.”9


The study team will review current academic research and state best practices to help Nevada
identify which students would most benefit from G/T services. The alternative approaches for
identifying G/T students will be vetted against available data and then, where possible, the
alternative approaches will be modeled to identify the number of G/T students in each district
in the state.


2.1.6 Make recommendations for the implementation of the findings of the independent
consultant pursuant to Objectives (2.1.1) to (2.1.5), inclusive.


The study team will have a wealth of data related to sections 2.1.1 through 2.1.5 from the work
described above. To make a set of final recommendations for implementation, the study team
proposes to first vet the results of the work described above with stakeholders from across the
state to include the Nevada perspective in the study. To do this, APA has developed an
extensive process for obtaining feedback from a wide range of Nevada stakeholders. This
process consists of 1) one-on-one or small group interviews with state-level actors, 2) a series
of four panels of practitioners to be held in different regions of the state, and 3) an open
survey that will allow additional stakeholders to provide feedback.


7 Nevada Revised Statutes 388.5251


8 Nevada Administrative Code 388.435(1)


9 Nevada Administrative Code 388.435(2)
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Interviews


The study team will hold individual or small group interviews to discuss the stakeholders’
perspectives both on current adjustments for special needs populations and the study team’s
preliminary findings and recommendations. Questions will be based on the study team’s
findings from the analyses described above. Specific focus will be paid to the work on at-risk,
ELL, students with disabilities, and gifted and talented students.


The study team anticipates that the stakeholders included in these interviews will consist, at a
minimum, of key legislators; Department staff; and education organizations such as the
Nevada School Boards Association, Nevada Education Association, Nevada Association of
School Administrators, and Nevada’s principals’ associations. APA will work with the
Department to finalize the list of stakeholders to be included in these interviews.


Practitioner Panels
To gather feedback from practitioners, the study team will hold four practitioner panels across
the state. Similar questions to those described above will be used to guide these discussions.
Panel participants will include central office administrators, school leaders, teachers, and
other instructional staff. The panels will be located in different regions of the state to allow
participation by educators from across the state. For example, one panel could be held in
Washoe County, two in Clark County to address the different needs across this large district,
and one in Elko County. Again, APA will work with the Departmentd on selecting the specific
sites for the practitioner panels.


Survey
The study team understands that it is important to get feedback from a wide range of
stakeholders beyond the education community. With this in mind, the study team will create a
survey open to Nevada residents that wish to respond to the findings of the study. The study
team anticipates the survey will be utilized by parents, business leaders, and other community
members.


Final Recommendations


This stakeholder engagement process will provide the study team with additional insights prior
to developing the final recommendations for the study. Developing recommendations in a
study with this amount of data and analysis is a difficult process. However, the study team has
a long history compiling information such as this into a set of clear and actionable
recommendations. The study team will begin by reviewing all of the state by state findings, the
data from the PJ and EB approaches, the results of the simulation modeling, and the feedback
from stakeholders for each of the study areas including:


1. Students with disabilities
2. English language learners
3. At-risk students
4. Funding for remote and small schools/districts
5. Other unique student needs and characteristics, and
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6. Gifted and Talented students


Decisions on recommendations for each of the areas will not be made in a silo, but instead will
be made with an understanding of how each decision impacts other areas of the study. For
example, when identifying the best approach for Nevada in funding at-risk students, the study
team will look at the potential overlap of services between ELL and at-risk students, ensuring
that the needed resources for students are only funded once within the recommendations.


The study team will apply a decision-making structure that relies on the available research
base in conjunction with the Nevada perspective to identify the most effective and efficient
approaches for all recommendations. The results will be a set of parameters that will allow
Nevada to update its school finance system to best meet the needs of all students.


These results will be presented in a preliminary report provided to the Department no later
than August 1, 2018. It is understood that input will be given by members of Nevada’s
Legislative Committee on Education. This input will be incorporated into the final report
provided to the department no later than October 15, 2018.


Timeline


APA’s proposed timeline of activities follows.
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January February March April May June July August September October
Task/Subtask
2.1.1 Review AIR Report


2.1.2 Update AIR Report
Chapter 1
Chapter 2
Chapter 3
- Evidence-based
- Professional judgement
Chapter 4


2.1.3 At-Risk Count and Adjustment
Identify Count Alternatives


2.1.4 Special Education Pupils


2.1.5 Gifted Count


2.1.6 Recommendations
Stakeholder Engagement
Initial Recommendations - Draft Report
Final Report
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Section IV: Company Background and References


VENDOR INFORMATION


3.1.1 Vendors shall provide a company profile in the table format below.


Question Response
Company name: Augenblick, Palaich and


Associates, Inc.
Ownership (sole proprietor, partnership, etc.): S Corporation
State of incorporation: Colorado
Date of incorporation: 1983
# of years in business: 34
List of top officers: Justin Silverstein


Amanda Brown
Dale DeCesare
Kathryn Rooney
Robert Palaich


Location of company headquarters, to include
City and State:


1547 Gaylord St.
Denver, CO 80206


Location(s) of the office that shall provide the
services described in this RFP:


Denver, CO (sole office)


Number of employees locally with the expertise
to support the requirements identified in this
RFP:


8


Number of employees nationally with the
expertise to support the requirements in this RFP:


8


Location(s) from which employees shall be
assigned for this project:


Denver, CO


3.1.2 A Nevada-based business may apply for a five percent (5%) preference on its proposal.
This preference may apply if a business has its principal place of business within Nevada.  This
preference cannot be combined with any other preference, granted for the award of a contract
using federal funds, or granted for the award of a contract procured on a multi-state basis.  To
claim this preference a business must submit a letter with its proposal showing that it qualifies
for the preference.


This section is not applicable to APA, as APA is not a Nevada-based business.


3.1.3 Please be advised, pursuant to NRS 80.010, a corporation organized pursuant to the laws
of another state shall register with the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office as a foreign
corporation before a contract can be executed between the State of Nevada and the awarded
vendor, unless specifically exempted by NRS 80.015.
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Should APA be awarded the contract, APA is prepared to immediately register with the State
of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office, as a foreign corporation.


3.1.4 The selected vendor, prior to doing business in the State of Nevada, shall be appropriately
licensed by the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office pursuant to NRS76.  Information
regarding the Nevada Business License can be located at http://nvsos.gov.


Question Response
Nevada Business License Number: To be provided upon award of contract
Legal Entity Name: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc.


Is “Legal Entity Name” the same name as vendor is doing business as?
Yes X No


3.1.5 Has the vendor ever been engaged under contract by any State of Nevada agency?


Yes X No


If “Yes”, complete the following table for each State agency for whom the work was performed.
Table can be duplicated for each contract being identified.


Question Response
Name of State agency: Nevada Legislature
State agency contact name: Melinda Martini and Bob


Atkinson
Dates when services were
performed:


2006


Type of duties performed: Conducted an adequacy study
for the state.


Total dollar value of the contract: Approximately $225,000


3.1.6 Are you now or have you been within the last two (2) years an employee of the State of
Nevada, or any of its agencies, departments, or divisions?


Yes No X


3.1.7 Disclosure of any significant prior or ongoing contract failures, contract breaches, civil or
criminal litigation in which the vendor has been alleged to be liable or held liable in a matter
involving a contract with the State of Nevada or any other governmental entity.  Any pending
claim or litigation occurring within the past six (6) years which may adversely affect the
vendor’s ability to perform or fulfill its obligations if a contract is awarded as a result of this RFP
shall also be disclosed.


Does any of the above apply to your company?


Yes No X
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3.1.8 Vendors shall review and provide if awarded a contract the insurance requirements as
specified in Attachment D, Insurance Schedule for RFP 3489.


APA will provide insurance as required in Attachment D, upon award of contract.


3.1.9 Company background/history and why vendor is qualified to provide the services described
in this RFP.  Limit response to no more than five (5) pages.


APA has over 30 years experience working with policymakers to examine their state’s school
funding system, implementing the results of school finance studies, and helping states develop
school finance funding systems. APA has worked with legislative bodies and executive
agencies on similar efforts in other states, including Alabama, Alaska, Alabama, Colorado,
Maryland, Mississippi, New Jersey, Pennsylvania and others. With our extensive experience,
the study team understands how to design a finance study so that the results are most useful in
the policymaking arena and how to work with policymakers to implement the results. All
results presented by the study team will include the context needed for implementation
decisions to be made in the future.


APA is a nationally recognized authority on school finance. APA has conducted a significant
portion of the costing out studies undertaken across the country over the past two decades.
These studies examine both the costs for all students to meet state standards and the additional
resources needed for special education, at-risk, ELL, and gifted students. APA developed the
Successful School District (SSD) approach and has been the lead implementer of the
Professional Judgment (PJ) approach to determining adequacy.


APA has conducted studies for states and advocacy organizations across the country. APA has
a deep working knowledge of cost-based methodology and modeling, and regularly
investigates regional cost differences, labor markets and compensation systems; and funding
issues associated with both rural and small schools and districts as important considerations
when building a model or funding formula.


APA has worked on school finance issues, such as the work described in the Departments RFP
for decades. The firm has worked in some capacity in all 50 states – conducting in-depth
analyses of school finance systems, helping to create new state aid allocation formulas,
working with policymakers, and preparing cross-state comparisons on many other education
policy topics.


No other individual or company has been involved in helping to change school finance
funding in as many states. APA has not only conducted costing out studies in over 20 states,
but has also designed school finance systems that were enacted in New Hampshire, Kentucky,
Louisiana, Colorado, Mississippi, Ohio, Maryland, Kansas, New Jersey and Pennsylvania. In
several states, those systems are still operating today.


APA has also analyzed, or is analyzing, the level of resources school districts need to fulfill
state student performance expectations in 22 other states and the District of Columbia:
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Alabama, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Maryland, Mississippi,
Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, North Dakota, Ohio,
Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, and Washington, DC.
APA developed the Successful School Districts model and has worked to develop the
Professional Judgment approach over its 16 years of implementation. The firm has analyzed
the equity of school finance systems in most of the states listed above and others such as
Kentucky, Louisiana, and Texas.


In addition to its long history of school finance expertise, APA also provides research and
technical assistance to states and school districts as a contractor with the Regional Education
Laboratory (REL) Central for the Institute of Education Sciences (IES), which serves
Wyoming.


APA also has extensive experience in evaluating education programs and initiatives,
conducting policy scans and reviews, estimating the costs of quality of preschool programs,
conducting return on investment analyses, and designing and costing educator compensation
plans. APA has the proven capacity to communicate and work effectively with all levels of state
and local governments, as well as private entities. The lead analysts for this project have
decades of combined experience working on school finance issues.


3.1.10 Provide a brief description of the length of time vendor has been providing services
described in this RFP to the public and/or private sector.


APA has examined school finance issues for states for nearly 35 years. This includes helping
states design their school finance systems, analyzing equity and adequacy, and understanding
the variables needed in formulas to successfully serve students.


3.1.11 Financial information and documentation to be included in accordance with Section 8.5,
Part III – Confidential Financial Information.


3.1.11.1 Dun and Bradstreet Number: 149570541


3.1.11.2 Federal Tax Identification Number: 84-0922858


3.1.11.3 The last two (2) years and current year interim:
A. Profit and Loss Statement
B. Balance Statement


APA has included financial information for 2015, 2016 and 2017 (interim), as follows:


2525







Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Balance Sheet


December 31, 2015


ASSETS


Current Assets
Chase Money Market $ 351,252.43
Chase Checking 8,067.58
Irvine Holding Account 40,897.15
Chase Long Term Savings 450,225.47
Chase FSA Checking 157.50


Total Current Assets 850,600.13


Property and Equipment
Computer Equipment 73,392.00
Funriture and Fixtures 12,280.06
Accumulated Depr. - Computer (73,392.00)
Acccumulated Depr. Furn and Fi (12,280.06)


Total Property and Equipment 0.00


Other Assets


Total Other Assets 0.00


Total Assets $ 850,600.13


LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL


Current Liabilities
Deferred Revenue $ 40,624.47


Total Current Liabilities 40,624.47


Long-Term Liabilities


Total Long-Term Liabilities 0.00


Total Liabilities 40,624.47


Capital
Retained Earnings 399,546.72
Common Stock 38,240.00
Dividends Paid (258,999.99)
Net Income 631,188.93


Total Capital 809,975.66


Total Liabilities & Capital $ 850,600.13


Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only
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Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Balance Sheet


December 31, 2016


ASSETS


Current Assets
Chase Money Market $ 74,257.53
Chase Checking 5,130.91
Irvine Holding Account 0.34
Chase Long Term Savings 700,915.27


Total Current Assets 780,304.05


Property and Equipment
Computer Equipment 73,392.00
Funriture and Fixtures 12,280.06
Accumulated Depr. - Computer (73,392.00)
Acccumulated Depr. Furn and Fi (12,280.06)


Total Property and Equipment 0.00


Other Assets


Total Other Assets 0.00


Total Assets $ 780,304.05


LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL


Current Liabilities
FSA Medical $ (46.12)


Total Current Liabilities (46.12)


Long-Term Liabilities


Total Long-Term Liabilities 0.00


Total Liabilities (46.12)


Capital
Retained Earnings 771,735.66
Common Stock 36,240.00
Net Income (27,625.49)


Total Capital 780,350.17


Total Liabilities & Capital $ 780,304.05


Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only
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Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Balance Sheet


August 31, 2017


ASSETS


Current Assets
Chase Money Market $ 245,517.01
Chase Checking (26,268.04)
Chase Long Term Savings 386,184.65


Total Current Assets 605,433.62


Property and Equipment
Computer Equipment 73,392.00
Funriture and Fixtures 14,143.97
FSA Security Deposit 1,500.00
Accumulated Depr. - Computer (73,392.00)
Acccumulated Depr. Furn and Fi (12,280.06)


Total Property and Equipment 3,363.91


Other Assets


Total Other Assets 0.00


Total Assets $ 608,797.53


LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL


Current Liabilities
401K liability $ 8,511.16
FSA Medical (650.10)


Total Current Liabilities 7,861.06


Long-Term Liabilities


Total Long-Term Liabilities 0.00


Total Liabilities 7,861.06


Capital
Retained Earnings 744,110.17
Common Stock 43,240.00
Dividends Paid (295,848.00)
Net Income 109,434.30


Total Capital 600,936.47


Total Liabilities & Capital $ 608,797.53


Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only
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Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Income Statement


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2015


Current Month Year to Date
Revenues
Consulting Income $ 3,743,010.76 99.47 $ 3,743,010.76 99.47
Sales of Materials 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest Income 689.61 0.02 689.61 0.02
Finance Charge Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Income 19,400.00 0.52 19,400.00 0.52
Sales/Fees Discounts 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Total Revenues 3,763,100.37 100.00 3,763,100.37 100.00


Cost of Sales
Cost of Sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Cost of Sales-Salary & Wage 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Inventory Adjustments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Total Cost of Sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Gross Profit 3,763,100.37 100.00 3,763,100.37 100.00


Expenses
John Augenblick Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Augenblick Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bob Palaich Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bob Paliach Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Justin Silverste Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Justin Silverst Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Myers Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Myers Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Dale DeCesare Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Dale DeCesare Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Doug RoseEmployee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Doug Rose Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amy Anderson Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amy Anderson Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amanda Brown Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amanda Brown Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Wages Expense 1,616,133.99 42.95 1,616,133.99 42.95
Contract Labor 872,760.32 23.19 872,760.32 23.19
Dependent Set Aside 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Employee Benefit Programs Exp 80,382.81 2.14 80,382.81 2.14
Payroll Tax Expense 108,838.82 2.89 108,838.82 2.89
Medical Set Asides 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Payroll Expenses 15,283.85 0.41 15,283.85 0.41
Worker's Comp 2,671.07 0.07 2,671.07 0.07
Bad Debt Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Additional Retirment Plan cont 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Income Tax Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Tax Prep Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Taxes Expense 1,156.99 0.03 1,156.99 0.03
Rent or Lease Expense 127,714.16 3.39 127,714.16 3.39
Maintenance & Repairs Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Utilities Expense 1,805.08 0.05 1,805.08 0.05
Office Supplies Expense 7,728.94 0.21 7,728.94 0.21
Software 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Telephone Expense 16,027.25 0.43 16,027.25 0.43
IT Support 12,513.35 0.33 12,513.35 0.33
Other Office Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Airline Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Professional Fees 3,377.48 0.09 3,377.48 0.09
Lodging Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


For Management Purposes Only
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Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Income Statement


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2015


Current Month Year to Date
Food Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Meeting Expenses 34,917.52 0.93 34,917.52 0.93
Other Travel Expenses 177,487.89 4.72 177,487.89 4.72
Expense Reimbursement 5,281.47 0.14 5,281.47 0.14
Ex[emse Reimbursement - Meals 2,151.09 0.06 2,151.09 0.06
Phone Reimbursement 4,840.00 0.13 4,840.00 0.13
Commissions and Fees Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Freight Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Service Charge Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Purchase Disc-Expense Items 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Insurance Expense 16,998.63 0.45 16,998.63 0.45
Disability Insurance 6,537.83 0.17 6,537.83 0.17
Health Insurance 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Fees 290.56 0.01 290.56 0.01
Penalties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest Expense 147.72 0.00 147.72 0.00
Loan interest expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Misc. Expense 10,136.05 0.27 10,136.05 0.27
Depreciation Expense 6,728.57 0.18 6,728.57 0.18
Gain/Loss - Sale of Assets Exp 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Meals and Entertainment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Banking Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Insurance Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Total Expenses 3,131,911.44 83.23 3,131,911.44 83.23


Net Income $ 631,188.93 16.77 $ 631,188.93 16.77


For Management Purposes Only
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Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Income Statement


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2016


Current Month Year to Date
Revenues
Consulting Income $ 2,326,787.74 99.12 $ 2,326,787.74 99.12
Sales of Materials 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest Income 1,369.12 0.06 1,369.12 0.06
Finance Charge Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Income 19,200.00 0.82 19,200.00 0.82
Sales/Fees Discounts 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Total Revenues 2,347,356.86 100.00 2,347,356.86 100.00


Cost of Sales
Cost of Sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Cost of Sales-Salary & Wage 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Inventory Adjustments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Total Cost of Sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Gross Profit 2,347,356.86 100.00 2,347,356.86 100.00


Expenses
John Augenblick Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Augenblick Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bob Palaich Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bob Paliach Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Justin Silverste Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Justin Silverst Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Myers Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Myers Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Dale DeCesare Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Dale DeCesare Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Doug RoseEmployee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Doug Rose Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amy Anderson Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amy Anderson Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amanda Brown Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amanda Brown Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Wages Expense 1,387,123.38 59.09 1,387,123.38 59.09
Contract Labor 375,562.81 16.00 375,562.81 16.00
Dependent Set Aside 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Employee Benefit Programs Exp 67,230.92 2.86 67,230.92 2.86
Payroll Tax Expense 96,096.05 4.09 96,096.05 4.09
Medical Set Asides 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Payroll Expenses 15,411.85 0.66 15,411.85 0.66
Worker's Comp 2,633.09 0.11 2,633.09 0.11
Bad Debt Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Additional Retirment Plan cont 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Income Tax Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Tax Prep Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Taxes Expense 2,020.67 0.09 2,020.67 0.09
Rent or Lease Expense 135,601.63 5.78 135,601.63 5.78
Maintenance & Repairs Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Utilities Expense 1,821.50 0.08 1,821.50 0.08
Office Supplies Expense 10,915.93 0.47 10,915.93 0.47
Software 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Telephone Expense 16,808.55 0.72 16,808.55 0.72
IT Support 15,133.00 0.64 15,133.00 0.64
Other Office Expense 3,740.00 0.16 3,740.00 0.16
Airline Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Professional Fees 67.50 0.00 67.50 0.00
Lodging Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


For Management Purposes Only
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Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Income Statement


For the Twelve Months Ending December 31, 2016


Current Month Year to Date
Food Expense 85.00 0.00 85.00 0.00
Meeting Expenses 14,451.68 0.62 14,451.68 0.62
Other Travel Expenses 188,404.99 8.03 188,404.99 8.03
Expense Reimbursement 2,102.34 0.09 2,102.34 0.09
Ex[emse Reimbursement - Meals 818.50 0.03 818.50 0.03
Phone Reimbursement 3,625.00 0.15 3,625.00 0.15
Commissions and Fees Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Freight Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Service Charge Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Purchase Disc-Expense Items 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Insurance Expense 25,608.38 1.09 25,608.38 1.09
Disability Insurance 7,769.58 0.33 7,769.58 0.33
Health Insurance 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Fees 225.00 0.01 225.00 0.01
Penalties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Loan interest expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Misc. Expense 1,700.00 0.07 1,700.00 0.07
Depreciation Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Gain/Loss - Sale of Assets Exp 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Meals and Entertainment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Banking Fees 25.00 0.00 25.00 0.00


0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Insurance Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Total Expenses 2,374,982.35 101.18 2,374,982.35 101.18


Net Income $ (27,625.49) (1.18) $ (27,625.49) (1.18)


For Management Purposes Only
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Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Income Statement


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2017


Current Month Year to Date
Revenues
Consulting Income $ 1,301,609.08 99.40 $ 1,301,609.08 99.40
Sales of Materials 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest Income 409.71 0.03 409.71 0.03
Finance Charge Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Income 7,500.00 0.57 7,500.00 0.57
Sales/Fees Discounts 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Total Revenues 1,309,518.79 100.00 1,309,518.79 100.00


Cost of Sales
Cost of Sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Cost of Sales-Salary & Wage 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Inventory Adjustments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Total Cost of Sales 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


Gross Profit 1,309,518.79 100.00 1,309,518.79 100.00


Expenses
John Augenblick Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Augenblick Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bob Palaich Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bob Paliach Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Justin Silverste Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Justin Silverst Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Myers Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
John Myers Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Dale DeCesare Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Dale DeCesare Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Doug RoseEmployee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Doug Rose Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amy Anderson Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amy Anderson Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amanda Brown Employee Ret. 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Amanda Brown Employee Retir 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Wages Expense 820,579.66 62.66 820,579.66 62.66
Contract Labor 44,063.94 3.36 44,063.94 3.36
Dependent Set Aside 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Employee Benefit Programs Exp 42,334.68 3.23 42,334.68 3.23
Payroll Tax Expense 64,831.12 4.95 64,831.12 4.95
Medical Set Asides 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Payroll Expenses 6,173.17 0.47 6,173.17 0.47
Worker's Comp 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bad Debt Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Additional Retirment Plan cont 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Income Tax Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Tax Prep Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Taxes Expense 1,790.00 0.14 1,790.00 0.14
Rent or Lease Expense 54,258.20 4.14 54,258.20 4.14
Maintenance & Repairs Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Utilities Expense 2,237.84 0.17 2,237.84 0.17
Office Supplies Expense 18,500.29 1.41 18,500.29 1.41
Software 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Telephone Expense 8,555.00 0.65 8,555.00 0.65
IT Support 9,773.75 0.75 9,773.75 0.75
Other Office Expense 1,500.00 0.11 1,500.00 0.11
Airline Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Professional Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Lodging Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


For Management Purposes Only
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Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc
Income Statement


For the Eight Months Ending August 31, 2017


Current Month Year to Date
Food Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Meeting Expenses 6,895.00 0.53 6,895.00 0.53
Other Travel Expenses 75,570.38 5.77 75,570.38 5.77
Expense Reimbursement 4,597.62 0.35 4,597.62 0.35
Ex[emse Reimbursement - Meals 2,508.98 0.19 2,508.98 0.19
Phone Reimbursement 2,875.00 0.22 2,875.00 0.22
Commissions and Fees Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Freight Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Service Charge Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Purchase Disc-Expense Items 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Insurance Expense 26,441.29 2.02 26,441.29 2.02
Disability Insurance 4,646.30 0.35 4,646.30 0.35
Health Insurance 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Fees (249.66) (0.02) (249.66) (0.02)
Penalties 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Loan interest expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Misc. Expense 2,525.00 0.19 2,525.00 0.19
Depreciation Expense 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Gain/Loss - Sale of Assets Exp 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Meals and Entertainment 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Banking Fees 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00


0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Insurance Expense (323.07) (0.02) (323.07) (0.02)


Total Expenses 1,200,084.49 91.64 1,200,084.49 91.64


Net Income $ 109,434.30 8.36 $ 109,434.30 8.36


For Management Purposes Only
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SUBCONTRACTOR INFORMATION


Subcontractors are defined as a third party, not directly employed by the
contractor, who shall provide services identified in this RFP.  This does not
include third parties who provide support or incidental services to the contractor.


Does this proposal include the use of subcontractors?


Yes X No


If “Yes”, vendor shall:


Identify specific subcontractors and the specific requirements of this
RFP for which each proposed subcontractor shall perform
services.


As noted in the Scope of Work, APA is utilizing two subcontractors
in this proposal: Picus, Odden & Associates, and the Education
Commission of the States.


Picus, Odden & Associates will lead the work on the evidence based
approach and on the case studies identified in our response.
Education Commission of the States will conduct a review of
statewide data and other state’s approaches.


If any tasks are to be completed by subcontractor(s), vendors shall:


A. Describe how the work of any subcontractor(s) shall be
supervised, channels of communication shall be
maintained and compliance with contract terms assured;
and


APA has a history of working closely with its subcontractors to
ensure compliance with contract terms and successful
implementation of studies. Justin Silverstein at APA will manage
supervision of contractors. This includes ensuring subcontractor
scopes of work are clearly defined, and ensuring regular updates on
subcontractors activity is provided through both email
communication and regular phone and in-person meetings, as
needed.


B. Describe your previous experience with
subcontractor(s).


APA has extensive previous experience working with both identified
subcontractors on similar projects. APA has subcontracted with
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Picus, Odden & Associates (POA) in recent years. POA contributed
to state school finance studies in Maryland and Michigan. APA has
similarly contracted with Education Commission of the States’ Mike
Griffith on state school finance projects in Wyoming, Maryland and
Michigan.


Provide the same information for any proposed subcontractors as
requested in Section 3.1, Vendor Information.


Vendor shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work until all
insurance required of the subcontractor is provided to the
vendor.


Vendor shall notify the using agency of the intended use of any
subcontractors not identified within their original proposal
and provide the information originally requested in the RFP
in Section 3.2, Subcontractor Information.  The vendor
shall receive agency approval prior to subcontractor
commencing work.


3.1.1 VENDOR INFORMATION – Education Commission of the States


Vendors shall provide a company profile in the table format below.


Question Response
Company name: Education Commission of the


States
Ownership (sole proprietor, partnership,
etc.):


501(c) 3 – nonprofit


State of incorporation: Colorado
Date of incorporation: 9/1/1966
# of years in business: 51
List of top officers: Jeremy Anderson, President


Brian Sponsler, Vice President
Matthew Padilla, CFO


Location of company headquarters, to
include City and State:


700 Broadway #810, Denver,
Colorado 80203


Location(s) of the office that shall provide
the services described in this RFP:


700 Broadway #810, Denver,
Colorado 80203


Number of employees locally with the
expertise to support the requirements
identified in this RFP:


2


Number of employees nationally with the
expertise to support the requirements in
this RFP:


2
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Question Response
Location(s) from which employees shall
be assigned for this project:


700 Broadway #810, Denver,
Colorado 80203


A Nevada-based business may apply for a five percent (5%) preference on its
proposal.  This preference may apply if a business has its principal place of
business within Nevada.  This preference cannot be combined with any
other preference, granted for the award of a contract using federal funds, or
granted for the award of a contract procured on a multi-state basis.  To
claim this preference a business must submit a letter with its proposal
showing that it qualifies for the preference.


Please be advised, pursuant to NRS 80.010, a corporation organized pursuant to
the laws of another state shall register with the State of Nevada, Secretary
of State’s Office as a foreign corporation before a contract can be executed
between the State of Nevada and the awarded vendor, unless specifically
exempted by NRS 80.015.


The selected vendor, prior to doing business in the State of Nevada, shall be
appropriately licensed by the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office
pursuant to NRS76.  Information regarding the Nevada Business License
can be located at http://nvsos.gov.


Question Response
Nevada Business License
Number:
Legal Entity Name:


Is “Legal Entity Name” the same name as vendor is doing business as?


Yes No


If “No”, provide explanation.


Has the vendor ever been engaged under contract by any State of Nevada agency?


Yes No X


If “Yes”, complete the following table for each State agency for whom
the work was performed. Table can be duplicated for each contract
being identified.


Question Response
Name of State agency:
State agency contact name:
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Question Response
Dates when services were
performed:
Type of duties performed:
Total dollar value of the contract:


Are you now or have you been within the last two (2) years an employee of the
State of Nevada, or any of its agencies, departments, or divisions?


Yes No X


If “Yes”, please explain when the employee is planning to render
services, while on annual leave, compensatory time, or on their own
time?


If you employ (a) any person who is a current employee of an agency
of the State of Nevada, or (b) any person who has been an employee of
an agency of the State of Nevada within the past two (2) years, and if
such person shall be performing or producing the services which you
shall be contracted to provide under this contract, you shall disclose
the identity of each such person in your response to this RFP, and
specify the services that each person shall be expected to perform.


Disclosure of any significant prior or ongoing contract failures, contract breaches,
civil or criminal litigation in which the vendor has been alleged to be liable
or held liable in a matter involving a contract with the State of Nevada or
any other governmental entity.  Any pending claim or litigation occurring
within the past six (6) years which may adversely affect the vendor’s
ability to perform or fulfill its obligations if a contract is awarded as a
result of this RFP shall also be disclosed.


Does any of the above apply to your company?


Yes No X


If “Yes”, please provide the following information.  Table can be
duplicated for each issue being identified.


Question Response
Date of alleged
contract failure or
breach:
Parties involved:
Description of the
contract failure,
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Question Response
contract breach, or
litigation, including
the products or
services involved:
Amount in
controversy:
Resolution or
current status of the
dispute:
If the matter has
resulted in a court
case:


Court Case
Number


Status of the
litigation:


Vendors shall review and provide if awarded a contract the insurance requirements
as specified in Attachment D, Insurance Schedule for RFP 3489.


Company background/history and why vendor is qualified to provide the services
described in this RFP.  Limit response to no more than five (5) pages.


WHY EDUCATION COMMISSION OF THE STATES?
Education Commission of the States was created by states, for states, in 1965.
We believe in the power of learning from experience. Every day, we provide
education leaders with unbiased information and opportunities for
collaboration. We do this because we know that informed policymakers create
better education policy, which ultimately improves outcomes for students.


 UNBIASED AND NON-PARTISAN: Education Commission of the
States is not an advocacy organization. The organization’s chair
alternates between Democratic and Republican governors every two
years.


 ALL POLICYMAKERS, ALL STATES: Education Commission of the
States is the only state-focused national organization to bring together
governors, legislators, K-12 and higher education department chiefs as
well as other education leaders.


 CROSS-LEADERSHIP CONVENINGS: Education Commission of the
States brings together state policy leaders from across the nation at the
annual National Forum on Education Policy, the Legislative Education
Staff Network Summer Seminar, Thinkers Meetings and State Policy
Academies, all of which are used to inform, counsel and learn from
experts across the states.
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 POLICY-RELEVANT PRODUCTS: Education Commission of the
States’ resources are designed with state education leaders in mind. They
are relevant, digestible and action-oriented. Education Commission of
the States identifies trending issues and hot topics through information
requests and regular on-site meetings with state policymakers, as well as
through the organization’s state policy database, where education-related
bills are tracked from introduction to enactment.


 FULL EDUCATION SPECTRUM: Education Commission of the States
works with policymakers, researchers and practitioners at all levels of
education, from pre-K to postsecondary and beyond.


Provide a brief description of the length of time vendor has been providing
services described in this RFP to the public and/or private sector.


Education Commission of the States’ staff has assisted states with their school
funding issues for more than 50 years. Over this time period the organization
has provided school funding assistance to all 50 states. In recent years ECS staff
have worked with school funding committees in Delaware, Idaho, Illinois,
Montana, Pennsylvania and South Dakota on funding for at-risk students,
English Language Learners, and students in special education. For example, in
2016, Education Commission of the States moderated a series of discussions in
South Dakota focused on altering the state’s school funding formula to improve
teacher recruitment and retention. These discussions led to a change that helped
districts in the state direct additional resources to their teachers. Through our
network of national experts and experience working across the states, we can
anticipate the needs of policymakers to ensure that conversations are focused
and productive.


Financial information and documentation to be included in accordance with
Section 8.5, Part III – Confidential Financial Information.


1.1.1.1 Dun and Bradstreet Number: 07-6443621


1.1.1.2 Federal Tax Identification Number: 31-0722194


1.1.1.3 The last two (2) years and current year interim:


A. Profit and Loss Statement
B. Balance Statement


To fulfill the requirements of Sections 3.1.11.3, ECS has provided Audited Financial
Statements for 2015 and 2016, along with August 2017 Balance Sheet and Income Statement:
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Section VII: Proposed Staff Resumes


PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor


staff.


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates (APA Consulting)


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff.


Contractor: X Subcontractor:


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project.


Name: Justin Silverstein Key Personnel:
(Yes/No) Yes


Individual’s Title Co-CEO
# of Years in Classification: 1 # of Years with Firm: 19


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience.


Justin Silverstein joined APA full time in 1998 after interning for a year during college and today
is the co-CEO of the firm. Justin is nationally known for his work examining state school finance
formulas and for analysis on educational resources. This includes leading studies focusing on
the resources needed for students to meet educational standards in Maryland, Pennsylvania,
and New Jersey In each case the results of the study were implemented by the state. He has
led reviews of state finance formulas or components of the formulas for North Carolina, New
Jersey, Alabama, and Washington D.C. Justin also works closely with school districts helping
them understand how to best implement resources to serve students. This work requires
teaming with the stakeholders in the districts to understand the needs and goals of the district.


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project.


Co-CEO  (1/17- present. Lead the school finance work for the company and also manages the
operations and finances for the company .  Previous positions: Vice President (1/08-12/16);
Senior Associate (1/03 – 12/07); (Associate (08/98- 12/02)


Recent projects: conducting reviews of state-level education finance systems, most recently in
Alaska; conducting adequacy studies across the country to determine the resources needed to
effectively meet federal and state standards, including most recently in Michigan, Wyoming,
Maryland, Alabama, Washington D.C., Colorado and Nevada; evaluating the cost implications of
recent education reform legislation, including Colorado’s Achievement Plan for Kids and SB10-
191, the Educator Effectiveness bill; and working with local school districts and community
groups to address declining enrollment, the use of student-based budgeting, and the
implementation of best practice standards.
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Recent clients: Maryland State Department of Education; State of Michigan; Alaska State
Legislature; Alabama Board of Education; Deputy Mayor of Education’s Office, District of
Columbia; Colorado Department of Education; New Jersey Department of Education; North
Carolina General Assembly; Pennsylvania State Board of Education; Nevada State Legislature;
Louisiana State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education; Virginia Department of
Education; Jeffco Public Schools; Littleton Public Schools; Poudre School District; Denver
Public Schools; Colorado Governor’s State Council on Educator Effectiveness; Lincy Institute at
the University of Las Vegas; Colorado Legacy Foundation; Colorado School Finance Project;
and the Colorado School Finance Project.


EDUCATION
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received.


B.S. University of Colorado Business Administration


CERTIFICATIONS
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received.


No additional certifications.


REFERENCES
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number


and email address.


Tracie Rainey
Executive Director, Colorado School Finance Project
303-860-9136; t.rainey@cosfp.org


Ethan P. Taylor
Alabama State Department of Education
Education Finance Administrator
334-242-9754; etaylor@alsde.edu


Donna Gunning
Maryland Department of Education
Program Manager
410-767-0757; donna.gunning@maryland.gov
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor


staff.


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc.


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff.
Contractor: x Subcontractor:


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project.


Name: Amanda Brown Key Personnel:
(Yes/No) Yes


Individual’s Title Senior Associate
# of Years in Classification: 7 # of Years with Firm: 12


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience.


Amanda Brown joined APA in 2005. Amanda’s primary focus areas are school finance and
evaluation, both at the state and local level. Amanda has worked at the state level on large-
scale adequacy studies; evaluations of state funding mechanisms to improve allocation of
resources; conducted studies to understand the resource implications of specific education
reform legislation; implementation of instructional best practices; and examining the impact of
local/state assessment efforts and the new Common Core Standards. At the local level,
Amanda has assisted local school districts to develop school-based budgeting formulas;
conducted salary competitiveness studies; addressed issues of declining enrollment; and
determined the efficiency of facilities usage. Additionally, she has led and participated in
program evaluations of early childhood education and literacy for a number of nonprofit
organizations.


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project.


Augenblick, Palaich and Associates (APA), Denver, CO
01/05- Present
Senior Associate Policy Analyst (08/11- present) in a firm that conducts studies around
education policy issues for state and local policymakers.  Previous positions: Associate (06/05-
08/11); Intern (01/05- 06/05).


Recent projects: conducting reviews of state-level education finance systems, most recently in
Alaska; conducting adequacy studies across the country to determine the resources needed to
effectively meet federal and state standards, including most recently in Michigan, Maryland,
Alabama, Washington D.C., Colorado and Nevada; evaluating the cost implications of recent
education reform legislation, including Colorado’s Achievement Plan for Kids and SB10-191, the
Educator Effectiveness bill; and working with local school districts and community groups to
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address declining enrollment, the use of student-based budgeting, and the implementation of
best practice standards.


Recent clients: Maryland State Department of Education; State of Michigan; Alaska State
Legislature; Alabama Board of Education; Deputy Mayor of Education’s Office, District of
Columbia; Colorado Department of Education; New Jersey Department of Education; North
Carolina General Assembly; Pennsylvania State Board of Education; Nevada State Legislature;
Louisiana State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education; Virginia Department of
Education; Jeffco Public Schools; Littleton Public Schools; Poudre School District; Denver
Public Schools; Colorado Governor’s State Council on Educator Effectiveness; Lincy Institute at
the University of Las Vegas; Colorado Legacy Foundation; Colorado School Finance Project;
Denver Preschool Program; Donnell-Kay Foundation; Piton Foundation; Children’s Voices;
Reach Out and Read Colorado; and Providers Advancing School Outcomes (PASO), funded
through Mile High United Way.


Six recent APA school finance projects completed with Brown’s contributions include:


Michigan Education Finance Study, completed for State of Michigan, through the Department
of the Treasury (2016)
Project Overview: APA reviewed the revenues and expenditures of districts meeting specific
performance standards. This review included an examination of base expenditures
(expenditures regardless of student need) and expenditures for the students with special needs,
including economically disadvantaged students, English Language Leaner (ELL) students, and
special education students. APA examined the differences in non-instructional spending across
regions of the state. Cost areas included food service, transportation, maintenance and
operations (M&O), community service, and adult education. APA also examined the differences
in revenues available to school districts by region and the differences in district expenditures by
area.


Study of Adequacy of Funding for Education in the State of Maryland, completed for
Maryland State Department of Education (2015-2017)
Project Overview: APA led a study on the adequacy of funding in Maryland. It included
adequacy cost studies to identify a base funding level for students without special needs and
per pupil weights for students with special needs to be applied to the base funding level, and an
analysis of the effects of concentrations of poverty on adequacy targets. Additional studies
examined the impact of school size, the Supplemental Grants program, the use of Free and
Reduced Price Meal eligibility as the proxy for identifying economic disadvantage, the federal
Community Eligibility Program in Maryland, prekindergarten services and funding, the current
wealth calculation, the impact of increasing and decreasing enrollments on local school
systems; and an update of the Maryland Geographic Cost of Education Index.


Review of Alaska’s School Funding Program, completed for Alaska State Legislature (2015)
Project Overview: This study focused on reviewing the structure of Alaska’s current funding
system, considering both funding practices in other states and Alaska’s unique state context.
APA reviewed the structure of the funding structure; conducted interviews with district
stakeholders to under the structure’s impact on individual districts; examined other states’
approaches to school funding; examined the equity of the system; analyzed student
performance across Alaska, including the relationship between need, funding and performance;
examined the state’s sources of revenues; and developed recommendations for the state to
consider.
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Alabama Cost Study, completed for Alabama State Board of Education (2013-2015)
Project Overview: APA worked with the state to examine all aspects of the state’s school
funding system. The study included stakeholder engagement, a review of the state’s school
funding structure, an equity study, an adequacy study, and recommendations for possible
changes to the funding system.


Nevada Education Adequacy Study Update, completed for The Lincy Institute at the
University of Nevada, Las Vegas (August 2014-2015)
Project Overview: APA updated their 2006 Nevada Adequacy study to estimate the resources
districts and schools need for all students to meet the current state standards. The study
estimated the base cost figure for per pupil expenditures as well as the adjustments necessary
for students with special needs including special education, at‐risk and English Language
Learner (ELL) students. Nevada educators and professionals helped determine the types of
resources and interventions needed to ensure Nevada students have an equitable opportunity
to achieve academic success. The study included a specific emphasis on understanding the
needs of ELL students.


Washington, D.C. Adequacy Study, completed for the Washington, D.C., Office of the Deputy
Mayor for Education (2013).
Project Overview: APA conducted an adequacy study in the District of Columbia, for the Office
of the Deputy Mayor for Education. APA served as the lead for implementing two adequacy
approaches, the professional judgment and successful schools approaches, to determine the
resources needed for D.C. students to meet education standards. APA worked with The
Finance Project to involve stakeholders across D.C. in completing the work. After completing
the adequacy studies, a set of recommendations were created for D.C. on how to implement the
findings.


EDUCATION
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received.


University of Colorado at Denver, Denver, CO Graduation Date: May
2009
School of Public Affairs


 Degree Conferred: Master of Public Administration


University of Colorado at Boulder, Boulder, CO Graduation Date: May
2005
College of Arts and Sciences/ School of Journalism and Mass Communication


 Degrees Conferred:  Bachelor of Science in Advertising and Bachelor of Arts in
Sociology


CERTIFICATIONS
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received.


No additional certifications.
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REFERENCES
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number


and email address.


Richard Garcia
Executive Director, Colorado Statewide Parent Coalition
720-890-0123; richard@coparentcoalition.org


Meredith Hintze
Executive Director, Reach Out and Read Colorado
303-623-3800; meredith@reachoutandreadco.org


Tracie Rainey
Executive Director, Colorado School Finance Project
303-860-9136; t.rainey@cosfp.org
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor


staff.


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc.


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff.
Contractor: X Subcontractor:


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project.


Name: Mark L Fermanich Key Personnel:
(Yes/No) Yes


Individual’s Title Senior Associate
# of Years in Classification: 4 # of Years with Firm: 4


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience.


Dr. Mark Fermanich joined APA in 2013. He has more than 25 years of experience working in the areas
of education policy and finance. Prior to joining APA, Dr. Fermanich Mark in education policy and finance
research for the Center for Education Policy Analysis at the University of Colorado Denver and for the
Consortium for Policy Research in Education (CPRE) at the University of Wisconsin-Madison; served as a
professor of education policy at Oregon State University in Corvallis, Oregon and Sonoma State
University in Rohnert Park, California; and as an education policy analyst for the Minnesota State
Senate. He also served as an administrator working on policy and budget initiatives for the Minneapolis
and St. Paul school districts. Mark’s primary focus is on state and local education issues, including
education finance, education reform, educator quality, and educator compensation. He has worked on
school finance equity and adequacy studies in a number of states, including Alabama, Alaska, Arizona,
Arkansas, California, Colorado, Kentucky, Maryland, Michigan, North Carolina, Oregon, Washington, and
Wyoming. He has also worked with both large and small school districts on the costs of school
improvement strategies, the costs of effective professional development, school-based financing
systems, school and teacher effectiveness, and redesigning educator compensation systems. Dr.
Fermanich has published research articles in the Journal of Education Finance, The Elementary School
Journal, Peabody Journal of Education, and other education policy journals.


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project.


Augenblick, Palaich & Associates (APA), Denver, CO 2013
– present
Senior Associate


Serve as principal investigator on small- to large-scale research and evaluation projects. Conduct
policy research, evaluation, and cost-effectiveness analyses in the areas of education policy, finance,
and reform; teacher compensation and effectiveness; and early childhood education. Prepare and
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present reports, both technical and academic for clients, policymakers and academic journals. Advise
and provide technical assistance to state and local education policymakers.


Five recent APA school finance projects completed with Fermanich’s contributions include:


Michigan Education Finance Study, completed for State of Michigan, through the Department of the
Treasury (2016)
Project Overview: APA reviewed the revenues and expenditures of districts meeting specific
performance standards. This review included an examination of base expenditures (expenditures
regardless of student need) and expenditures for the students with special needs, including
economically disadvantaged students, English Language Leaner (ELL) students, and special education
students. APA examined the differences in non-instructional spending across regions of the state. Cost
areas included food service, transportation, maintenance and operations (M&O), community service,
and adult education. APA also examined the differences in revenues available to school districts by
region and the differences in district expenditures by area.


Study of Adequacy of Funding for Education in the State of Maryland, completed for Maryland State
Department of Education (2015-2017)
Project Overview: APA led a study on the adequacy of funding in Maryland. It included adequacy cost
studies to identify a base funding level for students without special needs and per pupil weights for
students with special needs to be applied to the base funding level, and an analysis of the effects of
concentrations of poverty on adequacy targets. Additional studies examined the impact of school size,
the Supplemental Grants program, the use of Free and Reduced Price Meal eligibility as the proxy for
identifying economic disadvantage, the federal Community Eligibility Program in Maryland,
prekindergarten services and funding, the current wealth calculation, the impact of increasing and
decreasing enrollments on local school systems; and an update of the Maryland Geographic Cost of
Education Index.


Review of Alaska’s School Funding Program, completed for Alaska State Legislature (2015)
Project Overview: This study focused on reviewing the structure of Alaska’s current funding system,
considering both funding practices in other states and Alaska’s unique state context. APA reviewed
the structure of the funding structure; conducted interviews with district stakeholders to under the
structure’s impact on individual districts; examined other states’ approaches to school funding;
examined the equity of the system; analyzed student performance across Alaska, including the
relationship between need, funding and performance; examined the state’s sources of revenues; and
developed recommendations for the state to consider.


Alabama Cost Study, completed for Alabama State Board of Education (2013-2015)
Project Overview: APA worked with the state to examine all aspects of the state’s school funding
system. The study included stakeholder engagement, a review of the state’s school funding structure,
an equity study, an adequacy study, and recommendations for possible changes to the funding
system.


Nevada Education Adequacy Study Update, completed for The Lincy Institute at the University of
Nevada, Las Vegas (August 2014-2015)
Project Overview: APA updated their 2006 Nevada Adequacy study to estimate the resources districts
and schools need for all students to meet the current state standards. The study estimated the base
cost figure for per pupil expenditures as well as the adjustments necessary for students with special
needs including special education, at‐risk and English Language Learner (ELL) students. Nevada
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educators and professionals helped determine the types of resources and interventions needed to
ensure Nevada students have an equitable opportunity to achieve academic success. The study
included a specific emphasis on understanding the needs of ELL students.


Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR
2011 – 2013
Assistant Professor


Taught courses, both campus-based and online, in the areas of education policy, finance and politics
for K-12 and higher education leadership graduate programs in the College of Education. Maintained
active research agenda, served on Master’s and Doctoral committees and engaged in service activities.


University of Colorado Denver, Center for Education Policy Analysis, Denver, CO 2009 –
2011
Research Faculty


Served as principal investigator and researcher on small- to large-scale research and evaluation
projects. Conducted policy research and evaluation in areas of education policy, finance and reform;
and state fiscal policy. Advised and provided technical assistance to state and local education
policymakers. Taught core graduate classes in the School of Public Affairs.


Colorado Children’s Campaign, Denver, CO
2007 – 2009
Research Director


Directed policy research and analysis on education, health care and early childhood issues for
nonprofit policy research and advocacy organization. Directed the use of data and research to shape
and guide the organization’s policy agenda and proposals within the Colorado state context. Worked
collaboratively with policy actors including state and local policymakers, foundations and higher
education institutions.


Sonoma State University, Rohnert Park, CA
2004 – 2007
Associate Professor


Taught graduate courses in the areas of education policy, finance, politics, and leadership for the
Department of Educational Leadership and Special Education in the School of Education and for the
Capital Area North Doctorate in Educational Leadership Program at the University of California Davis.
Other responsibilities included supervising educational administration interns in school placements,
serving on masters and doctoral committees, and engaging in scholarship and service activities.


University of Wisconsin Madison, Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Madison, WI
1998 – 2003
Assistant Researcher


Conducted policy research in areas of education finance and reform with a focus on spending for
school and instructional improvement, professional development, resource reallocation, school-based
budgeting, decentralization, and education finance equity and adequacy.


St. Paul Public Schools, St. Paul, MN
1997 – 1998
Compensatory Education Coordinator
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Coordinated all activities pertaining to district and site-based compensatory education programs for
disadvantaged and at-risk students. Responsibilities included reviewing and approving expenditures
for $40 million compensatory education program and assisting school sites with budget,
administration, best practice, and program implementation issues. Also assumed a leadership role in
the district’s site-based management initiative and provided troubleshooting in areas of budget and
state policy.


Minneapolis Public Schools, Minneapolis, MN
1995 – 1997
Manager, Intergovernmental Relations


Managed the district’s intergovernmental relations efforts in support of its policies and strategic
direction. Served as the district’s liaison with the legislature, state executive branch, and other state
and local government agencies. Responsibilities included identifying and analyzing key district policy
issues and assisting the district in formulating solutions and initiatives; developing and nurturing
collaborative efforts with state, county and city governments; and providing the Board of Education
and district administration with interpretation and analysis of local, state and federal legislation.


Senate Counsel and Research, St. Paul, MN
1990 – 1995
Legislative Analyst


Served as nonpartisan staff for State Senate K-12 Education Committee, providing analytical, technical
and legal staff support. Responsibilities included researching salient policy issues, formulating
proposals, drafting legislation, conducting fiscal analyses of legislative proposals, and projecting state
and local costs. Extensive work in areas of education finance, special education, early childhood
education, teacher preparation, and school-social services collaboration.


EDUCATION
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received.


University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI
Ph.D., Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis


May 2003


University of Wisconsin Madison, Madison, WI
M.A., Public Administration
May 1982


University of Wisconsin Oshkosh, Oshkosh, WI
B.A., Political Science
May 1979


CERTIFICATIONS
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received.


Not applicable.
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REFERENCES
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number


and email address.


Dr. Steve Kimball, Senior Researcher and Co-Director of the Wisconsin Evaluation Collaborative,
Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Phone: (608) 265-6201, Fax:
(608) 265-3135, skimball@ wisc.edu


Dr. H. Alix Gallagher, Principal Scientist and Associate Director, Center for Education Policy, SRI
International, Phone: (650) 859-3504, Fax: (650) 326-5512, alix.gallagher@sri.com


Dr. Carolyn Kelley, Senior Associate Dean for Academic Programs, School of Education, Department of
Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Phone: (608) 263-5733,
Fax: (608) 265-3135, kelley@education.wisc.edu
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor


staff.


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc.


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff.
Contractor: X Subcontractor:


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project.


Name: Jennifer Piscatelli Key Personnel:
(Yes/No) No


Individual’s Title Associate
# of Years in Classification: 6 # of Years with Firm: 6


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience.


Jennifer Piscatelli joined APA in 2012, bringing over 14 years of education policy experience.
She contributes as a member of the APA school finance team and also supports projects on
assessment, evaluation, and school finance. Prior to joining APA, Jennifer spent over 8 years as
a researcher and policy analyst at the Education Commission of the States, staffed New
Hampshire Governor Jeanne Shaheen’s Kids Cabinet, and served as a Legislative Aide to the
New Hampshire State Senate Education Committee.


Jennifer holds a Master’s degree in Political Science with an emphasis in Public Policy from the
University of Colorado, Denver, and Bachelor’s degrees in Political Science and Women's
Studies from the University of New Hampshire.


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Information required should include: timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project.


Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc. (APA), Denver, CO 02/12
– present
Associate in a firm that conducts studies around education policy issues for state and local
policymakers.


Recent projects: conducting reviews of state-level education finance systems, most recently in
Alaska; conducting adequacy studies across the country to determine the resources needed to
effectively meet federal and state standards, including most recently in Michigan, Maryland,
Alabama, and Nevada; conducting estimates for the cost of preschool programs in five
southwest Florida counties; conducting comparisons of district-level teacher compensation
systems and evaluating the relative impact changes in a district’s system has on regional
competitiveness; and serve as administrator of APA’s subcontract as a partner providing
services as the Regional Educational Laboratory Central (REL Central).
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Recent clients: Maryland State Department of Education; State of Michigan; Alaska State
Legislature; Alabama Board of Education; Jeffco Public Schools; School District 27J (Brighton,
Colorado); Lincy Institute at the University of Las Vegas; Denver Preschool Program; Florida
Southwestern College.


Five recent APA school finance projects completed with Piscatelli’s contributions include:


Michigan Education Finance Study, completed for State of Michigan, through the
Department of the Treasury (2016)
Project Overview: APA reviewed the revenues and expenditures of districts meeting specific
performance standards. This review included an examination of base expenditures
(expenditures regardless of student need) and expenditures for the students with special
needs, including economically disadvantaged students, English Language Leaner (ELL)
students, and special education students. APA examined the differences in non-instructional
spending across regions of the state. Cost areas included food service, transportation,
maintenance and operations (M&O), community service, and adult education. APA also
examined the differences in revenues available to school districts by region and the
differences in district expenditures by area.


Study of Adequacy of Funding for Education in the State of Maryland, completed for
Maryland State Department of Education (2015-2017)
Project Overview: APA led a study on the adequacy of funding in Maryland. It included
adequacy cost studies to identify a base funding level for students without special needs and
per pupil weights for students with special needs to be applied to the base funding level, and
an analysis of the effects of concentrations of poverty on adequacy targets. Additional studies
examined the impact of school size, the Supplemental Grants program, the use of Free and
Reduced Price Meal eligibility as the proxy for identifying economic disadvantage, the federal
Community Eligibility Program in Maryland, prekindergarten services and funding, the current
wealth calculation, the impact of increasing and decreasing enrollments on local school
systems; and an update of the Maryland Geographic Cost of Education Index.


Review of Alaska’s School Funding Program, completed for Alaska State Legislature
(2015)
Project Overview: This study focused on reviewing the structure of Alaska’s current funding
system, considering both funding practices in other states and Alaska’s unique state context.
APA reviewed the structure of the funding structure; conducted interviews with district
stakeholders to under the structure’s impact on individual districts; examined other states’
approaches to school funding; examined the equity of the system; analyzed student
performance across Alaska, including the relationship between need, funding and
performance; examined the state’s sources of revenues; and developed recommendations for
the state to consider.


Alabama Cost Study, completed for Alabama State Board of Education (2013-2015)
Project Overview: APA worked with the state to examine all aspects of the state’s school
funding system. The study included stakeholder engagement, a review of the state’s school
funding structure, an equity study, an adequacy study, and recommendations for possible
changes to the funding system.


Nevada Education Adequacy Study Update, completed for The Lincy Institute at the
University of Nevada, Las Vegas (August 2014-2015)
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Project Overview: APA updated their 2006 Nevada Adequacy study to estimate the
resources districts and schools need for all students to meet the current state standards. The
study estimated the base cost figure for per pupil expenditures as well as the adjustments
necessary for students with special needs including special education, at‐risk and English
Language Learner (ELL) students. Nevada educators and professionals helped determine the
types of resources and interventions needed to ensure Nevada students have an equitable
opportunity to achieve academic success. The study included a specific emphasis on
understanding the needs of ELL students.


Education Commission of the States (ECS), Denver, CO 02/02
– 08/10
Policy Analyst for a nonprofit interstate compact working to help state policymakers develop
education policy. Served as a Special Projects Associate, Researcher and Policy Analyst.
Developed expertise in the areas of civic education, service-learning, state accountability
systems and teaching quality.


Supported the ECS National Center for Learning and Citizenship’s (NCLC) national initiatives on
state and school district policy to integrate and sustain high-quality citizenship education and
service-learning; oversaw the creation and updating of NCLC Web-based databases of state
policies. Contributed to ECS’ Postsecondary and Workforce Development Institute by managing
internal and external communications; conducting state policy research on postsecondary
remedial education, managing the institute’s database and generating reports; and facilitating
discussions of experts and policymakers.


Office of the Governor, Concord, NH 02/01
– 09/01
Program Specialist


Staff to New Hampshire Governor Jeanne Shaheen, the Governor’s Kids Cabinet and three
Cabinet Subcommittees. Prepared the Governor’s briefing materials and served as liaison
between the Governor’s Office and the thirteen Cabinet members (state agency heads).
Coordinated monthly Cabinet and subcommittee meetings, developed meeting agendas
consistent with Cabinet priorities, provided research and administrative support for Cabinet and
Subcommittee members and meetings. Secured private grant funding for the KIDS Cabinet
School Age Care Outreach Project.


New Hampshire State Senate, Concord, NH 01/99 –
02/01
Legislative Aide (Previously served as Senate Intern during the 1998 legislative session.)


Served as legislative aide to the New Hampshire Senate Education Committee and all
education-related study committees and commissions, including the NH Adequate Education
and Education Financing Commission, appointed to develop a new state funding system
following the NH Supreme Court decision that the previous system was unconstitutional.
Attended committee hearings and meetings, prepared meeting/hearing reports, reviewed
committee amendments for accuracy, researched bills and issues, drafted interim and final
study committee reports. Drafted Senators’ floor statements outlining committee
recommendations for Senate floor debate.


EDUCATION
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,
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degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received.


University of Colorado, Denver. Denver, CO
MA, Political Science (emphasis: public policy), May 2006


University of New Hampshire. Durham, NH
BA, Political Science and Women’s Studies, May 1998


CERTIFICATIONS
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received.


No additional certifications.


REFERENCES
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number


and email address.


Terry Pickeral, Terry Pickeral, Cascade Educational Consultants
Email: t.pickeral@comcast.net; phone: 360.303.7480; fax: n/a


Bruce Vandal, Senior Vice President of Strategy, Math Pathways and Corequisite Remediation,
Complete College America
Email: Bvandal@completecollege.org; phone: 317.829.0483; fax: n/a


Robert Palaich, Past President, Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc. (former Vice
President of Policy Studies and Programs, Education Commission of the States)
Email: rmp@apaconsulting.net; phone: 720.227.0072; fax: n/a
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor


staff.


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Augenblick, Palaich, and Associates, Inc.


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff.
Contractor: X Subcontractor:


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project.


Name: Michaela Tonking Key Personnel:
(Yes/No) No


Individual’s Title Associate
# of Years in Classification: 1 # of Years with Firm: 2


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience.


Michaela Tonking is a Nevada native and joined APA Consulting in June 2016. At APA, Michaela
has primarily focused on school finance formulas and analysis of educational resources. She has
supported the adequacy studies in Maryland, Michigan, Wyoming and Colorado. Michaela has also
worked on evaluation work for districts, early childhood education providers, and non-profits.  Prior to
joining APA, Michaela worked as a research assistant for Rhode Island’s School Funding Formula
Working Group. Michaela also worked for Deloitte and Touché in the audit department.


Michaela holds a Master’s degree in Urban Education Policy from Brown University and a Master’s
and Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from the University of Colorado, Boulder.


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project.
Project Name: Michigan Costing Out Study
Company Name: APA
Company
Location: Denver


Position Title: Associate
Term: July 2017 through January 2018
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Project
Description:


APA is currently undertaking a review of Michigan’s funding
formula utilizing the Professional Judgment and Evidence Based
approaches to adequacy. In addition, the study examines the
labor market and regional cost differences in the state.


Project Name: Wyoming Recalibration Study
Company Name: APA
Company
Location: Denver


Position Title: Associate
Term: July 2017 through January 2018


Project
Description:


APA is currently undertaking a review of Michigan’s funding
formula utilizing the Professional Judgment and Successful
Schools approaches to adequacy, as well as review of the
Educational standard and the Funding Model. In addition, the
study examines the labor market and regional cost differences in
the state.


Project Name: Michigan Education Finance Study
Company Name: APA
Company
Location: Denver


Position Title: Associate
Term: August 2015 through August 2017


Project
Description:


APA reviewed Michigan’s funding formula utilizing the Successful
schools approach to adequacy. In addition, the study examined
regional costs and capital.


Project Name: Study of Adequacy of Funding for Education in the State of
Maryland


Company Name: APA
Company
Location: Denver


Position Title: Associate
Term:
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Project
Description:


APA reviewed Michigan’s funding formula utilizing the Successful
schools approach to adequacy. In addition, the study examined
regional costs and capital.


EDUCATION
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received.


Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island
M.A Urban Education Policy
June 2016


University of Colorado, Boulder, Colorado
M.S Business Administration – Accounting
May 2015


University of Colorado, Boulder, Colorado
B.S Business Administration – Accounting
May 2015


CERTIFICATIONS
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received.


No additional certifications.


REFERENCES
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number


and email address.


Kenneth Wong, Education Department Chair, Brown University, (401) 222-4600,
Kenneth_wong@brown.edu


Ann D’Abrosca. Education Department Recruitment Director, Brown University, (401) 222-4600.
Ann_dabrosca@brown.edu


Alan Jagolinzer, Professor of Financial Accounting, +44 (0)1223 339700, Cambridge University,
a.jagolinzer@jbs.cam.ac.uk
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor


staff.


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc.


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff.
Contractor: Subcontractor: X


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project.


Name: Lawrence O. Picus Key Personnel:
(Yes/No) Yes


Individual’s Title President, Picus Odden & Associates
# of Years in Classification: 35 # of Years with Firm: 15


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience.


Picus Odden & Associates is a comprehensive school finance consultancy firm whose mission is
to improve he way public resources for education are translated into improved student learning.
For each project, we bring together the most highly-qualified individuals in the country to work
as consultants, creating a team tailored to the specific needs of a state. This enables us to be
highly responsive to the specific (and often changing) needs of our clients and allows us to make
immediate staffing adjustments to ensure that the best people in the field are available to work on
any project in a timely and efficient manner.


We have extensive experience working collaboratively with our clients to assess and evaluate the
operation of state funding systems and to identify those that are succeeding under established
criteria such as would be developed through new state finance structures or using an Evidence-
Based model that links funding to student learning. Our experience includes working with states
on school finance issues – design, development, implementation and evaluation – with more than
three fourths of the states and scores of school districts across the nation.


Our work relies extensively on a highly interactive approach to evaluating current school funding
systems and for estimating the resources necessary to ensure excellence in district and state
funding systems. Through our research we have amassed a wealth of knowledge and experience
about how to assess and evaluate the equity, implementation, effectiveness and impact of state
school finance reforms. As the developers of the Evidence-Based method for estimating the
funding resources needed to give all students an equal


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project.


Lawrence O. Picus is professor of educational policy and finance and Associate Dean for
Research and Faculty Affairs at the USC Rossier School of Education.  His research interests
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focus on adequacy and equity in school finance as well as efficiency and productivity in the
provision of educational programs for PreK-12 school children.  Picus is co-Author (with Allan
R. Odden) of School Finance:  A Policy Perspective, 5th edition, Picus’ other books include: In
Search of More Productive Schools: A Guide to Resource Allocation in Education, published by
the ERIC Clearinghouse on Educational Management; and Developing Community Empowered
Schools), coauthored with Mary Ann Burke. He has published numerous articles in professional
journals. Picus has consulted extensively on school finance issues in more than 25 states.  In
recent years he completed equity studies in Louisiana, Kansas, Massachusetts, and Montana; and
has conducted adequacy studies in Arkansas, Arizona, Kentucky, Wyoming, Wisconsin, North
Dakota, Ohio, Oregon, Maryland, Vermont and Washington.  Picus is past-president of the
Association for Education Finance and Policy, and past President of EdSource where he served
as a member of the Board of Directors for 14 years.


EDUCATION
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received.


1988 The RAND Graduate School, Ph.D., Public Policy Analysis Santa Monica, California
1987 University of Chicago, M.A. Social Science
1986 The RAND Graduate School.  M.Phil. Public Policy Analysis


1977 Reed College, Portland, Oregon, B.A. Economics


CERTIFICATIONS
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received.


No additional certifications.


REFERENCES
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number


and email address.


Matthew Willmarth
School Finance Analyst
Wyoming Legislative Service Office
213 State Capitol
Cheyenne, WY. 82002
307 777-3563
Matthew.Willmarth@WYOLEG.GOV


Richard Wilson
Assistant Director, Research
Arkansas Legislative Research Bureau
1 Capitol Mall, R-511
Little Rock, AR. 72201
501 537-9169
richardw@blr.arkansas.gov
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor


staff.


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates Inc.


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff.
Contractor: Subcontractor: X


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project.


Name: Allan R. Odden Key Personnel:
(Yes/No) Yes


Individual’s Title Principal Partner, Picus Odden & Associates
# of Years in Classification: 42 # of Years with Firm: 15


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience.


Picus Odden & Associates is a comprehensive school finance consultancy firm whose mission is
to improve he way public resources for education are translated into improved student learning.
For each project, we bring together the most highly-qualified individuals in the country to work
as consultants, creating a team tailored to the specific needs of a state. Thus, we are highly
responsive to the specific (and often changing) needs of our clients and are able to make
immediate staffing adjustments to ensure that the best people in the field are available to work on
any project in a timely and efficient manner.


We have extensive experience working collaboratively with our clients, mostly state
policymakers, to assess and evaluate the operation of state funding systems and to identify those
that are succeeding under established criteria such as would be developed through new state
finance structures or using an Evidence-Based model that links funding to student learning. Our
experience includes working with states on school finance issues – design, development,
implementation and evaluation – with more than three fourths of the states and scores of school
districts across the nation.


Our work relies extensively on a highly interactive approach to evaluating current school funding
systems and for estimating the resources necessary to ensure excellence in district and state
funding systems. Through our research and work with many state legislatures, and as the
developers of the Evidence-Based method for estimating the funding resources needed to give all
students an equal opportunity to learn to high standards, we have amassed a wealth of knowledge
and experience about how to assess and evaluate the equity, implementation, effectiveness and
impact of state school finance reforms.


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project.
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Allan R. Odden is professor emeritus of educational leadership and policy analysis and Director
Emeritus of the Consortium for Policy Research in Education and Strategic Management of
Human Capital at the University of Wisconsin-Madison. His research interests focus on
adequacy and equity in school finance, efficiency and productivity in the provision of
educational programs for PreK-12 school children, teacher evaluation and new forms of teacher
compensation.  Odden is co-Author (with Lawrence O. Picus) of School Finance:  A Policy
Perspective, 5th edition, (McGraw Hill, 2014). Odden’s other recent books include Improving
Student Learning When Budgets Are Tight (Corwin Press, 2012), Strategic Management of
Human Capital in Education, (Routledge Press, 2011), Ten Strategies For Doubling Student
Performance, (Corwin Press, 2009), Doubling Student Performance …. and Finding the
Resources to Do It, (Corwin Press, 2009) with Sarah Archibals, and How to Achieve World Class
Teacher Compensation, (Freeload Press, 2007) with Marc Wallace. He has published close to
250 articles in professional journals. Odden has consulted extensively on school finance issues in
more than 35 states.  In recent years he has conducted adequacy studies in Arkansas, Arizona,
Kentucky, Wyoming, Wisconsin, North Dakota, Ohio, Oregon, Maryland, Vermont and
Washington, nearly all for state legislatures.  Odden is past-president (1978-79) of the
Association for Education Finance and Policy and received its distinguished service award in
1998.


EDUCATION
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received.


1975 Columbia University, Ph.D., 1975
1971 Teachers College, Columbia University, M.A.
1969 Union Theological Seminary, M. Divinity
1965 Brown University, B.S., 1965, Magna cum laude, Tau Beta Pi Honorary Engineering
Society


CERTIFICATIONS
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received.


No additional cetifications.


REFERENCES
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number


and email address.


Matthew Willmarth
School Finance Analyst
Wyoming Legislative Service Office
213 State Capitol
Cheyenne, WY. 82002
307 777-3563
Matthew.Willmarth@WYOLEG.GOV


Richard Wilson
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Assistant Director, Research
Arkansas Legislative Research Bureau
1 Capitol Mall, R-511
Little Rock, AR. 72201
501 537-9169
richardw@blr.arkansas.gov
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff.


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc.


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff.
Contractor: Subcontractor: X


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project.


Name: Michael Griffith Key Personnel:
(Yes/No) Yes


Individual’s Title School Finance Strategist, Education Commission of the States
# of Years in Classification: 4 # of Years with Firm: 17


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience.


Mike Griffith has worked in the field of school finance policy for the past 20 years with
Education Commission of the States, the consulting firm of Augenblick & Myers and the
Michigan State Senate. His research has focused on the condition of state budgets, the
adequacy and equity of state finance formulas, and promising practices in funding
programs for high-need students.


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project.


School Funding Strategist – Education Commission of the States 2012 - Present


Working with clients on a variety of education policy topics including: Early learning funding,
the current condition of state education budgets and the adequacy and equity of school funding in
states. Current and former clients include: Illinois State Board of Education, Kentucky Council
for Better Education, Pew Charitable Trusts - Philadelphia Research Initiative, Picus Odden &
Associates, Research for Action (Pennsylvania), Research on Social and Educational Change
(RSEC) and state legislatures in Colorado, Delaware, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Pennsylvania,
Rhode Island, Vermont and Wyoming.


Senior School Finance Analyst, Education Commission of the States 2008 - 2012
Policy Analyst, Education Commission of the States 2000 - 2008


 Managed ECS’s education finance efforts, produced policy briefs, reports, presentations and other
documents that are published to the ECS website and distributed to educators and legislators
nationwide
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 Oversaw project and proposal budgets ranging from $15,000 to over $1 million. Worked directly with
stakeholders including the National Center on Time and Learning, Pearson Publishing, Pew Center on
the States and multiple state government clients.


 Worked as part of a team on school funding adequacy and equity studies in Connecticut, Kansas,
Maryland, Missouri, Montana, South Dakota and Vermont


 Conducted research on various education topics, including: the condition of state budgets, the
adequacy and equity of state finance formulas, state funding of early-learning programs and
promising practices in funding programs for high-need students


 Assisted in acquiring financial support from private funders, including: Ford Foundation, Foundation
for Child Development, Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, GE Foundation, Pre-K Now and the Pew
Charitable Trusts


 Worked with state policy makers, and their staff, to shape early learning, K-12 and higher education
funding policy in all fifty states


 Testified to state legislatures or governors’ commissions in twenty-five states on educational issues,
including: charter schools, education funding, school choice, virtual learning and vouchers


 Quoted over 250 times by numerous national media outlets, including: CNN, Education Week, NBC
Nightly News, National Public Radio and The New York Times


 Presented on various education policy issues to numerous local, state and national organizations,
including: Council of State Governments, Education Writers Association, League of Women Voters,
National Association of Latino Elected & Appointed Officials, National Conference of State
Legislatures and National School Boards Association


Policy Analyst, Consulting Firm of Augenblick & Myers 1999 – 2000


 Worked on research projects in areas that included adequacy in school funding, school district
consolidation and special education funding reform in order to assist policymakers in Kansas,
Minnesota and South Carolina


Finance/Tax Policy Analyst, Michigan State Senate 1995 – 1999


 Staffed the Michigan Senate Taxation/Finance and Capital Construction committees.
 Drafted legislation dealing with taxation, K-12 and higher education funding, bonding and capital


construction
 Helped design Request for Proposals and Request for Qualifications for state projects.
 Monitored the K-12, higher education and capital construction budgets
 Worked with state and national groups to draft or amend legislation. Groups included: AFL-CIO,


American Association of School Administrators, Michigan Chamber of Commerce, National
Association of State Boards of Education, National Education Association and state universities and
community colleges


EDUCATION
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received.


M.Ed. (Education Management) - Trinity College, University of Dublin. Dublin, Ireland. 2006
M.P.A (Government Finance) - The Ohio State University. Columbus, Ohio. 1993
B.A. (Political Philosophy) - Michigan State University. East Lansing, Michigan. 1989


CERTIFICATIONS
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received.
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No additional certifications.


REFERENCES
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number


and email address.


Representative Wendy Horman, Member of the Idaho state house of representatives. Phone:
(208) 332-1071. Email: WendyHorman@house.idaho.gov


Pad McCracken, Research Analyst – Montana Legislative Services. Phone: (406) 444-3595.
Email: padmccracken@mt.gov


Daniel Thatcher, Policy Principal – Education Program at the National Conference of State
Legislatures. Phone: (303) 856-1646. Email: Daniel.thatcher@ncsl.org
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Section VIII: Other Informational Material


APA is not supplying any additional informational material.
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	 Section	III	–	Vendor	Information	Sheet		
 


VENDOR INFORMATION SHEET FOR RFP 3489 
 
Vendor Shall: 
 


A) Provide all requested information in the space provided next to each numbered question.  The 
information provided in Sections V1 through V6 shall be used for development of the contract; 


 
B) Type or print responses; and 


 
C) Include this Vendor Information Sheet in Section III of the Technical Proposal. 


 
V1 Company Name Cross & Joftus, LLC 


 


V2 Street Address 8610 Ridge Road 
 


V3 City, State, ZIP Bethesda, MD 20817 
 


V4 Telephone Number 
Area Code:  925 Number:  314-1863 Extension:   


 


V5 Facsimile Number 
Area Code:   Number:   Extension:   


 


V6 Toll Free Number 
Area Code:   Number:   Extension:   


 


V7 


Contact Person for Questions / Contract Negotiations, 
including address if different than above 


Name: Christopher Cross 
Title: Chairman 
Address: 109 Sunhaven Road, Danville, CA 94506 
Email Address: chris@edstrategies.net 


 


V8 Telephone Number for Contact Person 
Area Code:  925 Number:  314-1863 Extension:   


 


V9 Facsimile Number for Contact Person 
Area Code:   Number:   Extension:   


 


V10 
Name of Individual Authorized to Bind the Organization 


Name: Christopher Cross Title: Chairman 
 


V11 
Signature (Individual shall be legally authorized to bind the vendor per NRS 


333.337) 
Signature: Date: 9/26/17 
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Section	IV	–	State	Documents	
 


Amendment	1	Signature	Page	


 	







Amendment 1 RFP 3489 Page 2 of 2 


4. Section 2.1: The "Scope of Work" outlined in Request for Proposal: 3489 references both a 
report entitled "Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada" and 
Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) Bulletin No. 15-5, "Interim Study Report of the Task Force 
on K-12 Public Education Funding."  Does the Legislative Committee on Education expect the 
consultant to provide a comprehensive "costing-out" study of the calculations determined in 
those reports?  Should the deliverable related to task 2.1.1 be similar to the review of the 
"Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada" that appears in LCB 
Bulletin 15-5?  Is the deliverable for task 2.1.2 to recalculate all the figures in the report and 
bulletin? Or, is the deliverable to consider the information provided therein with perspective 
focusing on the determination and implementation of the costs associated with different student 
populations?  
 
Does the Legislative Committee on Education expect the consultant to provide a 
comprehensive "costing-out" study of the calculations determined in those reports?  


 
A traditional “costing-out” study is beyond the funded scope of this RFP. That said, Nevada 
implemented a number of programs funding specific services for English language learners 
and schools serving high concentrations of poverty (Zoom and Victory, respectively). 
Therefore, there exists data and information regarding the cost and efficacy of services 
which should be included in any comprehensive review of Nevada school funding. 


 
Should the deliverable related to task 2.1.1 be similar to the review of the "Study of a New 
Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada" that appears in LCB Bulletin 15-5?  


 
The preliminary report required on or before August 1, 2018 may be similar to LCB Bulletin 
15-5 or other format deemed appropriate by the contractor.   


 
Is the deliverable for task 2.1.2 to recalculate all the figures in the report and bulletin? Or, is the 
deliverable to consider the information provided therein with perspective focusing on the 
determination and implementation of the costs associated with different student populations? 


 
Nevada has been working to modernize the funding formula through the implementation of 
student “weights”. The successful contractor will review the work from 2012 to the present 
and be required to bring recommendations informed by the progress made since the 
publication of LCB Bulletin 15-5 and the national literature.  


 
5. The opening date of this proposal (deadline) has been extended to October 10, 2017 @ 2:00 


PM. 
 
ALL ELSE REMAINS THE SAME FOR RFP 3489. 
 
Vendor must sign and return this amendment with proposal submitted. 


Vendor Name: Cross & Joftus, LLC 


Authorized Signature:  


Title: Chairman Date: 10/9/17 
 


This document must be submitted in the “State 
Documents” section of vendors’ technical proposal. 
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ATTACHMENT	A	–	CONFIDENTIALITY	AND	CERTIFICATION	OF	
INDEMNIFICATION	


 
Submitted proposals, which are marked “confidential” in their entirety, or those in which a significant portion of the 
submitted proposal is marked “confidential” shall not be accepted by the State of Nevada.  Pursuant to NRS 333.333, 
only specific parts of the proposal may be labeled a “trade secret” as defined in NRS 600A.030(5).  All proposals are 
confidential until the contract is awarded; at which time, both successful and unsuccessful vendors’ technical and cost 
proposals become public information. 
 
In accordance with the submittal instructions of this RFP, vendors are requested to submit confidential information in 
separate files marked “Part IB Confidential Technical” and “Part III Confidential Financial”. 
 
The State shall not be responsible for any information contained within the proposal.  If vendors do not comply with 
the labeling and packing requirements, proposals shall be released as submitted.  In the event a governing board acts 
as the final authority, there may be public discussion regarding the submitted proposals that shall be in an open meeting 
format, the proposals shall remain confidential.  
 


By signing below, I understand it is my responsibility as the vendor to act in protection of the labeled information and 
agree to defend and indemnify the State of Nevada for honoring such designation.  I duly realize failure to so act shall 
constitute a complete waiver and all submitted information shall become public information; additionally, failure to 
label any information that is released by the State shall constitute a complete waiver of any and all claims for damages 
caused by the release of the information. 
 
This proposal contains Confidential Information, Trade Secrets and/or Proprietary information. 
 
Please initial the appropriate response in the boxes below and provide the justification for confidential status. 
 


Part IB – Confidential Technical Information 
YES  NO X 


Justification for Confidential Status 
 
 


 
Part III – Confidential Financial Information 


YES  NO X 
Justification for Confidential Status 


 
 


 
Cross & Joftus, LLC  


Company Name  
    
Signature    
    
Christopher Cross   10/9/17 
Print Name   Date 
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ATTACHMENT	B	–	VENDOR	CERTIFICATIONS	
Vendor agrees and shall comply with the following: 
(1) Any and all prices that may be charged under the terms of the contract do not and shall not violate any existing 


federal, State or municipal laws or regulations concerning discrimination and/or price fixing.  The vendor agrees to 
indemnify, exonerate and hold the State harmless from liability for any such violation now and throughout the term 
of the contract. 


(2) All proposed capabilities can be demonstrated by the vendor 
(3) The price(s) and amount of this proposal have been arrived at independently and without consultation, 


communication, agreement or disclosure with or to any other contractor, vendor or potential vendor. 
(4) All proposal terms, including prices, shall remain in effect for a minimum of 180 days after the proposal due date.  


In the case of the awarded vendor, all proposal terms, including prices, shall remain in effect throughout the contract 
negotiation process. 


(5) No attempt has been made at any time to induce any firm or person to refrain from proposing or to submit a proposal 
higher than this proposal, or to submit any intentionally high or noncompetitive proposal.  All proposals shall be 
made in good faith and without collusion. 


(6) All conditions and provisions of this RFP are deemed to be accepted by the vendor and incorporated by reference 
in the proposal, except such conditions and provisions that the vendor expressly excludes in the proposal.  Any 
exclusion shall be in writing and included in the proposal at the time of submission. 


(7) Each vendor shall disclose any existing or potential conflict of interest relative to the performance of the contractual 
services resulting from this RFP.  Any such relationship that might be perceived or represented as a conflict shall 
be disclosed.  By submitting a proposal in response to this RFP, vendors affirm that they have not given, nor intend 
to give at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, 
trip, favor, or service to a public servant or any employee or representative of same, in connection with this 
procurement.  Any attempt to intentionally or unintentionally conceal or obfuscate a conflict of interest shall 
automatically result in the disqualification of a vendor’s proposal.  An award shall not be made where a conflict of 
interest exists.  The State shall determine whether a conflict of interest exists and whether it may reflect negatively 
on the State’s selection of a vendor.  The State reserves the right to disqualify any vendor on the grounds of actual 
or apparent conflict of interest. 


(8) All employees assigned to the project are authorized to work in this country. 
(9) The company has a written equal opportunity policy that does not discriminate in employment practices with regard 


to race, color, national origin, physical condition, creed, religion, age, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, 
developmental disability or handicap.   


(10) The company has a written policy regarding compliance for maintaining a drug-free workplace. 
(11) Vendor understands and acknowledges that the representations within their proposal are material and important, 


and shall be relied on by the State in evaluation of the proposal.  Any vendor misrepresentations shall be treated as 
fraudulent concealment from the State of the true facts relating to the proposal. 


(12) Vendor shall certify that any and all subcontractors comply with Sections 7, 8, 9, and 10, above. 
(13) The proposal shall be signed by the individual(s) legally authorized to bind the vendor per NRS 333.337. 


Cross & Joftus, LLC  
Vendor Company Name  
    


Vendor Signature    
Christopher Cross   10/9/17 
Print Name   Date 
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Section	V	–	Scope	of	Work	
 
Cross & Joftus offers the State of Nevada the policy and practitioner expertise and experience 
necessary to conduct an in-depth analysis of the state’s existing education program and 
provide recommended changes or adjustments to the Nevada Plan. Our team further offers the 
State of Nevada the facilitation expertise to engage Nevada’s educational stakeholders, 
including legislative committees, school districts administrators, school leaders and teachers, 
and communities, parents, and students. Finally, our team brings practice-based data analysis 
and research experience and expertise to help address complex questions of cost 
determinations for English learners, pupils who are “at-risk,” pupils with disabilities, and 
students identified as gifted and talented. These definitions and factors will assist the Nevada 
Legislature and Nevada Department of Education in updating their knowledge of the 
Nevada’s relation to the rest of the nation. Also, Cross & Joftus offers support of continued 
design, development, and implementation of an effective and efficient school funding system. 


Our approach relies on collection and use of three sources of evidence that can be used to 
understand and review Nevada’s current system and inform the Nevada Legislature and 
Department of Education of issues it may wish to consider for future changes to the system. 


Data and analyses. Data and analyses of available data in the State of Nevada, particularly 
given recent changes in the distribution of financial resources to school districts, resource 
deployment on the part of Nevada’s school districts, enrollment by identified student 
characteristics, and student achievement and outcomes. Our team will also collect and analyze 
available data on regional and non-regional comparison states and districts who are working 
through similar identification and funding issues.  


Data and analyses can help to identify “bright spots” or “positive deviants” in the system 
where schools and/or districts are achieving greater-than-expected results. There is often 
unrecognized, but extremely valuable information that resides in these experiences. 


Research and evaluation. Access and synthesis of available educational and economic 
research conducted on the State of Nevada and Nevada’s school districts, and from states and 
school districts across the nation with a focus on three questions: What works? For whom 
does it work? And, under what conditions does it work? We bring contextual understanding of 
available research such that the information is relevant and appropriate to Nevada’s 
educational and economic conditions. 


We have greater confidence in the information gathered through research and evaluation 
when we look to the larger body of studies on a particular program or intervention rather than 
a single study. John Hattie, for instance, has calculated the average effect size of more than 
195 educational influences based on nearly 1,200 meta-analyses.1 The importance of having 
information drawn from meta-analyses is that estimated effects are based on several studies 
rather than one study that might have found a positive effect. Hattie’s listing of average effect 
sizes provides us with data to help determine the relative cost-effectiveness of different 
strategies. In looking at costs and effectiveness indicators across programs, we can better 
understand of the efficiency of different resource-use strategies. 


                                                
1 https://visible-learning.org/hattie-ranking-influences-effect-sizes-learning-achievement/  
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In addition to drawing information from meta-analyses, we will gather information from 
research and evaluation studies reviewed by the What Works Clearinghouse at the Institute of 
Education Statistics, the research arm of the U.S. Department of Education. Studies included 
in the What Works Clearinghouse have satisfied “gold-standard” requirements for the use of 
the most rigorous research and evaluation methods, typically the use of randomized control 
trials. We will also gather information from rigorous research and evaluation studies 
commissioned by the National Center for Education Research and the National Center for 
Special Education Research.  


We will gather information from high-quality systematic reviews of research and evaluation. 
Similar to meta-analyses, systematic reviews look to summarize what is known from a larger 
body of research and evaluation studies conducted on a particular program or intervention. 
Different from a meta-analysis that generally includes all of the studies associated with a 
program or intervention, a systematic review typically only includes those research and 
evaluation studies that satisfy a minimum level of rigorous research design.2 


Policy and practice experiences and perspectives. Often overlooked, there is a great deal of 
expertise and knowledge that exists within practitioners and policymakers who are on the 
front lines of education and education policy. Garnering this knowledge includes working 
with the educational professional organizations in the state that can serve as aggregators of 
professional experiences and knowledge that exists across the state. At every opportunity, we 
will consult with practitioners from across Nevada to inform our understanding of current and 
desired practice. 


In presenting the evidence to the State of Nevada, we believe one of our greatest strengths is in 
our ability to provide funding implications to the State of Nevada and to every school district 
through the use of funding simulations based on proposed changes in demographic 
identification and/or programmatic shifts. Our team has deep experience creating these 
funding simulations in states across the nation and internationally. We recognize that 
understanding the evidence and the implications of different decisions will be of great value to 
the Nevada’s educational stakeholders.  


Our team has worked with policymakers and decision-makers on issues of student 
identification, programmatic policy and school finance and funding at international, national, 
state, and local levels. An additional strength is our flexibility and nimbleness to respond 
quickly to Nevada and stakeholder requests given our experiences and expertise across the 
wide array of educational issues. Our work with legislative committees and other state 
agencies enables us to facilitate conversations around complex topics, including those that can 
be as opaque as school finance and funding, and the underlying educational concepts that 
guide such work. Our understanding of these concepts and issues allows us to interact with a 
wide variety of audiences, including policymakers and practitioners who have a range of 
experiences around these topics.  


                                                
2 For instance, here is a systematic review of the relationships between principal characteristics and student 
achievement: https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/southeast/pdf/REL_2016091.pdf and another on the effects of 
increased learning time on student academic and nonacademic outcomes: 
https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/appalachia/pdf/REL_2014015.pdf  
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Finally, we have worked in Nevada on a wide range of educational issues providing assistance 
to Nevada policymakers, practitioners, and other community stakeholders. This depth of 
experience with a strong contextual understanding of the Nevada educational landscape 
means bringing the right information to the right questions at the right time in ways that are 
immediately usable. 


Task	2.1.1	–	Conduct	a	review	of	the	report	entitled	“Study	of	a	New	Method	of	
Funding	for	Public	Schools	in	Nevada”	and	LCB	Bulletin	No.	15-5	
Conduct a review of the report entitled “Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in 
Nevada,” published by the American Institutes for Research on September 22, 2012, Attachment I and 
LCB Bulletin No. 15-5, “Interim Study Report of the Task Force on K-12 Public Education Funding”, 
Attachment H. 


As consultants who work in the field of school finance and who have worked in Nevada on 
educational policy issues, we reviewed these at the time of release. In preparation for this 
proposal, we again reviewed the reports.  


Upon contract execution, our entire team will review both reports along with all legislative and 
administrative developments over the last several biennia related to school funding and 
educational policy. In addition to the Cross & Joftus team of note, we will utilize the expertise 
of two external reviewers and one internal reviewer with specific expertise in school finance 
and resource allocation and use. These reviewers will offer their initial recommendations for 
our review of student identification, program content, and reform implementation. We believe 
that this level of scholarly review can only strengthen our final recommendations and give 
confidence to the State of Nevada that they receive the most reliable and current information 
available. 


Task	2.1.2	–	Update	the	report	and	bulletin	
Update the report and bulletin identified in paragraph (1) with more current information, focusing on the 
determination and implementation of the appropriate funding adjustments for the additional costs 
associated with serving low-income pupils and English learners, as defined in 20 U.S.C. § 7801(20). 


The Task Force on K-12 Public Education Funding (authorized through Senate Bill 500 from 
the 2013 Session) adopted 1 recommendation related to Nevada’s K-12 base funding formula, 
12 recommendations pertaining to students identified as English Language Learners (ELL) 
and at risk of low academic achievement (At-Risk), and 4 recommendations pertaining to 
students with disabilities. 


The recommendations pertaining to students identified as English learners and at-risk, 
included:  


1. Concerning the identification of ELL students, utilize data currently collected by 
school districts, charter schools and the NDE on the number of ELL students within a 
particular school district or charter school. 


2. Use free and reduced-price lunch (FRL) data to identify At-Risk students or when FRL 
data is not available for a school or a charter school, an alternative measure approved 
by the NDE may be used. 
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3. For students identified as ELL and/or At-Risk, implement a weighted student funding 
model that would apply a weight of not less than 1.50 until such time as a cost study 
may be conducted. For purposes of calculating the base amount upon which the ELL 
or At-Risk weight would be applied, include all state and local funding within the 
funding formula per-pupil calculation, but exclude all federal and categorical funding 
from the calculation.  


4. Regarding students who qualify for multiple weight categories (excluding students with 
disabilities), apply the highest single weight to a student who qualifies as both ELL and 
At-Risk, based upon an unduplicated count of students. 


5. For purposes of determining the funding adjustments for ELL and At-Risk student 
populations, utilize the immediate prior year count for those student populations. 


Additionally, the fiscal year immediately preceding the implementation of the funding 
adjustment for ELL and At-Risk students (FY 2017) should be used as the base-year 
funding for each school district and charter school. 


6. Do not provide an ELL funding adjustment based on the density of ELL students 
within a school district, given that sufficient data is not currently available to 
determine what a density factor or a threshold should be for Nevada school districts 
and charter schools, but rather continue to gather data necessary to develop a potential 
density adjustment. 


7. Do not limit ELL funding to a set number of years, but rather recommend that the 
NDE further review how to address long-term ELL students, particularly in cases 
where a school district or charter school’s program for ELL students is not effective. 


8. Provide weighted funding for ELL and At-Risk students initially as a categorical grant 
program outside the state’s K-12 funding formula with a transition to inside the 
funding formula at a date to be determined in the future. The NDE should develop a 
plan to transition such funding to inside the state’s funding formula for review and 
consideration by the Nevada Legislature prior to implementation. 


9. The NDE should develop performance benchmarks and reporting requirements tied to 
the ELL and At-Risk funding. Additionally, school districts and charter schools eligible 
to receive ELL and/or At-Risk funding should be required to submit a plan, for review 
and approval by the NDE, that outlines how the funding would be utilized to increase 
the academic performance of those student populations. 


10. With regard to an implementation plan for modifications to the state’s K-12 funding 
model for ELL and At-Risk students, for the 2015-17 biennium, school districts and 
charter schools should be held harmless by only distributing new funding (enhanced 
state funding) approved by the Nevada Legislature and the Governor for ELL and/or 
At-Risk students. 


11. Beginning in FY 2018, phase-in the total calculated funding for ELL and At-Risk 
students, inclusive of all new funding for enrollment growth and/or funding for the two 
percent increase for movement on the salary scale for licensed personnel, over a four-
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year period in the following increments: FY 2018 - 10 percent; FY 2019 - 30 percent; 
FY 2020 - 60 percent; and FY 2021 - 100 percent.  


12. Categorical funding directed to students identified as ELL and At-Risk should be 
excluded from collective bargaining. Eligible uses of such funding should include but 
not be limited to: 


a. Classroom teachers to reduce class sizes or for ELL instruction; 
b. Before and/or afterschool academic programs, including transportation to and 


from programs; 
c. Pre-kindergarten programs; 
d. Tutors, teachers’ aides, counselors, social workers, nurses, and curriculum 


specialists; 
e. Parent education and/or parental engagement; 
f. Summer or intersession programs, including transportation to and from programs; 
g. Early intervention programs; 
h. Materials, supplies, and equipment, including technology used in approved 


programs or for approved purposes; 
i. Funding a longer school day; 
j. Funding a longer school year; 
k. Remediation programs and/or partnering with higher education institutions. 
l. Assessment activities; 
m. Community liaison staff with language and cultural skills appropriate to the ELL 


population; and 
n. Professional development activities. 


Our goal for Task 2.1.1 is to provide the Nevada Legislature and Department of Education 
with the most current evidence (data, research, and practitioner expertise) associated with 
model components that have a rational basis substantiated by high-quality, transparent 
information. Additionally, our team will update to current, to the extent possible, the data 
exhibited in charts and graphs throughout the report.   


We propose using multiple methodologies to collect, analyze, and synthesize information and 
knowledge concerning issues related to the identification of students for purposes of funding 
and the determination and implementation of the appropriate funding adjustment for the 
additional costs associated with serving low-income pupils and English learners in Nevada. 
Cross & Joftus will create a rational basis for such adjustments based on: 


• Data and analyses. We will analyze available Nevada and other state data for the most 
recent year available. To the extent that these data exist, we will explore those data in 
regional states and how they compare to Nevada and its school districts. 


Our data and analysis approach is often referred to as the successful schools or school 
districts methodology. One important thing to keep in mind is that the successful 
schools/districts approach does not represent costs. Instead, this approach provides 
information about levels of spending and may provide some information of the cost 
boundaries. Data sources and comparison groups may include:  
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o Districts within the Western States Region and elsewhere in the nation that are 
meeting or surpassing comparable education programs to Nevada. Data from 
the Stanford Center for Education Policy Analysis is the first-of-its-kind in 
bringing together school district-level outcomes, demographic, and 
expenditures data that can be used for comparative analyses.3 


o Similar- and higher-performing districts and states based on the performance 
of English learner students on WIDA assessments (Nevada is a member of the 
WIDA consortium). 


o Similar and higher-performing states based on National Assessment of 
Educational Progress (NAEP), such as Massachusetts, New Hampshire, and 
Minnesota, whose students consistently perform at high levels.  


o Countries that perform well on international assessments such as PISA and 
TIMSS and expenditures data available from the OECD and the National 
Center on Education and the Economy country profiles.4  


• Research and evaluation. The Cross & Joftus-led team believes that there is a great 
deal of information that can be gathered through what is known from rigorous 
research and evaluation of programs, interventions, and resource allocation strategies. 
Cross & Joftus will review the research literature related to the costs of education by 
those factors identified by the Committee. Cross & Joftus believes that there is a great 
deal of information that can be gathered through what is known from rigorous 
research and evaluation of programs, interventions, and resource allocation strategies.  


Additionally, Cross & Joftus will collect the available adequacy studies to synthesize 
estimates for dollars and/or weights used for students in poverty, English language 
learners, and other students with special needs. Baker and Taylor first attempted to 
synthesize findings across adequacy studies up to 2006.5 The State of Maryland 
commissioned a review of adequacy studies that included adequacy studies up to 2014.6 
The latter report did not attempt to calculate relative weights for subgroups of students 
where the adequacy models, such as the evidence-based model, only reported staffing 
ratios. Cross & Joftus will take the additional step to synthesize across these studies to 
provide the Committee with easily identifiable and understandable information from 
these studies. 


• Policy and practice experiences and perspectives. Cross & Joftus will conduct focus 
groups, interviews, and professional judgment panels of Nevada school district leaders, 
program administrators, teachers, and specialists to gather their thoughts and insights 
based on their expertise and experiences. We will also interview program 
administrators in the Nevada Department of Education. This professional judgment 


                                                
 
  
5 Baker, B. and Taylor, L.  “Measuring Educational Adequacy in Public Schools.” Last accessed from: 
http://bush.tamu.edu/research/faculty/TXSchoolFinance/papers/MeasuringEducationalAdequacy.pdf 
6 Aportela, A., Picus, L., Odden, A., & Fermanich, M. (2014). “A Comprehensive Review of State Adequacy 
Studies Since 2003.” Prepared for Maryland State Department of Education. Last accessed from: 
http://marylandpublicschools.org/Documents/adequacystudy/AdequacyReviewReport_rev_091214.pdf  
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method recognizes and values the expertise and knowledge of those working in 
classrooms, schools, and districts. We may also seek the thoughts and insights of 
educators through online platforms for those educators whom we are unable to include 
in our in-person professional judgment panels.7 This proximity of service delivery 
provides unique perspectives to the challenges and opportunities and local knowledge 
that can prove powerful in creating local solutions. And, we will interview program 
administrators in the Nevada Department of Education who help to support Nevada’s 
school districts and charter schools. 


In addition to gathering information from Nevada policymakers and practitioners, 
Cross & Joftus will review the practices used in other state funding formulas related to 
English learners and students in poverty. Finally, Cross & Joftus will consult state and 
national professional organizations that might have programming standards that can 
be used to develop per-pupil funding amounts for inclusion in a state funding formula. 


The Cross & Joftus team includes several former teachers, pupil support practitioners, 
and school-, district-, and state-level program administrators, as well as members of 
district and state boards of education. We believe that having these subject matter 
experts who come with the expertise and experience working in schools is essential to 
our team’s ability to understand the issues related to adequate and equitable funding 
and to provide the Select Committee and the Legislature with information that is 
relevant and based in practice. To be sure, this is not just an academic exercise. 


There is no single-best methodology or source of information to derive what are the adequate 
and equitable funding levels for students identified as English learners, students in poverty, or 
those in need of special education or gifted and talented services. We will work with the 
Department of Education and designated staff from the Legislature throughout the project to 
ensure that the information provided to them is clear and understandable as well as actionable 
on the part of the Legislature. 


Task	2.1.3	–	Review	the	meaning	of	the	term	“pupils	who	are	at-risk”	
Review	the	meaning	of	the	term	“pupils	who	are	at-risk,”	as	defined	in	NRS	387.121,	to	establish	an	
appropriate	definition	of	the	term	and	recommend	appropriate	funding	adjustments	for	the	additional	costs	
associated	with	serving	such	pupils.	


NRS 387.121.2 states, “It is the intent of the Legislature, commencing with Fiscal Year 2016-
2017, to provide additional resources to the Nevada Plan expressed as a multiplier of the basic 
support guarantee to meet the unique needs of certain categories of pupils, including, without 
limitation, pupils with disabilities, pupils who are limited English proficient, pupils who are at 
risk and gifted and talented pupils. As used in this subsection, “pupils who are at risk” means 
pupils who are eligible for free or reduced-price lunch pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1751 et seq., 
or an alternative measure prescribed by the State Board of Education.” 


The Nevada Legislature and Department of Education have worked hard to find ways to 
support at-risk students. Nevada has invested in different types of programs for schools with 
high proportions of students who are English learners and students in poverty, such as the 
                                                
7 For example, California conducted a professional judgment study through online simulations: 
http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/op/OP_307JSOP.pdf  
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Zoom Schools and Rural Grants Program, $50 million per year in the 2015-2017 biennium, 
and the Victory Schools Programs, $25 million per year in the 2015-2017 biennium. These 
programs have resulted in effective weights of approximately 0.20 for both English learners 
and students in poverty. 


Additionally, the Nevada Legislature approved $22.3 million for the Read by Grade 3 Program 
in fiscal year 2016-17 to improve reading outcomes by grade 3 of those students who are not 
served by either the Zoom Schools and Rural Grants or Victory Schools programs.  


And, the Nevada Legislature approved $2.5 million per year in each year of the 2015-2017 
biennium to assist in turning around persistently underperforming schools.  


Addressing some of the larger complexity related to the interactions between governance, 
funding, operations and activities of schools and school districts, and other systemic factors, 
the 2015 Nevada Legislature enacted Assembly Bill 394 that seeks to understand and inform 
the development of a plan to reorganize the Clark County School District into local school 
precincts based on what was learned from the Empowerment Schools pilot program. 


For students who are at-risk, Cross & Joftus will conduct a comprehensive review of: 


• Data and analyses. We will collect analyze data related to identification of Nevada 
students who are at-risk and the resources deployed to serve these students, including 
programmatic efforts such as Response to Intervention or other types of multi-tiers 
systems of support and the operating definitions used by schools and districts to 
identify students for more-intensive educational programming. 


We will conduct a successful schools/districts analysis as a way of identifying “bright 
spots” across Nevada’s education systems that might help to inform resource needs 
and strategies related to at-risk students. One area of exploration, using Nevada data, 
might be to understand the variation in student outcomes and resource use for 
similarly situated students and similarly situated schools. If the goals of a school 
funding formula are the efficient and effective allocation of resources for purposes of 
providing a quality education for all students, we believe it important to understand 
possible sources of any variations. 


States tend to use federal free or reduced-price lunch program eligibility as a proxy for 
the number of at-risk students in a school and school district. However, just because a 
student is eligible for the program does not mean that they are at-risk and, at the same 
time, a student who is at-risk of academic failure is not necessarily eligible for the 
program.  


However, we do understand that learning challenges are often associated with students 
living in poverty and additional resources may be necessary to overcome those 
challenges in the interest of equity. Sean Reardon and colleagues have analyzed the 
relationships between academic achievement and socioeconomic status using school 
district data from across the nation, including Nevada (see Figure 1).  
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Figure 1. Academic achievement and socioeconomic status, by poverty status 


 
Note: Presented at the Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness annual conference, 2017 


Cross & Joftus will use data from the Nevada Department of Education and those 
Nevada data used by Reardon to understand the relationships between different types 
of students, including those measures traditionally used to identify at-risk students, 
including eligibility for the federal free- or reduced-priced lunch program. 


In addition, we will explore more direct measures of poverty, such as those available 
from the U.S. Census Bureau. For example, in a comparison of Census measures of 
poverty and free- or reduced-lunch eligibility in New Jersey schools, Baker found a 
strong relationship between these two measures.8 However, Census-level data tend to 
be aggregated to larger community levels. Through this aggregation, details about 
concentrations of poverty at individual school levels may be lost, and an exploration of 
this correlation may be valuable in Nevada. 


• Research and evaluation. We will review the literature related to the definitions and 
identification of at-risk students, as well as the effectiveness and efficiency of different 
programs and interventions, including from the federal What Works Clearinghouse at 
the Institute of Education Sciences.  


An example of research that might help to expand understanding of how “at-risk” 
might be defined includes research from Katherine Michelmore and Susan Dynarski 
that describes the effects of “persistent” disadvantage on students in Michigan.9  Those 
grade 8 students who have always been eligible for the federal free- or reduced-price 
lunch program achieved at significantly lower levels than those grade 8 students who 


                                                
8 Downloaded from: http://njedpolicy.files.wordpress.com/2013/07/slide1.jpg.  
9 Michelmore, K. & Dynarski, S. (2015). “The Persistence of Poverty: Using Longitudinal Data to Understand Gaps 
in Educational Outcomes.” Last accessed from: http://popcenter.uchicago.edu/events/Dynarski_DW%20Paper.pdf  
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have only intermittently been eligible for the program. We will consult the available 
research literature on the many metrics used to identify at-risk students beyond the use 
of the federal free- or reduced-price lunch program eligibility. 


In addition, we will review the larger body of adequacy studies conducted to 
understand definitional and funding recommendations made in other states. This 
leverages work done in other states who are working through the same issues, and we 
will work to determine the appropriateness of the information gathered given the 
different and similar contexts across states; and 


• Policy and practice experiences and perspectives. We will engage Nevada stakeholders 
through focus groups, interviews with education leaders and various special interest 
group leaders, and professional judgment panels, including professional judgment 
panels with school district program administrators, teachers, and specialists. We 
believe having the perspectives of those who work more closely to serve these students 
is critical when considering the full range of information and evidence. 


In addition, we will interview program administrators in the Nevada Department of 
Education; consult practice guides from the Institute of Education Sciences; and the 
policy and practice experiences from other states as it relates to the adequate, 
equitable, effective, and efficient funding for at-risk students. And, we will review the 
policies and funding mechanisms associated with at-risk students in other states and 
bring relevant information forward as part of our larger synthesis of information and 
evidence. Finally, Cross & Joftus will consult state and national professional 
organizations that might have programming standards that can be used to develop per-
pupil funding amounts for inclusion in a state funding formula. 


Cross & Joftus will present evidence to the Legislature and Department of Education related 
to the appropriate, accurate method for identifying at-risk students (those students who are in 
greater need of services and supports to give them opportunities to achieve academic and 
social levels similar to their peers).  


Based on the evidence presented and our recommendations, we will create funding 
simulations to explore the funding implications to the state and to each school district in the 
state. 


Task	2.1.4	–	Review	the	multiplier	to	the	basic	support	guarantee	per	pupil	for	
pupils	with	disabilities	
Review	the	multiplier	to	the	basic	support	guarantee	per	pupil	for	pupils	with	disabilities	pursuant	to	NRS	
387.122.	


Cross & Joftus recognizes significant changes to the funding support for pupils with 
disabilities, most significantly in the most recent biennium. NRS 387.122.3 (effective July 1, 
2016) states, “The basic support guarantee per pupil must include a multiplier for pupils with 
disabilities. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, the funding provided to each 
school district and charter school through the multiplier for pupils with disabilities is limited 
to the actual number of pupils with disabilities enrolled in the school district or charter school, 
not to exceed 13 percent of total pupil enrollment for the school district or charter school. If a 
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school district or charter school has reported an enrollment of pupils with disabilities equal to 
more than 13 percent of total pupil enrollment, the school district or charter school must 
receive an amount of money necessary to satisfy the requirements for maintenance of effort 
under federal law.” 


The Task Force on K-12 Public Education Funding had four recommendations: 


1) Replace the current unit-funding methodology for students with disabilities with a 
weighted student-funding model that would apply a 2.0 weight to all students with 
disabilities, with a funding cap of 13 percent of the overall enrollment of a school 
district or charter school’s students with disabilities, based upon a current year 
count.  


2) Provide weighted funding for students with disabilities initially as a categorical 
grant program outside the state’s K-12 funding formula with a transition to inside 
the funding formula at a date to be determined in the future.  


3) Create a contingency fund for exceptionally high-cost students with disabilities and 
recommend the NDE develop a plan for the operational guidelines of the fund for 
presentation to the 2015 Legislature. The NDE should also review the possibility of 
transferring the existing Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 395 program into the 
new contingency fund program.  


4) The NDE, in conjunction with experts from local school districts and charter 
schools, should develop the details of an implementation plan for modifications to 
the state’s K-12 funding model for students with disabilities for submission to the 
2015 Legislature, which includes a hold harmless provision and takes into account, 
at both the state and local levels, the federal maintenance of effort requirements. 


According to the 2017 Edition of the Nevada Education Data Book, “The 2015 Nevada 
Legislature enacted Senate Bill 508, which expressed the intent of the Legislature to provide 
additional resources to the Nevada Plan for certain categories of pupils with unique needs, 
including pupils with disabilities, pupils who are limited English proficient, pupils who are at 
risk, and gifted and talented pupils.” 10 And, more changes continue to be contemplated. In a 
summary of Governor Sandoval’s recommended budget for the 2017-19 biennium, “Maintains 
the existing funding in support of students with disabilities and appropriates an additional $30 
million in funding for a total of $183 million in FY 2018 and $199 million in FY 2019 as a 
continued, responsible investment until the desired weight is achieved, as recommended by the 
Task Force Interim Study of 2013. Special education funding was converted to a weight in the 
2017 fiscal year and the additional resources will continue to be expressed as a multiplier and 
allocated to each district on a per-pupil basis (NRS 387.121).” 11  


From the Nevada Education Data Book, “In order to begin transitioning to a weighted student 
formula for students with disabilities, the 2015 Legislature approved an increase in State 
funding of $25 million in FY 2016–2017. This funding is estimated to provide a statewide 
                                                
10 Retrieved from: https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Publications/EdDataBook/2017/2017EDB.pdf  
11 Retrieved from: 
http://www.doe.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/nde.doe.nv.gov/content/News__Media/Press_Releases/2017docs/EducationO
verview2017_SCFinal.pdf  
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weight of approximately 0.50.” With additional detail, the Nevada Superintendent stated, 
“There was a FY17 increase of $30 million. For 2016–17 school year, there are a total of 
54,114 special education students enrolled in public schools. The average per pupil is $3,034 
(ranging from $2,968– $9,090), which can be expressed as multiplier of 0.53 of the basic state 
guarantee.”12 


In addition to the weighted funding and in addressing recommendation #3, the 2015 
Legislature approved $5 million to support the Contingency Account for Special Education 
(CASE) program in the second year of the 2015-2017 biennium. This account is to provide 
State funds for extraordinary expenses related to the education of students with disabilities. 
The funds may be used to support services that are not ordinarily present in the typical 
Individualized Education Plan (IEP), and the costs must exceed the total funding available to 
the school district or charter school for the student. The regulations for the new program were 
approved by the State Board of Education at its June 2016 meeting. School districts may 
submit an application for funds during SY 2016–2017. In order to meet federal Maintenance 
of Effort (MOE) mandates, the State must continue the provision of $5 million in each fiscal 
year going forward. 


For students with disabilities, Cross & Joftus will conduct a comprehensive review of: 


• Data and analyses. We will collect and analyze data related to identification of Nevada 
students with disabilities according to their specific disabilities (i.e., 13 federal 
categories) and their time in general education classrooms, including enrollment data 
from the Nevada Department of Education, and performance data from the National 
Longitudinal Survey, National Assessment of Educational Progress, and Office of Civil 
Rights, as examples. 


We will conduct a successful schools/districts analysis as a way of identifying “bright 
spots” across Nevada’s education systems that might help to inform resource needs 
and strategies related to students with disabilities; 


• Research and evaluation. We will review the literature related to the identification of 
students and the effectiveness and efficiency of different programs and interventions. 
We will consult the federal What Works Clearinghouse and the National Center for 
Special Education Research at the Institute of Education Sciences, as well as high-
quality meta-analyses and systematic reviews. 


In addition, we will review the larger body of adequacy studies conducted to 
understand recommendations made in other states. This leverages work done in other 
states who are working through the same issues, and we will work to determine the 
appropriateness of the information gathered given the different and similar contexts 
across states; and 


• Policy and practice experiences and perspectives from Nevada stakeholders through 
focus groups, interviews, and professional judgment panels, including with school 
district leaders, program administrators, teachers, and specialists. We believe having 


                                                
12 Retrieved from: 
http://www.doe.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/ndedoenvgov/content/Legislative/2017/ModernizingNVPlanada1.pdf  
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the perspectives of those who work more closely to serve these students is critical when 
considering the full range of information and evidence. 


In addition, we will interview program administrators in the Nevada Department of 
Education; consult practice guides from the Institute of Education Sciences, 
specifically the National Center for Special Education Research; and the policy and 
practice experiences from other states as it relates to the adequate, equitable, effective, 
and efficient funding for special education. And, we will review the special education 
policies and funding mechanisms associated with students with disabilities in other 
states and bring relevant information forward as part of our larger synthesis of 
information and evidence. Finally, Cross & Joftus will consult state and national 
professional organizations that might have programming standards that can be used to 
develop per-pupil funding amounts for inclusion in a state funding formula. 


Cross & Joftus will present evidence to the Legislature and Department of Education related 
to the appropriate, accurate method for identifying students with disabilities and how to 
provide funding to school districts to serve these students.  


Based on the evidence presented and our recommendations, we will create funding 
simulations to explore the funding implications to the state and to each school district in the 
state. 


Most significantly related to special education funding, our team will review federal education 
requirements regarding special education funding maintenance of effort requirements for the 
Nevada Department of Education and local education agencies (school districts), allowable 
exceptions to school district maintenance of effort, and the use of state high-cost funds.13 


Given the importance of special education and the regulatory requirements associated with 
special education, our team includes several individuals with experience as direct service 
providers and district administrators along with state and federal administrator experience, 
including Alexa Posney who is the former Assistant Secretary of Special Education at the U.S. 
Department of Education. 


Task	2.1.5	–	Review	the	meaning	of	the	term	“gifted	and	talented	pupils”	
Review	the	meaning	of	the	term	“gifted	and	talented	pupils,”	as	defined	in	NRS	388.5231	[sic],	to	establish	an	
appropriate	definition	for	the	term	and	recommend	a	consistent	statewide	standard	to	identify	such	pupils.	


Cross & Joftus will review the meaning of the term included in the Nevada Revised Statutes. 
NRS 388.5251 states, “’gifted and talented pupil’ means a person under the age of 18 years 
who demonstrates such outstanding academic skills or aptitudes that the person cannot 
progress effectively in a regular school program and therefore needs special instruction or 
special services.” We will collect and review information and knowledge from three sources: 
data analyses, research and evaluation, and practitioners and policy. Based on a synthesis of 
information from these three sources, we will provide a recommendation for a definition for 
the term for use as a consistent statewide standard to identify such pupils.  


                                                
13 Maintenance of effort: https://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/34/300.203#b; Exceptions to LEA maintenance of 
effort: https://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/34/300.204; SEA high-cost fund: 
https://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/34/300.704#c. 







 


 
   19 


For gifted and talented students, Cross & Joftus will conduct a comprehensive review of: 


• Data and analyses. We will analyze available Nevada data to see the relationships 
between expenditures and student-level factors, such as those identified as gifted and 
talented. These types of analyses provide information that can be used to guide design 
and development of funding formulas. In addition, to the extent that these data exist, 
we will explore those data in regional states and how they compare to Nevada and its 
school districts. 


• Research and evaluation. Cross & Joftus will review the research literature related to 
the definitions and resource needs and costs of education associated with gifted and 
talented students. Cross & Joftus believes that there is a great deal of information that 
can be gathered through what is known from rigorous research and evaluation of 
programs, interventions, and resource allocation strategies.  


Additionally, Cross & Joftus will collect the available adequacy studies to synthesize 
estimates for dollars and/or weights used for gifted and talented students. Cross & 
Joftus will take the additional step to synthesize across these studies to provide the 
Department of Education and Legislature with easily identifiable and understandable 
information from these studies. 


• Policy and practice experiences and perspectives. We will engage Nevada stakeholders 
through focus groups, interviews, and professional judgment panels, including with 
school district program administrators, teachers, and specialists. We believe having the 
perspectives of those who work everyday to serve these students is critical when 
considering the full range of information and evidence. 


In addition, we will interview program administrators in the Nevada Department of 
Education; consult practice guides from the Institute of Education Sciences; and the 
policy and practice experiences from other states as well as national organizations 
dedicated to the education of gifted and talented students as it relates to their 
identification and the adequate, equitable, effective, and efficient funding for gifted 
and talented students. Cross & Joftus will review the definitions and policies and 
practices used in other state funding formulas related to gifted and talented students. 
Finally, Cross & Joftus will consult state and national professional organizations that 
might have programming standards that can be used to develop per-pupil funding 
amounts for inclusion in a state funding formula. 


Task	2.1.6	–	Recommendations	for	the	implementation	of	the	findings	
Make	recommendations	for	the	implementation	of	the	findings	of	the	independent	consultant	pursuant	to	
Objectives	(2.1.1)	to	(2.1.5),	inclusive.	


Creating balanced information 


Our approach is based on understanding the strengths and weaknesses associated with 
existing sources of evidence and the methodologies used to generate that information. For 
instance, we are attuned to the strengths and weaknesses of different cost-estimation 
approaches. In addition to analytical evidence, our team includes practitioners and subject-
matter experts in each of the areas being explored that provide understanding of practical 
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context. We will work to maximize the strengths of the different sources of information, and 
minimize the weaknesses in order to present a balanced presentation of high-quality evidence. 


We believe that the information from the data and analysis and research and evaluation 
approaches can help practitioners in their reflections on their experiences and offer new 
insights to their perspectives. Similarly, the policy and practice experiences and perspectives, 
particularly of those in Nevada, can help bring greater context to the information generated 
through data and analysis and understood from research and evaluation. 


We will provide estimates of costs associated with each recommendation (2.1.2 through 2.1.5). 
These cost estimates will be generated for each school district and for the state. And, we will 
provide the Legislature and Nevada Department of Education with recommendations for 
implementation, including options for categorical or general-fund allocation, phased-in 
approaches, and considerations for program accountability to ensure efficiency and 
effectiveness. 


Our history of working in Nevada on a range of education policy issues provides us an 
understanding of the political and policymaking environment that can be helpful when 
considering the relevance, applicability, usability, and relevance which are important 
considerations for policy and practice implementation. 


Task	2.2.1	–	Deliverable	1:	Preliminary	Report	on	or	before	August	1,	2018	
The	contractor	selected	by	the	Department	of	Education	shall	complete	the	work	identified	in	the	Scope	of	
Work	and,	on	or	before	August	1,	2018,	submit	a	preliminary	report	containing	the	information	described	in	
the	Scope	of	Work	to	the	Department	of	Education.	Upon	receipt	of	the	preliminary	report,	the	Department	of	
Education	shall	immediately	forward	the	preliminary	report	to	the	Legislative	Committee	on	Education.	


Cross & Joftus will provide a preliminary report to the Department of Education on or before 
August 1, 2018. This preliminary report will include description of the analyses, methodologies 
and information collected used in those analyses, and preliminary findings based on those 
analyses.  


Prior to delivery of the preliminary findings, we will provide the Department of Education and 
members of the Legislative Committee on Education with milestone reports throughout the 
project. We pride ourselves on a “no surprises” approach to these types of projects.  


Task	2.2.2	–	Deliverable	2:	Final	Report	on	or	before	October	15,	2018	
Upon	receipt	of	the	preliminary	report,	the	Legislative	Committee	on	Education	shall	review	the	preliminary	
report	 and	 provide	 recommendations	 to	 the	 contractor.	 After	 receiving	 such	 recommendations	 from	 the	
Legislative	Committee	on	Education	and	any	recommendations	which	may	be	provided	by	the	State	Board	of	
Education	 and	 Department	 of	 Education,	 the	 contractor	 shall	 prepare	 a	 final	 report	 which	 includes	 such	
recommendations	and,	on	or	before	October	15,	2018,	submit	the	final	report	to	the	Governor	and	the	Director	
of	the	Legislative	Counsel	Bureau	for	transmission	to	the	next	regular	session	of	the	Legislature.	


Cross & Joftus will receive feedback and recommendations from the Legislative Committee on 
Education, State Board of Education, and Department of Education and make all appropriate 
changes for inclusion in a final report. We will deliver the final report on or before October 
15, 2018 to the Governor and the Director of the Legislative Counsel Bureau. 
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We will make ourselves available throughout the project, including after delivery of the final 
report to gather insights and answer questions that may arise from all project stakeholders. 


This final report will contain the reviews of two external experts and one internal expert of 
school finance and resource allocation of our work, allowing the State of Nevada 
confirmation of our findings or areas of dissent.
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Section	VI	–	Company	Background	and	References	
 
3.1	–	Vendor	Information	
3.1.1.	Vendors	shall	provide	a	company	profile	in	the	table	format	below.	
 


Question Response 
Company name: Cross & Joftus, LLC 
Ownership (sole proprietor, partnership, etc.): Partnership 
State of incorporation: Maryland 
Date of incorporation: March 23, 2004 
# of years in business: 13 
List of top officers: Christopher Cross 


(Chairman), Scott Joftus 
(President), Sharon Deich 
(VP), Jean-Claude Brizard 
(VP) 


Location of company headquarters, to include 
City and State: 


Bethesda, MD 


Location(s) of the office that shall provide the 
services described in this RFP: 


California 


Number of employees locally with the 
expertise to support the requirements identified 
in this RFP: 


0 


Number of employees nationally with the 
expertise to support the requirements in this 
RFP: 


13 


Location(s) from which employees shall be 
assigned for this project: 


California; Hawaii; 
Kentucky; Washington, 
DC; Wisconsin 
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2.2.1 A	Nevada-based	business	may	apply	for	a	five	percent	(5%)	preference	on	its	proposal.		This	preference	
may	apply	if	a	business	has	its	principal	place	of	business	within	Nevada.		This	preference	cannot	be	
combined	with	 any	 other	 preference,	 granted	 for	 the	 award	 of	 a	 contract	 using	 federal	 funds,	 or	
granted	for	the	award	of	a	contract	procured	on	a	multi-state	basis.		To	claim	this	preference	a	business	
must	submit	a	letter	with	its	proposal	showing	that	it	qualifies	for	the	preference.	


N/A 
 
2.2.2 Please	be	advised,	pursuant	to	NRS	80.010,	a	corporation	organized	pursuant	to	the	laws	of	another	


state	shall	register	with	the	State	of	Nevada,	Secretary	of	State’s	Office	as	a	foreign	corporation	before	
a	contract	can	be	executed	between	the	State	of	Nevada	and	the	awarded	vendor,	unless	specifically	
exempted	by	NRS	80.015.	


Cross & Joftus will provide our Nevada Business License Number prior to contract. 
 
2.2.3 The	selected	vendor,	prior	to	doing	business	in	the	State	of	Nevada,	shall	be	appropriately	licensed	by	


the	State	of	Nevada,	Secretary	of	State’s	Office	pursuant	to	NRS76.		Information	regarding	the	Nevada	
Business	License	can	be	located	at	http://nvsos.gov.	


 
Question Response 


Nevada Business License 
Number: 


TBD 


Legal Entity Name: Cross & Joftus, LLC 
 
Is	“Legal	Entity	Name”	the	same	name	as	vendor	is	doing	business	as?	
 


Yes X No  
 
If	“No”,	provide	explanation.	


N/A 
 
2.2.4 Has	the	vendor	ever	been	engaged	under	contract	by	any	State	of	Nevada	agency?			


Yes  No X 
 
If	“Yes”,	complete	the	following	table	for	each	State	agency	for	whom	the	work	was	performed.		Table	can	be	
duplicated	for	each	contract	being	identified.	


N/A 
 


Question Response 
Name of State agency:  
State agency contact name:  
Dates when services were performed:  
Type of duties performed:  
Total dollar value of the contract:  
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2.2.5 Are	you	now	or	have	you	been	within	the	last	two	(2)	years	an	employee	of	the	State	of	Nevada,	or	
any	of	its	agencies,	departments,	or	divisions?	


Yes  No X 
 
If	“Yes”,	please	explain	when	the	employee	is	planning	to	render	services,	while	on	annual	leave,	compensatory	
time,	or	on	their	own	time?	


If	you	employ	(a)	any	person	who	is	a	current	employee	of	an	agency	of	the	State	of	Nevada,	or	(b)	any	person	
who	has	been	an	employee	of	an	agency	of	the	State	of	Nevada	within	the	past	two	(2)	years,	and	if	such	person	
shall	be	performing	or	producing	the	services	which	you	shall	be	contracted	to	provide	under	this	contract,	you	
shall	disclose	the	identity	of	each	such	person	in	your	response	to	this	RFP,	and	specify	the	services	that	each	
person	shall	be	expected	to	perform.	


N/A 
 
2.2.6 Disclosure	 of	 any	 significant	 prior	 or	 ongoing	 contract	 failures,	 contract	 breaches,	 civil	 or	 criminal	


litigation	in	which	the	vendor	has	been	alleged	to	be	liable	or	held	liable	in	a	matter	involving	a	contract	
with	the	State	of	Nevada	or	any	other	governmental	entity.		Any	pending	claim	or	litigation	occurring	
within	the	past	six	 (6)	years	which	may	adversely	affect	the	vendor’s	ability	to	perform	or	fulfill	 its	
obligations	if	a	contract	is	awarded	as	a	result	of	this	RFP	shall	also	be	disclosed.	


Does any of the above apply to your company? 
Yes  No X 


 
If	“Yes”,	please	provide	the	following	information.		Table	can	be	duplicated	for	each	issue	being	identified.	
 N/A 
 


Question Response 
Date of alleged contract 
failure or breach: 


 


Parties involved:  
Description of the contract 
failure, contract breach, or 
litigation, including the 
products or services involved: 


 


Amount in controversy:  
Resolution or current status of 
the dispute: 


 


If the matter has resulted in a 
court case: 


Court Case Number 
  


Status of the litigation:  
 
2.2.7 Vendors	shall	 review	and	provide	 if	awarded	a	contract	 the	 insurance	requirements	as	specified	 in	


Attachment	D,	Insurance	Schedule	for	RFP	3489.	


Cross & Joftus will provide proof of all required insurance upon award. 
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2.2.8 Company	background/history	and	why	vendor	is	qualified	to	provide	the	services	described	in	this	RFP.		


Limit	response	to	no	more	than	five	(5)	pages.	


C&J is a nationally recognized authority on education policy and education systems. 
Christopher Cross and Scott Joftus founded the firm in 2004 and serve as Chairman and 
President, respectively. Across its 13 years, C&J has served clients in more than 30 states. In 
2007, education finance expert Sharon Deich joined the firm as a Partner and Vice President 
and developed the C&J’s education finance practice area. 


Our team has worked with policymakers and decision-makers on issues of school finance and 
funding at international, national, state, and local levels. We have worked with state and local 
education agencies across the nation to create coherent systems dedicated to improved 
outcomes for students. Our clients have included nearly 50 school districts, consortia of 
districts, states, and local governments as well as nearly 60 philanthropic and non-profit 
organizations. 


C&J Chairman and proposed Co-Principal Investigator Christopher Cross is a former 
Assistant Secretary for Educational Research and Improvement at the U.S. Department of 
Education and former president of the Maryland State Board of Education. Cross has worked 
with various facets of education policy in Nevada for over 20 years. He served as the chief 
advisor to the Council on Academic Standards, provided direction for the state’s application 
under the Race to the Top competition for the Blue Ribbon Commission and has testified 
before the state legislature. 


In his role with the Council on Academic Standards, Cross and his team from the Council for 
Basic Education, where he was then the CEO, facilitated and guided the development of the 
first set of standards in the period from 1997-1999. Cross continued in the role of chief advisor 
to the Council until 2004. He continued his involvement in education in NV as a consultant to 
Wynn Resorts and in that role supported the interests of Wynn, specifically Elaine Wynn, in 
her interests in that field. 


Proposed Co-Principal Investigator Richard Seder is nationally and internationally recognized 
for work in school funding and the design and implementation of educational systems. He has 
led technical assistance projects assisting policymakers and practitioners on issues of 
adequacy and equity, human capital, monitoring and evaluation systems, and college and 
career readiness. Seder has performed many domestic and international cost studies and 
developed comprehensive school funding systems that recognize the dual requirements of 
equity and adequacy, including review of formula weights and overall funding levels to reflect 
district, school, and student needs. 


In addition to the co-Principal Investigators, C&J Vice President and lead for C&J’s School 
Finance practice Sharon Deich and C&J Senior Associate Michael Goetz bring added 
expertise. Deich is an expert in resource allocation and the former associate director for The 
Finance Project. Goetz is nationally recognized for work in school funding and resource 
allocation and reallocation according to educator priorities. Goetz has worked with 
educational stakeholders to create school, district, and state funding models across multiple 
contexts. 
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The C&J offers the State of Nevada the policy and practitioner expertise and experience 
necessary to conduct an in-depth analysis of the state’s existing program and provide 
recommended changes or adjustments. Our team further offers the State of Nevada the 
practice-based data analysis and research experience and expertise to help address complex 
questions of cost determination, revenues analysis, resource allocation, and resource use to 
design, develop, and implement an effective and efficient school finance and funding system. 


Below is a sample of recent and relevant clients. 
 
Select Cross & Joftus Clients 


Allentown School District.  Cross & Joftus conducted a fiscal analysis for the district in 
partnership with Education Resource Strategies. Our firm reviewed data on expenditures to 
understand how spending patterns in key function areas compared with other districts; how 
resources are distributed across schools and students; how staffing resources are distributed 
across schools; how class sizes effect expenditures; and how professional development dollars 
are being spent. Our firm also provided recommendations that allowed the district to better 
direct resources toward education priorities. 


Arkansas Department of Education.  Cross & Joftus worked with the Arkansas Department of 
Education and a consortium of six Arkansas districts to improve the use of data and 
technology in fostering whole-system improvement. Our firm conducted an evaluation of 
district and state implementation of and satisfaction with the statewide data system and 
provided recommendations to all stakeholders for improvements, including how to use data 
more effectively to inform the teaching and learning process. 


California Department of Education.  Cross & Joftus worked with a state-wide task force on 
special education whose mission is to transform education to improve outcomes for students 
with disabilities. Cross & Joftus synthesized the work of the task force and its subcommittees 
and prepared a vision statement, a report of findings, and recommendations for policy, 
practice and legislative reform that will guide the future delivery of special education in the 
state. 


The California Department of Education also selected Cross & Joftus to provide services for 
districts in the state that have been identified for improvement. 


Camden, NJ Board of Education.  In partnership with UPD, we helped the Camden, NJ Board 
of Education craft a 5-year Strategic Plan. To arrive at such a plan, we provided: 


• Research on exemplar models of education 
• Recommendations of new programs/revisions to existing programs 
• Financial modeling 
• Recommendations regarding data use and technology 
• Facilities planning 


The final deliverable, the strategic plan, included district vision, mission, goals, objectives and 
strategies as well as recommended metrics for determining whether the strategic plan is 
successfully being executed as designed. 
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Fairfield-Suisin Unified School District.  C&J was contracted by the district to conduct a 
comprehensive review of its special education system as well as general education practices 
that support students with disabilities. 


Fayette County Public Schools.  C&J, working with UPD, conducted a comprehensive needs 
analysis for the district and provided the new superintendent with recommendations for his 
entry plan. 


Kansas Department of Education.  In 2008, C&J partnered with the Kansas State Department 
of Education (KSDE) to rethink the state’s approach to school reform and in doing so, 
increase capacity to raise achievement and close significant gaps in student learning. The 
result of this partnership was the Kansas Learning Network, an approach that includes a 
comprehensive needs assessment, the establishment of strategic priorities, targeted technical 
assistance, and collaboration with peers across the state. For four years, C&J worked with all 
districts and schools in Kansas that had been identified as on improvement, corrective action, 
or restructuring as defined by the No Child Left Behind Act. Evaluations of the Kansas 
Learning Network found that the model was highly valued by district and state administrators 
and, more importantly, had made a significant impact on student achievement in participating 
schools and districts. 


Nellie Mae Education Foundation.  Cross & Joftus provided support to the Foundation’s 
leadership team as they implement their District Level Systems Change initiative that creates 
opportunities to expand student centered learning approaches. This included supporting the 
foundation in selecting grantees and working with the foundation and grantees to develop 
sustainability strategies for continuing this work as grant funding sunset. We also reviewed 
proposals for a new cohort of grantees to assess the potential for long-term sustainability of 
student-centered learning and worked with grantees to promote the long-term success of this 
work. 


Providence Afterschool Alliance.  Cross & Joftus provided tactical guidance on budgeting and 
sustainability so that PASA is in a better position to take advantage of new funding 
opportunities moving forward. This work was part of a larger strategic planning process to set 
the course of the organization for the next three years. 


Wallace Foundation.  Cross & Joftus is supporting a three-year project to provide technical 
assistance on finance and sustainability to the Wallace Foundation’s Next Generation After 
School Systems Building Initiative. The TA team for this project includes C&J, The National 
League of Cities, the National Institute of Out-of-School Learning, and the Gardner Center at 
Stanford University. We are supporting nine cities as they strengthen their afterschool 
infrastructure, implement quality enhancements and expand OST programming. 


Wyoming.  For the Wyoming legislature, Cross & Joftus conducted a study of state-level 
educational governance in the state. The study focused on the relationship between the 
allocation of responsibilities and accountabilities and engaged stakeholders across the state in 
discussions of organizational structures that will support strong leadership, clear guidance, 
and effective, timely support to schools and districts. As educators work to meet their objective 
of educating all children to high standards, the Legislature is seeking to ensure that the 
governance structure supports their efforts and creates a strong foundation for the future of 
the state. 
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Additional Associate Experience 


Seder, R. (current). Needs assessments, systems mapping, and improvement strategies. 
Hokupaa (Hawaii) Collective Impact Initiative.  


Seder, R. (2017, April). Adequacy and equity in the Weighted Student Formula. Hawaii 
Department of Education, Committee on Weights.  


Seder, R. (2016). Served as an expert witness in the CCJEF v. Rell school finance case in 
Connecticut. 


Seder, R. (2016). Comprehensive needs assessment for systems improvement: A look at 
Hawaii, American Samoa, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, Guam, 
Federated States of Micronesia, Republic of the Marshall Islands, and Republic of Palau. 


Seder, R. (2015). Reorganization of the Hawaii Department of Education to a service agency: 
Office of Program Administration and Compliance. Hawaii Department of Education. 


Seder, R. (2015). Evaluation of school technology financing in San Diego Unified School 
District: Propositions S & Z. Center for Education Policy & Law, University of San Diego. 


Seder, R. (2014). School facility adequacy standards review. Wyoming School Facilities 
Department. 


Goetz, M. (2016, October). A Talk on ESSA and Funding Equity. Presentation at the Florida 
Association of School Business Officials (FASBO) 2016 Annual Conference, St. Augustine, 
FL. 


Goetz, M. & Katz, L. (2016, September). How EdFinTech Supports Financial Analysis for 
Schools and Equity for Students. Presentation at the Education Technology Innovation 
Summit (ETIS), Baltimore, MD. 


Picus, L., Goetz, M., Taylor, L., O’Donnell, M., & Willmarth, M. (2014, March). Wyoming 
School Finance:  Fifteen Years of Reform. Presentation at the meeting of the Association for 
Education Finance and Policy (AEFP), San Antonio, Texas. 


Goetz, M. Griffith, M., Odden, A., Picus, L., Aportela, A., & Williams, A. (2014). Adequacy for 
Excellence in Kentucky. (Prepared for Council for Better Education.) Hollywood, CA:  Picus 
Odden & Associates. 


Picus, L., Odden, A., Goetz, M. Griffith, M., Glenn, W., Hirshberg, D., and Aportela, A. 
(2014). An independent review of Maine’s Essential Programs and Services Funding Act. 
(Prepared for Maine Legislature’s Joint Standing Committee on Education and Cultural 
Affairs.) Hollywood, CA:  Lawrence O. Picus & Associates. 


Goetz, M. (2013, March). When money really matters. Presentation at the meeting of the 
Association for Education Finance and Policy (AEFP), New Orleans, Louisiana. 


Goetz, M. (2013). Spending money smartly:  Resource alignment tools. (Prepared for the Bill 
and Melinda Gates Foundation.) Georgetown, KY:  RSEC, LLC. 







 


 
   29 


Picus, L., Odden, A., Goetz, M., and Aportela, A. (2012). Estimating the cost of an adequate 
education for Texas school districts using the evidence-based approach. Hollywood, CA:  
Lawrence O. Picus & Associates. 


 
2.2.9 Provide	a	brief	description	of	the	length	of	time	vendor	has	been	providing	services	described	in	this	


RFP	to	the	public	and/or	private	sector.	


Cross & Joftus began its policy and education finance practice upon its founding in 
2004. However, the Principal Investigators’ experience spans decades. Christopher Cross 
began working on issues of education policy nearly half a century ago, and Richard 
Seder’s work in education finance spans two decades. 


2.2.10 Financial	 information	 and	 documentation	 to	 be	 included	 in	 accordance	with	Section	 8.5,	 Part	 III	 –	
Confidential	Financial	Information.		


 
2.2.10.1 Dun	and	Bradstreet	Number		


145953829 


2.2.10.2 Federal	Tax	Identification	Number	


65-1223386 
 


2.2.10.3 The	last	two	(2)	years	and	current	year	interim:	


C&J celebrated its thirteenth anniversary this year. During that time, we 
have never experienced any financial difficulties. For example, we 
have never operated at a loss and we have always paid our vendors and 
associates within 30 days as required by our contracts. In addition, 
although we have a line of credit from Wells Fargo, C&J has never had to 
use it. 
 
Our revenue for the last four years is: 


 
2013: $3.5 million 
2014: $4.5 million 
2015: $4.9 million 
2016: $4.4 million 


SUBCONTRACTOR	INFORMATION	
Subcontractors are defined as a third party, not directly employed by the contractor, who shall 
provide services identified in this RFP.  This does not include third parties who provide support or 
incidental services to the contractor. 
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2.2.11 Does	this	proposal	include	the	use	of	subcontractors?	


Yes  No X 
 
If “Yes”, vendor shall: 
 


2.2.11.1 Identify	specific	subcontractors	and	the	specific	requirements	of	this	RFP	for	
which	each	proposed	subcontractor	shall	perform	services.	


 N/A 
 


2.2.11.2 If	any	tasks	are	to	be	completed	by	subcontractor(s),	vendors	shall:	


Describe	how	the	work	of	any	subcontractor(s)	shall	be	supervised,	channels	of	communication	
shall	be	maintained	and	compliance	with	contract	terms	assured;	and	


 
Describe	your	previous	experience	with	subcontractor(s).	
 


N/A 
 


2.2.11.3 Provide	the	same	information	for	any	proposed	subcontractors	as	requested	
in	Section	3.1,	Vendor	Information.	


N/A 
 


2.2.11.4 Vendor	 shall	 not	 allow	 any	 subcontractor	 to	 commence	 work	 until	 all	
insurance	required	of	the	subcontractor	is	provided	to	the	vendor.	


N/A 
 


2.2.11.5 Vendor	 shall	 notify	 the	 using	 agency	 of	 the	 intended	 use	 of	 any	
subcontractors	not	identified	within	their	original	proposal	and	provide	the	
information	 originally	 requested	 in	 the	 RFP	 in	 Section	 3.2,	 Subcontractor	
Information.	 The	 vendor	 shall	 receive	 agency	 approval	 prior	 to	
subcontractor	commencing	work.	


We acknowledge and agree to this condition.  
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BUSINESS	REFERENCES	
2.2.12 Vendors	shall	provide	a	minimum	of	three	(3)	business	references	from	similar	projects	performed	for	


private	and/or	public	sector	clients	within	the	last	three	(3)	years.	


Reference 1: 
Matt Willmarth, School Finance Analyst 
Wyoming Legislative Service Office 
213 State Capitol 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 
307-777-7881 
matthew.willmarth@wyoleg.gov 
 


Cross & Joftus conducted a study of state-level educational governance for the Wyoming 
legislature. The study focused on the relationship between the allocation of responsibilities 
and accountabilities and engaged stakeholders across the state in discussions of 
organizational structures to support strong leadership, clear guidance, and effective, timely 
support to schools and districts. 
 
Reference 2: 
Suzanne Mulcahy, Assistant Superintendent of Curriculum, Instruction, and Student Support 
Hawaii Department of Education 
1390 Miller Street 
Honolulu, HI 96813 
808-586-3230 
Suzanne_Mulcahy@notes.k12.hi.us 
 


In April 2017, Dr. Seder assisted the Hawaii Department of Education’s Committee on 
Weights on issues of adequacy and equity during review of the state’s weighted student 
formula. He also assisted the Hawaii Department of Education in restructuring their Program 
Administration and Compliance office and as a methodological expert on the Technical 
Advisory Group for their educator effectiveness system. 
 
Reference 3: 
Kei-Lin Cerf, Director of Strategic Community Development; Director of Hokupaa Collective 
Impact Initiative 
University of Hawaii-Hilo 
47-4629 Honokaa Waipio Road 
Honokaa, Hawaii 96727 
808-238-0880 
klcerf@hawaii.edu 
 
Dr. Seder has assisted the Hokupaa Collective Impact Initiative since 2015 and their efforts to 
improve the educational, social-emotional, and workforce outcomes of West Hawaii’s youth. 
He has assisted with problem identification, root cause analyses, improvement strategies, 
resource alignment and allocation, and evaluation. 
 
Reference 4: 
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Tom Shelton, Executive Director 
Kentucky Association for School Superintendents 
2331 Fortune Drive, Suite 285 
Lexington KY 40509 
859-381-4104 
tom.shelton@kysupts.org  
 


Dr. Goetz led a study of the Kentucky school finance system with funding from the Council for 
Better Education. This study included an advisory board, members who had diverse interests 
in the education system. Through a combination of professional judgement panels and in-
depth review of research, he developed a school-level model of adequate resources. Goetz 
presenting these findings in multiple reports and invited talks to various interested 
stakeholders. 
 
Reference 5: Gerald Zahorchak, Superintendent (Retired) 
Allentown School District 
31 S. Penn Street 
Allentown, PA 18102 
484-765-4001 
Jerryz8551@yahoo.com 
 


C&J conducted an extensive resource review partnership with Education Resources Strategies 
and provided guidance and recommendations to the district on resource allocation, staffing 
efficiency and distributions, and the use of data to improve decision-making. The review 
included district budget analysis, school funding analysis, class size analysis, and analysis of 
staffing patterns and professional development spending. 
 
2.2.13 Vendors	shall	submit	Attachment	E,	Reference	Questionnaire	to	their	business	references.	


In lieu of requests for our clients to complete this task, we have included letters of references 
and contact information, and we encourage the state of Nevada to contact our references. 
 
2.2.14 It	is	the	vendor’s	responsibility	to	ensure	that	completed	forms	are	received	by	the	Purchasing	Division	


on	or	before	the	deadline	as	specified	in	Section	7,	RFP	Timeline	for	inclusion	in	the	evaluation	process.	
Reference	Questionnaires	not	received,	or	not	complete,	may	adversely	affect	the	vendor’s	score	in	
the	evaluation	process.	


2.2.15 The	State	reserves	the	right	to	contact	and	verify	any	and	all	references	listed	regarding	the	quality	
and	degree	of	satisfaction	for	such	performance.	


We encourage the state of Nevada to contact any of our references to learn more about the 
quality of the services we provide and the satisfaction of our clients.
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Section	VII	–	Attachment	F	–	Proposed	Staff	Resume(s)	
 
The team led by Cross & Joftus includes professionals who have the necessary subject matter 
expertise and experience to provide high-quality information to the Nevada Legislature and 
Nevada Department of Education across the wide range of needs identified in this study. The 
leadership team for this recalibration includes: 
 


CROSS & JOFTUS PROJECT TEAM 
LEADERS 


ROLES (and subject matter expertise) 


Christopher T. Cross Partner-in-Charge & Co-Principal 
Investigator; Cross & Joftus Chairman 
Governance, policy analysis and 
development, served as a key member of 
Gates Foundation study on school finance 
and a former president of the Maryland 
State Board of Education.  Expertise also 
in federal policy and implications for state 
school finance. 


Richard C. Seder, Ph.D. Co-Principal Investigator; Cross & Joftus 
Senior Associate 
School finance and funding formula 
design, costs of education, economics of 
education and cost-benefit analysis, early 
childhood finance, at-risk student 
allocations and use, small schools and 
districts resource. 


Michael Goetz, Ph.D. Cross & Joftus Senior Associate 
School finance and funding formula 
design, weighted-student formulas, costs 
of education, resource (re)allocation and 
use, cost-effectiveness and return on 
investment analysis 


Sharon Deich Project Senior Advisor; Cross & Joftus 
Senior Partner  
Resource allocation and effective use, 
extended-day/year programs 


Ginger Simon Project Manager; Cross & Joftus Senior 
Associate 


 
Bios for these individuals are included below, and their full resumes are included in Section 
VIII – Other Informational Materials. 


Christopher T. Cross is chairman of the education policy consulting firm Cross & Joftus, 
where he contributes his considerable strategic planning, policy analysis, and development 
skills. Cross also serves as a distinguished senior fellow with the Education Commission of the 
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States and is a consultant to the Broad Foundation. Previously, he was a senior fellow with 
the Center for Education Policy. 


From 1994 to 2002, Cross was president and chief executive officer of the Council for Basic 
Education (CBE). Before joining CBE, he served as director of the education initiative of The 
Business Roundtable and as assistant secretary for educational research and improvement in 
the U.S. Department of Education. Cross served as president of the Maryland State Board of 
Education from 1994 to 1997 and was a member from 1993 to 1997. He also was a member of 
the National Education Commission on Time and Learning. 


He chaired the National Assessment of Title I Independent Review Panel on Evaluation for 
the U.S. Department of Education from 1995 to 2001 and the National Research Council 
Panel on Minority Representation in Special Education from 1997 to 2002. Cross also chaired 
the National Research Council panel on Early Childhood Mathematics. He served on the 
board of The New Teacher Project for 12 years, is a member of the board of the Center on the 
Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education of the National Academies of 
Sciences and a commissioner of the senior division of the Western Association of Schools and 
Colleges. In 2002, Cross guided the negotiated rule-making process on Title I for the U.S. 
Department of Education. 


In 2001, he completed a six-year term on the Board of International Comparative Studies in 
Education for the National Research Council. In addition, he chaired the National Council 
for Education and Humanities Development of The George Washington University from its 
inception in 2000 through 2002. 


The first edition of his book, Political Education: National Policy Comes of Age, was 
published in 2003 by Teachers College Press, and the second edition, Political Education: 
Setting the Course for State and Federal Education Policy, was published in 2014. The new 
edition expands on the first, examining the people and events that shaped federal K-12 
education policy from WWII to the Obama Administration and introducing new insights into 
the future of federal education policy. Cross is also the co-editor of Minority Students in 
Special and Gifted Education, published in 2002 by National Academies Press. He has 
lectured on American education issues in Japan, Hong Kong, and the United Arab Emirates. 


Cross holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Whittier College and a Master of Arts degree in 
government from California State University, Los Angeles. 


Richard C. Seder, Ph.D. is senior associate at Cross & Joftus and president and senior 
improvement consultant at Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc. He brings nearly 20 years of 
education policy experience including direct work in school finance equity and adequacy with 
local, state, and national and international policymakers and stakeholders. Dr. Seder has 
worked with the State of Wyoming almost continuously since 2001 designing, developing, and 
assisting with the implementation of its school funding formula including the estimation of 
base funding levels, an innovative at-risk funding adjustment that increased in weights as 
concentrations of economically disadvantaged and English learner students increased in a 
school, and small school and small district adjustments. He was instrumental in the State 
being released from Court jurisdiction by testifying for more than four days translating the 
complicated intricacies of the state’s funding formula and the research-based rationale for 
each aspect of the funding formula. As a result, Dr. Seder was retained by the State of 
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Wyoming’s Attorney General’s Office of School Finance Litigation to provide oversight of the 
state’s transition of funding formulas and to assist the Wyoming Department of Education in 
its implementation, and by the Wyoming School Facilities Department to help design and 
implement systems to identify and remedy school district capital construction needs.  


In addition to his designation in Connecticut and prior designation in Wyoming, Dr. Seder 
served as an expert witness on issues related to school finance equity and adequacy in 
Montana where he worked with the state to successfully defend its school finance system. He 
also served in a litigation support role in Massachusetts (for the state) and Texas, each finding 
verdicts in favor of his clients. In each of these roles, Dr. Seder was responsible for critically 
reviewing adequacy studies, often having the courts dismiss those adequacy studies as 
evidence because of poor quality and other technical deficiencies. Dr. Seder has designed and 
conducted adequacy and program costing studies in Massachusetts, Minnesota, New York, 
Texas, Washington, and Wyoming using a combination of professional judgment and 
evidence-based methodologies.  


Richard has also worked with ministries of education and non-governmental organizations 
(e.g., UNICEF) on issues related to early childhood development finance and governance in 
Cambodia, Laos, Angola, and Tajikistan. In Tajikistan, Dr. Seder created a funding model 
that was piloted by the national government that was transparent and efficient in its ability to 
fund for school size, program differences, and unique community characteristics. 


Richard most recently served as the associate director and lead of all research and evaluation 
activities for the Regional Educational Laboratory serving the Pacific region under a $25.4 
million, five-year contract funded by the Institute of Education Sciences, the research arm of 
the U.S. Department of Education. While there, he oversaw work related to ensuring college 
and career readiness, strengthening teacher effectiveness, engaging families and communities, 
and developing meaningful education management information systems. He worked closely 
with the Secretary of Education in the Federated States of Micronesia and the U.S. 
Department of the Interior on issues related to declining U.S. funding support and developing 
strategic plans for transition. 


Seder served as education policy fellow with the California Secretary of Education where he 
worked on issues of other post-employment benefits (i.e., unfunded liabilities of retiree 
pension and health benefits) and translated the landmark Getting Down to Facts research and 
briefed the executive branch on interpretation and implications. He then worked with Cross & 
Joftus and stakeholders across California to translate the school finance, accountability, and 
governance research into actionable policies. In 2001, he also worked as part of a team 
to develop the initial comparative methodologies of financial, demographic, and achievement 
data for the Standard & Poor’s School Evaluation Services. 


He earned his Bachelor of Arts degree from Beloit College with a double major in government 
and economics and management, Master of Science in Public Policy & Management from 
Carnegie Mellon University, and doctorate from the University of Southern California in 
Education Policy & Organization with emphasis in school finance. 


Michael Goetz, Ph.D. is a senior associate at Cross & Joftus and Executive Director of 
Research for Social and Educational Change (RSEC). His clients include the Bill and 
Melinda Gates Foundation, Council for Better Education, Foundation for Child Development, 
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National Academies of Education, Allovue, National Center for Innovation in Education, and 
several legislative and gubernatorial committees. 


Goetz leads projects related to educational policy and school finance research. He has worked 
with academics and policymakers to analyze fiscal data and develop Evidence-Based and 
Professional Judgment models for PK-12 school finance adequacy in Kentucky (2014), Maine 
(2012-13), Texas (2012), North Dakota (2007-08), Arkansas (2005-06), Washington (2005-06), 
Wisconsin (2005-06), Wyoming (2005-06), and Arizona (2003-04). Goetz has also performed 
analyses of school-based resource allocation and restructuring in Hawaii, Missouri, New 
Jersey, Washington, Wisconsin, and Wyoming. 


Goetz’s most recent adequacy work was in Kentucky (2014). Dr. Goetz led a Kentucky school 
finance adequacy study using multiple methods for the Council for Better Education. He led 
an advisory board of policy leaders in the creation of an adequate funding structure, which 
RSEC, LLC then brought to practitioners across the state for their input. Goetz created an 
Excel-based spreadsheet model that provided accessibility, usability, and transparency to 
school funding decisions. The KY School Finance Model was school-based and designed to 
instantly exhibit cost ramifications of policy decisions.  


In each study of state school funding systems, Goetz developed the funding models that 
operationalize adequate education systems. These models (currently the basis of Arkansas and 
Wyoming formulas), are used not only to represent the dollars necessary for constitutional 
adequacy, but instantaneously relay to policymakers cost implications of resourcing strategies.  


Before focusing on school finance policy, Goetz was a Researcher with the Consortium for 
Policy Research in Education (CPRE) at the University of Wisconsin—Madison. Prior to 
joining CPRE, he managed K-8 educational centers for Score Learning, Inc. in New York and 
taught middle school math and science in Kansas City. 


Dr. Goetz received a B.A. in Educational Studies from Washington University in St. Louis and 
a Ph.D. in Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis at University of Wisconsin—Madison. 
He received a Wisconsin-Spencer Doctoral Research Program Fellowship, a dissertation grant 
from the American Educational Research Association (AERA), and the American Education 
Finance Association (AEFA) New Scholar Award. 


Sharon Deich is a senior partner and Vice President at Cross & Joftus. Sharon has helped 
clients such as federal and state agencies, state and city officials, and foundation initiative 
leaders think strategically about how to organize their resources to support change. She brings 
considerable experience in school finance and after-school programming to serve at-risk 
youth. Sharon’s many years of working for the Urban Institute, American Institutes for 
Research, and The Finance Project have afforded her a unique ability to find practical 
solutions grounded in research. 


Her work builds on two decades of experience in the nonprofit sector that includes research, 
policy analysis, and technical assistance. She works with federal agencies, state government 
leaders, city officials, foundation initiative leaders, and non-profit organizations on issues 
related to early care, K-12 education, after-school programming, and related education reform 
efforts. 
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From 1997 to 2007, Deich served as an associate director for The Finance Project, where she 
authored numerous briefs and reports on the financing of human services programs and 
provided technical assistance and expert facilitation to organizations looking to scale up and 
sustain promising initiatives. During this period, she also served on numerous advisory 
boards, including one for a joint project of the National Governors Association, the Council of 
Chief State School Officers, and the National Conference of State Legislatures to expand 
extra learning opportunities as a way to improve student success. 


Before joining The Finance Project, Deich spent 15 years researching and evaluating 
programs that support low-income children and families. Her prior experience includes work 
for the American Institutes for Research, where she worked closely with the Head Start 
Bureau to revise performance standards and the training and technical assistance system. She 
also spent six years working at the Urban Institute, where she was a contributing researcher 
and author for the National Child Care Study. 


Deich earned her bachelor’s degree in economics from The State University of New York at 
Albany and earned her master’s degree in public policy from the University of Michigan. 


Ginger Adams Simon is a senior associate with Cross & Joftus. In the last 12 years, she has 
worked at education policy centers at two universities, conducted educational research, 
developed policy, managed implementation efforts and led numerous large projects involving 
educators and education stakeholders. Ginger has extensive project management experience. 
In 2011 she served as lead writer and quality control manager of a Special Education 
evaluation project with LAUSD and the California Charter Schools Association, and in 2012 
was the project director for the Digital Learning Resources Project for the Smithsonian Center 
for Learning and Digital Access (SCLDA). From 2007-2010 she served as Project Manager 
for the California Department of Education’s “Brokers of Expertise (BOE) project. BOE was 
a web portal for California teachers, providing free, open, standards-based materials and 
resources as well as professional networking. 


In the policy arena, prior the moving to CA, Ginger was Associate Director of the Center for 
Greater Philadelphia, a Public Policy Center at the University of Pennsylvania. She then 
moved to the UC Davis School of Education’s Center for Applied Policy in Education (CAP-
Ed) where she was as a lecturer and policy analyst (2006-2010). While there, she worked on 
numerous programs, including the development of their Superintendent’s Executive 
Leadership Forum (SELF) and CDEs P-16 initiative. Most recently (2013-2016), Ginger 
served as Director of Professional Capital for CORE Districts, a collaborative of eight districts 
across California receiving a Federal Waiver from ESEA requirements. Over 3 years, she 
created and facilitated a collaborative learning environment for central administrators and 
others in the districts as they developed and implemented new teacher and leader evaluation 
systems. Ginger received her doctorate in Education Leadership from the University of 
Pennsylvania in 2005 and lives in Davis, CA. 


Additional subject matter experts on the Cross & Joftus team and their project roles are 
provided in the below table. Their full bios are included in Section VIII – Other Informational 
Materials. 
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CROSS & JOFTUS SUBJECT 
MATTER EXPERTS 


EXPERTISE (and NV project tasks) 


Kenji Hakuta, Ph.D. English language learners 
Ricki Meyer, J.D. Policy analysis, legal analysis, special education 
Kershini Naidu,  At-risk multi-tier systems of support, special 


education  
Alice Parker, Ed.D. Early childhood and early elementary education, 


special education 
Alexa Posney, Ph.D. Special education  
Connie Wehmeyer Director of Teaching and Learning for Cross & 


Joftus, curriculum and instruction, school and 
district improvement 


Robin Wisniewski, Ph.D. At-risk multi-tier systems of support, special 
education 


 
	


VENDOR	STAFF	RESUMES	–	Proposal	Format		


A resume shall be completed for each proposed key personnel responsible for performance under 
any contract resulting from this RFP per Attachment F, Proposed Staff Resume. 
 


Proposed Staff Resumes are included in the pages that follow.	
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Cross & Joftus, LLC 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor:  
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Christopher Cross Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Chairman 
# of Years in Classification: 13 # of Years with Firm: 13 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Christopher Cross is a former Assistant Secretary for Educational Research and Improvement at the U.S. 
Department of Education and former president of the Maryland State Board of Education. He works with clients 
such as the Aspen Institute, California Department of Education, and Education Commission of the States to 
disseminate promising practices and connect policymaking to critical research. Chris is a noted author and 
expert on the federal role in education and serves on numerous high-profile advisory boards. 
 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 
 
Cross has worked with various facets of education policy in Nevada for over 20 years. He served as the chief 
advisor to the Council on Academic Standards, provided direction for the state’s application under the Race to 
the Top competition for the Blue Ribbon Commission and has testified before the state legislature. 


In his role with the Council on Academic Standards, Cross and his team from the Council for Basic Education, 
where he was then the CEO, facilitated and guided the development of the first set of standards in the period 
from 1997-1999. Cross continued in the role of chief advisor to the Council until 2004. He continued his 
involvement in education in NV as a consultant to Wynn Resorts and in that role supported the interests of 
Wynn, specifically Elaine Wynn, in her interests in that field. 


When the Race to the Top initiative was announced in the U.S. Department of Education in 2009, Governor Jim 
Gibbons appointed a Blue Ribbon Commission on Education Reform in the state and asked Elaine Wynn and 
Dan Klaich, then chancellor of the Nevada, to co-chair that group. Cross was hired immediately as the chief 
advisor to the Blue Ribbon Committee and worked extensively for the Committee on the Nevada application 
through 2010 and beyond. Although NV did not win a grant in this competition, the application became a 
blueprint for changes that were later proposed by Governor Brian Sandoval. 


 
EDUCATION 


Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  
degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 


 
Master of Arts degree in government from California State University, Los Angeles – 1970 
Bachelor of Arts degree from Whittier College – 1962 
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CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.   
 
Matt Willmarth, School Finance Analyst 
Wyoming Legislative Service Office 
307-777-7881 
matthew.willmarth@wyoleg.gov 
 
Punam Mathur, Executive Director 
Elaine P. Wynn & Family Foundation 
702-454-9966 ph 
702-586-7576 f 
punam@ewfamilyfoundation.org 
 
Eugene Chasin, COO 
Say Yes to Education 
860-240-1272 ph 
860-240-1275 f 
echasin@sayyestoeducation.org 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Cross & Joftus, LLC 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor:  
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Richard C. Seder Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Senior Associate 
# of Years in Classification: 11 # of Years with Firm: 11 
 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
Richard Seder brings nearly 20 years of working in partnership with school and system leaders to take on 
education’s chronic and persistent challenges through policy and systems analysis, research and evaluation, 
change management and coaching, and evidence use. He has worked with local, state, and national and 
international policymakers and nonprofit organizations to systematically and systemically improve schooling 
outcomes. He has nationally recognized expertise in school finance adequacy and equity and the design and 
implementation of effective and efficient school funding formulas.  


 
RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 


Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 
the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


 
Performed domestic and international cost studies and developed comprehensive school funding 
systems that recognize dual requirements of equity and adequacy, including review of formula weights 
and overall funding levels to reflect district, school, and student needs. 
 
State of Colorado (Present)—Senior Consulting Associate. Cross & Joftus. Assist the Interim 
Committee on School Finance with the review of current finance and funding system and design and 
development of new finance and funding formula, including factors for at-risk students, English 
learners, students with disabilities, school district characteristics, and the use of categorical programs 
as matter of governance and accountability. 
 
Hawaii Department of Education (2016)—Principal Investigator. Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc. 
Assisted the Committee on Weights to understand issues related to equity and adequacy and served as a 
resource to the Committee in discussions related to weights for children in poverty, English learners, 
and other student-related factors. 
 
State of Connecticut (2016)—Expert Witness. Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc. Served as an expert 
witness in Connecticut Coalition for Justice in Education, Inc. et al. v. M. Jodi Rell, et al. Identified 
“bright spots” to understand higher-than-expected-performing schools and districts to understand 
those resource factors in an efficient and effective education system. Superior Court, Judicial District 
of Hartford. September 7, 2016. (https://assets.documentcloud.org/documents/3100630/School-
Funding-Decision.pdf)  
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Tajikistan (2012)—Principal Investigator. Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc. Served as consultant to 
UNICEF Tajikistan and the Tajikistan Ministry of Education. Designed and implemented new funding 
mechanisms for early learning in Tajikistan in three pilot provinces that used student, school, and 
community characteristics to distribute resources. Funding formula has since gone nationwide. 
 
Angola (2012)—Investigator. Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc. Served as the finance and funding lead 
on a multifunctional team exploring how to create effective early childhood education programs and 
systems. Developed understanding governance of early childhood development and education systems 
and services in low-income countries (includes Cambodia, Lao PDR, and Angola). 
 
Cambodia and Lao PDR (2011)—Investigator. Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc. Served as the finance 
and funding lead on a multifunctional team exploring how to create effective early childhood 
education programs and systems. Developed situation analysis for governance and finance of early 
childhood development services in Cambodia and Lao PDR. 
 
State of Montana (2008)—Expert Witness. Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc. Served as an expert 
witness in Columbia Falls Elementary School District No. 6 v. Montana. Created rational basis for the 
operations of the school funding formula on issues of equity and adequacy. First Judicial District 
Court of Montana, Lewis and Clark County. December 15, 2008. 
(http://leg.mt.gov/content/Publications/fiscal/Education/CF-Decision-II.pdf)  
 
State of Wyoming (2005)—Expert Witness. Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc. Served as expert witness 
in the case, Campbell County School Dist. v. State (Campbell IV). Testified to the rationality and cost 
justifications of work completed over the prior four years. Created new distribution formulas for at-risk 
students, small schools and districts, among the many pieces of a newly designed funding formula. 
Wyoming Supreme Court. January 8, 2008. 
(http://legisweb.state.wy.us/LSOWeb/SchoolFinance/Documents/Campbell_IV.pdf) 
 
Minnesota (2004)—Senior Consulting Associate, Principal Investigator. Management Analysis & Planning. 
Designed and led a professional judgment study to estimate adequate education funding in Minnesota. Estimates 
included weights for at-risk, English learner, and students with disabilities. 


New York (2004)—Senior Consulting Associate. Management Analysis & Planning. Part of the analytic team 
that designed and led a professional judgment study to estimate the cost of providing all children in New York an 
adequate education. Estimates included weights for at-risk, English learner, and students with disabilities. 


Texas (2004)—Senior Consulting Associate. Management Analysis & Planning. Served as the principal 
investigator in the design and implementation of professional judgment panels to estimate the cost of meeting 
state educational standards. 


State of Massachusetts (2003)—Senior Consulting Associate. Management Analysis & Planning. Provided 
litigation support in the case of Julie Hancock v. David P. Driscoll, Commissioner of Education. Designed and 
implemented professional judgment panels to estimate the costs of education, including those resources needed 
for at-risk students, English learners, and students with disabilities. Supreme Judicial Court. February 15, 2005. 
(https://www.masslegalservices.org/system/files/library/hancock_v_driscoll_sjc.doc)   


State of Wyoming (2001 to Present)—Consultant. Provided policy analysis and development to the Wyoming 
State Legislature on issues of monitoring and accountability, equitable and adequate school funding, and 
educator effectiveness; systems analysis for the Attorney General’s Office of School Finance Litigation; and 
implementation assistance to the Wyoming Department of Education and School Facilities Department with 
emphasis on data collection, management, reporting, and use. 
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EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
PhD, Education Policy and Governance, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, 2009. 
 
MS, Public Policy and Management, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, 1997.  
 
BA, Economics and Management and Government, Beloit College, Beloit, WI, 1994. 
 
 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
Not applicable 
 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.   
 
Michael O’Donnell 
Assistant Attorney General 
State of Wyoming 
(Office) 307-777-8935 
michael.odonnell@wyo.gov 
 
Suzanne Mulcahy 
Assistant Superintendent 
Hawaii Department of Education 
(Mobile) 808-382-6332 
Suzanne_Mulcahy@notes.k12.hi.us 
 
Walter Kahumoku, III 
Title III Director 
University of Hawaii – West Oahu 
(Office) 808-689-2922 
wk@hawaii.edu 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Cross & Joftus, LLC 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor:  
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Michael Goetz Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Senior Associate 
# of Years in Classification: 1 # of Years with Firm: 1 
 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 


Michael Goetz, Ph.D. is a senior associate at Cross & Joftus and executive director of Research for 
Social and Educational Change (RSEC). His clients include the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, 
Council for Better Education, Foundation for Child Development, National Academies of Education, 
Allovue, National Center for Innovation in Education, and several legislative and gubernatorial 
committees. Goetz leads projects related to educational policy and school finance research. He has 
worked with academics and policymakers to analyze fiscal data and develop Evidence-Based and 
Professional Judgment models for PK-12 school finance adequacy in Kentucky, Maine, Texas, North 
Dakota, Arkansas, Washington, Wisconsin, Wyoming, and Arizona. Goetz has also performed analyses 
of school-based resource allocation and restructuring in Hawaii, Missouri, New Jersey, Washington, 
Wisconsin, and Wyoming. 


Goetz’s most recent adequacy work was in Kentucky. Dr. Goetz led a Kentucky school finance 
adequacy study using multiple methods for the Council for Better Education. He led an advisory board 
of policy leaders in the creation of an adequate funding structure, which RSEC, LLC then brought to 
practitioners across the state for their input. Goetz created an Excel-based spreadsheet model that 
provided accessibility, usability, and transparency to school funding decisions. The KY School Finance 
Model was school-based and designed to instantly exhibit cost ramifications of policy decisions. In 
each study of state school funding systems, Goetz developed the funding models that operationalize 
adequate education systems. Before focusing on school finance policy, Goetz was a Researcher with 
the Consortium for Policy Research in Education (CPRE) at the University of Wisconsin—Madison. 
Prior to joining CPRE, he managed K-8 educational centers for Score Learning, Inc. in New York and 
taught middle school math and science in Kansas City. 


 
 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 
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Michael Goetz has worked with private and non-profit education organizations for two decades. In 
each of his roles, whether research- or operations-based, Michael has focused on determining the 
programs and policies that affect student academic and social learning, and most recently, how fiscal 
resources, mediated by programs, promote student growth. His work is as a consultant in these areas. 
 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 


Dr. Goetz received a B.A. in Educational Studies from Washington University in St. Louis (1996) and a 
Ph.D. in Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis at University of Wisconsin—Madison (2012). He 
received a Wisconsin-Spencer Doctoral Research Program Fellowship, a dissertation grant from the 
American Educational Research Association (AERA), and the American Education Finance 
Association (AEFA) New Scholar Award. 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.   
 
Tom Shelton, PhD 
Executive Director 
Kentucky Association of School Superintendents 
(859) 568-2140 Office – main 
(859) 592-4920 Office - direct 
(859) 351-6884 Mobile 
 
Anabel Aportela 
Director of Research  
Arizona School Boards Association  
Arizona Association of School Business Officials 
Phx 85004 
 
Lisa Katz 
Sr. Director of Research and Analysis 
Discovery Education 
443-205-5285 
Lisa_Katz@discovery.com 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Cross & Joftus, LLC 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor:  
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Sharon Deich Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Chairman and Partner 
# of Years in Classification: 10 # of Years with Firm: 10 


 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


Sharon Deich is Vice President of Cross & Joftus, where she focuses on education financing issues and change 
management. Deich directs a series of projects that include providing technical assistance to nine cities that are 
working to build citywide after school systems; conducting financial analyses for school districts looking to 
reallocate resources toward priority areas; and assisting non-profits with strategic planning. Her work builds on 
two decades of experience in the nonprofit sector that includes research, policy analysis, and technical 
assistance. She works with federal agencies, state government leaders, city officials, foundation initiative 
leaders, and non-profit organizations on issues related to early care, K-12 education, after-school programming, 
and related education reform efforts. 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


Prior to the work described above, Deich served as an associate director for The Finance Project from 1997 to 
2007, where she authored numerous briefs and reports on the financing of human services programs and 
provided technical assistance and expert facilitation to organizations looking to scale up and sustain promising 
initiatives. During this period, she also served on numerous advisory boards, including one for a joint project of 
the National Governors Association, the Council of Chief State School Officers, and the National Conference of 
State Legislatures to expand extra learning opportunities as a way to improve student success. 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
Master of Public Policy, University of Michigan Institute of Public Policy Studies, 1984 
Bachelor of Science, Economics, State University of New York at Albany, 1979 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
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REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.   
	


Dale Anglin, Senior Program Officer 
Victoria Foundation 
Phone: (973) 792-9200 
danglin@victoriafoundation.org 
 
Priscilla Little, Initiative Manager, Learning and Enrichment 
The Wallace Foundation 
Phone: (212) 251-9780,  
plittle@wallacefoundation.org  
 
Gerald Zahorchak, Superintendent (Retired) 
Allentown School District 
484-765-4001 
Jerryz8551@yahoo.com 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: Cross & Joftus, LLC 


 
Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor:  
 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Virginia Adams Simon Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Senior Associate, Project Manager 
# of Years in Classification: 35 # of Years with Firm: 12  
 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


 
In the last 12 years, Dr. Simon has worked at education policy centers at two universities, conducted educational 
research, developed policy, managed implementation efforts and led numerous large projects involving 
educators and education stakeholders.  
 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 
 
In 2011, Virginia served as lead writer and quality control manager of a Special Education evaluation project 
with LAUSD and the California Charter Schools Association, and in 2012 was the project director for the 
Digital Learning Resources Project for the Smithsonian Center for Learning and Digital Access (SCLDA). 
From 2007-2010 she served as Project Manager for the California Department of Education’s “Brokers of 
Expertise (BOE) project. BOE was a web portal for California teachers, providing free, open, standards-based 
materials and resources as well as professional networking. 
 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
2005: University of Pennsylvania, Graduate School of Education   
Education Doctorate (Ed.D.). Mid-Career Doctoral Program in Educational Leadership 
 
1989: University of Pennsylvania, Graduate School of Education       
Masters of Science in Education (MS of Ed), Independent Schools Program 
 
1983: Hobart and William Smith Colleges        
Bachelor of Arts (BA), Major fields of study: English, Education, Art History 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
1983: New York State Teaching Certificate 
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REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.   
 


1) Rick Miller, Partner, Capitol Impact, Sacramento and Executive Director of CORE Districts 
Rick@coredistricts.org 
(916) 441-2917 
 
2) Michelle Steagall, Chief Academic Officer, CORE Districts, Sacramento 
Michelle@coredistricts.org 
(559) 260-2950 
 
3) Julie Maxwell-Jolly, Director of Research, California School Boards Association, Sacramento 
jrmaxwelljolly@csba.org 
(916) 669-3261 
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Section	VIII	–	Other	Informational	Materials	
 


Subject	Matter	Expert	Bios	
Kenji Hakuta, Ph.D. is Lee Jacks Professor of Education, emeritus, at Stanford University. He 
has held full-time faculty positions at Yale University and the University of California, Santa 
Cruz. During 2003-2006 he helped start the University of California, Merced as its Founding 
Dean of Social Sciences, Humanities and Arts. He has several hundred publications, and is most 
noted for his 1986 book, Mirror of Language: The Debate on Bilingualism. In addition to his 
academic writings, Kenji is a leading expert in the area of English Language Learners (ELLs) at 
the federal, state, and local district levels. Since the early 1990’s, he has worked within the 
policy and practice arenas toward the inclusion of ELLs in reform efforts, particularly around 
bilingual education and standards-based reform. 


Kenji has served at the federal level through service in various capacities, including serving on 
many committees and panels of the National Research Council as well as the National Academy 
of Education and chairing the National Educational Research Policy and Priorities Board of 
OERI (predecessor to the Institute for Education Sciences) from 1995-2004. At the state level, 
Kenji has provided significant and long-term support for a variety of states, including California 
and New York. During the past 3 years, he has also served as advisor to the Council of Chief 
State Schools Officers for the “ELL SCASS”, a learning community of state directors of ELL 
programs from over 35 states that convene tri-annually to share practice and conduct practice-
based research on various aspects of ELL education at the state level. He collaborated with states 
through the CCSSO to develop new English Language Proficiency Standards as well as to launch 
ELPA21 – an annual assessment of English language proficiency used by 10 states. 


Kenji’s scholarly contributions have been recognized by many honorary societies; he is a fellow 
of the American Association for the Advancement of Science, the American Educational 
Research Association, the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, and the National Academy 
of Education. His education includes a Ph.D. in Experimental Psychology from Harvard 
University. 


Ricki Meyer, J.D. is an attorney with background in special education and disability rights. She 
has experience working at the U.S. Departments of Education and State in Washington, D.C., as 
well as various state-level offices in Massachusetts. Ricki has most recently worked as a 
disability rights consultant and a teaching fellow for special education policy at the Harvard 
School of Education. 


Ricki is admitted to practice law in Massachusetts. She earned her B.S. in Social Policy from 
Northwestern University, Ed.M. from Harvard Graduate School of Education, and J.D. from 
Boston University School of Law. 


Kershini Naidu (PhD Candidate, Educational Leadership), is director of Student Services and 
Special Education for Orange City Schools (OH) and an independently licensed and nationally 
certified school psychologist. In addition to her 19 year career of public school service, she has 
served as adjunct faculty at Notre Dame College and Kent State University where she instructs 
college level pre-service teachers in assessment for disabilities, strategies to increase 
achievement motivation among struggling learners, progress monitoring and intervention 







 


 
   48 


adherence, and reflective teaching practice using data-based decision making. As an independent 
consultant, Ms. Naidu provides professional development and conducts special education, 
curriculum, and equity audits to local school districts. Ms. Naidu is a mixed-methods researcher 
focused in evidence-based practices and equity in special education, completing her dissertation 
entitled Voices of Special Education Leaders: Perspectives on Implementation of Evidence 
Based Practices. Ms. Naidu has published and presented in areas of effective multi-disciplinary 
team collaboration, Functional Behavior Assessment (FBA), removing barriers for students in 
poverty, creating achievement opportunities, and effective partnerships and collaborations for 
low-incidence disabilities. 


Alice Parker, Ed.D. is C&J’s National Director of Special Education. She has more than 40 
years of experience in the classroom as a building principal, a district administrator, and an 
assistant superintendent of public instruction for California. Her areas of expertise include public 
policy and practice as well as special education models that meet federal and state compliance 
but are rooted in the Response to Intervention approach and are focused on improved outcomes 
for all children at risk of school failure. She has worked as a consultant to state departments of 
education, local school districts, and charter management organizations and agencies and 
provided support, consultation, and training in improving leadership; reducing disproportion; 
supporting effective education programs for adjudicated youth; and implementing Response to 
Intervention, inclusive preschool options, and systems change. Parker has a doctorate from the 
University of San Francisco in Education-Organization and Leadership, a Masters in 
Communicative Disorders from San Francisco State University, and a B.A. from Indiana 
University in Speech Pathology and Audiology. 


Alexa Posney, Ph.D. has almost four decades of experience in education, from classroom 
teacher to Chief State School Officer to Assistant Secretary of the Office of Special Education 
and Rehabilitative Services in the U.S. Department of Education. Dr. Posny was most recently 
the Senior Vice President of State and Federal Programs for Renaissance Learning. 


Dr. Posny served as Assistant Secretary of the Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative 
Services (OSERS) in the U.S. Department of Education from 2009-2012. In this position, she 
played a pivotal role in policy and management issues affecting special education and 
rehabilitative services across the country. She also served as the principal adviser to the U.S. 
Secretary of Education on all matters related to special education. Prior to arriving at the 
Department, Dr. Posny served as the Commissioner of Education for the Kansas State 
Department of Education (KSDE) from 2007-2009, Director of the Office of Special Education 
Programs for the U.S. Department of Education (2006 -2007), deputy commissioner of education 
at KSDE (2001-2006), state director of special education at KSDE (1999 to 2001), and the 
director of special education for the Shawnee Mission School District in Overland Park, KS 
(1997-1999). Prior to that, she was the Director of the Curriculum and Instruction Specialty 
Option as part of the Title 1 Technical Assistance Center (TAC) network of TACs across the 
United States and a Senior Research Associate at Research and Training Associates in Overland 
Park, KS. Dr. Posny has also served on the board of directors for the Chief State School Officers 
and the National Council for Learning Disabilities and chaired the National Assessment 
Governing Board’s Special Education Task Force. 


Dr. Posny earned her Ph.D. in educational administration from the University of Wisconsin at 
Madison, where she also minored in special education. She earned a master’s degree in 







 


 
   49 


behavioral disabilities from the University of Wisconsin at Madison and a bachelor’s degree in 
sociology and psychology from the University of Wisconsin at Stevens Point. 


Connie Wehmeyer, Ph.D., is an associate partner and the Director of Teaching and Learning for 
Cross & Joftus, has more than 30 years of experience as a teacher, teacher leader, assistant 
superintendent of teaching and learning, and school improvement specialist for the Kansas State 
Department of Education. Her areas of expertise include curriculum and instruction, school and 
district improvement, and educational leadership. She recently developed a training and delivery 
model to support district and state implementation of the Common Core Standards. Support 
resources include a needs assessment to determine district readiness and guide the planning 
process and on-line clearinghouse of vetted resources that include instructional supports for 
ELA/Literacy and math, teacher and principal professional development, and parent 
communication. Wehmeyer has lead Root Cause Analysis work at the district and state level to 
identify effective use of Title Program dollars, improve processes and procedures to support 
student learning, and guide educational program development. She has significant experience 
with needs analysis and technical assistance to turnaround schools and districts resulting in 
increased student achievement for all students in low performing schools and districts. Her work 
with districts has resulted in articulated instructional frameworks, professional development 
plans, classroom observations tools and protocols, and professional learning community 
structures and processes. 


Wehmeyer earned a Ph.D. in Curriculum and Instruction and a Master’s in Educational 
Leadership from the University of Kansas and a Bachelor’s in Elementary Education from 
Pittsburg State University. She holds credentials as a building leader and school district 
superintendent. 


Robin Wisniewski, Ph.D. is director of Education Systems Improvement at RTI International, a 
licensed psychologist, and nationally certified school psychologist. She has been consulting with 
school districts and related education organizations for 17 years and spent 13 years in 
universities as a faculty member (tenured), graduate program director, acting associate dean, 
fellow to an academic vice president, academic success administrator, and director of a center for 
students with learning and attention challenges. In these positions she served at-risk students, 
taught special education courses. As director of research and consulting at McREL International, 
Dr. Wisniewski led systems improvement efforts for the Republic of Palau with goals of closing 
achievement gaps and increasing graduation rates and led numerous equity-focused local 
continuous improvement efforts 20 states (e.g., in special education, literacy, instruction, 
standards and assessment), including a redesign of the professional learning system of all school 
districts in Florida. Dr. Wisniewski has taught 132 course sections in higher education and led 
over 300 presentations, seminars, and sessions for school districts, universities, and organizations 
with education missions. 
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Letters	of	Reference	
  











 


810 First St. NE, Ninth Floor, Washington, DC 20002 • Phone: (202) 727-6436 TTY: 711 • osse.dc.gov 


 
 
September 13, 2017 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
I am writing this letter as a reference for the education consulting firm Cross & Joftus (C&J). 
 
I got to know C&J right before the 2014-15 school year.  We at the District of Columbia’s 
Office of the State Superintendent of Education (OSSE) were looking to improve our 
support for low-performing schools when Scott Joftus, president of C&J, presented the 
work that they had done for five years in Kansas called the Learning Network.  We were 
impressed with the results of the work but also appreciated the approach, which focused 
on building the capacity of school leadership teams through collaboration and performance 
management.   
 
As a result, we hired C&J to work with our eight lowest performing schools (DCPS and 
charters) during the 2014-15 school year.  The launch of the LSN in both the DCPS and 
charter schools was met with a level of skepticism and, in some cases, resistance. However, 
resistance faded as it became apparent to educators and administrators that C&J’s team 
was knowledgeable and that they were effective collaborators and coaches who did not 
come across as “above it all.”  C&J coaches rolled up their sleeves and applied gentle 
pressure to principals in staying focused on the strategies that emerged from careful root 
cause analyses as well as the support the principals needed to be successful. 
 
Based on the feedback we received from educators and administrators and data we 
collected on the schools’ progress, we expanded the Learning Support Network in school 
year 2015-16 and then again in 2016-17, when C&J worked with the 25 lowest performing 
schools in Washington, DC. 
 
Throughout the three years that C&J has worked with OSSE to manage the Learning 
Support Network, C&J has been a wonderful partner.  Their team is made up of 
experienced, thoughtful educators who have served in almost every capacity in public 
education.  This experience, I believe, gives them the understanding that there is no silver 
bullet in education but rather that improvement takes focus, effective coaching, content 
expertise, constant capacity building, and outstanding performance management.  The C&J 
team helps us and the schools track progress in a way that improves implementation and 
leads to results. 
 
And we are beginning to see results.  For example, of the 16 participating priority schools 
with which C&J worked during the 2016-17 school year, 11 schools showed gains in math 
with nine of them outpacing average gains for all schools in the District. In ELA, 13 out of 
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16 schools showed gains in ELA from the previous school year, all of them outpacing 
average gains for all schools in the District.   
 
Although it is impossible to attribute the gains in student achievement to the Learning 
Support Network (or any other initiative) alone, almost all participating principals cited in 
interviews that the LSN is a great benefit to them and a significant contributor to their 
schools’ improvement. 
 
We are proud of the work we have accomplished with the support of Cross & Joftus, and I 
wouldn’t hesitate to recommend them to any school system looking to improve. Feel free to 
contact me at sharon.gaskins@dc.gov or at (202) 654-6112 to discuss my experience 
working with C&J in further detail.  
 
Sincerely, 
 


 
 
Sharon Gaskins 
Deputy Assistant Superintendent 
Division of Elementary, Secondary and Specialized Education 
 



mailto:sharon.gaskins@dc.gov
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Project	Team	Full	Resumes	







!
Christopher T. Cross 
109$Sunhaven$Rd.$|$Danville,$CA$94506$|$925:314:1863$Office$|$925:683:4877$Cell$|$chris@edstrategies.net$
!
Experience$
!


Private!Sector$
Chairman,$Cross$&$Joftus,$LLC$ 2004$present+
Independent$Consultant$and$Author$ 2001$2004+
President$and$Chief$Executive$Officer,$Council$for$Basic$Education$ 1994$2001+
Executive$Director$Education$Initiative,$The$Business$Roundtable$ 1991$1994+
Vice:Chairman,$Macro$Systems,$Inc.,$a$Maryland:based$professional$services$technical$assistance$and$
training$company$


1989+


President$and$Executive$Vice$President$(Chief$Operating$Officer),$University$Research$Corporation,$a$
Maryland:based$professional$services,$research$and$information$services$company$


1983$1988+


Manager$Federal$Systems,$Westinghouse$Information$Services,$Westinghouse$Learning$Corporation$ 1980$1983+
Director$of$Public$Policy$Analysis$&$Director,$Washington$Office$Operations,$Abt$Associates,$Inc.$ 1978$1980+
+


Public!Sector$
President,$Maryland$State$Board$of$Education,$member$since$1993$ 1994$1997+
Assistant$Secretary$for$Educational$Research$and$Improvement,$U.S.$Department$of$Education$ 1989$1991+
Republican$Staff$Director$and$Senior$Education$Consultant,$U.S.$House$of$Representatives$Committee$on$
Education$and$Labor$


1972$1978+


Deputy$Assistant$Secretary$for$Legislation$(Education),$U.S.$Department$of$Health,$Education,$and$Welfare$ 1970$1972+
$


Education 
$


Leadership$Development$Program$University$of$Maryland,$Center$for$Creative$Leadership$ 1988+
Master$of$Arts$(Government),$California$State$University,$Los$Angeles$ 1970+
Bachelor$of$Arts$(Political$Science),$Whittier$College,$California$ 1962+
+


Professional Activities 
 


Member,$Advisory$Board,$Division$of$Behavior,$Social$Science$and$Education$(DBASSE),$National$
Research$Council,$National$Academy$of$Sciences$
Commissioner,$Western$Association$of$Schools$and$Colleges,$Senior$Division$


2012$present+
+


2011$present+
Member,$President’s$Advisory$Council,$Alliance$for$Excellent$Education$ +2011$present+
Advisory$Board,$National$Center$for$Time$and$Learning$ 2008$present+
Board$of$Directors,$New$Teacher$Project$ 2001$2013+
Distinguished$Senior$Fellow,$Education$Commission$of$the$States$ 2001$2007,+


2013$present+
Senior$Fellow,$Center$on$Education$Policy$ 2001$2005+
Consultant,$School$Evaluation$Service,$Standard$and$Poor's$ 2000$2005+
Board$of$Directors,$EdSource$ 2003$2009+
Chair,$National$Council$on$Education$and$Human$Resources,$Graduate$School$on$Education$and$Human$
Resources,$George$Washington$University$


2000$2001+


Board$of$Advisors,$Schoolnet.com$ 2000$2010+
Member,$U.S.$Education$For$All$Assessment$Report$Oversight$Commission$ 2000$2002+
Member,$Board$of$Trustees$Vice:Chair$of$Academic$Affairs$Committee,$Whittier$College$ 2000$2011+
Member,$Board$of$Visitors$College$of$Education,$University$of$Maryland$ 2000$2001+
Chair$National$Research$Council$Panel$on$the$Representation$of$Minorities$in$Special$Education,$National$
Academy$of$Sciences$


1999$2002+


Board$of$Directors,$Teacher$Education$Accreditation$Council$$ 1999$2002+
Member,$PEW$Forum$on$Standards:based$Education$ 1997$2001+
Member,$Maryland$K:16$Educational$Leadership$Council$ 1997–2001+
Chair,$Board$of$Directors,$Center$on$Education$Policy$ 1997$2001+
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Professional Activities (cont.) 
$
Member$Board$of$International$Comparative$Studies$In$Education,$National$Research$Council,$National$
Academy$of$Sciences$


+
+


1995$2001+


Chair,$Independent$Review$Panel$on$the$Evaluation$of$Federal$Education$Programs,$U.S.$Department$of$
Education$


1995$2001+


Executive$Board,$Consortium$for$Policy$Research$in$Education$(CPRE)$ 1995$2005+
Member,$Board$of$Directors,$American$Institutes$for$Research$(AIR)$ 1993$2007+
Advisory$Committee,$Superintendents$Prepared,$an+urban+leadership+development+consortium+of+the+
Institute+for+Educational+Leadership,+Joint+Center+for+Political+and+Economic+Studies,+and+the+McKenzie+
Group$


1991$1996+


Member,$National$Education$Commission$on$Time$and$Learning$ 1992$1994+
Member,$Board$of$Directors,$Institute$for$Educational$Leadership$ $ 1992$1994+
Team$Captain,!The!Prune!Book,!Council$for$Excellence$in$Government$(Madison$Books,$1992)$ 1992+
Member,$U.S.$delegation$to$the$U.S.:Japan$Conference$on$Cultural$and$Education$Interchange$(CULCON)$ 1991+
Member,$Advisory$Council$on$Arts$Education,$National$Endowment$for$the$Arts$ 1991$1993+
Co:Leader,$U.S.$Department$of$Labor:sponsored$delegation$–$members+represented+government,+
business,+and+labor+leadership+initiative+toward+an+understanding+of+the+education+and+training+of+the+
Japanese+workforce$


1990+


Member,$U.S.$delegation$at$the$World$Conference$on$Education$for$All$“Meeting$Basic$Learning$Needs”$
in$Jom$Tiem,$Thailand,$sponsored+by+various+member+United+Nations+agencies$


1990+


Member,$U.S.$Holocaust$Memorial$Council$ 1989$1991+
Chairman,$Working$Group,$Committee$on$Education$and$Human$Resources,$Federal$Coordinating$
Council$for$Science,$Engineering$and$Technology$(EHR/FCCSET)$


1989$1991+


U.S.$Member,$Governing$Board$of$the$Center$for$Educational$Research$and$Development$of$the$
Organization$for$Economic$Cooperation$and$Development$and$the$Center$for$Education$Research$and$
Innovation$(OECD/CERI)$


1989$1991+


Member,$National$Assessment$Governing$Board$(NAGB)$ 1989$1991+
Team$Captain,$The!Prune!Book,!Council$for$Excellence$in$Government$(Madison$Books,$1988)$ 1988+
Chairman,$Laboratory$Review$Panel,$U.S.$Department$of$Education$
Member,$National$Research$Council/National$Academy$of$Sciences$Panel$on$Education$Evaluation$


1987$1989+
1979$1981+


$


Professional Membership/Honors 
+


Director,$Council$for$Excellence$in$Government$ 1986$1989+
Member,$U.S.$Chamber$of$Commerce,$Council$on$Procurement$Policy$ 1985$1989+
Member,$American$Society$of$Training$and$Development$ 1984$1989+
Member,$American$Educational$Research$Association$ 1980$1991+
Professional$Services$Council$ 1980$1989+


! Member,$Executive$Committee$ 1988$1989+
! Vice$Chairman$ 1983$1985+
! Chairman,$Government$Relations$Committee$ 1988+


Recipient$of$numerous$citations$from$the$Professional$Services$Council$for$industry$leadership$in$areas$
related$to$Federal$procurement$


1978$1989+


Recipient$of$the$Secretary’s$Special$Citation$from$HEW$Secretary$Elliot$L.$Richardson$ 1973+
$


Selected Publications and Presentations 
+ +


Political(Education:(Setting(the(Course(for(State(and(Federal(Policy,+Teachers+College+Press,+New+York,+2014.+
(


Political(Education:(National(Policy(Comes(of(Age,+Teachers+College+Press,+New+York,+2003.+
+


Mathematics(Learning(in(Early(Childhood:(Paths(Toward(Excellence(and(Equity,+Christopher+T.+Cross,+Taniesha+A.+Woods,+
and+Heidi+Schweingruber,+Editors;+Committee+on+Early+Childhood+Mathematics;+National+Research+Council+,+2009.+
+


Minority(Students(in(Gifted(and(Special(Education,+edited+by+Donovan+and+Christopher+T.+Cross,+National+Academy+Press,+
Washington,+DC,+2002.+
+
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+


“The+U.S.+Needs+a+National+Policy+on+Education,”+Teachers(College(Record,+July+6,+2015.+
+


“How+to+Confront+America’s+International+Skills+Gap,”+Education+Week,+June+24,+2015.+
+


“The+Shaping+of+Federal+Education+Policy+Over+Time,”+Education(Commission(of(the(States,+Volume+16,+Number+2,+May+
2015.+
+


"A+Chance+for+Education,"+The(Baltimore(Sun,(January+8,+2001.+
"Assessment,+TIMSS$R,+And+the+Challenge+to+Change,"+Basic(Education,(Volume+45,+Number+5,+January+2001.+
+


Putting(the(Pieces(Together:(Lessons(from(Comprehensive(School(Reform(Research,+National+Center+on+Comprehensive+
School+Reform,+George+Washington+University,+2004.+
+


"The+Role+of+the+Principal+as+Instructional+Leader+in+a+Standards$Driven+System,"+NASSP(Bulletin,(Volume+84,+Number+620,+++
December+2000.+
+


"The+Passing+of+an+American+Hero,"+The(Rock:(The(Magazine(Whittier(College,+Volume+71,+Number+2,+Fall+2000.+
++


“Too+Much+of+a+Good+Thing,”+Basic(Education,+Volume+45,+Number+2,+October+2000.+
+


“Academic+Standards+and+Comprehensive+School+Reform,”+The(National(Clearinghouse(For(Comprehensive(School(Reform,(


September+2000.(
+


Review+of+The(Academic(Achievement(Challenge:(What(Really(Works(in(the(Classroom,(Jeanne+S.+Chall,+American(School(


Board(Journal,(June+2000.+
+


“A+Tax+Cut+That+Keeps+on+Giving,”+Washington(Post,$August+14,+1999.+
“It’s+Time+for+Congress+to+Repeal+the+Foundation+Tax,”+The(Chronicle(of(Philanthropy,(July+29,+1999.+
“Standards+and+Local+Control:+‘Clarifying+the+School+Board’s+Role,’”+The(American(School(Board(Journal,(April+1999.+
“Education+reform+takes+a+regional+focus,”+The(Baltimore(Sun,(March+1999.+
“Retirees+in+the+Classroom,”+The(Washington(Post,(December+31,+1998.+
“The+Standards+Wars:+Some+Lessons+Learned,”+Education(Week,(October+21,+1998.+
“Stretching+Students’+Minds+in+Basic+Education,”+Educational(Leadership,(March+1998.+
“Are+Academic+Standards+a+Threat+or+an+Opportunity?”+NASSP(Bulletin,(September+1997.+
“U.S.+Educational+System+Seeks+Wholesale+Reform,”+Forum(for(Applied(Research(and(Public(Policy,+Volume+12,+Number+3,+
Fall+1997.+
+“LAUSD+is+Setting+the+Right+Standards,”+The(Los(Angeles(Daily(News,(July+2,+1997.+
“The+Superintendent’s+Role+in+State+Assessments,”+The(School(Administrator,(September+1997.+
“Stumping+for+Standards,”+Education(Week,(April+9,+1997.++
“Using+Standards+in+Charter+Schools,”+Presentation(at(the(Charter(School(Developer(Conference,(Teacher+College.+
“The+Downsizing+of+Corporate+Philanthropy,”+Education(Week,(June+7,+1995.+
“Making+Sense+of+the+New+Standards,”+The(College(Board(Review,(Spring+1994.+
“Shall+We+Put+the+‘E’+Back+in+H.E.W.?”+Education(Week,(February+9,+1994.+
“Proceed+with+Caution,”+Teacher,+October+1993.+
“Policy+Analysts+and+Researchers,”+Federal(Policy(Options(for(Improving(the(Education(of(LowOIncome(Students,(Volume(II,(


Commentaries,(Institute+on+Education+and+Training,+RAND+Corporation,+Spring+1993,+edited+by+Iris+C.+Rothberg.+
“Education+Standards:+A+Question+of+Time?”+Education(Week,(April+21,+1993.+
“Advice+to+a+New+Administration,”+Education(Week,(February+3,+1993.++
“Will+Congress+Save+Our+Schools+from+the+Tyranny+of+Red+Tape?”+Phi(Delta(Kappan,(April+1993,+written+with+S.+Nathan+
Cross.+
“From+The+Business+Roundtable:+A+Business+Perspective+on+Education,”+National(Issues(in(Education/The(Post(is(Prologue,(
Phi+Delta+Kappan+and+the+Institute+for+Educational+Leadership,+1993,+Edited+by+John+F.+Jennings.+
“Student+Effort:+The+Key+to+Higher+Standards,”+Educational(Leadership,(written+with+Tommy+Tomlinson.+
Speaker+at+annual+conferences+of+many+major+national+associations+and+at+state$level+meetings+on+education+reform+
including+the+National+School+Board+Association,+the+American+Association+of+School+Administrators,+the+Association+for+
Supervision+and+Curriculum+Development,+the+National+Association+of+State+Boards+of+Education,+and+the+Education+
Commission+on+the+States.++1973$Present.+
!







  


  


RICHARD CHOE SEDER 


1464 Halekoa Drive 
Honolulu, Hawaii 96821 


Summary of Professional Experience 


Richard Seder brings nearly 20 years of working in partnership with school and system leaders to take on 
education’s chronic and persistent challenges through policy and systems analysis, research and 
evaluation, change management and coaching, and evidence use. He has worked with local, state, and 
national and international policymakers on school finance adequacy and equity and the design and 
implementation of effective and efficient school funding formulas.  


Education 
PhD, Education Policy and Governance, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, 2009. 
MS, Public Policy and Management, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, 1997.  
BA, Economics and Management, Beloit College, Beloit, WI, 1994. 


Selected Project Experience 
State of Wyoming (2005 to Present)—Consultant. Provided policy analysis and development to the 
Wyoming State Legislature on issues of monitoring and accountability, equitable and adequate school 
funding, and educator effectiveness; systems analysis for the Attorney General’s Office of School Finance 
Litigation; and implementation assistance to the Wyoming Department of Education and School Facilities 
Department with emphasis on data collection, management, reporting, and use. 


Pacific needs assessments and scans (2015 to 2016)—Principal Investigator. Conducted educational 
needs assessments and systems maps with educational leaders in Hawaii, American Samoa, the 
Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, Guam, Federated States of Micronesia, Republic of the 
Marshall Islands, and Republic of Palau. Through partnership-level engagements, worked with school and 
system leaders to assess internal culture, conditions, and capacities to improve educational outcomes in 
each entity. Developed initial capacities to use improvement science tools and organize Networked 
Improvement Communities to pursue the work of improvement. 


Office of Program Administration and Compliance (2015)—Principal Investigator. Provided technical 
assistance to the Hawaii Department of Education in reviewing their reorganization with special attention 
to the proposed Office of Program Administration and Compliance. Created the job description and 
minimum requirements for the director. 


Regional Educational Laboratory for the Pacific Region (2012 to 2013)—Associate Director. Under 
contract with the Institute of Education Sciences, the research arm of the U.S. Department of Education, 
coordinated analytical technical assistance and research and evaluation services to build a deep, cohesive 
body of knowledge around critical problems of practice and policy identified by local research-practice 
partnerships across the U.S.-affiliated Pacific region. Served as the lead for all research and evaluation 
projects serving the research-practice partnerships. 
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Relevant Professional Experience 
2005 to date Emergent Policy & Systems, Inc., Honolulu, HI. 


 Systems Improvement Consultant. Assisted national, state, and local stakeholders 
with policy and systems analysis, research and evaluation, development of 
legislation and rules and regulations, and implementation in preschool, K–12, 
and higher education. Served on the State of Hawaii Department of Education 
technical advisory group providing methodological and policy analysis related to 
the state’s educator effectiveness system. Developed systems, processes, and 
formal rules and regulations for newly created state agency to improve 
effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery to internal and external 
stakeholders. Performed domestic and international cost studies and developed 
comprehensive school funding systems that recognize dual requirements of 
equity and adequacy, including review of formula weights and overall funding 
levels to reflect district, school, and student needs. Investigated early childhood 
development finance and governance structures in Cambodia, Lao PDR, Angola, 
and Tajikistan. Developed ECD teachers data collection instrument for UNESCO 
and Southeast Asia Ministers of Education Organization. Assessed multiagency 
information management needs and developed action plans to improve accuracy, 
reliability, accessibility, and timeliness of data; managed cross-agency data 
exchange using memoranda of understanding. Engaged state department, 
legislative, and school stakeholders to identify meaningful, relevant, and 
actionable indicators for purposes of continuous improvement and accountability, 
and ensured methodological soundness of analytical approaches and reporting. 


2015 to 2017 RTI International, Honolulu, HI. 


 Director of Education Partnerships. Provide vision and strategy development, 
analytical technical assistance, research and evaluation, and implementation 
guidance to existing and emerging multidisciplinary school–community 
partnerships in Hawaii, the mainland United States, and across the Pacific. 
Conduct comprehensive needs assessments, root cause analyses, systems 
visioning, asset mapping, readiness assessments, and goal-setting activities to 
support partnership needs. Guide partnerships through disciplined continuous 
improvement processes that emphasize learning within the partnership and across 
partnerships through networks. Assist philanthropy in transitioning strategic 
plans into implementation plans to better identify points of entry and support. 
Serve as an intermediary broker to connect service needs with appropriate service 
providers. 


 


2006 to 2008 Office of the Secretary of Education, Sacramento, CA. 


 Education Policy Fellow. Investigated pressing policy issues confronting 
California public schools including resource allocation and long-term debt of 
schools and institutions of higher education. Developed policy alternatives and 
strategies for California Secretary of Education. Reviewed and translated 
comprehensive set of research conducted on the finance, governance, and 
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efficiency of California’s public education system for the agency, and 
coordinated policy efforts with various state agencies and stakeholder groups. 


2004 to 2007 University of Southern California, California Policy Institute, Sacramento, CA. 


 Education Policy Program Director. Synthesized and summarized leading 
research to inform general public on direct ballot initiatives on issues of school 
finance, higher education accountability, early childhood education, and teacher 
quality. Secured external funding for projects translating academic research to 
more effectively engage state policymakers and connecting pressing policy issues 
to researchers. Developed outreach strategies positioning University of Southern 
California–based research into the hands of practitioners and policymakers. 


2001 to 2004 Management Analysis & Planning, Inc., Davis, CA. 


 Senior Consulting Associate. Performed education policy, program, and 
management analyses for national, state, and local governments and 
organizations. Designed and implemented cost studies of core education and 
opportunity-to-learn programs. Led the development of effective and efficient 
research-based solutions to improve public education systems, including the 
development of systems, processes, and technology solutions. Provided litigation 
support in school funding adequacy lawsuits across the nation. 


2000 to 2001 Standard & Poor’s School Evaluation Services, New York, NY. 


 School Evaluation Services Associate. Analyzed school administrative data to 
provide unbiased information to school district officials, policymakers, parents, 
taxpayers, and other interested community groups. Designed and implemented 
statistical methodologies for consistent data analysis, and formed best-practice 
identification strategy of school districts with similar circumstances in urban, 
suburban, and rural settings. 


2000 to 2000 Reason Public Policy Institute, Los Angeles, CA. 


 Director of Education Policy Program. Advised local, state, and national 
policymakers on unique and innovative governance, accountability, and 
management strategies, including the use of public-private partnerships. 
Developed and managed research agenda, funding proposals, staff, and budgets. 


1996 to 1997 Allegheny County Public Schools Systems Synthesis Project, Pittsburgh, PA. 


 Project Manager. Evaluated 43 independent public school districts within 
Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, using four criteria: accountability, autonomy, 
efficiency, and equity. Performed quantitative and qualitative analyses of 
budgets, student performance data, surveys, and on-site interviews of urban, 
suburban, and rural school leaders. Presented findings and recommendations to 
panel of education leaders, researchers, and community members. 


Professional Service 
President, Hawaii Educational Research Association, 2016 & 2017 
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MICHAEL GOETZ 
201 Widgeon Way 


Georgetown, KY 40324 
(513) 301-4641 


www.rsecllc.com 
michael.goetz@rsecllc.com 


 
 


EDUCATION 
 
University of Wisconsin—Madison – Madison, WI    2012 
Ph.D., Department of Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis 
Concentrations in school finance policy and research methods. Dissertation:  When money really 
matters:  Tying specific programmatic and instructional elements to student academic growth, using 
3-level HLM analysis of a representative sample of 1st grade students. 
 
Washington University in St. Louis – St. Louis, MO    1996 
B.A., College of Arts and Sciences 
Concentrations in educational foundations, political science, and history 
 
 


EXPERIENCE 
 
Research on Social and Educational Change (RSEC) – Georgetown, KY 2003-present 
Executive Director 
Work with policymakers and academics to analyze fiscal data and develop models for PK-12 
school finance adequacy in Arkansas, Arizona, Kentucky, Maine, North Dakota, Texas, 
Washington, and Wyoming. Analyze school-level resource strategies in Arkansas, Maine, North 
Dakota, Washington, and Wyoming. Develop a cost framework for preschool education and 
research effective district-level resource reallocation tools. Clients include Bill and Melinda Gates 
Foundation, Council for Better Education, Foundation for Child Development, National 
Academies, Jefferson County Public Schools, Picus Odden & Associates, and several legislative 
and gubernatorial committees. 
 
Allovue – Baltimore, MD (remote)      2016-2017 
Director of Research 
Conceptualized products to link school/district fiscal resources to student academic learning. 
Productized intra-district equity analyses, fiscal case studies, and experimental and quasi-
experimental effectiveness research. Infused research design into professional development, 
customer service, and technology departments.  
 
University of Wisconsin—Madison – Madison, WI    2008-2009 
Instructor, Department of Educational Leadership and Policy Analysis 
Taught graduate-level courses in Financing Elementary and Secondary Education. Developed 
syllabi, delivered lectures, and facilitated discussions on issues of school finance at the national, 
state, district, and school levels. 
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Consortium for Policy Research in Education (CPRE) – Madison, WI  2003-2008 
Research Staff 
Analyzed the correlation between school fiscal resources, teacher practice, and student academic 
growth. Determined the level and distribution of resources in schools undergoing comprehensive 
school reform. Designed school finance adequacy models for the Wisconsin public school finance 
system. Researched school level resource allocation in five states. Built a national and state level 
model of school finance. Reviewed human resource structures of alternative teacher and 
administrator programs. 
 


SELECTED PUBLICATIONS 
 
Borman, G., Goetz, M., & Dowling, M. (2009). Halting the summer achievement slide:  A 
randomized evaluation of the KindergARTen Summer Camp. Journal of Education for Students 
Placed At Risk, 14(2), 133-147. 
 
Odden, A., Goetz, M., & Picus, L. (2008). Using available evidence to estimate the cost of 
educational adequacy. Education Finance and Policy, 3(3), 374-397. 
 
Odden, A., Goertz, M., Goetz, M., Archibald, S., Gross, B., Weiss, M., & Mangan, M. (2008). The 
cost of instructional improvement:  Resource allocation in schools using comprehensive strategies 
to change classroom practice. Journal of Education Finance. 2008, 33(4), 382-405. 
 
Odden, A., Goetz, M., & Picus, L. (2010). Merging costs with effective resource strategies. In J. 
Adams, Smart money:  Using educational resources to accomplish ambitious learning goals. 
Cambridge, MA:  Harvard Education Press, 141-156. 
 
 


SELECTED PRESENTATIONS 
 
Goetz, M. (2016, October). A Talk on ESSA and Funding Equity. Presentation at the Florida 
Association of School Business Officials (FASBO) 2016 Annual Conference, St. Augustine, FL. 
 
Goetz, M. & Katz, L. (2016, September). How EdFinTech Supports Financial Analysis for Schools 
and Equity for Students. Presentation at the Education Technology Innovation Summit (ETIS), 
Baltimore, MD. 
 
Picus, L., Goetz, M., Taylor, L., O’Donnell, M., & Willmarth, M. (2014, March). Wyoming School 
Finance:  Fifteen Years of Reform. Presentation at the meeting of the Association for Education 
Finance and Policy (AEFP), San Antonio, Texas. 
 
Goetz, M. (2013, March). When money really matters: Tying resources of specific programmatic 
and instructional elements to student academic growth. Presentation at the meeting of the 
Association for Education Finance and Policy (AEFP), New Orleans, Louisiana. 
 
Goetz, M. (2010, March). Including community and parent engagement in estimating the national 
cost of an integrated pre-K-3rd program. Presentation at the meeting of the American Education 
Finance Association (AEFA), Richmond, Virginia. 
 
Goetz, M., Baker, B., & Imazeki, J. (2007, March). The political and economic impact of utilizing 
different approaches to adjusting for the varying purchasing power of the education dollar across 
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districts within a state. Presentation at the meeting of the American Education Finance Association 
(AEFA), Baltimore, MD. 
 


 
 
 


SELECTED TECHNICAL REPORTS AND WORKING PAPERS 
 
Goetz, M. Griffith, M., Odden, A., Picus, L., Aportela, A., & Williams, A. (2014). Adequacy for 
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Experience	
  
	
  


Vice	
  President,	
  Cross	
  &	
  Joftus,	
  LLC	
  
	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  	
  


Directs	
  a	
  series	
  of	
  projects	
  related	
  to	
  education	
  finance	
  reform	
  and	
  bridging	
  in-­‐school	
  and	
  out-­‐of-­‐school	
  
learning.	
  This	
  work	
  involves	
  policy	
  research,	
  data	
  collection	
  and	
  analyses,	
  strategic	
  planning,	
  meeting	
  
facilitation,	
  evaluation	
  and	
  technical	
  assistance	
  to	
  districts,	
  foundations,	
  non-­‐profits	
  and	
  policy	
  leaders.	
  	
  


	
  
Selected	
  Clients	
  and	
  Projects	
  include	
  the	
  following:	
  
	
  
• Wallace	
  Foundation	
  –	
  Providing	
  technical	
  assistance	
  on	
  financing	
  city	
  after	
  school	
  systems	
  for	
  nine	
  


cities.	
  Includes	
  the	
  development	
  of	
  tools	
  and	
  resources,	
  facilitating	
  webinars	
  and	
  meetings,	
  and	
  
working	
  one-­‐on-­‐one	
  with	
  individual	
  grantees.	
  	
  Ms.	
  Deich	
  is	
  also	
  directing	
  a	
  related	
  project	
  for	
  the	
  
Foundation	
  to	
  identify	
  areas	
  and	
  opportunities	
  for	
  summer	
  and	
  afterschool	
  programs	
  to	
  strengthen	
  
alignment	
  with	
  the	
  Common	
  Core	
  State	
  Standards.	
  


• Ford	
  Foundation	
  –Explore	
  and	
  document	
  promising	
  strategies	
  to	
  finance	
  expanded	
  learning	
  through	
  
district-­‐lead	
  initiatives.	
  


• Communities	
  in	
  Schools	
  –	
  Provide	
  support	
  to	
  senior	
  leadership	
  to	
  better	
  understand	
  the	
  cost	
  drivers	
  
and	
  revenue	
  sources	
  for	
  CIS	
  affiliates.	
  	
  	
  


• Hillsborough	
  School	
  District	
  (FL)	
  –	
  Support	
  the	
  development	
  of	
  a	
  principal	
  pipeline.	
  	
  Oversaw	
  the	
  
development	
  of	
  competencies	
  and	
  rubrics	
  to	
  assess	
  the	
  readiness	
  of	
  principal	
  candidates	
  and	
  created	
  a	
  
vacancy	
  forecasting	
  model	
  to	
  help	
  the	
  district	
  plan	
  more	
  strategically	
  for	
  principal	
  turnover.	
  


• Allentown	
  School	
  District	
  (PA)	
  –	
  Direct	
  a	
  resource	
  review	
  to	
  identify	
  opportunities	
  to	
  reallocate	
  
resources	
  to	
  better	
  meet	
  the	
  goals	
  of	
  the	
  district.	
  Coached	
  district	
  staff	
  during	
  in-­‐person	
  meetings	
  and	
  
via	
  webinar	
  to	
  enhance	
  capacity	
  to	
  assess	
  resource	
  use	
  and	
  allocations.	
  


• Kansas	
  Learning	
  Network	
  –	
  Conduct	
  an	
  analysis	
  of	
  Title	
  I	
  funding	
  to	
  support	
  district	
  planning	
  efforts	
  in	
  
Wichita;	
  supported	
  needs	
  assessment	
  teams	
  by	
  conducted	
  interviews	
  with	
  districts	
  staff,	
  community	
  
partners	
  and	
  students;	
  help	
  structure	
  the	
  design	
  and	
  delivery	
  of	
  cross-­‐site	
  TA	
  for	
  36	
  districts	
  (including	
  
network	
  meetings,	
  webinars	
  and	
  communities	
  of	
  practice).	
  	
  


• Summer	
  Learning	
  Association–	
  Provide	
  support	
  for	
  the	
  Association’s	
  work	
  on	
  access	
  and	
  participation	
  
and	
  summer	
  transition	
  programs	
  including	
  developing	
  a	
  methodology	
  for	
  conducting	
  supply	
  and	
  
demand	
  analyses	
  for	
  summer	
  programs	
  in	
  a	
  variety	
  of	
  cities	
  and	
  states. 


	
  
Associate	
  Director,	
  The	
  Finance	
  Project	
  
	
  


Directed	
  a	
  series	
  of	
  projects,	
  for	
  public	
  and	
  private	
  funders,	
  focusing	
  on	
  financing	
  and	
  sustaining	
  programs	
  
for	
  children	
  and	
  youth.	
  Many	
  of	
  these	
  projects	
  were	
  in	
  the	
  area	
  of	
  afterschool	
  programming,	
  youth	
  
development	
  and	
  education	
  reform.	
  Directed	
  three	
  large	
  national	
  technical	
  assistance	
  projects	
  that	
  
included	
  policy	
  research,	
  development	
  of	
  tools	
  and	
  other	
  resources,	
  customized	
  site-­‐based	
  technical	
  
assistance,	
  cross-­‐site	
  technical	
  assistance,	
  meeting	
  facilitation,	
  webinars	
  and	
  forums,	
  presentations	
  and	
  
workshops	
  at	
  national	
  and	
  local	
  meetings.	
  Management	
  responsibilities	
  included	
  business	
  development;	
  
board	
  support;	
  hiring,	
  mentoring	
  and	
  supervising	
  employees;	
  web	
  development;	
  and	
  outreach	
  and	
  
communications.	
  	
  	
  


	
  
Selected	
  Clients	
  and	
  Projects	
  included	
  the	
  following:	
  
	
  
• Cost	
  study	
  of	
  high-­‐quality	
  afterschool	
  programs;	
  in	
  partnership	
  with	
  Public/Private	
  Ventures	
  co-­‐direct	
  a	
  


study	
  to	
  collect	
  data	
  on	
  the	
  true	
  cost	
  of	
  afterschool	
  programs	
  and	
  systems	
  in	
  six	
  cities—Funded	
  by	
  the	
  
Wallace	
  Foundation	
  


	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  


2007-­‐present	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  


	
  
1998-­‐2007	
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• Supporting	
  the	
  Development	
  of	
  Statewide	
  Afterschool	
  Networks;	
  project	
  director	
  overseeing	
  technical	
  
assistance	
  that	
  included	
  developing	
  tools	
  and	
  materials	
  and	
  identification	
  of	
  promising	
  practices	
  related	
  
to	
  financing	
  and	
  sustainability,	
  meeting	
  facilitation,	
  support	
  for	
  annual	
  cross-­‐site	
  meeting	
  of	
  35	
  state	
  
teams,	
  and	
  assistance	
  to	
  individual	
  state	
  teams.—Funded	
  by	
  the	
  C.S.	
  Mott	
  Foundation	
  


• The	
  Afterschool	
  Investments	
  Project;	
  directed	
  this	
  technical	
  assistance	
  center	
  to	
  support	
  state	
  child	
  
care	
  administrators	
  and	
  their	
  partners	
  to	
  improve	
  the	
  quality	
  of	
  and	
  access	
  to	
  afterschool	
  programs	
  in	
  
partnership	
  with	
  the	
  National	
  Governors	
  Association.	
  	
  This	
  included	
  developing	
  tools	
  and	
  materials,	
  
identification	
  of	
  promising	
  practices	
  related	
  to	
  financing	
  and	
  sustainability,	
  meeting	
  facilitation,	
  support	
  
for	
  annual	
  cross-­‐site	
  meeting,	
  and	
  assistance	
  to	
  individual	
  state	
  teams—Funded	
  by	
  the	
  Federal	
  Child	
  
Care	
  Bureau	
  


• Provided	
  support	
  to	
  the	
  Grantmakers	
  Income	
  Security	
  Taskforce	
  (a	
  foundation	
  affinity	
  group);	
  
coordinated	
  meetings	
  and	
  developed	
  agendas	
  to	
  ensure	
  that	
  grantmakers	
  were	
  up	
  to	
  date	
  on	
  latest	
  
findings	
  and	
  to	
  facilitate	
  joint	
  grant-­‐making	
  opportunities	
  


• Developing	
  a	
  unit	
  cost	
  model	
  for	
  afterschool	
  in	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  County—Funded	
  by	
  the	
  Palm	
  Beach	
  
Children’s	
  Services	
  Council	
  


	
  
Senior	
  Research	
  Analyst,	
  American	
  Institutes	
  for	
  Research	
  
	
  


• Conducted	
  research	
  and	
  evaluation	
  studies	
  covering	
  a	
  wide	
  range	
  of	
  educational	
  and	
  human	
  service	
  
policy	
  issues.	
  


• Evaluated	
  new	
  and	
  existing	
  government	
  programs	
  
• Prepared	
  reports	
  for	
  and	
  briefing	
  policymakers	
  
• Developed	
  research	
  designs	
  and	
  databases	
  
• Administered	
  and	
  analyzed	
  surveys	
  
• Conducted	
  site	
  visits,	
  interviews,	
  panel	
  meetings,	
  and	
  training	
  conferences	
  
• Assisted	
  the	
  Head	
  Start	
  Bureau	
  in	
  revising	
  the	
  program	
  performance	
  standards,	
  accompanying	
  program	
  


guidance,	
  and	
  reviewed	
  and	
  revised	
  the	
  training	
  and	
  technical	
  assistance	
  network	
  
• Prepared	
  a	
  cost	
  feasibility	
  study	
  for	
  the	
  Part	
  H	
  program	
  
• Analyzed	
  data	
  from	
  the	
  National	
  Evaluation	
  of	
  the	
  Even	
  Start	
  Family	
  Literacy	
  Program	
  
• Developed	
  a	
  research	
  agenda	
  for	
  the	
  newly	
  established	
  Early	
  Childhood	
  Institute,	
  Office	
  of	
  Educational	
  


Research	
  and	
  Improvement,	
  U.S.	
  Department	
  of	
  Education	
  
	
  
Research	
  Associate,	
  The	
  Urban	
  Institute	
  
	
  


• Conducted	
  research	
  on	
  issues	
  related	
  to	
  income	
  security	
  policy	
  and	
  child	
  care	
  	
  
• Developed	
  the	
  survey	
  instrument	
  and	
  monitored	
  the	
  data	
  collection	
  process	
  for	
  the	
  1990	
  National	
  Child	
  


Care	
  Survey	
  (NCCS)	
  
• Conducted	
  data	
  analysis	
  and	
  report	
  preparation	
  for	
  NCCS	
  
• Acted	
  as	
  the	
  Project	
  Manager	
  and	
  Principle	
  Investigator	
  for	
  companion	
  studies	
  on	
  Military	
  families	
  and	
  


Low-­‐Income	
  Families	
  
• Developed	
  a	
  model	
  to	
  simulate	
  changes	
  in	
  the	
  State	
  Administrative	
  Expense	
  Formula	
  for	
  the	
  National	
  


School	
  Lunch	
  Program	
  
• Estimated	
  the	
  effect	
  of	
  valuing	
  school	
  nutrition	
  benefits	
  as	
  income	
  
• Developed	
  a	
  macroeconomic	
  forecasting	
  model	
  to	
  predict	
  the	
  number	
  of	
  meals	
  served	
  for	
  the	
  National	
  


School	
  Lunch	
  Program	
  
Evaluated	
  the	
  cost	
  and	
  redistributive	
  effects	
  of	
  a	
  variety	
  of	
  proposals	
  to	
  amend	
  the	
  child	
  care	
  tax	
  credit	
  
	
  


 
Education and Certifications 
	
  


Master	
  of	
  Public	
  Policy,	
  University	
  of	
  Michigan	
  Institute	
  of	
  Public	
  Policy	
  Studies	
  	
  
	
  
Bachelor	
  of	
  Science,	
  Economics,	
  State	
  University	
  of	
  New	
  York	
  at	
  Albany	
  


1984	
  
	
  


1979	
  
	
  


	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
1992-­‐	
  1997	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
1986-­‐1992	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  
	
  


	
  
1984	
  


	
  
1979	
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Selected Publications 
 
	
   	
  


Strengthening	
  Partnerships	
  and	
  Building	
  Public	
  Will	
  for	
  Out-­‐of-­‐School	
  Time	
  Programs,	
  with	
  Heather	
  
Padgette	
  and	
  Lane	
  Russell.	
  	
  Brief	
  prepared	
  for	
  the	
  National	
  League	
  of	
  Cities.	
  Spring	
  2010.	
  
	
  


Expanded	
  Learning	
  to	
  Support	
  School	
  Reform.	
  	
  Paper	
  prepared	
  for	
  National	
  Press	
  Club	
  Event,	
  January	
  12,	
  
2009.	
  	
  Learning	
  Points	
  Associates.	
  	
  January	
  2009.	
  
	
  


Dollars	
  and	
  Sense:	
  	
  A	
  First	
  Look	
  at	
  Financing	
  A	
  New	
  Day	
  for	
  Learning,	
  with	
  Heather	
  Padgette,	
  Paper	
  
prepared	
  for	
  the	
  Mott	
  Foundation.	
  	
  Cross	
  &	
  Joftus,	
  December	
  2008.	
  
	
  


Funding	
  Summer	
  Learning	
  Programs:	
  A	
  Scan	
  of	
  Public	
  Investments	
  in	
  Maryland,	
  with	
  H.	
  Padgette.	
  	
  Center	
  
For	
  Summer	
  Learning,	
  Johns	
  Hopkins	
  University,	
  Summer	
  2008.	
  
	
  


Thinking	
  Broadly:	
  Financing	
  Strategies	
  for	
  Youth	
  Programs,	
  Deich,	
  S.	
  and	
  Hayes,	
  C.	
  Washington	
  DC:	
  The	
  
Finance	
  Project,	
  2007	
  
	
  


Creating	
  Dedicated	
  Local	
  and	
  State	
  Revenues	
  for	
  Youth	
  Programs,	
  Sherman,	
  R.,	
  Deich,	
  S.,	
  and	
  Langford,	
  B.	
  	
  
Washington	
  DC:	
  The	
  Finance	
  Project,	
  2007	
  
	
  


Linking	
  and	
  Learning:	
  Lessons	
  for	
  Afterschool	
  from	
  Early	
  Childhood	
  Systems	
  Building	
  Efforts,	
  Stebbins,	
  H	
  and	
  
Deich,	
  S.	
  Washington	
  DC:	
  Afterschool	
  Investments	
  Project,	
  2007	
  
	
  


Afterschool	
  and	
  State	
  Education	
  Finance	
  Formulas:	
  A	
  Primer	
  for	
  Statewide	
  Afterschool	
  Networks,	
  Deich,	
  S.,	
  
with	
  Szkely,	
  A.	
  Washington	
  DC:	
  The	
  Finance	
  Project,	
  2006	
  
	
  


Promoting	
  Quality	
  in	
  Afterschool	
  Programs	
  through	
  State	
  Child	
  Care	
  Regulations,	
  Szkely,	
  A.	
  and	
  Deich,	
  S.	
  	
  
Washington	
  DC:	
  The	
  Finance	
  Project	
  2006	
  
	
  


Estimating	
  Supply	
  and	
  Demand	
  for	
  Afterschool	
  Programs:	
  A	
  Tool	
  for	
  State	
  and	
  Local	
  Policy	
  Makers,	
  E.	
  
Wright	
  and	
  S.	
  Deich.	
  Washington	
  DC:	
  Afterschool	
  Investments	
  Project	
  2004	
  
	
  


Using	
  Title	
  I	
  Funds	
  for	
  Out-­‐of-­‐School	
  Time	
  and	
  Community	
  School	
  Initiatives,	
  Deich,	
  S.,	
  Wegener,	
  V.,	
  and	
  
Wright,	
  E.	
  Washington,	
  DC:	
  The	
  Finance	
  Project,	
  2002.	
  
	
  


Accessing	
  Child	
  Care	
  Development	
  Funds	
  for	
  Out-­‐of-­‐School	
  Time	
  and	
  Community	
  School	
  Initiatives,	
  Deich,	
  
S.,	
  Bryant,E.,	
  and	
  Wright,E.,	
  Washington,	
  DC:	
  The	
  Finance	
  Project,	
  2001.	
  


	
  


A	
  Guide	
  to	
  Public-­‐Private	
  Partnerships	
  for	
  Out-­‐of-­‐School	
  Time	
  and	
  Community	
  School	
  Initiatives,	
  Deich,	
  S.	
  
(Washington,	
  DC:	
  The	
  Finance	
  Project,	
  2001).	
  
	
  


Financing	
  After-­‐School	
  Programs,	
  Halpern,	
  R.,	
  Cohen,	
  C.,	
  Deich,	
  S.	
  Washington,	
  DC:	
  The	
  Finance	
  	
  
Project,	
  2000.	
  
	
  


Review	
  and	
  Revision	
  of	
  the	
  Head	
  Start	
  Program	
  Training	
  and	
  Technical	
  Assistance	
  Network.	
  	
  Sherman,	
  R.	
  
Deich,	
  S.,	
  and	
  Benson,	
  S.	
  Pelavin	
  Research	
  Institute.	
  Report	
  prepared	
  for	
  the	
  Head	
  Start	
  Bureau,	
  U.S.	
  
Department	
  of	
  Health	
  and	
  Human	
  Services,	
  1996.	
  
	
  


Implementing	
  the	
  Part	
  E	
  Research	
  Agenda:	
  	
  A	
  Review	
  of	
  Grants	
  Funded	
  from	
  1984-­‐1994.	
  	
  Kane,	
  M.B.,	
  
Azzam,	
  R.,	
  Deich,	
  S.,	
  Dudzik,	
  P.,	
  Fein,	
  M.,	
  &	
  DelBorello,	
  D.	
  The	
  Chesapeake	
  Institute.	
  	
  Report	
  Prepared	
  for	
  
the	
  Office	
  of	
  Special	
  Education	
  Projects,	
  U.S.	
  Department	
  of	
  Education,	
  1995.	
  	
  	
  
	
  


Developing	
  Performance	
  Indicators	
  for	
  the	
  National	
  Educational	
  Research	
  and	
  Development	
  Centers.	
  	
  Deich,	
  
S.,	
  &	
  Reeve,	
  A.	
  Draft	
  Report	
  prepared	
  for	
  the	
  Office	
  of	
  Educational	
  Research	
  and	
  Improvement,	
  1994,	
  
	
  


Work-­‐Based	
  Learning.	
  	
  Deich,	
  S.	
  National	
  Assessment	
  of	
  Vocational	
  Education.	
  	
  Final	
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Virginia Adams Simon, Ed.D. 
2003	Baywood	Lane	|	Davis,	CA	95618	|	530-219-6266	| gasimon@me.com	
	


Experience	
Director	of	Professional	Capital,	CORE	Districts	 	 	 	 	 2013	to	2016	
Oversight	of	collaborative	work	to	design	new	teacher	and	leader	evaluation	systems	as	part	of	the	ESEA	waiver	received	
by	 eight	 California	 districts	 in	 2013.	 Responsibilities	 included	 gaining	 deep	 knowledge	 of	 each	 district,	 working	 with	
human	 resource	 professionals	 and	 content	 specialists,	 building	 consensus	 around	 key	 indicators	 of	 quality	 and	
effectiveness,	 designing	 a	 rigorous	 peer	 review	 process,	 facilitating	 professional	 learning	 opportunities,	 and	 creating,	
disseminating	and	curating	 relevant	 research.	Also	served	as	a	member	of	 the	 team	responsible	 for	selecting	a	vendor	
and	creating	the	CORE	growth	model.	
	


Beyond	fulfilling	waiver	requirements,	served	as	creator	and	coordinator	of	Re-Thinking	Leadership,	a	partnership	with	
Michael	 Fullan	 and	 Joanne	 Quinn	 to	 support	 districts	 in	 managing	 change	 and	 building	 coherent	 strategies	 for	
improvement.	This	entailed	designing	a	4-part	series	of	convenings,	retreats,	virtual	learning	and	book	studies	for	cross-
functional	district	 teams	over	a	 two-year	period.	Also	coordinated	 individual	district	coaching	visits	with	 teams	to	help	
maintain	momentum	and	progress	towards	goals.	
	
Senior	Associate,	Cross	&	Joftus,	LLC	 	 	 	 	 2006	-	2013	
Senior	Associate	in	education	consulting	group	headed	by	Christopher	Cross	and	Scott	Joftus.	Project	experience	in	this	
role	includes	the	following:	
	
Smithsonian	Center	for	Education	Museum	Studies	(SCEMS)	 	 	 	 April-November	2012	
Served	as	Project	Director	for	The	Digital	Learning	Resources	Project,	a	research	and	design	project	whose	principle	aim	
was	to	offer	guidance	for	the	transition	of	Smithsonian’s	digital	teaching	and	learning	resources	and	toolsets	into	a	new	
era.	The	scope	of	work	included	researching	the	current	landscape	and	literature	on	use	of	digital	resources	by	teachers	
and	students,	evaluating	the	current	online	environment	provided	by	SCEMS,	and	testing	new	toolsets,	taxonomies	and	
interface	 designs	 with	 teachers.	 	 Final	 work	 products	 included	 new	 digital	 prototypes,	 a	 literature	 review,	 an	
environmental	scan	and	full	research	report.	Personal	project	responsibilities	included:	
• Management	and	oversight	of	project	budget	and	staff	
• Management	and	oversight	of	technology	subcontractor	
• Weekly	phone	meeting	facilitation	and	documentation	
• Client	communications	and	management	
• Weekly	status	report	production		
• Primary	writer	and	coordinator	of	all	written	deliverables	
	
Los	Angeles	Unified	School	District	Charter	Schools	ARRA	Special	Education	Project		 	 				2011-2012	
Served	as	lead	writer	and	quality	control	manager	of	$3.5	million	contract	with	LAUSD	and	the	California	Charter	Schools	
Association.	Cross	&	Joftus	consultants	conducted	a	needs	assessment,	surveys	and	focus	groups	to	examine	the	delivery	
of	services	to	special	needs	students	in	LAUSD’s	Charter	Schools	and	provide	a	series	of	implementation	supports	to	fulfill	
recommendations.	Personal	program	responsibilities	included:	
• Site	visit	and	focus	group	coordination		
• Protocol	review	
• Review	and	creation	of	evaluation	instruments	
• Analysis	of	data	and	management	of	data	collection			
• Writing	and	presenting	final	report	of	findings		
• Stakeholder	engagement	
• Implementation	of	recommendations	planning	and	management	
• Management	of	technology	rich	classrooms	grant	competition	
• Assisting	in	the	development	and	management	of	two-day	Educational	Summit	
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California	Department	of	Education’s	Brokers	of	Expertise	Project		 	 	 	 2007-2010	
Served	as	project	manager	for	a	statewide	web	portal	and	virtual	 learning	community	for	educators	(www.myboe.org),	
sponsored	by	the	California	Department	of	Education.	Major	program	responsibilities	included:	
• Strategy	development		
• Work	Flow	Management	
• Research		
• Partnership	Development		
• Fundraising,	grant	writing	and	reporting	
• Documentation	of	System	Requirements	
• Implementation	Planning		
• Advisory	Council	Creation	and	Support		
• Pre-Service	Pilot	Coordinator	
	
University	of	California,	Davis,	School	of	Education	 	 	 	 	 	 2005-2009	
Lecturer	and	Policy	Analyst:	Served	as	Half-time	policy	analyst	for	the	UC	Davis	Center	for	Applied	Policy	in	Education	
(CAP-Ed).	Responsibilities	included:	
• Research	
• Development	and	management	of	Superintendents’	Executive	Leadership	Forum	(SELF)	
• Organization	of	symposia	
• Production	of	academic	papers	and	reports	
• Grant	writing	and	reporting	
• Teacher	of	undergraduate	course	The	Social	and	Philosophical	Foundations	of	Education		
	
The	Center	for	Greater	Philadelphia,	University	of	Pennsylvania																																									 2000-2005	
Associate	Director:	Assisted	with	management	and	strategic	planning	for	this	University-based	public	policy	center.	
Budget	1.2	million	for	2003-2004,	staff	of	ten.	
	
Program	Manager,	Operation	Public	Education:	Manager	of	a	statewide	initiative	to	influence	new	funding	legislation	for	
Pennsylvania’s	K-12	public	schools,	accompanied	by	meaningful	systems	of	accountability.	The	project	involved	working	
closely	 with	 the	 Center’s	 Director,	 Dr.	 Ted	 Hershberg,	 to	 build	 support	 and	 consensus	 around	 the	 complex	 and	
controversial	issues	of	school	funding	and	accountability.	Major	program	responsibilities	included:	
• Strategy	Development	
• Education	and	Research		
• Coalition	Building	
• Value-added	Assessment	Promotion	and	Support	
	
The	Baldwin	School,	Bryn	Mawr,	Pennsylvania		 	 	 	 								1990-2000	
Director	 of	 Admissions	 and	 Financial	 Aid:	 Managed	 Admissions	 Office	 for	 Pre-K-12	 Girls’	 School	 with	 620	 students;	
increased	enrollment	by	23%	over	ten-year	period;	served	as	the	Chair	of	the	school’s	Diversity	Committee;	was	faculty	
advisor	 to	middle	and	high	 school	 students,	 and	 lead	 teacher	 for	partnership	program	with	Kensington	High	School	 in	
Philadelphia.	Major	responsibilities	included:		
• All	aspects	of	recruitment,	admissions	programming,	and	marketing	for	the	school		
• Allocation	of	financial	aid	funding	for	21%	of	student	body	each	year	(budget	$1.5	million)		
• Supervision,	management,	and	evaluation	of	four-person	staff.		
	
George	School,	Newtown,	PA	 	 	 	 	 	 	 					1985-1990	
Associate	 Director	 of	 Admissions	 and	 Acting	 Director	 of	 Admissions:	 Managed	 application	 process	 for	 over	 1000	
applicants	annually	for	coed	Quaker	boarding	school,	grades	9	to	12.	Responsibilities	included:		
• Full	oversight	of	programs	to	recruit	students	of	color.		
• Served	as	Acting	Director	while	Director	took	a	leave	of	absence,	handling	all	aspects	of	admissions	operation	and	


including	financial	aid	(budget	$1.3	million)	
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• Stoneleigh-Burnham	School,	Greenfield,	MA	 	 	 	 	 					1983-1985	
• Assistant	Director	of	Admissions		
• Teacher	of	Art	History	(11th	Grade)	
• Assistant	College	Counselor	
• Dormitory	Supervisor	
• Varsity	Field	Hockey	and	Lacrosse	Coach	
	
Education 
University	of	Pennsylvania,	Graduate	School	of	Education		 	 	 	 	 	 2005	
Education	Doctorate	(Ed.D.).	Mid-Career	Doctoral	Program	in	Educational	Leadership	
	
University	of	Pennsylvania,	Graduate	School	of	Education		 	 	 	 	 	 1989	
Masters	of	Science	in	Education	(MS	of	Ed),	Independent	Schools	Program	
	
Hobart	and	William	Smith	Colleges	 	 	 	 	 	 1983	
Bachelor	of	Arts	(BA),	Major	fields	of	study:	English,	Education,	Art	History	
Publications	
Adams	Simon,	Virginia.	Compensating	Educators	in	the	Absence	of	Value-Added.	(Ch.7)	in	A	Grand	Bargain	for	Education	
Reform.		Harvard	University	Press	(2009).	
	


Hershberg,	Theodore,	Ian	Roseblum,	and	Virginia	Adams	Simon.	(2003)	Adequacy,	Equity	and	Accountability.	
Commentary.	Education	Week.	February	19th.	
	


Hershberg,	Theodore,	Virginia	Adams	Simon	and	Barbara	Lea-Kruger.	(2004)	Value-Added	Assessment:	How	New	
Measures	of	Instruction	Can	Be	Used	to	Drive	Learning	Gains.	American	School	Boards	Journal.	February	Issue.	
	


Hershberg,	Theodore,	Virginia	Adams	Simon,	and	Barbara	Lea-Kruger.	(2004)	The	Revelations	of	Value-Added.	The	School	
Administrator.	December	Issue.	
	












Section	I	–	Title	Page	


Proposal to Provide Services for RFP: 
Nevada School Funding Consultant 


RFP: 3489 


Part II – Cost Proposal 
RFP Title: Nevada School Funding Consultant 
RFP: 3489 
Vendor Name: Cross & Joftus, LLC 
Address: 8610 Ridge Rd. 


Bethesda, MD 20817 
Opening Date: September 29, 2017  October 10, 2017 
Opening Time: 2:00 PM 







RFQ 3489 PRICE SHEET 


Vendor Name .  Cross & Joftus, LLC             . 


Provide a cost per hour for each service listed below. Do not include the cost of supplies. 


   SERVICE    COST  
  


Deliverable 1: Preliminary Report on or before  
August 1, 2018 


  
The	contractor	selected	by	the	Department	of	Education	shall	
complete	the	work	identified	in	the	Scope	of	Work	and,	on	or	
before	August	1,	2018,	submit	a	preliminary	report	containing	
the	 information	 described	 in	 the	 Scope	 of	 Work	 to	 the	
Department	 of	 Education.	 Upon	 receipt	 of	 the	 preliminary	
report,	 the	 Department	 of	 Education	 shall	 immediately	
forward	 the	preliminary	 report	 to	 the	 Legislative	Committee	
on	Education.	


     


    
$190.00  


Deliverable 2: Final Report on or before  
October 15, 2018 
	
Upon	 receipt	 of	 the	 preliminary	 report,	 the	 Legislative	
Committee	on	Education	 shall	 review	 the	preliminary	 report	
and	 provide	 recommendations	 to	 the	 contractor.	 After	
receiving	 such	 recommendations	 from	 the	 Legislative	
Committee	 on	 Education	 and	 any	 recommendations	 which	
may	 be	 provided	 by	 the	 State	 Board	 of	 Education	 and	
Department	of	Education,	the	contractor	shall	prepare	a	final	
report	 which	 includes	 such	 recommendations	 and,	 on	 or	
before	 October	 15,	 2018,	 submit	 the	 final	 report	 to	 the	
Governor	and	 the	Director	of	 the	Legislative	Counsel	Bureau	
for	transmission	to	the	next	regular	session	of	the	Legislature.	


 
 


 
$166.00 


Total Cost (Total of Deliverables) 
 


$244,990 
(inc. $35,000 for 
honoraria for NV 
educators in Task 2.1.2. 
and $17,750 for travel) 


Fee (Profit Margin Percentage) 
 


$32,040 
(20% of labor costs) 


 
TOTAL PRICE OF PROJECT 


 


 
$244,990 
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Part IA – Technical Proposal 
RFP Title: Nevada School Funding Consultant 


RFP: 3489 
Vendor Name: EdBuild, Inc. 


Address: 140 Bay Street, Suite 2, Jersey City, NJ 07302 
Opening Date: October 10, 2017 (originally Sept 29, 2017) 
Opening Time: 2:00 PM 
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1.1.1.1 Section II – Table of Contents 
 
 
Section III – Vendor Information Sheet 3 


Section IV- State Documents 4 


Section V – Scope of Work 8 


Section VI – Company Background and References 10 


Section VII – Staff Resumes 15 
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1.1.1.2 Section III – Vendor Information Sheet 
 


 
V1 Company Name EdBuild, Inc. 


 
V2 Street Address 140 Bay Street, Suite 2 


 
V3 City, State, ZIP Jersey City, NJ, 07302 


 


V4 Telephone Number 
Area Code:  201 Number:  685-7884 Extension:   


 


V5 Facsimile Number 
Area Code:   Number:   Extension:   


 


V6 Toll Free Number 
Area Code:   Number:   Extension:   


 


V7 


Contact Person for Questions / Contract Negotiations, 
including address if different than above 


Name: Austin Ray 
Title: Chief of Staff 
Address: 
Email Address: operations@edbuild.org 


 


V8 Telephone Number for Contact Person 
Area Code:  201 Number:  685-7884 Extension:   


 


V9 Facsimile Number for Contact Person 
Area Code:   Number:   Extension:   


 


V10 
Name of Individual Authorized to Bind the Organization 


Name: Austin Ray Title: Chief of Staff 
 


V11 
Signature (Individual shall be legally authorized to bind the vendor per NRS 


333.337) 
Signature:  Date: 10.2.2017 
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1.1.1.3 Section IV – State Documents 
 
The State documents section shall include the following: 
 


A.  The signature page from all amendments signed by an individual authorized to bind the 
organization. 


 
Please find attached on the following page. 
 


B.  Attachment A – Confidentiality and Certification of Indemnification signed by an 
individual authorized to bind the organization. 


 
Please find Attachment A – Confidentiality and Certification of Indemnification on page 16. 
 


C.  Attachment B – Vendor Certifications signed by an individual authorized to bind the 
organization. 


 
Please find Attachment B – Vendor Certifications on page 17. 
 


D.  Copies of any vendor licensing agreements and/or hardware and software maintenance 
agreements. 


 
N/A 
 


E.  Copies of applicable certifications and/or licenses. 
 
N/A 
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State of Nevada  


  
 


Brian Sandoval 
Department Administration Governor 
Purchasing Division  
515 E. Musser Street, Suite 300 Jeffrey Haag 
Carson City, NV  89701 Administrator 


2.  
SUBJECT: Amendment 1to Request for Proposal 3489 


RFP TITLE: NEVADA SCHOOL FUNDING CONSULTANT 
DATE OF 
AMENDMENT: September 21, 2017 


DATE OF RFP 
RELEASE: September 5, 2017 


OPENING DATE: September 29, 2017  October 10, 2017 


OPENING TIME: 2:00 PM 


CONTACT: Gail Burchett, Purchasing Officer II 
 
 
The following shall be a part of RFP 3489.  If a vendor has already returned a proposal and any of 
the information provided below changes that proposal, please submit the changes along with this 
amendment.  You need not re-submit an entire proposal prior to the opening date and time. 
 
 


1. On page 13, section 8.2.2.4 section A asks for "A.   The signature page from all 
amendments signed by an individual authorized to bind the organization". I don't see where 
there would be amendments to the proposal.  Could this be signature pages from sub-
contractors? 
 
The amendment referred to is this questions and answers document.  You will need to 
submit the signature page below as part of your proposal. 


 
2. The Scope of Work, section 2.1.5, mentions "gifted and talented pupils," as defined in NRS 


388.5231. Yet, NRS 388.5231 is about the transportation of person with disability. Is the 
use of NRS 388.5231 correct? 
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The definition of “gifted and talented pupils” is found in NRS 388.5251.  
 
NRS 388.5251  Definitions.  As used in NRS 388.5251 to 388.5267, inclusive, “gifted and talented pupil” 
means a person under the age of 18 years who demonstrates such outstanding academic skills or aptitudes 
that the person cannot progress effectively in a regular school program and therefore needs special instruction 
or special services. 
[280:32:1956] — (NRS A 1969, 444; 1973, 1427, 1579, 1846; 1989, 691; 1993, 2159; 1999, 3241; 2007, 
2919; 2009, 754; 2011, 800, 2705, 2715; 2013, 743) — (Substituted in revision for part of NRS 388.440) 


3. Can you please confirm the submission date for the Reference Questionnaire. 
 
All reference questionnaires should be submitted no later than September 28, 2017 @ 
4:30 PM. 
 
 


4. Section 2.1: The "Scope of Work" outlined in Request for Proposal: 3489 references both 
a report entitled "Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada" and 
Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) Bulletin No. 15-5, "Interim Study Report of the Task 
Force on K-12 Public Education Funding."  Does the Legislative Committee on Education 
expect the consultant to provide a comprehensive "costing-out" study of the calculations 
determined in those reports?  Should the deliverable related to task 2.1.1 be similar to the 
review of the "Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada" that 
appears in LCB Bulletin 15-5?  Is the deliverable for task 2.1.2 to recalculate all the figures 
in the report and bulletin? Or, is the deliverable to consider the information provided 
therein with perspective focusing on the determination and implementation of the costs 
associated with different student populations?  
 
Does the Legislative Committee on Education expect the consultant to provide a 
comprehensive "costing-out" study of the calculations determined in those reports?  


 
A traditional “costing-out” study is beyond the funded scope of this RFP. That said, 
Nevada implemented a number of programs funding specific services for English 
language learners and schools serving high concentrations of poverty (Zoom and 
Victory, respectively). Therefore, there exists data and information regarding the cost 
and efficacy of services which should be included in any comprehensive review of 
Nevada school funding. 


 
Should the deliverable related to task 2.1.1 be similar to the review of the "Study of a New 
Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada" that appears in LCB Bulletin 15-5?  


 
The preliminary report required on or before August 1, 2018 may be similar to LCB 
Bulletin 15-5 or other format deemed appropriate by the contractor.   


 
Is the deliverable for task 2.1.2 to recalculate all the figures in the report and bulletin? Or, 
is the deliverable to consider the information provided therein with perspective focusing 
on the determination and implementation of the costs associated with different student 
populations? 
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Nevada has been working to modernize the funding formula through the implementation 
of student “weights”. The successful contractor will review the work from 2012 to the 
present and be required to bring recommendations informed by the progress made since 
the publication of LCB Bulletin 15-5 and the national literature.  


 
5. The opening date of this proposal (deadline) has been extended to October 10, 2017 @ 


2:00 PM. 
 
ALL ELSE REMAINS THE SAME FOR RFP 3489. 
 
Vendor must sign and return this amendment with proposal submitted. 


Vendor Name: EdBuild Inc. 


Authorized Signature:  


Title: CEO Date: 10.2.2017 
 


This document must be submitted in the “State 
Documents” section of vendors’ technical proposal. 
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2.1.1.1 Section V – Scope of Work 
 


Vendors shall place their written response(s) to Section 2, Scope of Work in bold/italics 
immediately following the applicable RFP question, statement and/or section. 
 
2.1.1 Conduct a review of the report entitled “Study of a New Method of Funding for 
Public Schools in Nevada,” published by the American Institutes for Research on 
September 22, 2012, Attachment I and LCB Bulletin No. 15-5, “Interim Study Report of 
the Task Force on K-12 Public Education Funding”, Attachment H. 
 
EdBuild will conduct a thorough review of “Study of a New Method of Funding for 
Public Schools in Nevada,” published by the American Institutes for Research on 
September 22, 2012.  
 
The report is currently organized under six sections: (1) Overview and History of 
Nevada’s funding formula, (2) National Trends around education funding, (3) 
Identification and classification of peer states, (4) Alternative methods for funding 
schools in Nevada, (5) Simulations and models of a new funding formula, and finally 
(6) Recommendations and Concluding thoughts.  
 
EdBuild will update the history of Nevada’s funding formula to include updates in 
legislation since the study was written in 2012. EdBuild’s team of policy analysts have 
already collected and analyzed a history of school funding for every state in the country. 
This will enable our team to quickly write a concise legislative history of Nevada for the 
past 5 years, and put those change within the national context.  
 
Additionally, EdBuild’s policy analysts have also collected information regarding how 
every state funds public schools, which can be viewed by the public at 
http://funded.edbuild.org. This pre-work will therefore allow EdBuild to update part (2) 
of the report in a very timely fashion. 
 
Moreover, EdBuild has a robust collection of national education data, from 1995 to 
2015. This large dataset ensures that EdBuild will quickly be able to determine whether 
the peer states identified in the study are still relevant, how peer states have shifted over 
time, and whether new peer states are worth identifying and studying further.  


 
EdBuild will update all data in the report and assess whether or not the report’s findings 
still match the unique needs of the state. EdBuild will look at the shifting demographics 
and revenue trends in the state since the original study was published, identify whether 
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or not the assumptions made in the report need to be updated, and will update 
assumptions and findings accordingly. EdBuild will also examine and refine the report’s 
methodology, to ensure that future findings can lead to actionable policy solutions for 
the legislature.  
 
EdBuild’s approach to this work is unique among our competitors. Our team of data 
analysts will deliver a modeling tool so that the legislature and Dept. of Education can 
model new funding solutions, and see in real time the effects on school districts of 
moving to different weights and funding streams. This tool will accompany EdBuild’s 
final recommendations, and will provide the State with a method for ensuring any policy 
solution they choose is targeting the intended students, while simultaneously providing 
a tool to estimate and budget for year-over-year appropriations.  
 
As a 501c3 working solely on school finance research, EdBuild brings a uniquely 
focused perspective to this work. Our team is dedicated to bringing equitable and 
actionable school funding policies and recommendations to states across the country, 
and will never propose unrealistic increases in spending or drastic shifts in 
appropriations. Rather, EdBuild prides itself on providing policy solutions that are 
aligned with the priorities of the states in which we work, while still working within 
existing fiscal constraints. Since our launch in November of 2014 EdBuild has worked 
with legislatures and partners in 3 states. 


 
2.1.2 Update the report and bulletin identified in paragraph (1) with more current 
information, focusing on the determination and implementation of the appropriate funding 
adjustments for the additional costs associated with serving low-income pupils and English 
learners, as defined in 20 U.S.C. § 7801(20). 
 
EdBuild will examine historic student demographic trends and determine where low-
income students are concentrated in the state, using (i) the definitions in the report 
outlined above, (ii) free and reduced price lunch, (iii) US Census poverty estimates, and 
(iv) a state specific wealth measure unique to Nevada. EdBuild will also examine which 
schools and districts within Nevada are participating in the USDA’s Community 
Eligibility Provision (CEP) – which in some instances may skew numbers of reported 
Free and Reduced Price Lunch students. This detailed analysis will allow EdBuild, the 
Department of Education, and the legislative committee to determine a more accurate 
method for counting low-income pupils. 
 
Similarly, EdBuild will examine historic demographic trends for English Language 
Learners, and determine to what extent English Language Learners and low-income 
students have overlapped enrollments. EdBuild will study the method(s) for classifying 
English Language Learners and ensure no perverse incentives exist in current policy.      
 
EdBuild will benchmark our findings to national and regional best practices. Combining 
this information with cost factors outlined in the report, EdBuild will present the 
committee with a set of recommendations for determining the appropriate funding 
adjustments for low-income pupils and English language learners. 
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2.1.3 Review the meaning of the term “pupils who are at-risk,” as defined in NRS 
387.121, to establish an appropriate definition of the term and recommend appropriate 
funding adjustments for the additional costs associated with serving such pupils. 
 
EdBuild will review the meaning of the term “pupils who are at-risk” and determine 
whether the policy outlined in NRS 387.121 is still meeting the needs of the intended 
puplis. EdBuild will look at national and regional best practices regarding funding at-
risk students to make recommendations for the legislature. EdBuild will examine 
national and regional best practices for defining “at-risk” pupils, and will identify 
common services that “at-risk” students are provided. From these, EdBuild will 
recommend an appropriate weight for the legislature.   


  
2.1.4 Review the multiplier to the basic support guarantee per pupil for pupils with 
disabilities pursuant to NRS 387.122. 
 
EdBuild will review the multiplier to the basic support guarantee per pupil for pupils 
with disabilities and determine whether this multiplier is still sufficient given the 
changing demographics and revenue streams in the State. EdBuild will also examine 
whether or not the current multiplier is differentiated enough to effectively cover the 
cost-factors associated with students of varying disabilities, or whether it makes sense to 
differentiate the multiplier by disability type.  
 
2.1.5 Review the meaning of the term “gifted and talented pupils,” as defined in NRS 
388.5231, to establish an appropriate definition for the term and recommend a consistent 
statewide standard to identify such pupils. 
 
EdBuild will review the meaning of the term “gifted and talented pupils” as defined in 
NRS 388.5231. EdBuild will work with the Department of Education and legislative 
committee to identify outcome priorities for the gifted and talented program, and use that 
information to determine whether the current definition for “gifted and talented pupils” 
still reflects the interests of the state.  
 
EdBuild will also prepare a review of regional and national best practices when counting 
gifted and talented pupils, and work with the Department of Education to help bring 
Nevada’s definition of “gifted and talented pupils” to national best standards.  


 
 
2.1.6 Make recommendations for the implementation of the findings of the independent 
consultant pursuant to Objectives (2.1.1) to (2.1.5), inclusive. 
 
EdBuild is a politically astute organization, and prides itself in it’s ability to present 
recommendations that are immediately actionable. EdBuild will leave the legislative 
committee with a detailed plan for implementing new policies, and will leave the 
Department of Education and the legislature with a custom-built data tool for 
determining district allocations with a sensitivity to availability of funds and trends in 
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student populations. This tool will streamline the Department’s planning process, and 
allow for a smooth transition to a new funding method for public schools in the state.  
 


2.1.1.2 Section VI– Company Background and References 
 
Vendors shall place their written response(s) to Section 3, Company Background and 
References in bold/italics immediately following the applicable RFP question, statement 
and/or section.  This section shall also include the requested information in Section 3.2, 
Subcontractor Information, if applicable. 
 
3.1.1 Vendors shall provide a company profile in the table format below. 
 


Question Response 
Company name: EdBuild, Inc. 
Ownership (sole proprietor, partnership, etc.): 501c3 Nonprofit 
State of incorporation: New Jersey 
Date of incorporation: June 2, 2014 
# of years in business: 3 
List of top officers: Rebecca Sibilia, CEO 
Location of company headquarters, to include City 
and State: 


140 Bay Street, Suite 2, 
Jersey City, NJ 07302 


Location(s) of the office that shall provide the 
services described in this RFP: 


140 Bay Street, Suite 2, 
Jersey City, NJ 07302 


Number of employees locally with the expertise to 
support the requirements identified in this RFP: 


N/A  


Number of employees nationally with the expertise 
to support the requirements in this RFP: 


7. 


Location(s) from which employees shall be 
assigned for this project: 


Jersey City, NJ. 


 
3.1.3 Please be advised, pursuant to NRS 80.010, a corporation organized pursuant to the 
laws of another state shall register with the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office as 
a foreign corporation before a contract can be executed between the State of Nevada and 
the awarded vendor, unless specifically exempted by NRS 80.015. 
 
3.1.4 The selected vendor, prior to doing business in the State of Nevada, shall be 
appropriately licensed by the State of Nevada, Secretary of State’s Office pursuant to 
NRS76.  Information regarding the Nevada Business License can be located at 
http://nvsos.gov. 
 


Question Response 
Nevada Business License Number: N/A 
Legal Entity Name: EdBuild, Inc. 


 
Should EdBuild be chosen for this work, EdBuild will register for a Nevada Business 
License prior to executing a contract and doing business in the State.  
 
Is “Legal Entity Name” the same name as vendor is doing business as? 
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Yes X No  
 
If “No”, provide explanation. 
 
3.1.5 Has the vendor ever been engaged under contract by any State of Nevada agency?   
 


Yes  No X 
 


3.1.6 Are you now or have you been within the last two (2) years an employee of the 
State of Nevada, or any of its agencies, departments, or divisions? 
 


Yes  No X 
 


3.1.7 Disclosure of any significant prior or ongoing contract failures, contract breaches, 
civil or criminal litigation in which the vendor has been alleged to be liable or held liable 
in a matter involving a contract with the State of Nevada or any other governmental entity.  
Any pending claim or litigation occurring within the past six (6) years which may adversely 
affect the vendor’s ability to perform or fulfill its obligations if a contract is awarded as a 
result of this RFP shall also be disclosed. 
 
Does any of the above apply to your company? 
 


Yes  No X 
 


3.1.8 Vendors shall review and provide if awarded a contract the insurance requirements 
as specified in Attachment D, Insurance Schedule for RFP 3489. 
 
3.1.9 Company background/history and why vendor is qualified to provide the services 
described in this RFP.  Limit response to no more than five (5) pages. 
 
EdBuild is a nonpartisan 501c3 non profit. EdBuild launched in 2014 with a mission to 
bring common sense and fairness to the way states fund public schools, thereby allowing 
schools to innovate and better serve their students and communities. Our vision is a 
public funding system that provides resources to schools based on the needs of their 
students, and funds equitably regardless of school governance or delivery model, and 
considers a community’s ability to pay as a central focus in achieving equity. 
 
In service to our mission, EdBuild conducts independent research on school finance 
formulas across the country, and engages directly with local stakeholders to analyze and 
develop new state funding models.  
 
EdBuild’s national perspective and large national data set make us uniquely qualified 
to complete this work. Our data-rich engagement model is unique in the education 
sector, and has been successful in a variety of states, including Connecticut, Georgia, 
and Mississippi. When approaching our work, we offer a wide array of support – from 
data and policy analysis to modeling tools and recommendations. We have provided past 
clients with: 
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a) Rigorous data and policy analysis to identify the problems in the current state 


funding model and offer solutions related to new ways of allocating funds; 
 


b) Dynamic and interactive modeling tools that will allow decision-makers to 
understand in real time the fiscal impact and programmatic and policy outcomes of 
a new weighted student formula; and 


 
c) Recommendations related to governmental and programmatic implementation.  


 
Our analytical support ranges from policy comparisons and recommendations to data 
analysis and visualizations. For past clients, we’ve assisted in helping stakeholders 
consider more targeted measures for student and community economic distress, 
crosswalk migration from a staff-based to student-based formula, and develop new 
student counts associated with the definition of “rurality”. We’ve also assisted in 
considering new ways to define fair and equitable local funding contributions to schools. 
 
EdBuild is intentionally structured as a politically-astute, 501c3 nonprofit, which brings 
a unique advantage to the state of Nevada. EdBuild has compiled a staff of data and 
policy experts with experience at the district and state level, and who come from both 
academia and the classroom trenches. The diverse background of our team brings a 
unique capacity to the education finance landscape, and allows our work to be both 
research-oriented and pragmatically actionable. As a result, we work hand-in-hand with 
stakeholders to analyze issues specific to our client states, and develop solutions that 
balance budget limitations with policy priority.  


 
3.1.10 Provide a brief description of the length of time vendor has been providing services 
described in this RFP to the public and/or private sector. 
 
EdBuild has been providing services similar to those described in the RFP to the public 
sector for the past three years.  
 
In 2015, EdBuild provided data and policy support to advocates in Connecticut, to 
identify ways that the state could quickly implement new funding solutions as a judge 
heard arguments in an ongoing school finance court case.  
 
In 2015, EdBuild worked with the Governor’s office in Georgia to help the Education 
Finance Subcommittee of the Legislative Education Reform Commission identify new 
funding solutions for Georgia’s schools. EdBuild’s recommendations were unanimously 
approved by the legislative committee.  
 
In 2016, EdBuild was contacted by the Lt. Governor’s office in Mississippi to assist 
legislative leadership in evaluating and fundamentally rewriting the state’s funding 
formula. EdBuild engaged with the legislature from October of 2016 through January 
of 2017, and left the legislative leadership with a series of policy recommendations and 
an actionable plan for implementation.  







 14 


 
3.1.11 Financial information and documentation to be included in accordance with Section 
8.5, Part III – Confidential Financial Information.  
 
3.1.11.1 Dun and Bradstreet Number  
 
N/A 
 
3.1.11.2 Federal Tax Identification Number 
 
47-1019692 
 
3.1.11.3 The last two (2) years and current year interim: 


 
A.  Profit and Loss Statement  
B.  Balance Statement 
 
Please see attached. 


 
3.2 SUBCONTRACTOR INFORMATION 
 
Subcontractors are defined as a third party, not directly employed by the contractor, who 
shall provide services identified in this RFP.  This does not include third parties who 
provide support or incidental services to the contractor. 
 
3.2.1 Does this proposal include the use of subcontractors? 
 


Yes  No X 
 
 
3.3 BUSINESS REFERENCES 
 
3.3.1 Vendors shall provide a minimum of three (3) business references from similar 
projects performed for private and/or public sector clients within the last three (3) years. 
 
3.3.2 Vendors shall submit Attachment E, Reference Questionnaire to their business 
references. 
 
Reference Questionnaires were submitted to the following individuals: 
 


Erin Hames, Former Deputy Chief of Staff to Governor Nathan Deal 
Erin@reformED.onmicrosoft.com 
 
Erika Berry, Director of External Affairs at Republic Schools  
601-941-0844  


 
Jen Alexander, CEO of Connecticut Coalition for Achievement Now (ConnCAN) 
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All references were submitted via email to rfpdocs@admin.nv.gov  
 
3.3.3 It is the vendor’s responsibility to ensure that completed forms are received by the 
Purchasing Division on or before the deadline as specified in Section 7, RFP Timeline for 
inclusion in the evaluation process.  Reference Questionnaires not received, or not 
complete, may adversely affect the vendor’s score in the evaluation process.   
 
3.3.4 The State reserves the right to contact and verify any and all references listed 
regarding the quality and degree of satisfaction for such performance. 
 
 
 


 
3.4 VENDOR STAFF RESUMES  
 
A resume shall be completed for each proposed key personnel responsible for performance 
under any contract resulting from this RFP per Attachment F, Proposed Staff Resume. 
 
 
 
 


2.1.1.3 Section VII – Attachment F – Proposed Staff Resume 
 


A.  Vendors shall include all proposed staff resumes per Section 3.4, Vendor Staff Resumes 
in this section.   
 


B.  This section shall also include any subcontractor proposed staff resumes, if applicable. 
 
Please see Section 1 in Part 1B – Confidential Technical Proposal 
 


2.1.1.4 Section VIII – Other Informational Material 
 
Vendors shall include any other applicable reference material in this section clearly cross 
referenced with the proposal. 


 















Total
ASSETS


   Current Assets


      Bank Accounts


         1000 Cash


            1010 Business Checking (9346) 314,690.54  


            1011 Business Checking (2701) 44,547.27  


            1070 Business Savings (8393) 224,912.49  


         Total 1000 Cash $                                                   584,150.30  


      Total Bank Accounts $                                                   584,150.30  


      Accounts Receivable


         1200 Contributions receivable


            1210 Pledges receivable 430,000.00  


            1211 Contract revenue receivable 0.00  


         Total 1200 Contributions receivable $                                                   430,000.00  


      Total Accounts Receivable $                                                   430,000.00  


      Other Current Assets


         1400 Other Assets


            1450 Prepaid expenses 7,749.31  


            1451 Security Deposit 15,950.00  


         Total 1400 Other Assets $                                                     23,699.31  


         DO NOT USE - Uncategorized Asset 0.00  


         Undeposited Funds 0.00  


      Total Other Current Assets $                                                     23,699.31  


   Total Current Assets $                                                1,037,849.61  


TOTAL ASSETS $                                                1,037,849.61  


LIABILITIES AND EQUITY


   Liabilities


      Current Liabilities


         Accounts Payable


            2000 Payables


               2010 Accounts Payable 13,473.70  


            Total 2000 Payables $                                                     13,473.70  


         Total Accounts Payable $                                                     13,473.70  


         Other Current Liabilities


            2100 Accrued liabilities


               2120 Accrued paid leave 35,103.52  


            Total 2100 Accrued liabilities $                                                     35,103.52  


            2500 Short-term notes & loans payable


               2510 Trustee & employee loans payable 0.00  


            Total 2500 Short-term notes & loans payable $                                                              0.00  


         Total Other Current Liabilities $                                                     35,103.52  


      Total Current Liabilities $                                                     48,577.22  


   Total Liabilities $                                                     48,577.22  


Edbuild
Statement of Financial Position


As of June 30, 2016







   Equity


      3000 Unrestricted Net Assets


         3010 Unrestricted net assets 188,062.98  


      Total 3000 Unrestricted Net Assets $                                                   188,062.98  


      3100 Temporarily restricted net assets


         3110 Use restricted net assets 537,893.60  


         3120 Time restricted net assets 400,000.00  


      Total 3100 Temporarily restricted net assets $                                                   937,893.60  


      Net Revenue Reclass 0.00  


      Net Revenue -136,684.19  


   Total Equity $                                                   989,272.39  


TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $                                                1,037,849.61  


Wednesday, Oct 04, 2017 09:50:22 AM GMT-7 - Accrual Basis







Total
Revenue


   4200 Revenue from non-government grants


      4230 Foundation/trust grants 1,333,600.00  


   Total 4200 Revenue from non-government grants $                         1,333,600.00  


   4900 Net assets released from restriction


      4910 Satisfaction of use restriction 0.00  


   Total 4900 Net assets released from restriction $                                       0.00  


   5100 Revenue from program-related sales & fees


      5180 Program service fees 55,000.00  


   Total 5100 Revenue from program-related sales & fees $                              55,000.00  


   5300 Revenue from investments


      5310 Interest-savings / short-term investments 516.81  


   Total 5300 Revenue from investments $                                   516.81  


Total Revenue $                         1,389,116.81  


Gross Profit $                         1,389,116.81  


Expenditures


   7000 Grants, contracts, & direct assistance


      7010 Contracts - program-related 204,419.99  


   Total 7000 Grants, contracts, & direct assistance $                            204,419.99  


   7200 Salaries & related expenses


      7210 Officers & directors salaries 215,595.63  


      7220 Salaries & wages - other 710,911.95  


      7230 Pension plan contributions 37,793.06  


      7240 Employee benefits - not pension 59,434.01  


      7250 Payroll taxes, etc. 81,920.58  


   Total 7200 Salaries & related expenses $                         1,105,655.23  


   7500 Contract service expenses


      7520 Accounting fees 12,395.72  


      7530 Legal fees 2,910.00  


      7540 Professional fees - other 39,126.14  


   Total 7500 Contract service expenses $                              54,431.86  


   8100 Nonpersonnel expenses


      8110 Supplies 7,301.91  


      8130 Telephone & telecommunications 3,790.65  


      8140 Postage & shipping 463.62  


      8170 Printing & copying 3,929.30  


      8180 Books, subscriptions, references 6,678.01  


   Total 8100 Nonpersonnel expenses $                              22,163.49  


   8200 Facility & equipment expenses


      8210 Rent, parking, other occupancy 50,830.74  


      8220 Utilities 3,496.50  


Edbuild
Statement of Activity


July 2015 - June 2016







   Total 8200 Facility & equipment expenses $                              54,327.24  


   8300 Travel & meetings expenses 0.00  


      8310 Travel 12,690.12  


      8320 Conferences, conventions, meetings 48,804.33  


   Total 8300 Travel & meetings expenses $                              61,494.45  


   8500 Other expenses


      8520 Insurance - non-employee related 4,083.31  


      8530 Membership dues - organization 4,547.52  


      8540 Staff development 5,513.19  


      8560 Outside computer services 8,749.72  


      8570 Advertising expenses 415.00  


   Total 8500 Other expenses $                              23,308.74  


Total Expenditures $                         1,525,801.00  


Net Operating Revenue -$                           136,684.19  


Net Revenue -$                           136,684.19  


Wednesday, Oct 04, 2017 09:52:26 AM GMT-7 - Accrual Basis







Total
ASSETS


   Current Assets


      Bank Accounts


         1000 Cash


            1010 Business Checking (9346) 239,437.90  


            1011 Business Checking (2701) 0.00  


            1070 Business Savings (8393) 300,539.87  


         Total 1000 Cash $                                                   539,977.77  


      Total Bank Accounts $                                                   539,977.77  


      Accounts Receivable


         1200 Contributions receivable


            1210 Pledges receivable 837,379.00  


            1211 Contract revenue receivable 0.00  


         Total 1200 Contributions receivable $                                                   837,379.00  


      Total Accounts Receivable $                                                   837,379.00  


      Other Current Assets


         1400 Other Assets


            1450 Prepaid expenses 13,570.69  


            1451 Security Deposit 13,200.00  


         Total 1400 Other Assets $                                                     26,770.69  


         DO NOT USE - Uncategorized Asset 0.00  


         Undeposited Funds 0.00  


      Total Other Current Assets $                                                     26,770.69  


   Total Current Assets $                                                1,404,127.46  


TOTAL ASSETS $                                                1,404,127.46  


LIABILITIES AND EQUITY


   Liabilities


      Current Liabilities


         Accounts Payable


            2000 Payables


               2010 Accounts Payable 6,500.00  


            Total 2000 Payables $                                                       6,500.00  


         Total Accounts Payable $                                                       6,500.00  


         Other Current Liabilities


            2100 Accrued liabilities


               2120 Accrued paid leave 46,249.98  


            Total 2100 Accrued liabilities $                                                     46,249.98  


            2500 Short-term notes & loans payable


               2510 Trustee & employee loans payable 0.00  


            Total 2500 Short-term notes & loans payable $                                                              0.00  


         Total Other Current Liabilities $                                                     46,249.98  


Edbuild
Statement of Financial Position


As of June 30, 2017







      Total Current Liabilities $                                                     52,749.98  


   Total Liabilities $                                                     52,749.98  


   Equity


      3000 Unrestricted Net Assets


         3010 Unrestricted net assets -108,273.61  


      Total 3000 Unrestricted Net Assets -$                                                  108,273.61  


      3100 Temporarily restricted net assets


         3110 Use restricted net assets 1,130,958.50  


         3120 Time restricted net assets 103,271.69  


      Total 3100 Temporarily restricted net assets $                                                1,234,230.19  


      Net Revenue Reclass -136,684.19  


      Net Revenue 362,105.09  


   Total Equity $                                                1,351,377.48  


TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $                                                1,404,127.46  


Wednesday, Oct 04, 2017 09:54:43 AM GMT-7 - Accrual Basis







Total
Revenue


   4000 Revenue from direct contributions 5.00  


      4010 Individual/small business contributions 23.22  


   Total 4000 Revenue from direct contributions $                                     28.22  


   4200 Revenue from non-government grants


      4230 Foundation/trust grants 1,685,689.00  


   Total 4200 Revenue from non-government grants $                         1,685,689.00  


   5100 Revenue from program-related sales & fees


      5180 Program service fees 125,000.00  


   Total 5100 Revenue from program-related sales & fees $                            125,000.00  


   5300 Revenue from investments


      5310 Interest-savings / short-term investments 442.45  


   Total 5300 Revenue from investments $                                   442.45  


Total Revenue $                         1,811,159.67  


Gross Profit $                         1,811,159.67  


Expenditures


   7000 Grants, contracts, & direct assistance


      7010 Contracts - program-related 124,789.33  


   Total 7000 Grants, contracts, & direct assistance $                            124,789.33  


   7200 Salaries & related expenses


      7210 Officers & directors salaries 213,197.06  


      7220 Salaries & wages - other 685,256.86  


      7230 Pension plan contributions 32,232.28  


      7240 Employee benefits - not pension 68,315.61  


      7250 Payroll taxes, etc. 77,316.55  


   Total 7200 Salaries & related expenses $                         1,076,318.36  


   7500 Contract service expenses


      7520 Accounting fees 23,557.75  


      7530 Legal fees 500.00  


      7540 Professional fees - other 32,353.46  


   Total 7500 Contract service expenses $                              56,411.21  


   8100 Nonpersonnel expenses


      8110 Supplies 8,275.23  


      8130 Telephone & telecommunications 3,433.97  


      8140 Postage & shipping 295.84  


      8170 Printing & copying 4,879.51  


      8180 Books, subscriptions, references 7,603.47  


   Total 8100 Nonpersonnel expenses $                              24,488.02  


   8200 Facility & equipment expenses


      8210 Rent, parking, other occupancy 59,110.13  


      8220 Utilities 2,447.25  


Edbuild
Statement of Activity


July 2016 - June 2017







      8260 Equipment rental & maintenance 3,873.48  


   Total 8200 Facility & equipment expenses $                              65,430.86  


   8300 Travel & meetings expenses


      8310 Travel 40,900.91  


      8320 Conferences, conventions, meetings 40,116.56  


   Total 8300 Travel & meetings expenses $                              81,017.47  


   8500 Other expenses


      8520 Insurance - non-employee related 5,253.49  


      8530 Membership dues - organization 892.48  


      8540 Staff development 4,259.99  


      8560 Outside computer services 8,403.37  


      8570 Advertising expenses 1,790.00  


   Total 8500 Other expenses $                              20,599.33  


Total Expenditures $                         1,449,054.58  


Net Operating Revenue $                            362,105.09  


Net Revenue $                            362,105.09  


Wednesday, Oct 04, 2017 09:53:51 AM GMT-7 - Accrual Basis
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Part	II	–	Cost	Proposal	
RFP	Title:	 Nevada	School	Funding	Consultant	
RFP:	 3489	
Vendor	Name:	 EdBuild,	Inc.	
Address:	 140	Bay	Street,	Suite	2,	Jersey	City,	NJ	07302	
Opening	Date:	 September	29,	2017	
Opening	Time:	 2:00	PM	


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







RFQ 3489 PRICE SHEET 


Vendor Name ______EdBuild_________________________ 


Provide a cost per hour for each service listed below. Do not include the cost of supplies. 


   SERVICE    COST  
  


Deliverable 1: Preliminary Report on or before  
August 1, 2018 
  
The	contractor	selected	by	the	Department	of	Education	shall	
complete	the	work	identified	in	the	Scope	of	Work	and,	on	or	
before	August	1,	2018,	submit	a	preliminary	report	containing	
the	 information	 described	 in	 the	 Scope	 of	 Work	 to	 the	
Department	 of	 Education.	 Upon	 receipt	 of	 the	 preliminary	
report,	 the	 Department	 of	 Education	 shall	 immediately	
forward	 the	preliminary	 report	 to	 the	 Legislative	Committee	
on	Education.	


     


$172,275 


Deliverable 2: Final Report on or before  
October 15, 2018 
	
Upon	 receipt	 of	 the	 preliminary	 report,	 the	 Legislative	
Committee	on	Education	 shall	 review	 the	preliminary	 report	
and	 provide	 recommendations	 to	 the	 contractor.	 After	
receiving	 such	 recommendations	 from	 the	 Legislative	
Committee	 on	 Education	 and	 any	 recommendations	 which	
may	 be	 provided	 by	 the	 State	 Board	 of	 Education	 and	
Department	of	Education,	the	contractor	shall	prepare	a	final	
report	 which	 includes	 such	 recommendations	 and,	 on	 or	
before	 October	 15,	 2018,	 submit	 the	 final	 report	 to	 the	
Governor	and	 the	Director	of	 the	Legislative	Counsel	Bureau	
for	transmission	to	the	next	regular	session	of	the	Legislature.	


 
 


$54,148 


Total Cost (Total of Deliverables) 
 $227,423 


Fee (Profit Margin Percentage) 
 N/A 


 
TOTAL PRICE OF PROJECT 


 
	


$227,423 


 








 
 


Part IB – Confidential Technical Proposal 
RFP Title: Nevada School Funding Consultant 
RFP: 3489 
Vendor Name: EdBuild, Inc 
Address: 140 Bay Street, Suite 2, Jersey City, NJ 07302 
Opening Date: October 10, 2017 (Originally September 29, 2017) 
Opening Time: 2:00 PM 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 
 


1.1.1.1 Section VII – Attachment F – Proposed Staff Resume 
 


A.  Vendors shall include all proposed staff resumes per Section 3.4, Vendor Staff Resumes 
in this section.   
 


B.  This section shall also include any subcontractor proposed staff resumes, if applicable. 
 
Please find attached on the following pages staff resumes for: 


i. Rebecca Sibilia, CEO 
ii. Matthew Richmond, Chief Programs Officer 


iii. Drew Maddox, Director of State Engagement 
iv. Sara Hodges, Manager of Data and Visualizations 
v. Zahava Stadler, Manager of Policy 


vi. Everet Rummel, Data Analyst 
vii. Taylor Hawk, Policy Analyst 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: EdBuild, Inc. 


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 
Contractor: X Subcontractor: 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Rebecca Sibilia Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) No 


Individual’s Title Chief Executive Officer & Founder 
# of Years in Classification: 3 # of Years with Firm: 3 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


STUDENTSFIRST  10/2012-PRESENT 
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER AND VP FISCAL STRATEGY SACRAMENTO, CA 


• Oversaw the growth of the organization from $9 million in its first year to more than $26 million at current baseline
• Transitioned finance, human capital and information technology systems from outsourced support contracts to in-


house expertise, growing the operations staff from two individuals to a team of more than fifteen senior and junior-
level staff


• Developed compliant processes for procurement, accounts payable, accounts receiveable, solicitation and donor
acknowledgement


• Remedied two material weakness findings and three significant deficiencies from first year audit
• Recovered more than $10 million in charitable gifts at risk due to operating processes
• Developed goal-setting and strategic planning processes for eighteen state affiliates
• Developed the first “state impact analysis” to project the impact of the passage of various state laws on the number


of quality seats for students
• Balanced oversight of internal operations with external fiscal consulting projects to states and districts
• Assisted in the passage of more than ten fiscal policy improvements across three states


STUDENTSFIRST  07/2011-10/2012 
DIRECTOR OF FISCAL STRATEGY SACRAMENTO, CA 


• Oversaw a team focused on ensuring that states, districts and schools focus resources to strategies that maximize
student achievement, including teacher compensation and benefits reform, charter school facilities financing,
funding equity and budget transparency


• Supported StudentsFirst advocacy efforts through the introduction, analysis and passage of fiscal reform legislation
• Provided hands-on support to states and districts in the reallocation of resources for reform objectives, assessing


the fiscal impact of reform objectives, and identifying cost savings that can be reallocated


OFFICE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 10/2009-07/2011 
AGENCY FISCAL OFFICER       WASHINGTON, DC 


• Responsible for the oversight of more than $900 million in local, federal grants and capital funds, including the
Office of the State Superintendent of Education, Special Education Transportation and Non-Public Tuition.


• Oversaw and provided direct management of 26 staff, spanning budget, accounts payable and accounting
responsibilities for the agency.


• Assisted school districts in the use and application of federal grant funds in order to leverage resources to achieve
critical reform priorities.
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• Oversaw the annual appropriations of local tax dollars to schools state-wide, including proposed per-student
allocation changes based on new state-wide policy initiatives.


• Rightsized agency budgets to eliminate perpetual spending pressures.
• Restructured processes and procedures related to accounting, budget and accounts payable, including agency-


wide financial processing guidance.
• Eliminated over thirty five adverse findings in the annual citywide and A-133 grant audits.
• Structured payment systems to ensure court ordered payments were processed within mandated timelines.
• Earned accolades from the Government Accountability Office, US Department of Education and independent


auditors, who named the agency “most improved” in the FY2009 annual A-133 audit.


RIGHTSOURCE, LLC 2/2005-10/2009 
PRINCIPAL WASHINGTON, DC 


• Participated in the creation of EdBuild, a venture capital project to utilize charter school facility funding and
practices to renovate District of Columbia Public Schools buildings, in partnership with the New Schools Venture
Fund.


• Managed strategic development and operational review projects relating to policies and procedures, organizational
development, financial and operational systems of clients, including educational organizations and charter
schools.


• Assisted in the planning and start-up of several charter schools, including creation of 5-year plans, financial
projections and resource development plans.


• Developed and assisted in the operation of a public-private partnership to bring Medicaid-eligible specialized
medical services to underserved neighborhoods.


DC STATE EDUCATION OFFICE                           7/2004-2/2005
MANAGEMENT OFFICER                   WASHINGTON, DC


• Assisted the agency director in the operational and strategic reorganization of functions, financing and personnel.
Supported the comprehensive review of five functional departments for internal controls, goals, objectives and
outcomes.


• Identified $12 million in unreimbursed grant funding from the US Department of Agriculture.
• Managed budget development, audits, and other operational duties.
• Oversaw the annual student audit for the District, and initiated a state-wide project to examine trends in student


enrollment across charter and public school sectors.
• Managed the creation and issuance of the nationally recognized City Build grant program, incorporating charter


school development and economic development principles into state-wide school funding.


EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE MAYOR                        12/2003-7/2004
SPECIAL ASSISTANT                     WASHINGTON, DC


• Served as Special Assistant to the Mayor on education issues, specifically related to operations, finances and
policy.


• Oversaw the redevelopment of many citywide education regulations and legislation related to all aspects of
education policy.


• Served as the lead developer for the educational budgets and managed the first year of the Congressionally funded
School Improvement program.


• Oversaw the creation of CityBuild, a $25 million charter school grant program that focused on growth of quality
schools in strategic neighborhoods and leveraged more than $200 million in private investment in school choice
options.


• Developed the first-ever “Preschool for All” budget, designed to create universal pre-kindergarten and pre-school
programs for all District students, earning an “A” ratings from several national early childhood organizations.


OFFICE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER                      11/2002-12/2003
BUDGET DIRECTOR                       WASHINGTON, DC


• Managed several economic development projects that integrated schools as a driving engine of neighborhood
development.


• Managed day-to-day monitoring of financial activity, year-end closing activity, grants reporting and various other
financial management responsibilities.


• Assisted in special projects, including large-scale bond issuances, fund transfers and real estate transactions.


OFFICE OF BUDGET AND PLANNING                   9/2001-12/2002
BUDGET ANALYST/SENIOR BUDGET ANALYST/BRANCH CHIEF               WASHINGTON, DC
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• Responsible for the creation and ongoing analysis of a number of DC agency budgets, including budgets for the 
District of Columbia Public Schools, District of Columbia Public Charter Schools and all Economic Development 
Agencies.   


• Acted as the Acting Budget Director for the DC Public Schools as part of a support team identified to assist in the 
recovery of a $50 million operating budget deficit.   


• Created education budgets, proposed changes to the Uniform Per Student Funding Formula, and revamped the 
mechanism for funding charter school facilities within the public funds budget.   


 
AMERICAN CANCER SOCIETY                      6/2000-9/2001 
RESEARCH ASSISTANT/POLICY ANALYST                WASHINGTON, DC 


• Worked within the Policy Research Division of the National Government Relations Office of the American Cancer 
Society defining, analyzing and reviewing policy issues that impact health care for both general and indigent 
populations.   


• Assisted in the creation of national organizational policies and developed implementation plans and operational 
guides for advocacy at the state and national level.   


 
RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 


Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 
the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


 
Rebecca Sibilia currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer of EdBuild, an organization focused on the 
intersection of education reform and community development. Prior to starting EdBuild, Rebecca served as the 
Chief Operating Officer and Vice President for Fiscal Strategy at StudentsFirst. In her fiscal strategy role, she led a 
team in analyzing per-pupil funding levels and state funding mechanisms that ensure “equity” and “adequacy” 
considerations.  Her team also studied and made recommendations to state and district officials on directed 
reforms to support more innovative use of resources across the public education spectrum, including revamping 
teacher salary schedules. 
 
Prior to her work at StudentsFirst, she served as the Chief Financial Officer for the DC Office of the State 
Superintendent of Education, where she oversaw the investment of more than $1 billion in local, state, and federal 
student funding and the calculation of per-student funding based on state policy priorities. In this role she also 
oversaw the financial management of the charter facilities financing office for the state. In prior roles, she created 
congressionally funded education programs for public, charter, and voucher programs; held state and local 
education policy roles; and developed venture philanthropy programs to serve low-income students in accessing 
quality education in appropriate settings. 
 
Rebecca holds a Bachelors degree in Political Science from Clemson University and an honorary fellowship in 
American Government from the University of South Carolina.   
 
 
 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
University of South Carolina                   1998 
Honorary Fellowship, American Government    COLUMBIA, SC 
  
Clemson University               1996-2000 
Bachelor of Arts, Political Science       CLEMSON, SC 
 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.   
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Michael O’Sullivan 
Director Georgia Coalition for Achievement Now 
P: 770-235-4749 
F: N/A 
E: michael.osullivan@gacan.org 


Derrell Bradford 
Executive Director, NYCAN 
P: 917-609-3944 
F: N/A 
E: Derrell.bradford@nycan.org 


Adam Hewitt 
President, Government Solutions Group 
P: 614-221-6566 
F: N/A 
E: adamhewitt@sbcglobal.net 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: EdBuild 


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor: 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Matthew Richmond Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) Yes 


Individual’s Title Chief Program Officer 
# of Years in Classification: .5 # of Years with Firm: 1.5 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


Matt Richmond is Chief Program Officer at EdBuild. He is the author of The Hidden Half: School 
Employees Who Don’t Teach and co-author of Financing the Education of High-Need Students; his work 
has been featured on NPR: Marketplace, The Huffington Post, RealClear Politics, Education Week, and 
other media outlets. At EdBuild, Matt manages all program-related activities, including state partnerships 
related to education-finance reform and national-level research. Prior to EdBuild, Matt worked as a 
consultant to the Government of Malawi on public-sector reform through a Fulbright Fellowship, and was 
a research analyst at the Thomas B. Fordham Institute. 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


Chief Program Officer, EdBuild (Jersey City, NJ). Nov 2016–Present 
Through EdBuild, worked on a contract with the State of Mississippi to analyze and reform their current 
education funding formula. Developed a financial simulation tool and helped in the formulation of a new, 
more equitable system for distributing state education dollars. Similar work has been initiated in the 
states of Oklahoma and Ohio.  


Special Assistant, Malawi Office of the President and Cabinet (Lilongwe, Malawi). Sept 2015–July 2016 
Worked on issues related to civil-service reform, as laid out by the Civil Service Reforms 
Commission, through a Fulbright-Clinton Fellowship. Provided feedback on legislation and policy 
documents, training to stakeholders, and designed a project to reform remuneration and allowance 
systems within the nation’s civil service. 


Director of Policy, EdBuild (Jersey City, NJ). Jan 2015–Sept 2015 
Provided analysis and recommendations to state-level clients (e.g., Georgia’s Education Reforms 
Commission, ConnCAN, CCER) on issues related to education funding; most 
frequently related to equity for disadvantaged populations and schools of choice. 


Research Analyst, Thomas B. Fordham Institute (Washington, D.C.). June 2012–Aug 2014 
Published research focused on issues related to special-education funding and school staffing. 
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EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state, 


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 


University of Pittsburgh, Graduate School of Public and International Affairs. Pittsburgh, PA 
Masters in International Development, 2012 


University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. Chapel Hill, NC 
Bachelors in Political Science and Bachelors in Economics, 2008 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


NA 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.  


Amber M. Northern, Senior Vice President for Research, Thomas B. Fordham Institute, 202-223-5452, 
anorthern@edexcellence.net 


Edward Monster, Director of Public Affairs, U.S. State Department – Malawian Embassy, +265 1-772-
222 x5202, monsterEJ@state.gov 


Carlyn Cowen, Chief Policy and Public Affairs Officer, Chinese American Planning Council, 919-637-
6866, ccowen@cpc-nyc.org 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: EdBuild 


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor: 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Drew Maddox Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) 


Individual’s Title Director of State Engagement 
# of Years in Classification: 1 # of Years with Firm: 1 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


EdBuild, Jersey City, NJ 
Director of State Engagement, May 2017 – present 


• Leads a team in providing analysis, evaluation, and targeted support to state legislatures and
policymakers seeking to reform the state’s school funding formula.


• Engages with state specific organizations to build coalitions around reform
• Coordinates with other members of the leadership team to ensure that deliverables meet grant


specific deadlines in a timely manner


Mississippi Legislative Budget Office, Jackson, MS 
Senate Budget Officer, August 2013 – May 2017 


• Assist the Senate Appropriations Committee by providing detailed information regarding items
that directly and indirectly affect the State’s budget.


• Provide budget information to Senators and Senate staff.
• Draft all appropriation bills and general bills requested by members of the State Senate.
• Research a variety of different public policy subjects that are pertinent to fiscal affairs.
• Communicate effectively with members of the media, state agencies, and corporate entities the


goals and implications of specific fiscal policies.


Budget Analyst, August 2011 – August 2013 
• Develop funding recommendations for the Joint Legislative Budget Committee by comparing


fiscal year expenditures, analyzing performance measures, and communicating with assigned state
agency budget representatives.


• Assist both House and Senate Appropriations Committees in the legislative process, working
closely with relevant subcommittee chairmen


• Prepare appropriation bills for passage by the Mississippi Legislature
• Respond to agency and legislative inquiries for budget analyses


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


Yes
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Since joining the EdBuild team this year, Drew has worked in varying degrees in more than half a dozen 
different states.  As part of this work, he has done extensive research on the policy surrounding the 
funding formulas in each state, collected and analyzed large data sets to find deficiencies in the states’ 
funding formulas, and studied the economic and political landscapes that have produced the current 
environments in each state.  Once all of research and data exploration is completed, he and his team 
have produced different recommendations based on what will produce the best results for educating 
children.   


From 2011 to 2017, Drew worked in a variety of roles for the Mississippi Legislature.  Beginning as a 
Budget Analyst for the Legislative Budget Office, Drew crafted budget recommendations for over 30 
different state agencies.  After spending two years as an analyst, Drew became the youngest Budget 
Officer for the State Senate since Reconstruction.  In that role, Drew became an expert on all aspects of 
the state budget and worked closely with economist and financial analyst to accurately model revenue 
and forecast spending before guiding the Senate to a balanced budget that spent approximately $20 
billion in total revenue.   


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state, 


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 


London School of Economics, London, UK 
• Completed non-degree seeking Master’s level coursework in Intermediate Microeconomic Theory


and Game Theory, July 2016
Millsaps College, Jackson, MS 


• Bachelor of Business Administration, Finance and Accounting Focus, May 2009
• Bachelor of Arts degree in English Literature, May 2009


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


N/A 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.  


Eugene S. Clarke 
Chairman of Appropriations 
Mississippi State Senate 
(601)359-3250 (phone)
(662)827-7264 (fax)
bclarke@senate.ms.gov


Erika Berry 
Director of External Affairs 
Republic Schools 
(601)941-0844
eberry@republiccharterschools.org


Joby Gaudet 
Associate 
Generation Investment Management 
(202)664-6661
joby.gaudet@generationim.com
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: EdBuild 


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor: 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Sara Hodges Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) 


Individual’s Title Data and Visualization Manager 
# of Years in Classification: 2 # of Years with Firm: 3 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


Sara has extensive experience with data collection, data management, statistical analysis, spatial 
analysis, GIS, cartography, infographics, and web development.  As EdBuild’s Data and Visualization 
Manager, she oversees all data collection, analysis and data visualization.  Prior to her work at EdBuild, 
she held a variety of positions spanning data analysis, statistics and cartography with the United Nations 
Environment Programme, New York Hall of Science, and Carnegie Museum of Natural History among 
others. 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 
2012 – 2015: CUSP Map Developer. Designed and built an interactive map to explore the local impacts 
of climate change and systemic solutions for New York City & Pittsburgh. 


2013 – 2015: Environmental & Geospatial Expert: United Nations Environment Programme in 
Afghanistan.  Managaed Afghanistan Envrionmental Data Centre and UNEP Afghanistan Geospatial 
Department. 


2008 – 2012: Regional GIS Manager: EverPower Windholdings.  Environmental analysis for the 
development, construction and operation of commercial-scale wind farms. 


2003 – 2006: Statistician/Researcher: Urban Heat Island Group.  Statistical analysis to assess green 
infrastructure strategies to reduce electricity use. 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state, 


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 


M.A. in Geography, Hunter College – City University of New York.  2001 – 2004
B.A. in Mathematics; Minor in Fine Arts, Colorado College.  1994-1998


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


No
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REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.  


Michaela Labriole 
Director of Strategic Education Initiatives 
New York Hall of Science 
47-01 111th Street
Queens, NY 11368-2950
Phone: 718.699.0005 ext. 569
Fax: 718.699.5227


Meredith Gray 
Director  
The CO-OP School 
87 Irving Pl 
Brooklyn, NUY 11238 
Phone: 347.721.3408 


Mary Ann Steiner 
Founder 
Steiner Learning Design 
mahsteiner@gmail.com 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: EdBuild, Inc. 


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 
Contractor: X Subcontractor: 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Zahava Stadler Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) No 


Individual’s Title Manager of Policy and Research 
# of Years in Classification: 1.25 # of Years with Firm: 2.25 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


Manager of Policy and Research (EdBuild, June 2016- Present) 
• Manage the policy team, overseeing research and communications staff and managing policy research projects.
• Conduct qualitative and quantitative research regarding state and local education finance policy.
• Write policy reports, research presentations, articles, and blog posts related to education finance.
• Provide policy analysis support for state education policy stakeholders.


Senior Policy Analyst (EdBuild, June 2015-May 2016) 
• Conducted qualitative and quantitative research regarding state education finance policy.
• Researched structure of all fifty states’ education funding formulas and summarized the core elements of each
state’s formula for a public-facing database.
• Wrote policy reports, research presentations, articles, and blog posts related to education finance.
• Provided policy analysis support for state education policy advocates.
• Oversaw hiring process for new member of the Policy team.


Strategy Consultant (School District of Philadelphia, September-December 2014) 
• Worked with full-time Strategy Delivery Unit staff and inter-departmental team to revise School District Action Plan
• Refined and reorganized Action Plan to more effectively align system- and school-level work with core District
objectives


Education Pioneers Fellow for PLUS Programs (TNTP, June-July 2014) 
• Evaluated and revised selection process for TNTP’s alternative-route, residency-based principal preparation
programs, PhiladelphiaPLUS and CamdenPLUS; prepared intuitive and user-friendly selection tools and rigorous
rubrics
• Facilitated streamlined evaluation processes for program participants that allowed for comparative and
longitudinal data analysis
• Served as part of highly selective Education Pioneers Graduate School Fellowship; completed high-level
professional development focused on preparing effective education system leaders


Manager of Talent Development (Innovative Schools, April-July 2013) 
• Served as Program Coordinator and primary client point of contact for Delaware Talent Management, a school-
level human capital management program focusing on the improvement of instructional culture and the recruitment,
selection, development, and retention of teacher talent
• Led training for school district HR directors on teacher recruitment and selection at the request of Delaware
Department of Education
• Took part in strategic planning and decision-making for the Delaware Leadership Project, an experiential and
action-based training program that is Delaware’s first and only alternate route to principal certification
• Managed and trained a team of consultants


Program Specialist for Human Capital Initiatives (Innovative Schools, June 2012-March 2013) 
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• Served as Program Coordinator for Delaware Talent Management
• Provided operational and curriculum support and took part in strategic planning for the Delaware Leadership
Project
• Led the Personnel Committees of two new charter schools during their planning years, spearheading principal and
teacher recruitment and hiring
• Took part in the recruiting, interviewing, and hiring of new team members


Administrative Assistant Human Capital Initiatives (Innovative Schools, September 2011-June 2012) 
• Handled scheduling, event planning, and program communications for initiatives related to teacher and
administrator training and selection
• Assisting in the writing and editing of four charter school applications to the Delaware Department of Education


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


From June 2015-May 2016, as Senior Policy Analyst at EdBuild in Jersey City, NJ: Completed a research survey of 
all fifty states’ education funding formulas, to be presented on an interactive website. The survey included 
information regarding each state’s formula type, per-student funding amount, method for providing for the needs of 
special student populations, and method for dividing the responsibility for the formula amount between state and 
local governments. This research involved examination of state statutes and state-published explanatory materials 
and direct interviews with state officials. The database presenting these formulas is currently undergoing updates 
for 2017. 


From September 2016-January 2016, as Manager of Policy and Research at EdBuild in Jersey City, NJ: As part of 
a team, provided policy research and recommendations to the Mississippi State Legislature regarding equitable and 
modern education funding policies. 


From June-July 2016, as Manager of Policy and Research at EdBuild in Jersey City, NJ: Oversaw and edited a 
literature review of research regarding weighted student funding policies and the impact of education resources on 
outcomes for children in poverty. 


From November 2016-February 2017, as Manager of Policy and Research at EdBuild in Jersey City, NJ: Led a 
research project regarding the progressive or regressive nature of local property taxes for education nationally, and 
examined three states’ results in depth in the context of their state policies regarding permissible local property 
taxes for education. 


From March-April 2017, as Manager of Policy and Research at EdBuild in Jersey City, NJ: Took part in a research 
project regarding states’ distribution of education dollars between high-poverty and low-poverty districts, and 
examined certain states’ results in the context of their state policies regarding targeted funding for students in 
poverty and permissible local property taxes for education. 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state, 


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 


University of Pennsylvania, Fels Institute of Government, Philadelphia, PA: Master of Public Administration (2015) 


University of Pennsylvania, Graduate School of Education, Philadelphia, PA: Master of Science in Education Policy 
(2015) 


Princeton University, Princeton, NJ: Bachelor of Arts in Politics (2011) 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


N/A 
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REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.  


Katie Roy 
Director and Founder, Connecticut School Finance Project 
P: 860.810.2752 
F: N/A 
E: katie.roy@ctschoolfinance.org 


Sophie Bryan 
Executive Director, Philadelphia VIP 
P: 215.523.9550 
F: N/A 
E: sbryan@phillyvip.org 


Debbie Doordan 
Director of New Schools, iLEAD Schools Development 
P: 302.540.6894 
F: N/A 
E: ddoordan@gmail.com 
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: EdBuild, Inc. 


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 
Contractor: X Subcontractor: 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Everet Rummel Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) No 


Individual’s Title Data Analyst 
# of Years in Classification: 0.33 # of Years with Firm: 0.33 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


Prior to working at EdBuild, Everet was a graduate student and freelance data analyst, assisting a variety 
of individuals in academia and the private sector with social research. He conducted independent 
research on the economic history of New York City, as well as the economics of education, poverty, and 
health. Everet also taught economics at Hunter College and the NYC College of Technology. 


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


NYC College of Technology, New York, NY 2016 - Present 
Adjunct Lecturer 


● Teaching economics to young adults in a large, diverse, public university.


NAPCO Media, Philadelphia, PA 2016 - 2017 
Market Research Assistant (Remote) 


● Built surveys, visualized survey data, and prepared presentation slides.
● Prepared and copy edited reports containing my visualizations.


The New School, New York, NY 2015 - 2016 
Research Assistant 


● Maintained large data sets on aggregate adequate employment indicators.
● Visualized key insights for reports.
● Copy-edited report drafts and prepared presentation slides.


Office of the Mayor, Newark, NJ Summer 2013 
Predictive Analytics Intern 


● Generated insights for the purpose of more efficient public service provision in the face of
diminishing public resources and increasing demand.


● Collected, maintained, and analyzed large data sets on service provision and outcomes from
multiple departments.
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EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state, 


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 


B.A. / M.A. in Economics with College Honors 2011 - 2015 
Rutgers University, Newark, NJ 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address. 


Dr. Jason Barr 
Associate Professor of Economics 
Rutgers University  
Department of Economics 
360 Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd. 
Room 827 Hill Hall 
Newark, NJ 07102 
jmbarr@andromeda.rutgers.edu 
973-353-5835


Dr. Peter Loeb 
Professor of Economics 
Rutgers University 
Department of Economics 
360 Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd. 
Room 813 Hill Hall 
Newark, NJ 07102 
ploeb@andromeda.rutgers.edu 
973-353-5529


Dr. John Graham 
Professor of Economics 
Rutgers University 
Department of Economics 
360 Martin Luther King Jr. Blvd. 
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Room 807 Hill Hall 
Newark, NJ 07102 
jwgraham@andromeda.rutgers.edu 
973-353-1321
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PROPOSED STAFF RESUME FOR RFP 3489 
A resume must be completed for all proposed prime contractor staff and proposed subcontractor staff. 


Company Name Submitting Proposal: EdBuild 


Check the appropriate box if the proposed individual is prime contractor staff or subcontractor staff. 


Contractor: X Subcontractor: 


The following information requested pertains to the individual being proposed for this project. 


Name: Taylor Hawk Key Personnel: 
(Yes/No) No 


Individual’s Title Policy Analyst 
# of Years in 
Classification: 


0 years, 2 
months # of Years with Firm: 0 years, 2 


months 


BRIEF SUMMARY OF PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
Information should include a brief summary of the proposed individual’s professional experience. 


As a Policy Analyst, Taylor collects and analyzes policy information related to the work of the state 
engagement team. Prior to joining EdBuild, she served as a two-time legislative fellow to the Delaware 
General Assembly, working with both the Senate Democratic Caucus and House Republican Caucus. 
Additionally, for four years, Taylor worked at the University of Delaware’s Institute for Public 
Administration (IPA) on projects related to college access and educational equity. Taylor earned a 
master’s degree in public administration from the University of Delaware with a specialization in 
education policy and management.  


RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 
Information required should include:  timeframe, company name, company location, position title held during 


the term of the contract/project and details of contract/project. 


EdBuild, Jersey City, New Jersey 
Policy Analyst  
July 2017–Present  


• Collect and analyze policy information related to the work of the state engagement team,
including state statutes, policy reports and analyses, and tax and revenue frameworks.


• Write research reports and policy summaries to inform EdBuild state engagements.


Delaware General Assembly, Dover, DE 
Legislative Fellow, House Minority Caucus 
January 2017–July 2017 


• Researched and produced nonpartisan memorandums on complex policy issues facing
Delaware, including state education funding.


• Assisted legislators with constituent relations, responding to concerns in a timely manner.
Legislative Fellow, Senate Majority Caucus 
January–July 2016   


• Drafted and edited legislation, including securing cosponsors and support from consistent groups.
• Provided staff support for the Senate Education Committee by producing high quality meeting


minutes.


Institute for Public Administration, Newark, DE 
Public Administration Fellow  
June 2013–January 2017 
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• Served as a project coordinator for College Application Month, including volunteer recruitment 
and coordination, site coordinator communications, and technical assistance.  


• Provide research to the Wilmington Education Improvement Commission on models for district-
charter collaboration, educator professional development, and meeting the needs of students in 
poverty.  


 
National Governors Association, Washington, DC            
Education Division Intern   
July–September 2016   


• Analyzed census projections and education attainment data to produce a presentation on future 
demographic shifts and their impact on education and the workforce.  


• Produced research briefs on state strategies for increasing postsecondary attainment for 
nontraditional and underrepresented students. 


 
Delaware Department of Children, Youth, and Their Families, Wilmington, DE   
Intern Management Analyst     
June–Sept. 2015                                                                                     


• Analyzed statewide survey data to create a report on the physical and behavioral health impacts 
of childhood trauma for policymakers and stakeholders.  


 
 


EDUCATION 
Information required should include: institution name, city, state,  


degree and/or Achievement and date completed/received. 
 
University of Delaware, Newark, DE  
Master of Public Administration 
Specialization: Education Policy & Management  
Degree Completed: June 2017  
 
University of Delaware, Newark, DE  
Bachelor of Arts in Public Policy (Public and Nonprofit Administration), English (Professional Writing), 
and Political Science (Law, Politics, and Theory); Minor: Spanish  
Degree Completed: June 2015 
 


CERTIFICATIONS 
Information required should include: type of certification and date completed/received. 


 
N/A  
 
 


REFERENCES 
A minimum of three (3) references are required, including name, title, organization, phone number, fax number 


and email address.   
 


1. David Deputy 
Title: Chief of Staff, House Minority Caucus, Delaware General Assembly  
Office: 302-577-8704 
Fax: 302-577-6396 
Email: David.Deputy@state.de.us  
 


2. Debra Allen  
Title: Deputy Chief of Staff, Senate Majority Caucus, Delaware General Assembly  
Cell: 302-668-7993 
Email: debra.s.allen@state.de.us 
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3. Lisa Moreland  
Title: Policy Scientist, Institute for Public Administration 
Office: 302-831-4955 
Fax: 302-831-3488 
Email: lisamk@udel.edu  





		Part 1B - Confidential Proposal

		Resume - RS

		Resume - MR

		Resume - DM

		Resume - SH

		Resume - ZS

		Resume ER

		Resume - TH



